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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

On February 6, 2002, Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. (““AlB”) announced that it was undertaking a full investigation into fraudulent
foreign exchange (“FX”) trading operations at its US subsidiary Allfirst Bank. The board appointed Mr. Eugene A Ludwig,
Managing Partner, Promontory Financial Group, and a former U.S. Comptroller of the Currency, to report on these matters to
the board of directors. The board also appointed Mr. Edward D Herlihy and his law firm Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz to report
to the board and provide legal advice on the basis of the investigation. The losses arising from the fraudulent FX trading activities
were publicly disclosed by AIB in its preliminary announcement of results on February 20, 2002. Such losses amounted to
US$691.2 million before taxation and related to years from 1997 to 2002.

The Report to the boards of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., Allfirst Financial Inc. and Allfirst Bank concerning currency trading
losses (the “Investigation Report™) was submitted by Promontory Financial Group and Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz on March
12, 2002 and released to the public on March 14, 2002. The Investigation Report found that an Allfirst employee had engaged in
fraudulent FX trading activities over a period of five years. There was no change in the amount of the losses as a result of the
investigation. A description of the losses arising from the fraudulent FX trading activities, the main findings of the Investigation
Report, and the actions taken by the AIB and Allfirst boards following the review of the Investigation Report, are presented in
more detail under the “Subsequent Event: Fraudulent Foreign Exchange Trading Activities” section of Item 5 “Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects”. This investigation report is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to a current report on
Form 6-K filed by AIB on April 10, 2002. The fraudulent FX trading activities, and the resulting losses, are referred to from time
to time in this Form 20-F as the “Fraudulent Activities” or the “Fraud”, and the “Fraud Losses” or “Exceptional Foreign Exchange
Dealing Losses”, respectively.

In accordance with Irish Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“Irish GAAP”) the total costs arising from the Fraudulent
Activities were reflected by way of an exceptional pre-tax charge of €789 million (of which €341 million relates to prior periods)
in the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2001 distributed to shareholders under Irish Companies
Legislation.

Under US reporting requirements, the filing of AIB’s 2001 financial statements by way of the Annual Report on Form 20-F
constitutes a reissue of the financial statements for prior years. For the purpose of presenting the Balance Sheet and Statement of
Income of the Group in this Form 20-F the US Securities and Exchange Commission requires all material errors in respect of
prior years to be accounted for and reported as prior year adjustments, in the years in which they occured. Accordingly, for
US reporting purposes, the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities are required to be charged in the years in which they
occurred.

As a result, AIB has restated the financial statements for 2000 and 1999 included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F to
reflect the losses in the years they occured. Consequently, the charge in 2001 reflects only the losses occuring in 2001. Note 52 to
the consolidated financial statements gives details of these restatements. In addition, Item 3 “Key information” reflects the effects of
restatements for the years 1998 and 1997 as well for the years 2000 and 1999.



REPORTING CURRENCY AND EXCHANGE RATES

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. (“AIB”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “AIB Group” or “Group”) publish consolidated financial
statements in euro (€). On January 1, 1999 the euro came into being and became the official currency of the participating
member states. The national currency units of the participating countries co-existed with the euro, as denominations of the new
single currency until December 31, 2001. Euro notes and coin were introduced on January 1, 2002. Ireland joined the European
Single Currency at the fixed translation rate of EUR 1=IR £0.787564 and all comparative figures have been translated into euro
at this rate. Up to and including the accounts for the year ended December 31, 1998, the consolidated financial statements of the
Group were prepared using the Irish pound as the reporting currency.

In this Annual Report, references to “US dollars”, “dollars”, “US$”, “cents” or ““¢” are to United States currency, references to
“EUR”,“euro”,“€” or “c” are to euro currency, references to “sterling” or “Stg£” are to British currency, references to “zloty”,
“PLN” or “zI” are to Polish currency and references to “Yen™ are to Japanese currency. Merely for convenience, this Annual
Report contains translation of certain euro amounts into dollars at specified rates. These translations should not be construed as
representations that the euro amounts actually represent such dollar amounts or could be converted into dollars at the rate
indicated or at any other rate. Unless otherwise indicated, the translations of euro into dollars have been made at €1.00 to
US$0.8750, the noon buying rate in the City of New York for cable transfers in euros as certified for customs purposes by the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York (“the noon buying rate”) on April 8, 2002.

The following table shows, for the periods and dates indicated, certain information regarding the noon buying rate, expressed
in US dollars per euro.

Period Average
end® rate® High Low
Year ended Dec. 31, 1997 1.1199 1.1867 1.2526 1.1199
Year ended Dec. 31, 1998 1.1739 1.1216 1.1827 1.0707
Year ended Dec. 31, 1999 1.0070 1.0588 1.1371 1.0070
Year ended Dec. 31, 2000 0.9257 0.9184 1.0335 0.8271
Year ended Dec. 31, 2001 0.8822 0.8919 0.9535 0.8370

@ The noon buying rate at such dates differed from the rates used in the preparation of AIB Group’s consolidated financial statements,
which were US$1.1265, US$1.1668, US$1.0046, US$0.9305 and US$0.8813 to €1.00 at December 31, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000 and
2001 respectively.

@ The average rate for each period is the average of the noon buying rates on the last day of each full month during that period.

On April 30, 2002 the noon buying rate was EUR1.00 = US$0.9002

A significant portion of the assets and liabilities of AIB Group is denominated in currencies other than euro. Accordingly,
fluctuations in the value of the euro relative to other currencies have had an effect on the euro value of assets, liabilities, interest
income and interest expense denominated in such currencies.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This document contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the United States Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the financial condition, results of operations and business of the Group and certain
of the plans and objectives of the Group. In particular, among other statements, certain statements in the Operating and Financial
Review and Prospects with regard to management objectives, trends in results of operations, margins, risk management,
competition and European Monetary Union are forward-looking in nature. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve
risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will occur in the future. There are a number
of factors that could cause actual results and developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, the potential business risks resulting from the exceptional
foreign exchange dealing losses, changes in economic conditions globally and in the regions in which the Group conducts its
business, changes in fiscal or other policies adopted by various governments and regulatory authorities, the effects of competition
in the geographic and business areas in which the Group conducts its operations, the ability to increase market share and control
expenses, the effects of changes in taxation or accounting standards and practices, acquisitions, future exchange and interest rates
and the success of the Group in managing these events.

AIB cautions that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. Investors and others should carefully consider the
foregoing factors and other uncertainties and events when making an investment decision based on any forward-looking
statement. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed in this Report may not
occur.



PART 1
Item 3. Key Information

Selected financial data

The financial information set forth in the tables below for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997 has
been derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of AIB Group for those periods, restated to include the
exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses from the Fraud in the years they occured and to reflect the implementation of
Financial Reporting Standard 17 “Retirement Benefits” in 2001, 2000 and 1999 (see footnote 1 on page 4). AIB Group’s
Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Irish GAAP, except as described below, which differ in certain
significant respects from US GAAP. This information should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified by reference to, the
accounting policies adopted, the Consolidated Financial Statements of AIB Group and notes thereon for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 included in this Annual Report.

In accordance with Irish GAAP, the total costs arising from the Fraudulent Activities were reflected by way of an exceptional
pre-tax charge of €789 million (after tax €513 million) in the accounts for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Under US reporting requirements, the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities are charged in the years in which they
occurred. As a result, AIB has restated the financial statements for 2000 and 1999 included in this Annual Report to reflect the
losses in the years they occured. Consequently, the charge in 2001 reflects only the losses arising in 2001. In addition the tables
below have been restated for each of the years from 1997 to 2000 to reflect the losses from the Fraud in the year they occurred.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(Dollars in Restated® Restated® Restated®  Restated®
millions,
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED except per (Euro in millions,
STATEMENT OF INCOME® share amounts) except per share amounts)
Net interest income before exceptional item 2,006 2,293 2,022 1,770 1,609 1,374
Deposit interest retention tax®............cccevevervenen. - - (113) - - -
Net interest income after exceptional item........... 2,006 2,293 1,909 1,770 1,609 1,374
Other finance INCOME.........cccovveeiieiiieie e, 59 67 71 71 - -
Other income before exceptional item................. 1,248 1,426 1,304 1,052 980 757
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses®........ (365) (417) (228) (45) (12) (24)
Total operating income after exceptional items..... 2,948 3,369 3,056 2,848 2,578 2,107
Total operating EXPENSES. ........covevvvrieerreeiiesreerrennea 1,993 2,278 1,997 1,658 1,442 1,384
Operating income before provisions..................... 955 1,091 1,059 1,190 1,136 723
PrOVISIONS.....ccviiiieiiiie e 178 204 134 92 134 94
Operating income-continuing operations............. 777 887 925 1,098 1,002 629
Income from associated undertakings.................... 4 4 3 3 4 9
Income before diSposals.............ccevereiiiienieninnns 781 891 928 1,101 1,006 638
Income on disposal of property..........cccecvvrereenn 5 6 5 2 32 2)
Income on disposal of businesses®............c.cceeveenee. 81 93 - 15 - 76
Income before taxes, minority interests
and preference dividends...........cccccoovveriviennnne 867 990 933 1,118 1,038 712
INCOME TAXES.....vieieiieiiie e 164 187 239 317 311 222
Impact of phased reduction in Irish
corporation tax rates on
deferred tax balances®............cccoceiovenieneenenn - - - - 55 -
164 187 239 317 366 222
Equity and non-equity minority interests............. 20 23 38 28 29 23
Preference dividends...........ccoooevveiiniciiiienicnee 44 50 20 16 17 18
Net income applicable to ordinary stockholders... 639 730 636 757 626 449
Per ordinary share
Net income — DasiC.......cccevveeviereriieiicieree 74.2¢ 84.8¢c 74.3c 89.1c 73.9c 58.9¢c
Net income — adjusted.........c.coovvvreriniiennnn 104.9¢ 119.9¢c 106.7c 93.5¢ 81.1c -
Net income — diluted..........cccovveiieniiiiniiene 73.7¢ 84.2c 73.8c 88.1c 72.9¢c 58.5¢c
DiVIdeNdS........oveieieieeee e 38.33¢ 43.80c 38.75¢ 33.70c 28.06¢ 22.50c
Amounts in accordance with US GAAP:
NEt INCOME....vieiieeeceeeee e 582 665 571 663 650 442
Net income applicable to ordinary
StOCKNOIAETS. ... 539 615 551 647 633 427
Net income per ordinary share 62.6¢ 71.5¢c 64.5¢ 76.0c 74.5¢ 56.0c
Net income per ADS........ccooeveiniiieniencnene e 125¢ 143c 129c 152c 149c 112c




December 31,

Summary of consolidated 2001 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
balance sheet (Dollars in Restated®  Restated® Restated® Restated®
millions) (Euro in millions except share amounts)
TOTAl @SSELS. ...evveveeereeeieeie et 77,732 88,837 79,724 67,718 53,684 47,751
LOANS ELC....c.eiverireesreisiecste e 50,264 57,445 50,239 43,127 35,496 32,390
DEPOSILS BLC....c.evivireierieiiireii et 63,711 72,813 65,210 55,241 44,840 40,063
Dated capital NOteS.......cccevvevieiiiieciecee e, 1,395 1,594 1,836 1,587 970 1,002
Undated capital notes 373 426 413 397 170 178
Equity and non-equity minority interests............. 273 312 272 227 213 219
Preference share capital..........c.cccevviniiiiininenn, 678 775 264 245 210 160
Ordinary stockholders’ equity...........cccccevveeiennnnne 4,262 4,871 4,734 4,402 2,806 2,282
Total capital reSOUrCES........oevveriereiieneeee e 6,981 7,978 7,519 6,858 4,369 3,841
Capital stock - ordinary shares
Number of shares outstanding 886.7 879.2 866.0 859.9 853.3
Balance sheet amounts...........cocccveriiiinceniennnen 248 284 281 277 273 271
Capital stock - preference shares
Number of shares outstanding............cccoceevervennnne. 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 7.2
Balance sheet amounts..........cccoeeveveieiiiiencniene, 245 280 264 245 210 160
Amounts in accordance with US GAAP:
Ordinary stockholders’ equity..........ccccoeeereierninnne 5,002 5,716 5,050 4,420 3,761 3,416
TOTAl @SSELS....vevveveeeeeeeieiet et 77,024 88,027 77,720 65,778 53,448 48,098
Years ended December 31,
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA® 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Restated® Restated®  Restated®  Restated®
Return on average total assets.........cooevvevvrereneenn 0.97% 0.94% 1.32% 1.28% 1.19%
Return on average stockholders’ equity................ 15.2 13.9 20.4 24.6 23.0
Dividend payout ratio............cccceveeiereenenieenennnn. 52.0 52.6 38.0 38.2 39.3
Average ordinary stockholders’ equity as a

percentage of average total assets.........cccceenneeee 5.8 6.2 6.1 4.8 4.7
Allowance for loan losses as a percentage of

total loans to customers at year-end.................. 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.8 1.9
Net interest margin®.............ccoeceevveninns 3.03 3.02 3.27 3.33 3.67
Tier 1 capital ratios®.........cccevveveevenenieresesrenens 6.5 6.0 6.3 7.5 7.3
Total capital ratio®...........cocvvirenineiecce 10.1 10.5 11.2 11.1 111

Other financial data in accordance with

US GAAP:

Return on average total assets..........cccvvvvreveernnnnn 0.84% 0.85% 1.16% 1.26% 1.08%
Return on average ordinary stockholders’

BOUILY. vttt 11.45 11.65¢ 15.42 17.65 15.84
Dividend payout ratio 61.7 60.7 44.4 37.7 414
Average ordinary stockholders’ equity as a

percentage of average total assets.............ccoue.... 6.59 6.58 7.03 6.81 6.51

(]

Restated to include the impact of the exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses in all years. The Group implemented Financial
Reporting Standard 17 “Retirement Benefits” in the preparation of its accounts for 2001. In accordance with Irish GAAP the
comparative profit and loss account information for 2000 and 1999 and the comparative balance sheet information for 2000 and
1999 have been restated. It was not practicable to restate the remaining years because the data was not available. See accounting
policies on pages 87 and 88 and note 14 to the financial statements for details of this change in accounting policy.

On September 16, 1999, the Group acquired an 80% shareholding in Bank Zachodni S.A. (“BZ”). Under its agreement with the
Polish State Treasury, AIB agreed to invest a further PLN 250 million by April 16, 2000 of which PLN 150 million was invested
on October 15, 1999 and PLN 100 million was invested on April 12, 2000. A further PLN 100 million was invested on
November 22, 2000 increasing the Group’s shareholding in BZ to 83%. The acquisition of Dauphin Deposit Corporation was
completed on July 8, 1997, by the merger of Dauphin into First Maryland Bancorp (now “Allfirst Financial Inc”’). In addition,
Wielkopolski Bank Kredytowy S.A. (“WBK?”) became a subsidiary of the Group with effect from April 30, 1997 when AIB’
shareholding increased to 60%. As a result the financial information provided above is not directly comparable as the results for the
year ended December 31, 1997 include the results of Dauphin for 6 months and the results of WBK for 8 months in comparison
to 12 months for 2000, 1999 and 1998, while the results for the year ended December 31, 1999 include the results of BZ for 3
months in comparison to 12 months for 2000.



6

6)

(10)

On October 3, 2000, AIB announced that it had reached a full and final settlement with the Irish Revenue Commissioners of
€114.33 million in relation to Deposit Interest Retention Tax (“DIRT?”), interest and penalties in Ireland for the period April
1986 to April 1999. The settlement included €1.37 million paid in prior years. Although AIB believe that it had an agreement
with the Revenue Commissioners in 1991 in relation to DIRT, the Board considered that concluding this settlement was in
the best interests of shareholders, customers and staff. As a result an exceptional charge of €112.96 million was reflected in the
accounts for the year ended December 31, 2000.

These amounts represent the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities, reflected in the year they occurred to meet

US reporting requirements. See “Explanatory Statement” and Note 51 to the financial statements. The euro amount of the
losses reported under US reporting requirements in the years 1997 to 2001 will not equate to the charge of €789 million
under Irish GAAP. This arises for a number of reasons. In the Irish GAAP accounts, the total fraud losses, US$691.2 million,
and costs estimated at US$10 million less the reversal of an incentive accrual of US$6 million, were charged as an exceptional
item in 2001 at the exchange rate prevailing on December 31, 2001. Under US reporting requirements the US$ losses were
charged in each of the years they arose, translated at the average rates of exchange used in the preparation of the accounts for
those years. In addition, the losses arising in 2002, including the costs of closing out the transactions and the US$10 million in
costs, will be reflected in the Annual Report on Form 20-F for 2002.

In August 2001, AIB’ interests in Keppel Capital Holdings Ltd. were sold to Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited,
giving rise to a profit before taxation on disposal of €93 million (tax charge €nil). In October 1999, AIB* private banking
and treasury operations in Singapore were sold to Keppel Tatlee Bank Limited, giving rise to a profit before taxation on
disposal of €15 million (tax charge €4 million). In August 1997, Allfirst Financial Inc. sold its US$360 million Bell Atlantic
bankcard loan portfolio to Chase Manhattan Corporation. In December 1997, Allfirst Financial Inc. announced an agreement
under which Bank of America N.A. acquired the credit card receivables portfolios of First OmniBank, N.A. and Dauphin
Deposit Bank, and the transaction closed in February 1998. A profit before taxation of €76 million (tax charge €29 million)
was recognized in the accounts for the year ended December 31, 1997 in respect of these transactions.

In December 1998, the Minister for Finance announced a phased reduction in the Irish corporation tax rates, commencing
January 1, 1999 to achieve a 12 1/2 % corporation tax rate for all trading income with effect from January 1, 2003. The Irish
Finance Act, 1999 provided for the reduction in the standard rate of corporation tax to 28% with effect from January 1, 1999,
and to 24% with effect from January 1, 2000, with further reductions to 20% and 16% on January 1, 2001 and 2002,
respectively. From January 1, 2000 the rate of corporation tax applying to non-trading income is 25%. Arising from the phased
reduction in Irish corporation tax rates, timing differences will reverse at rates of corporation tax lower than those provided
for on origination. As a result, a charge of €55 million was made in the year ended December 31, 1998.

The calculation of the average balances include daily and monthly averages and are considered to be representative of the
operations of the Group.

Net interest margin represents net interest income as a percentage of average interest earning assets. The net interest margin
for the year ended December 31, 2000 reflects a net interest income figure that was adjusted to reflect a 365 day year for
comparative purposes. The net interest margin for 2000 was calculated excluding the impact of the DIRT settlement.

The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the Federal Reserve Board) guidelines for risk-based capital
requirements, applicable to all bank holding companies, require the minimum ratios of Tier 1 capital and Total capital to risk
adjusted assets to be 4% and 8% respectively. The Central Bank of Ireland also has issued its guidelines for implementation of
the requirements of the EC Council Directives on own funds, solvency ratios and capital adequacy in Ireland which, while
similar to the Federal Reserve guidelines, require minimum Tier 1 and Total capital ratios of 4.25% and 8.5% respectively.
Furthermore, the Federal Reserve Board has adopted leverage capital guidelines requiring bank holding companies to
maintain a minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to total quarterly average assets (“Tier 1 leverage ratio”) of at least 3%, in the case
of a bank holding company which has the highest regulatory examination rating and is not contemplating significant growth.
All other bank holding companies are expected to maintain a Tier 1 leverage ratio at least 1% to 2% above the stated
minimum.

Excluding the impact of the deposit interest retention tax settlement, the return on average total assets was 0.99% and the
return on average ordinary stockholders’ equity was 13.67%.



LOSSES ARISING FROM THE FRAUDULENT FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRADING ACTIVITIES AT ALLFIRST BANK
The following terms are used to describe the losses arising from the fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities and other
commonly used descriptions throughout this Annual Report on Form 20-F

— Fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities = “Fraudulent Activities” or “Fraud”
— Losses arising from fraudulent foreign =*“Fraud Losses” or
exchange trading activities “Exceptional Foreign Exchange Dealing Losses”
— Fair value - foreign exchange option purchased =*“FX Option Asset”
— Fair value - foreign exchange option written =*"“FX Option Liability”
— Foreign exchange =“FX”

The Fraud Losses resulted from two types of transactions that appeared to offset realized losses on authentic FX spot and
forward transactions. The first type consisted of the recording of fictitious FX Option Assets. Assets were recorded through a series
of fictitious transactions that effectively recognized a FX Option Asset with an offsetting credit to FX trading income. These
fictitious options also tended to give the appearance that the real FX spot and forward positions were hedged. The second type
consisted of actual FX Option Liabilities that were initially recorded as liabilities and then, through a series of fictitious
transactions, effectively were recognized as closed transactions. The closing of these transactions through a reduction of the
FX Option Liability resulted in unrecorded liabilities with an offsetting credit to FX trading income.

A more detailed description of these types of transactions can be found in the Investigation Report that was presented to the
AIB, Allfirst Financial Inc., and Allfirst Bank boards of directors on March 12, 2002 and released to the public on March 14, 2002.
This report is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to a current report on Form 6-K filed by AIB on April 10, 2002.

Balance Sheet line items affected by the Fraud are other assets (FX Option Assets and Due to brokers - FX options accounts),
other liabilities (FX Option Liabilities, Due from brokers - FX Options accounts and taxes payable) deferred tax, and retained
earnings. Statement of Income line items affected by the Fraud Losses are dealing profits (a component of other income), income
taxes, and net income.

In accordance with Irish GAAP the total costs arising from the Fraud were reflected by way of an exceptional charge of
€789 million (of which €341 million relates to prior periods) in the profit and loss account in the Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended December 31, 2001, distributed to shareholders under Irish Companies Legislation. Under Financial Reporting
Standard 3 “Reporting Financial Performance” (“FRS 3”) prior period financial statements are restated for an error only if the
error is a fundamental error. Fundamental errors under FRS 3 are errors that are of such significance as to destroy the true and
fair view and hence the validity of the prior period financial statements. In the opinion of the Directors the exceptional foreign
exchange dealing losses, relating to each of the prior years, do not constitute fundamental errors because they are not of such
significance as to destroy the true and fair view and hence the validity of the prior period financial statements.

Under US reporting requirements, the filing of the 2001 financial statements by way of Annual Report on Form 20-F
constitutes a reissue of the financial statements for prior years. For the purpose of presenting the Balance Sheet and Statement of
Income of the Group in the Form 20-F, the US Securities and Exchange Commission requires all material errors in respect of
prior years to be accounted for and reported as prior year adjustments. Accordingly, the financial statements in this Annual Report
on Form 20-F for prior years are restated to reflect the losses arising from the Fraud in the periods in which they occured.

In this Form 20-F, AIB has restated components of the Balance Sheets, the Statements of Income, the Statements of Changes
in Stockholders’ Equity, the Cash Flow Statements, and selected Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements prepared under Irish
GAAP to meet US reporting requirements. The following tables show the impact of the restatements on each of these
components by year.



CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

The following table presents the restatement adjustments to total assets, stockholders’ equity and total liabilities including
stockholders’ equity, arising from the treatment of the Fraud Losses under US reporting requirements, for each of the years 1997
to 2000. Other assets in 2000 were reduced by €526 million as a result of the deletion of fictitious FX Option Assets and overstated
Due to brokers - FX options accounts. No unrecorded FX Option Liabilities were identified prior to 2001. In addition to
adjustments related to FX option transactions, other liabilities and deferred taxation were also affected by the restatement of income
taxes receivable and payable. Other liabilities in 2000 were also reduced as a result of overstated Due from brokers - FX options
accounts. The effect of the recognition of the losses in the years they occurred under US reporting requirements resulted in a
reduction in profit and loss account retained earnings of €210 million and €58 million at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Years ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997
(Euro in millions)

As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under Irish GAAP:

OThEr @SSELS.....veiireiitie ettt 1,708 1,071 860 1,227
B 0] =L B =] TR 79,688 67,070 53,720 47,777
Other labilities........ccovvieeieiiee e 3,079 2,360 2,167 2,010
Deferred taXation..........cccceeeiiveeeiiiiiee e 357 242 164 51
Profit and 0SS aCCOUNT..........cccvieieiieiiiee e 1,994 1,450 710 381
Stockholders’ EqUItY.........ccververireieciee e 4,296 3,651 2,829 2,299
Total liabilities including stockholders’ equity.............. 79,688 67,070 53,720 47,777

As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under US GAAP:

TOAl BSSELS. ..ttt 78,198 65,942 53,592 48,134
Stockholders’ eQUILY.......cccvevirieeriiciee e 5,237 4,465 3,841 3,432
Total liabilities including stockholders’ equity.............. 78,198 65,942 53,592 48,134
Restatement adjustments:

OLher 8SSELS. .. .ot (526) (89) (36) (26)
TOAl BSSELS. .. vt (526) (89) (36) (26)
Other labIltIES........ccvieiireecre e (273) 2 - -
Deferred taxation............. (43) (33) (13) 9)
Profit and loss account (210) (58) (23) 17
StockhOlders’ QUILY........ccovereieerere e (210) (58) (23) 17
Total liabilities including stockholders’ equity.............. (526) (89) (36) (26)
As restated under US reporting requirements

- under Irish GAAP:
(@1 g 1= ] TR 1,182 982 824 1,201
L) U ST 79,162 66,981 53,684 47,751
Other labilIties........ccvoovviriiieeeeee 2,806 2,362 2,167 2,010
Deferred taxation..........cccocvevieerieieiiesiee e 314 209 151 42
Profit and 1055 aCCOUNT..........ccoevieiieiieie e 1,784 1,392 687 364
Stockholders’ eqUILY........ccoverereeere e 4,086 3,593 2,806 2,282
Total liabilities including stockholders’ equity.............. 79,162 66,981 53,684 47,751
As restated under US reporting requirements
- under US GAAP:

TOAl BSSELS. .. vveeereererie ettt 77,672 65,853 53,556 48,108
Stockholders’ EqUItY.........covevvevereiecece e 5,027 4,407 3,818 3,415
Total liabilities including stockholders’ equity.............. 77,672 65,853 53,556 48,108



CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

The following table presents condensed information from the Statements of Income as well as revenues from trading activities
as disclosed in Note 9 “Dealing profits/(losses)” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Total dealing profits/(losses)
for 2000 and 1999 have been reduced by €228 million and €45 million, respectively. No other line items within income before
income taxes were affected by the restatements.

The following table presents the restatement adjustments on Dealing profits — Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses, and
condensed information from the Statements of Income, arising from the treatment of the Fraud Losses under US reporting
requirements, for each of the years 1997 to 2000. These losses have been translated into euro at the average rates of exchange used
in the preparation of the accounts for each year.\When the losses are charged in the years they occur it results in an adjustment to
income tax expense and income taxes payable (both current and deferred) for each of the years impacted. The restatement
adjustments have been tax effected at a rate of 35.0%. The adjustments give rise to a reduction in previously reported net income
for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 of €148 million and €29 million, respectively.

Years ended December 31,
2000 1999 1998 1997
(Euro in millions)

As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under Irish GAAP:
Dealing profits - before exceptional 10sses................... 103 74 69 52
Dealing profits — Exceptional foreign
exchange dealing l0SSeS........covvveieiierininenereenne

Total dealing profits.........coccovveiiiieieeee e 103 74 69 52
Other INCOME......coiiiieiiiee e 1,304 1,052 980 757
Total operating iNCOME...........ccvevviiieiieieseeeece e 3,213 2,822 2,589 2,131
Group operating income before provisions.................. 1,264 1,204 1,147 747
INncome Defore taXeS........oovcvveereeii e 1,138 1,132 1,049 736
Applicable taxes 318 327 370 230
NEL INCOME.....iviiriiciec e 820 805 679 506
Net income to ordinary stockholders...............ccccee.... 762 761 633 465
As previously reported in Form 20-F

- under US GAAP:
NEt INCOME.....eiiiireiieiiiere e 712 695 657 457
Net income to ordinary stockholders.......................... 692 680 640 442
Restatement adjustments:
Dealing profits - before exceptional 0sses................... - - - -
Dealing profits — Exceptional foreign

exchange dealing l0SSes.......coveveriiririeeiieiieieees (228) (45) (11) (24)
Total dealing l0SSES........ccvvevveevieriieirieieans (228) (45) (11) (24)
Other iNCOMe.........cccovvvrennne (228) (45) (11) (24)
Total operating income (228) (45) (11) (24)
Group operating loss before provisions...............c........ (228) (45) (11) (24)
Loss before taxes (228) (45) (11) (24)
Applicable taXes. .......oovviiiiiniiier e (80) (16) 4) (8)
NEE 10SS. ... (148) (29) (7 (16)
Net loss to ordinary stockholders (148) (29) (7) (16)
As restated under US reporting requirements

- under Irish GAAP:
Dealing profits - before exceptional 10sses................... 103 74 69 52
Dealing profits — Exceptional foreign

exchange dealing l0SSeS........ccvvvevriieninineneriene (228) (45) (11) (24)
Total dealing (1055e8)/Profits..........ccevvriviviivnivieieninn (125) 29 58 28
Other iINCOME.......cccovvciiiiieeiieeiiiieeeeeee 1,076 1,007 969 733
Total operating income 2,985 2,777 2,578 2,107
Group operating income before provisions.................. 1,036 1,159 1,136 723
Income Defore taxes.........oovvvevvveeeiiiee e 910 1,087 1,038 712
Applicable taXes.........coiiriiiieiiee e 238 311 366 222
NEL INCOME.....cviiiieiieciic e 672 776 672 490
Net income to ordinary stockholders...............ccccee.... 614 732 626 449
As restated under US reporting requirements

- under US GAAP:
NEt INCOME.....viiiieiiiirieete s 564 666 650 441
Net income to ordinary stockholders...............cc.co..... 544 651 633 426



CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity are impacted by the treatment of the Fraud Losses under US reporting
requirements. The adjustment requires a restatement of net income, which affected total comprehensive income. In addition,
ending stockholders’ equity at December 31 for each year presented was impacted by the cumulative effect of the restatements to
net income.

The following table presents the restatement adjustments to the Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ equity, arising from
the treatment of the Fraud Losses under US reporting requirements, for each of the years 1997 to 2000.

Years ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998 199
(Euro in millions)

I~

As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under Irish GAAP:

Beginning stockholders’ equity..............ccovvieenee. 3,896 3,039 2,459 1,626
NEt INCOME.. .. e 762 761 633 465
Currency translation adjustments

on profit and loss account reserves.................... 112 275 (58) 165
Other changes in stockholders’ equity.................... (210) (179) 5 203
Ending stockholders’ equity.............ccovviniiinnnn. 4,560 3,896 3,039 2,459

As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under US GAAP:

Beginning stockholders’ equity............cccevvvinnen.n. 4,465 3,784 3,433 1,969
NEt INCOME... vt e e 712 695 657 457
Currency translation adjustments......................e. 220 489 (121) 166
Other changes in stockholders’ equity.................... (160) (503) (185) 841
Ending stockholders’ equity..........c..ccoooviieiiinane. 5,237 4,465 3,784 3,433

Restatement adjustments:

Beginning stockholders’ equity..............coevveuinnnnn. (58) (23) n -
NELIOSS. .. et e (148) (29) (7 (16)
Currency translation adjustments

on profit and loss account reserves................. 4) (6) 1 (1)
Other changes in stockholders’ equity.................... - - - -
Ending stockholders’ equity..............cooveiiinenen. (210) (58) (23) ()]

As restated under US reporting requirements
- under Irish GAAP:

Beginning stockholders’ equity..............cccevieennee. 3,838 3,016 2,442 1,626
NEt INCOME ... 614 732 626 449
Currency translation adjustments

on profit and loss account reserves.................... 108 269 (57) 164
Other changes in stockholders’ equity.................... (210) (179) 5 203
Ending stockholders’ equity.............cccovviineeinnne. 4,350 3,838 3,016 2,442

As restated under US reporting requirements
- under US GAAP:

Beginning stockholders’ equity.............ccccivienee.e. 4,407 3,761 3,416 1,969
NEt INCOME. .. oeue i e 564 666 650 441
Currency translation adjustments.......................... 216 483 (120) 165
Other changes in stockholders’ equity.................... (160) (503) (185) 841
Ending stockholders’ equity..........c..ccoovviiiiinenn. 5,027 4,407 3,761 3,416




CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
The Statements of Cash Flows presented under Irish GAAP were impacted by the restatement of net income under
US reporting requirements (decreasing cash flow from operating activities) and a net decrease in derivative and FX net assets

(increasing cash flow from operating activities).

The following table presents the restatement adjustments to the Statements of Cash Flows, arising from the treatment of the
Fraud Losses under US reporting requirements, for each of the years 1997 to 2000.
Actual underlying cash flows in 2000 and prior years were not affected by the Fraud Losses. Up to December 31, 2000, all

fraudulent FX options transactions were fictitious transactions and did not affect net cash provided by operating activities.

As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under Irish GAAP:
Operating activities:
Group operating iNCOME.........ccvvvueeiiiee e,
Adjustments to reconcile Group operating income to
net cash inflow from operating activities:
(Increase)/decrease in other assets.............ccveevvnneee.
Increase in other liabilities.................cooveieninnn.
Other line items, Net..........oooeviiiiii e

Net cash provided by/(used for) operating activities...

Restatement adjustments:

Operating activities:

Group operating iNCOME........c..vevvviveviriieianinenn,
Adjustments to reconcile Group operating income to

net cash inflow from operating activities:

Decrease in Other assets ........ooovvvvierinineiiineeee s
Decrease in other liabilities............ccoovieiieneineninns
Other ling items, Net..........covvivi i,

Net cash provided by/(used for) operating activities...

As restated under US reporting requirements
- Irish GAAP:
Operating activities:
Group operating iNCOME........covvierieniiiie et eeneenn
Adjustments to reconcile Group operating income to
net cash inflow from operating activities:
(Increase)/decrease in other assets.............ccccevnenes
Increase in other liabilities...........cccccooveniine i
Other line items, NBt.......oiee i,

Net cash provided by/(used for) operating activities. ..

Years ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997
(Euro in millions)

1,130 1,112 1,013 653
(595) (289) 333 (541)
674 126 127 171
1,224 2,242 2,248 (341)
2,433 3,191 3,721 (58)
(228) (45) (11) (24)
437 53 10 26
(203) - - -
(6) (8) 1 @
902 1,067 1,002 629
(158) (236) 343 (515)
471 126 127 171
1,218 2,234 2,249 (343)
2,433 3,191 3,721 (58)

The principal differences between Statements of Cash Flows prepared under Irish GAAP and those prepared under US GAAP

are set out on pages 157 and 158.
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INCOME TAXES

The following table presents condensed income tax information as disclosed in Note 16 “Applicable Taxes” of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. The adjustments to net income reported under Irish GAAP, arising from the treatment of the
Fraud Losses under US reporting requirements, results in an adjustment to income tax expense and income taxes payable or
receivable (both current and deferred) for each of the years 1997 to 2000.

Years ended December 31,
2000 1999 1998 1997
(Euro in millions)

Applicable taxes

As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under Irish GAAP:

(O (= o | P 194 215 230 179
Deferred.....coov i 124 112 140 51
Total iNnCome taX eXPENSE......cvvvverieeririeeiiieraranens 318 327 370 230

Restatement adjustments:

CUITENE. e e e e (45) 8) - (8)
Deferred. ..o v (35) 8) (4) -
Total income tax benefit......c.ccooeveeeiiiiieiiiiiiiins. (80) (16) (4) (8)

As restated under US reporting requirements
- under Irish GAAP:

(O (= o | P 149 207 230 171
Deferred. ... .oou v 89 104 136 51
Total iNComMe taX EXPENSE.....covvivrerieerieeeraiieraanaas 238 311 366 222
CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The following table presents information as disclosed in Note 48 “Capital Adequacy Information” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. The restatement of net income affected total comprehensive income and the ending stockholders’ equity for
each of the years 1997 to 2000. This impacted Tier 1 and hence Total capital, while the impact of the changes to other assets and
other liabilities had an immaterial effect on risk adjusted assets.

Years ended December 31,
2000 1999 1998 1997
(Euro in millions)

As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under Irish GAAP:

Tier Lcapital.......coovviiieiee i 3,814 3,168 2,939 2,551
Total capital.......ccooeevvie i, 6,526 5,570 4,361 3,847
Risk adjusted assets..........oovveerrivevirineieneneieinienn. 60,222 49,275 39,113 34,655
Tier 1 capital as a % of risk adjusted assets............... 6.3% 6.4% 7.5% 7.4%
Total capital as a % of risk adjusted assets................ 10.8% 11.3% 11.1% 11.1%

Restatement adjustments:

Tier 1 capital ......ovvvieiie i (210) (58) (23) 17)
Total capital.......cooeeeie i (210) (58) (23) 17
Risk adjusted assets...........ouveeeiiieainiie e e 9) (13) (7) -

As restated for US reporting requirements
- under Irish GAAP:

Tier Lcapital ....oevvnie i 3,604 3,110 2,916 2,534
Total capital.........ccovve i, 6,316 5,512 4,338 3,830
Risk adjusted assets..........oovveevriievirineienineieinieen. 60,213 49,262 39,106 34,655
Tier 1 capital as a % of risk adjusted assets............... 6.0% 6.3% 7.5% 7.3%
Total capital as a % of risk adjusted assets................ 10.5% 11.2% 11.1% 11.1%
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CONDENSED FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRADING ACTIVITIES

The following table presents the two components of derivatives related to FX activities as disclosed in Note 43 “Derivatives”
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, the table includes the net fair value of FX net assets/(liabilities)
as disclosed in Note 50 “Fair Value of Financial Instruments” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Fraudulent Activities impacted the net fair value of FX derivative assets/(liabilities) for the years 1997 to 2000. In
addition, the notional value, year-end FX Option Asset and average FX Option Asset were impacted by the restatement related
to fictitious FX Option Assets. There were no changes to commitments to purchase and sell foreign exchange (FX spot and forward
positions) related to the Fraudulent Activities; see ® below.

Years ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998 1997
(Euro in millions)
As previously reported in Form 20-F
- under Irish GAAP:
FX options:
Notional Value..........coovvi i 4,714 4,430 16,442 9,362
Fair value ......oooeiini 259 (18) 29 33
Average fair value............ooooviiii 136 39 19 6
Forward FX contracts:
Notional Value..........oooii i s 16,300 2,640 7,178 19,278
Fair value ..o (38) 3 38 (8)
Average fair value...........oooiiii i (24) 2 47 23
Restatement adjustments:
FX options:
Notional Value..........c.oovviiiiiiiii e e (951) (546) (181) (187)
Fair value ....ooovee i, (323) (89) (36) (26)
Average fair value...........ccoooiiiii e, (191) (114) (37) (11)
Forward FX contracts:
Notional value...........oooviiiii i (1,285)® - - -
Fair value ..o - - - -
Average fair value...........ooooiii i - - - -
As Restated for US reporting purposes
- under Irish GAAP:

FX options:
Notional value...........c.oooviiiiiii 3,763 3,884 16,261 9,175
Fair value ....ooovve i, (64) (107) (7) 7
Average fair value..........ooooeiiiii i, (55) (75) (18) (5)
Forward FX contracts:
Notional Value..........cocovii it 15,015 2,640 7,178 19,278
Fair value ......oooeiini e (38) 3 38 (8)
Average fair value..........cooooiiii i, (24) 2 47 23

@ While reflected within the “restatement adjustments” section, this adjustment is actually a reclassification to conform the 2000
20-F presentation to the 2001 presentation. For 2001, the notional values of FX spot and forward contracts with the same
counterparty under legally enforceable master netting agreements have been netted.
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Risk factors
Business conditions and general economy

The profitability of the Group’s businesses could be adversely affected by a worsening of general economic conditions in
Ireland or elsewhere as well as by foreign and domestic trading market conditions. Such factors could also adversely affect the
credit quality of the Group’s on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets. An economic downturn or significantly higher interest
rates could increase the risk that a greater number of the Group’s customers would default on their loans or other obligations to
the Group, or would refrain from seeking additional borrowing.

Government policies and economic controls

The Group’s businesses and earnings are also affected by the fiscal or other policies that are adopted by various regulatory
authorities of the governments of the countries in which we operate and international agencies. The nature and impact of future
changes in such policies are not predictable and are beyond the Group’s control.

For further discussion on the Group’s businesses, the Irish economy, competition, and supervision and regulation in the main
geographical areas the Group operates in, see Item 4 “Business overview” on pages 15 to 24.

Potential business risks resulting from the exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses

As a result of the announcement of the Fraudulent Activities and related losses on February 6, 2002 the Group became
exposed to some potential business risks. Such risks relating to liquidity are discussed in the liquidity risk section of Item 11
“Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk”, while potential litigation risks are described under the Legal
Proceedings section of Item 8 “Financial information”.

The Board and management took immediate action to terminate foreign exchange and interest rate proprietary trading in
Allfirst. Management changes were also made and external advisors retained to conduct an investigation into the trading losses.
Furthermore, a risk audit of the Group’s treasury operations and a review of risk management across the Group is also underway
by external advisors.

Since the publication of the Investigation Report into the Fraud Losses on March 14, 2002, Allfirst’s core deposit base and
overall business volumes have stabilized. Elsewhere, throughout the Group there has not been any significant business impact,
although it must be recognized that this event has dented the reputation and good standing of Allfirst.

The Board and management are working in cooperation with the Group’s banking regulators including the US Federal
Reserve Board, the Maryland State Banking Commissioner and The Central Bank of Ireland on implementing the
recommendations and findings of the examinations of the Fraud. AIB has been informed that the US Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) has opened an informal inquiry into the Allfirst Fraudulent Foreign Exchange Trading Activities. AIB
intends to cooperate fully with the SEC.

Risk management

A detailed discussion on the three major risks facing AIB Group - credit risk, market risk and operational risk, is contained in
Item 11 “Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk™, on pages 66 to 85.
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Item 4.  Information on the company

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. has its registered office at Bankcentre, Ballsbridge, Dublin 4, Ireland. (Telephone number +353-1-660 0311)
The following additional statistical information may be found elsewhere as follows:

Average balance sheet - see Item 5 - “Average balance sheets and interest rates” on pages 32 and 33.

Investment portfolio - see Item 18 - note 49 on pages 145 to 147.

111. Loan portfolio

(a) Types of loans - See Item 11 - “Loan portfolio” on page 75.

(b) Maturities and sensitivities of loans to changes in interest rates - See Item 11 - “Interest rate sensitivity” on pages 70 and
71 and “Analysis of loans to customers by maturity and interest rate sensitivity” on page 78.

(c) Risk elements

- Non-accrual, past due and restructured loans - see Item 11 - “Risk elements in lending” on page 83.

- Potential problem loans - see Item 11 - “Provision and allowance for loan losses” on page 78.

- Foreign outstandings - see Item 11 - “Cross-border outstandings™ on page 85.

Summary of loan loss experience
(a) Analysis of the allowance for loan losses - see Item 11 - “Movements in the allowance for loan losses” on page 79.
(b) Allocation of the allowance for loan losses - see Item 11 - “Analysis of allowance for loan losses” on page 82.

Deposits and short-term borrowing
See Item 5 - “Placings with banks”, “Deposits by customers”, “Customer deposits by currency” and “Short-term borrowings”
on pages 47 to 49.

History and development of the company
History

AIB, originally named Allied Irish Banks Limited, was incorporated in Ireland in September 1966 in connection with the

amalgamation of three long established banks (the “constituent banks™) with assets aggregating €324 million. At that time the shares
of the Munster and Leinster Bank Limited (established 1885), the Provincial Bank of Ireland Limited (established 1825)

and The Royal Bank of Ireland Limited (established 1836), were acquired by and were transferred to AIB as a holding company.

In 1972, AIB became the sole banking entity in place of the three constituent banks, other than with regard to the currency note
issue of the Provincial Bank of Ireland Limited in Northern Ireland, which was transferred to AIB in 1982. This power to issue
bank notes in Northern Ireland was transferred to AIB Group (UK) p.l.c. with effect from January 10, 1994.

In December 1970, AIB commenced the expansion of its network of branches in Britain. Since 1972, AIB has opened overseas

branches in New York, the Cayman Islands and Singapore. Subsidiary companies have been set up in the Isle of Man and Jersey
(Channel Islands). Representative offices have been established in Frankfurt, Pennsylvania, California and Philadelphia.

In December 1983, AIB acquired 43% of the outstanding shares of First Maryland Bancorp (“FMB”), now Allfirst Financial Inc.

(“Allfirst”). On March 21, 1989, AIB completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding shares of common stock of FMB,
thereby furthering its strategic objective of increasing the geographic diversification of its investments and operations.

Ark Life Assurance Company Limited (“Ark Life”), the AIB Group’s wholly-owned life assurance subsidiary, commenced

trading on May 22, 1991.

In July 1991, AIB acquired TSB Bank Northern Ireland p.l.c. (“TSB NI”), a bank with 56 branches in Northern Ireland.

The AIB and TSB NI businesses in Northern Ireland were integrated with the passage of enabling legislation, which came into
effect on January 10, 1994 and the combined operations trade under the service mark “First Trust Bank”.

In February 1995, AIB acquired its initial minority shareholding of 16.3% of the outstanding shares of Wielkopolski Bank

Kredytowy S.A. (“WBK?”) and in June 1996 acquired a further shareholding of 20%. On May 13, 1997, the AIB Group increased
its shareholding in WBK to 60.14%.

On December 29, 1995, AIB acquired the John Govett Group, a UK investment management business operating principally

from offices in London, Singapore, San Francisco and Jersey. In December 1996, the asset management operations of AlB, excluding
those conducted by FMB, were merged under a single holding company.

On July 8, 1997, Dauphin Deposit Bank and Trust Company (“Dauphin”) a Pennsylvania chartered commercial bank was

acquired by FMB and all banking operations have been merged into Allfirst Bank since September 1999.

On June 2, 1999, AIB signed an in-principle agreement with Singapore based Keppel TatLee Bank Limited (now Keppel

Capital Holdings Limited) (“KTL"), which gave AIB the right to acquire up to a 24.9% equity stake in the bank. In October 1999,
AIB’ private banking and treasury operations in Singapore were sold to KTL. In August 2001, AIB sold its interests in Keppel
Capital Holdings Ltd. (“KCH”). The financial impact from the sale was a profit of €93 million.

On September 16, 1999, AIB completed the acquisition of an 80% shareholding in Bank Zachodni S.A. (“BZ”) from the State

Treasury of the Republic of Poland. In accordance with the acquisition agreement AIB invested in additional shares of BZ on
October 15, 1999, bringing the total shareholding to 81% at December 31, 1999. Further investments during 2000 have brought
AIB?’s shareholding to 83% at December 31, 2000.

On June 13, 2001, AIB completed the merger of Wielkopolski Bank Kredytowy S.A.(“WBK”) and Bank Zachodni S.A.

(“BZ”).The new entity has adopted the name Bank Zachodni WBK S.A. (“BZWBK?”), in which AIB has a 70.5% shareholding,
together with its subsidiaries and associates.
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Recent developments
In January 2002, AIB announced that it had reached an agreement to acquire Ketchum Canada, Inc., a fundraising consultancy

which operates across Canada with main offices in Toronto, Montreal, Calgary and Vancouver. Ketchum was founded in 1984 and
has assisted more than 600 clients in the Canadian not-for-profit sector in raising approximately Canadian $1.5 billion.

On April 19, 2002, AIB announced the appointment of John G Heimann as a special advisor to the Board on Risk
Management organization across the Group. Mr Heimann’s financial supervisor experience includes former US Comptroller of
the Currency, among other high profile positions. This appointment was signalled by AIB in its statement on March 14, 2002
announcing actions to be implemented following the independent investigation into fraudulent trading activities in Allfirst Bank.
Mr Heimann’s role will be to provide assurance to the Board that the Group’s risk structures, policies, procedures and governance
conform to the best international practice and address all of the risk-related issues identified in the Investigation Report.

Business overview
Description of business

AIB Group provides a diverse range of banking, financial and related services, principally in Ireland, the United States (“US”),
the United Kingdom (“UK”) and Poland. At December 31, 2001 AIB Group was the largest Irish banking group in terms of total
assets (on the basis of the latest published financial statements). AIB has some 280 branches and outlets in the Republic of Ireland,
where the directors estimate its share of the total market for both euro loans and deposits to be in excess of 20%.

In Northern Ireland, through its wholly-owned subsidiary AIB Group (UK) p.l.c., which trades there as First Trust Bank,
AIB Group operates from some 66 branches and outlets. In Britain, AIB Group (UK) p.l.c., which trades there as Allied Irish Bank
(GB), provides a range of banking services through 36 branches and outlets. In the US, through its subsidiary Allfirst Financial Inc.
(“Allfirst™), the Group operates through 260 full service branch offices in Maryland, adjoining states and the District of Columbia.
In Poland, the Group operates from 441 branches and outlets through its 70.5% owned subsidiary Bank Zachodni WBK S.A.
(“BZWBK?™).

AIB Group’s activities are conducted through five major operating divisions - AIB Bank ROI; AIB Bank GB & NI; USA;
Capital Markets; and Poland. At December 31, 2001 AIB Group had consolidated total assets of €88.8 billion and employed
approximately 31,900 people on a full time equivalent basis.

At December 31, 2001 the distribution of assets and the number of employees between those major operating divisions was
as follows:

Assets Employees
(Euro in

Division millions) % %
23,588 27 9,723 31
8,892 10 2,962 9
22,007 25 5,938 19
26,939 30 2,225 7
7,238 8 10,316 32
173 - 731 2
Total.ooieiiecec 88,837 100 31,895 100

The Irish economy

The following information contains statements concerning future economic conditions that involve risks and uncertainties and
speak only as of the date thereof. Factors that may cause actual future economic conditions to differ materially from those
contemplated by such forward-looking statements include, among other things, governmental, economic, fiscal, monetary or
political events or policies.

As AIB Group activities in Ireland account for approximately 47% of total Group assets, the performance of the Irish economy
is very important to the AIB Group. The small open nature of the economy and the international nature of the Group’s operations
also expose us to changes in external economic trends, particularly in the United States, the United Kingdom and Poland.

The Group is also exposed to changes in interest rates and to exchange rates, particularly against the US dollar and sterling.

Economic growth in the Irish economy, as measured by changes in real GDP, averaged 9.5% in the five years to 2001.

This exceptionally strong performance reflected a combination of favourable supply and demand side domestic and international
factors. On the domestic side, key factors were a highly educated and growing labour force growth, tax reform, and wage cost
competitiveness achieved through a series of social partnership arrangements. On the external side, the Irish economy benefited
from improved access to European and global markets, capital inflows from the EU and inward foreign direct investment.

The rate of economic growth in 2001 is estimated at 5.9%, the highest in the European Union (“EU”). Much of this average
increase reflects carryover from 2000 and a strong year-on-year performance in the first half of 2001. A sharp slowdown to 1.4%
was recorded in the second half of the year. This reflects weakening external demand for Irish exports and a fall in Irish fixed
investment spending after several years of very buoyant growth. Prospects for the United Kingdom, Ireland’s main trading partner
are seen as more favourable than many other major economies in 2002. Growth prospects for the United States are forecast to pick
up in the second half of 2002. This should contribute to an improvement in the global environment, assisting the process of internal
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adjustment in the euro area and in the EU-applicant countries such as Poland.

Because of the significant role played by foreign owned multinationals in the Irish economy, the trend in profit repatriations can
result in differences in the growth in real GDP and real GNP.The latter was smaller in absolute terms in 2000, by the equivalent of
16% of nominal GDP. Over the past five years, real GNP grew at an annual average rate of 8.2%. However, in 2001, whereas real
GDP grew by about 5.9%, the growth in real GNP was lower at 5%, due to a significant annual growth in profit outflows in the
second quarter of 2001.

Ireland is an EU Member State of the eurozone, where euro notes and coins were introduced successfully on January 1, 2002.

The European Central Bank (“ECB”), which regulates monetary policy for the euro area as a whole, cut the official refinancing
rate by a cumulative 1.5 percentage points to 3.25% in the course of 2001. Little change in official rates is expected in 2002.
In terms of the level of the euro versus the US dollar and sterling, these are at very competitive levels from an Irish point of view.
The euro has become relatively more stable against the US dollar and sterling in the second half of 2001. Irish external trade with
the United States and the United Kingdom accounts approximately for a combined 40% of total merchandise exports and 50% of
merchandise imports.

The weakness of the euro, the rise in oil prices, the increase in official rates and higher indirect taxes on tobacco prices were
significant contributory factors to the acceleration in the rate of inflation in Ireland from 1.5% in the third quarter of 1999 to a
peak of 7% in November 2000. Since then, the annual rate of inflation has declined to 4.2% by December 2001. The downtrend
was arrested as a result of a 0.9 percentage point contribution from indirect taxes imposed as part of the Irish Government’s
budgetary package for 2002, announced on December 5, 2001. The annual rate of inflation rose to 4.8% in March 2002.

The average rate of inflation in 2001, as measured by the official Consumer Price Index (“CP1”), was 4.9%, down from 5.6% in
2000. The average rate is officially forecast at 4.2% in 2002. As the Irish economy accounts for about 1% of eurozone GDP, the
annual rate of inflation in Ireland has only a marginal impact on monetary developments in the area.

Notwithstanding the slowdown in the rate of economic growth, Irish budgetary policy remains well within the terms of the
EU’s Stability and Growth Pact, which sets an upper limit of 3% on general government deficits as a percentage of GDP. Ireland
had a general government surplus of 1.7% of GDP in 2001 and is officially projected to run a surplus of 0.6% of GDP in 2002.
The projected surplus comes against a background of a sharp slowdown in the rate of Irish real GDP growth from
5.9% in 2001 to a forecast 3.5% in 2002. Ireland’s general government debt/GDP ratio is forecast at 34% in 2002, down from
36.6% in 2001. The debt ratio has fallen steadily from 95.1% in 1991. The maintenance of budgetary stability is helped by the
strength of the labour market. The unemployment rate fell to a low of 3.7% in the second quarter of 2001. There was a rise to 4.0%
in the fourth quarter. However, this was due to a strong rise in the growth in the labour force. The rate of unemployment is
forecast to rise to about 4.5% on average in 2002 compared with 4% in 2001.

Ireland’s medium term prospects remain favourable, though conditional on the maintenance of overall competitiveness and
continued fiscal stability. The government and the social partners are committed to the continuation of these policies. The medium
term outlook is pointing to annual growth in real GDP of 4.5-5% on average and a return to an average inflation rate of about
2.5% per annum.

Divisional information
Change in divisional structure

Under the new structure, announced in February 2001, AIB Bank Division was divided into AIB Bank Republic of Ireland
(“AlB Bank ROI”) and AIB Bank Great Britain and Northern Ireland (“AlIB Bank GB & NI”). A new division, Enterprise Networks
and eBusiness (“ENeB”), was also established.

AIB Bank Republic of Ireland division

The AIB Bank ROI division, with total assets of €23.6 billion at December 31, 2001, encompasses the Group’s retail and
commercial banking operations in Ireland, Channel Islands and Isle of Man; AIB Finance & Leasing; Card Services and AIB’s life
and pensions subsidiary, Ark Life Assurance Company Limited. AIB Bank ROI provides banking services through a distribution
network of some 280 locations (191 branches and 91 outlets), and in excess of 420 automatic teller machines (“ATMs”). AIB
card holders also have access to over 29,000 LINK ATMs in the UK as well as 500,000 Visa Plus serviced ATMs worldwide.

AIB has also recently signed an agency agreement with An Post, the national post office network, which will allow AIB customers
to carry out basic transactions at 1,000 post office locations from July 2002. A debit card “Laser” is operated jointly with other
financial institutions in Ireland.

In addition, the division offers a 24 hour telephone and internet service for the routine transactions of personal customers
through which they can pay bills, transfer money between accounts, search for cheques and view and order statements. For
business customers, a similar electronic service Electronic Business Banking (“EBB”) is available for viewing and transferring funds.

Branch banking services are provided across the range of customer segments, including individuals, small and medium sized
commercial customers, farmers and the corporate sector. Through the branch network, the division provides a variety of savings
and deposit accounts and investment products, loans and overdrafts, home loans, home improvement loans, foreign exchange
facilities and issues Visa® and Mastercard® credit cards.

AIB Finance & Leasing is AIB’ asset financing arm in Ireland. It markets its services through the AIB branch network and through
intermediaries with whom it has established relationships, such as motor dealers, equipment suppliers, brokers and other professionals,
including solicitors, accountants and estate agents. It also lends directly to customers. Its lending services include vehicle, equipment and
fleet leasing, retail and investment property loans, vehicle and equipment hire purchase, insurance premium financing and personal loans.

AIBs life assurance subsidiary, Ark Life Assurance Company Limited, provides a wide range of financial planning services including
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life assurance, savings and investment instruments, pensions and inheritance tax planning. In Ireland, general insurance products are sold
in the branch network through alliances with partners in the insurance industry.

AIB Bank Great Britain and Northern Ireland division

AIB Bank GB & NI, with total assets of €8.9 billion at December 31, 2001, operates through 36 branches and outlets throughout
Britain, under the name Allied Irish Bank (GB) and as First Trust Bank in Northern Ireland where the bank maintains 66 branches.
There are head offices in both London and Belfast. Both operations provide a full range of banking services including current accounts,
overdraft and loan facilities, mortgages, deposit and investment services and specialist corporate banking services. Allied Irish Bank (GB)
maintains a strong sectoral approach of concentrating on the business and professional markets. In 2000, for the fourth and
unprecedented time, Allied Irish Bank (GB) has been recognized as Britain’s Best Business Bank through the Forum of Private Business
survey, the largest of its kind in the UK.

First Trust Bank serves a broad base of personal customers and a substantial, and growing, business customer base which crosses a
range of sectors. Its telephone and Internet services — First Trust ‘Phoneline’ and ‘Online’ are experiencing strong levels of growth.
First Trust Bank provides services for customers to transact in euro currency. Asset finance facilities are provided through First Trust
Finance and Leasing, life assurance is available through Ark Life, and unit trust and investment business is directed to Govett Asset
Managers in London. First Trust Bank also has an Independent Financial Advice company.

USA division

The USA division, with total assets of €22.0 billion at December 31, 2001, comprises the operations of Allfirst and of AIB’s
New York and Cayman Islands branches. Allfirst and its subsidiaries serve customers through a network of 260 full service offices and
approximately 600 automated teller machines in Maryland, adjoining states and the District of Columbia.

Allfirst is a bank holding company based in Baltimore, Maryland, with total stockholders’ equity at December 31, 2001 of
US$1.7 hillion. At that date it had total assets of US$18.8 hillion and total deposits of US$13.1 hillion. Since March 21, 1989, AIB has
controlled 100% of the voting power of Allfirst’s outstanding capital stock.

Allfirst, through its principal subsidiary Allfirst Bank, is engaged in general commercial and retail banking and treasury and trust
businesses serving individuals, businesses and governmental units. Allfirst Bank operates throughout Maryland and adjoining states.
Allfirst also engages in cash management services through Allfirst Financial Center N.A. Other subsidiaries of Allfirst are engaged
primarily in equipment financing and commercial real estate lending.

A range of banking services is also provided through the New York branch of AIB to corporate and retail customers. In addition, the
branch manages AIB’s Cayman Islands branch. The New York branch also manages representative offices in Philadelphia, Los Angeles,
Chicago, Atlanta and San Francisco.

Capital Markets division

AIB Capital Markets, with total assets of €26.9 billion at December 31, 2001, manages the Investment Banking, Asset Management,
Stockbroking, Corporate Banking and International Banking Services of the Group (with the exception of Allfirst and BZWBK), as well
as the Treasury Services of the Group. Following consideration of the Investigation Report, the board decided to centralize the
management and control of all treasury activities throughout AIB Group in AIB Capital Markets Division.

These services are delivered through the following main business units: Treasury and International, Investment Banking, AIB Asset
Management Holdings, and AIB Corporate Banking.

Treasury & International through its treasury operations manages, on a global basis, the liquidity and funding requirements and the
interest and exchange rate exposure of the Group. In addition, it undertakes proprietary trading activities, and provides a wide range of
treasury and risk management services to the corporate, commercial and retail customers of the Group. International banking activities
include import and export financial services.

Investment Banking provides a comprehensive range of services including corporate finance through AIB Corporate Finance
Limited, stockbroking through Goodbody Stockbrokers, structuring cross-border financing transactions and providing sophisticated
back-office services through AIB International Financial Services Limited, and custodial, trustee and fund administration services
through joint ventures with The Bank of New York. At December 31, 2001, the AIB/The Bank of New York joint venture, AIB/BNY
Fund Management (Ireland) Ltd., had €76 billion of funds under administration. AIB/BNY Trust Company Limited had assets under
trusteeship of €64 billion.

Asset management is provided through AIB Investment Managers Limited in the Republic of Ireland, Govett Investment Management
Limited in the United Kingdom, AIB Govett Inc. in the United States and AIB Govett (Asia) Limited in Singapore. The companies
manage assets principally for institutional and retail clients. The combined operations have €15.0 billion of funds under management.

AIB Corporate Banking provides a fully integrated, relationship-based banking service to top-tier companies, both domestic and
international, financial institutions and Irish commercial state companies. The Special Finance Unit within AIB Corporate Banking is a
dedicated unit focusing on developing and arranging acquisition and project finance principally in Ireland, UK and Continental Europe,
and has established mezzanine finance funds and CDO funds.While AIB Corporate Banking operates primarily in Ireland, it also has
teams based in the UK and USA.

AIB Capital Markets is headquartered at Dublin’s International Financial Services Centre. It also operates from a number of other
Dublin locations, and operates AIB’s treasury operations in London and New York, a representative office in Frankfurt, and offices
managed by AIB International Financial Services Limited in Budapest and in Zurich.
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Poland division

Poland division, with total assets of €7.2 billion at December 31, 2001, comprises BZWBK in which AIB has a 70.5%
shareholding, together with its subsidiaries and associates. AIB successfully completed the merger of its Polish operations in 2001,
forming Poland’s fifth largest bank.

BZWBK’s headoffice is located in Wroclaw in south-western Poland. At December 31, 2001 BZWBK had total assets of
PLN 25.3 bhillion, 441 branches and outlets supplemented by 557 ATMs and employed more than 10,000 staff. The bank operates
mainly in western Poland, which is one of the most prosperous parts of the country, but also has a significant presence outside of
that region, including major urban areas such as Warsaw, Krakow and Lodz. BZWBK is a universal bank offering comprehensive
services to retail and corporate customers. The bank’s activities also comprise of brokerage, leasing, asset management and
investment fund products provided by BZWBK subsidiaries and affiliates.

Competition

There is strong competition among providers of retail banking services, based upon the quality and variety of products and
services, customer relationship management, convenience of location, technological capability, and the level of interest rates
charged to borrowers and paid to depositors.

Allied Irish Banks has committed itself to pursuing an integrated multi-channel strategy utilizing branches, telephone, internet
and other direct channels in a complementary manner, based on customer choice.

Republic of Ireland  AIB Group provides a diverse range of banking services in the Republic of Ireland. It is subject to
competition across the spectrum of banking activity. The major competitor is Bank of Ireland, which like AIB has its headquarters
in Dublin. The other clearing bank competitors are Ulster Bank Ireland Limited (which is a subsidiary of the UK Bank,

Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc) and National Irish Bank Limited (which is a subsidiary of National Australia Bank). There is,
in addition, competition from building societies, mortgage specialists, credit unions, and some smaller financial institutions.

AIB Group encounters competition in the merchant and corporate banking areas from domestic merchant banks and foreign
banks, primarily mainland European and North America. In the life assurance market, Ark Life’s main competitors are Irish Life,
Bank of Ireland’s life assurance subsidiaries, Lifetime and New Ireland, and Canada Life. Greater European integration may result
in increased competition from EU member state banks, although a number of continental banks have operated in Ireland for
many years.

Northern Ireland/Britain ~ AIB operates in the main conurbation areas of Britain and Northern Ireland through its branch
network and head office structures. Main competition comes from other clearing banks and from building societies, or former
building societies. In Northern Ireland there is also competition from the strong credit union movement catering for the personal
market.

The larger UK clearing banks continue to retrench their branch networks and develop alternative forms of distribution,
providing services direct to customers via the Internet and telephone banking. All banks and building societies are responding
directly to the competition offered by new entrants, particularly e-banks. Adherence to the Banking Code, and increasing
government regulation are ensuring that customer choice and industry standards remain at a high level, and that customers receive
a value for money service in both the personal and business markets.

Inflation is at its lowest level for decades with mortgages and credit in general available at relatively low rates of interest.

The low level of interest rates has an effect on the savings market, with a discernible trend towards more sophisticated savings
products as savers try to maximise their personal returns. The UK is experiencing changing economic conditions. While there are
some pressures on business growth the economy remains relatively stable in the low interest environment.

United States. ~ The market for banking and bank-related services in the US is highly competitive. Passage of financial
modernization legislation in November 1999, which removed barriers to affiliation among banks, broker-dealers and insurance
companies, is increasing competition in these markets. Allfirst and its subsidiaries compete with other providers of financial
services such as other bank holding companies, commercial and savings banks, savings and loan associations, consumer finance
companies, credit unions, money market and other mutual funds, mortgage companies, insurance companies and a growing list of
other local, regional and national institutions which offer financial services. Mergers between financial institutions within
Maryland and in neighboring states have added competitive pressure.

Poland  AIB Group, through its investment in BZWBK, has approximately 6% share of the Polish Financial Services market
and important regional market concentration. BZWBK’s presence is in the former WBK and BZ’ original regions of
Wielkopolska and Lower Silesia. As a key player in these regions, BZWBK is competing with nationwide banks such as Pekao and
PKO BP, or its peers such as Bank Przemyslowo Handlowy PBK and ING Bank Slaski. The extensive branch network supported
by investment in e-banking and an increasingly sophisticated product offering should enable the bank to successfully protect its
market share in the region. BZWBK is positioned to benefit from the country’s fast growing e-banking market. BZWBK is
implementing a new, integrated IT system which should enhance efficiency and the development of new business. This along with
the on-going transfer of knowledge and expertise from AIB Group should position the bank to compete with the major players in
the Polish market.
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Supervision and regulation

Ireland.  The regulation and supervision of banks in Ireland is a function of the Central Bank of Ireland (“the Central
Bank”) which was established by the Central Bank Act, 1942 and derives its power from the Central Bank Acts, 1942 to 1998, the
European Communities (Licensing and Supervision of Credit Institutions) Regulations, 1992 (“the 1992 Regulations”) and the
European Communities (Consolidated Supervision of Credit Institutions) Regulations, 1992 (collectively “the Acts”). The carrying
on of banking business in Ireland is restricted to holders of licenses granted under the Acts.

On February 20, 2001, proposals by the Government of Ireland for changes in financial services regulation in Ireland were
announced. When implemented, it is intended that these would involve a re-naming of the Central Bank as the “Central Bank and
Financial Services Authority of Ireland”. The Central Bank will also include, as a constitutent part of it, a new authority
responsible for prudential regulation of both the banking and insurance sectors and for consumer protection. This new authority
will be known as the “Irish Financial Services Regulatory Authority”. On April 16, 2002 the Central Bank and Financial Services
Authority of Ireland Bill, 2002 was published. When and if enacted, this will provide in law for the proposed changes. On the
same date the Minister for Finance announced the appointment of an interim board for the Irish Financial Services Regulatory
Authority which is to manage the transition to the new regulatory arrangements.

The 1992 Regulations, which gave effect in Irish Law to the provisions of the EC Second Council Directive 89/646 of
December 15, 1989 on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to the taking up and pursuit of
the business of credit institutions (“the Second Banking Directive”), exempt credit institutions authorized to carry on such
business in another member state of the European Union from the requirement to hold a license in order to establish a branch in
Ireland or, without establishing such a branch, to provide services in Ireland covered by such authorization.

The Central Bank may, in its discretion, grant or refuse a license under the Acts and may attach conditions to any licenses
granted. Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., AIB Capital Markets plc and AIB Finance Limited are the holders of licenses and no such
conditions are attached to those licenses. The Central Bank may, after consultation with the Minister for Finance, revoke a license
under certain circumstances specified in the Acts.

The Central Bank has statutory power to carry out inspections of the books and records of license holders. Pursuant to this
power, the Central Bank carries out regular review meetings and periodically sends its inspectors into the Head Offices of licensed
banks. The Central Bank is also empowered by law to obtain information from license holders about their business.

The Central Bank is further empowered to prescribe ratios to be maintained between the assets and liabilities of licensed
banks, to specify requirements as to the composition of the assets and liabilities of licensed banks and to make regulations for the
prudent and orderly conduct of the banking business of such banks. The requirements and standards which the Central Bank uses
to guide it in the assessment of application for licenses and in the supervision of the business carried on by credit institutions have
been set out by it in its “Licensing and Supervision Requirements and Standards for Credit Institutions”. These standards and
criteria are applied in a flexible manner but in accordance with the principles of administrative law. Three important areas of these
criteria relate to capital requirements, liquidity requirements and large exposures. In the area of capital adequacy, Ireland is bound
by the terms of EC Council Directive 89/299 of April 17, 1989 on the own funds of credit institutions and EC Council Directive
89/647 of December 18, 1989 on a solvency ratio for credit institutions. In addition, EC Council Directive 93/6 of
March 15, 1993 on the capital adequacy of investment and credit institutions has also been implemented by the Central Bank with
effect from January 1, 1996. This requires (inter alia) credit institutions to provide capital on a defined basis, in respect of market
risk. In the area of the monitoring and control of large exposures, Ireland is bound by the terms of EC Council Directive 92/121
of December 21, 1992 on the monitoring and control of large exposures of credit institutions. These directives have been
implemented by the Central Bank. The second banking directive, Directives 89/299, 89/647 and 93/6 (and various amending
directives) were, for reasons of clarity and rationality, codified and combined into a single text by Directive 2000/12/EC of March
20, 2000 relating to the taking up and pursuit of the business of credit institutions.

The Central Bank has issued a Code of Conduct for the Investment Business Services of Credit Institutions, a Code of
Practice for Credit Institutions (containing standards of good banking practice which are to be followed by all credit institutions)
and Advertising Requirements applicable to credit institutions.

Under the Consumer Credit Act, 1995, an obligation is imposed upon licensed banks (and other credit institutions) to notify
every proposal to impose new charges or to increase existing ones to the Director of Consumer Affairs who is given power to
direct that a charge shall not be imposed or changed without her prior approval.

Under the European Communities (Deposit Guarantee Schemes) Regulations, 1995 and 1999 the Central Bank maintains a
Deposit Protection Account out of which the High Court may, on the application of the liquidator of a credit institution
authorized or formerly authorized by the Central Bank which is unable to pay its debts and is being wound up, make payments by
way of compensation to depositors covered under the Regulations for up to 90% of any amount of eligible unavailable deposits
subject to a maximum amount payable equivalent to €20,000. For the purposes of the Deposit Protection Account each credit
institution is obliged to maintain on deposit with the Central Bank an amount of 0.2% of total deposits issued or held at offices of
the credit institution in member states of the European Union.

All credit institutions are obliged to take the necessary measures to effectively counteract money laundering in accordance
with the Criminal Justice Act, 1994 (as amended) and the Guidance Notes for Credit Institutions which were issued with the
approval of the Money Laundering Steering Committee. This committee was set up under the aegis of the Department of Finance
and included representatives from other government departments, the Central Bank, the Garda Siochana (Police) and representative
bodies from the financial sector. The Criminal Justice Act, 1994 and the Guidance Notes referred to above provide for measures to
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counteract money laundering and implement the provisions of EC Council Directive 91/308 of June 10, 1991 on prevention of
the use of the financial system for the purpose of money laundering and to implement the Forty Recommendations of the
Financial Action Task Force of the OECD.

The Acts require the approval of the Central Bank for the acquisition of over 10% of the total shares or voting rights in a
licensed bank. Additionally, under the 1992 Regulations, any person who proposes to acquire, directly or indirectly, a “qualifying
holding” in a credit institution (which includes AIB) must notify the Central Bank in advance of the proposed acquisition and
must supply such details of the proposal as the Central Bank may specify. A “qualifying holding” for these purposes means:

(i) a holding by a person, either on his own or in concert with another person, of 10% or more of the shares (which include
certain interests therein) or in the voting rights attached to the shares in the credit institution; or (ii) a shareholding or interest held
by a person in a credit institution which either confers a right to appoint or remove one or more members of the board of
directors or of the committee of management of the credit institution, or otherwise allows that person to exercise a significant
influence over the direction or management of the credit institution. Such a person must also notify the Central Bank of every
proposal to increase his direct or indirect qualifying holding so that the holding would reach or exceed 20%, 33% or 50% of the
shares, or of the voting rights attaching to the shares in the credit institution or, in the case of a person that is a corporate entity, if
the person proposes to acquire any shares or interest in the credit institution which would make that institution its subsidiary for
the purpose of the 1992 Regulations.

Under the 1992 Regulations, a person must not acquire a qualifying holding or increase the size of their qualifying holding as
set out above until the earlier of three months elapsing from the date of notification to the Central Bank or receipt of notification
from the Central Bank that it will not object to the proposed acquisition or increase.

Apart from the above provisions of the Acts, the Licensing and Supervision Requirements and Standards for Credit Institutions
provide that a credit institution should not acquire, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the shares or other interests in another
company without the prior written approval of the Central Bank and that a credit institution must notify the Central Bank of its
divestment of the whole or part of such holdings.

AIB’s subsidiary company, Ark Life Assurance Company Limited, is regulated by the Department of Enterprise and
Employment under the provisions of the Insurance Acts and Regulations. The Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of
Ireland Bill, 2002 proposes to transfer the regulation of insurance companies to the Central Bank.

AIB’s subsidiary company, Goodbody Stockbrokers, is regulated by the Central Bank and by the Irish Stock Exchange under
the Stock Exchange Act, 1995.

Subsidiaries of AIB (which are not themselves credit institutions) which provide investment business services or investment
advice (as those terms are defined), are subject to regulation, and require authorization, under the Investment Intermediaries Acts,
1995 to 2000 which, interalie, implement in Irish law the provisions of EC Council Directive 93/22 of May 10, 1993 on
investment services in the security field (“the Investment Services Directive”). AIB’s operations in overseas locations are subject to
the regulations and reporting requirements of the regulatory and supervisory authorities in those locations.

United States. AIB’s New York branch is licensed by the State of New York and is subject to examination by the New York
State Banking Department. Furthermore, the branch is subject to the reserve requirements established by the Board of Governors
of the Federal Reserve System (the “Board”) pursuant to the International Banking Act of 1978 (the “IBA”) and is subject to
examination by the Board. In addition, AIB’s New York branch is subject to regulation by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”). The IBA also imposes limitations on the types of business conducted in the US and on the location and
expansion of banking operations in the US. As the owner of Allfirst Bank, Allfirst Financial Inc. is subject to the provisions of the
Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (together with regulations thereunder, the “BHCA”) and is subject to the
supervision of, and regulation by, the Board. As the owner of Allfirst Financial Inc. and Allfirst Financial Centre National
Association (“AFC”), AIB is also subject to the provisions of the BHCA and is subject to the supervision of, and regulation by, the
Board.

Allfirst Bank, as a state-chartered member bank of the Federal Reserve System, is subject to supervision and regulation by the
Board and the Maryland Commissioner of Financial Regulation. AFC, a national banking association, is subject to supervision and
regulation by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency of the United States (“OCC”). Both banks, as federally insured
institutions, are also subject to regulation by the FDIC. Deposits, reserves, investments, loans, consumer law compliance, issuance of
securities, payment of dividends, mergers and consolidations, electronic funds transfers, management practices, and other aspects of
the banks’ operations are subject to regulation. The approval of the appropriate bank regulatory authority is required for the
establishment of additional branch offices by either of the banks, subject to state branching restrictions.

Federal law regulates transactions among Allfirst Financial Inc. and its affiliates, including the amount of banking affiliates’ loans
to or investments in nonbank affiliates and the amount of advances to third parties collateralized by securities of an affiliate. In
addition, various requirements and restrictions under federal and state laws regulate the operations of the banking affiliates of
Allfirst Financial Inc. requiring the maintenance of reserves against deposits, limiting the nature of loans and interest that may be
charged thereon and restricting investments and other activities.

A fundamental principle underlying the Board’s supervision and regulation of bank holding companies is that bank holding
companies should act as a source of financial strength to, and commit resources to support, each of its subsidiary banks. Subsidiary
banks are in turn to be operated in a manner that protects the overall soundness of the institution and the safety of deposits. Bank
regulators can take various remedial measures to deal with banks and bank holding companies that fail to meet legal and
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regulatory standards. Some of the aspects of the lending and deposit business of Allfirst Bank, which is subject to regulation by the
Maryland Banking Commissioner and the Board, is subject to disclosure requirements in connection with personal and mortgage
loans, interest on deposits, and reserve requirements. In addition, Allfirst Financial Inc. banking subsidiaries are subject to numerous
federal, state and local laws and regulations which set forth specific restrictions and procedural requirements with respect to
extensions of credit (including to insiders), credit practices, disclosure of credit terms, and discrimination in credit transactions.
Furthermore, there are regulatory limitations upon the amount of dividends the banking subsidiaries of Allfirst Financial Inc. may
pay to Allfirst Financial Inc. without prior regulatory approval and, in addition, the banking regulators may prohibit the payment
of any dividend which would constitute an "unsafe or unsound practice".

Under Federal law in effect through September 28, 1995, AIB was permitted to acquire a bank outside Maryland only if the
law of the state in which such bank was located specifically authorized such an acquisition. On September 29, 1994, the President
of the United States signed into law the Riegle-Neal Interstate Banking and Branching Efficiency Act of 1994 (“Interstate
Banking Act”). The Interstate Banking Act amended Federal law to provide, among other things, that: (i) effective September 29,
1995, bank holding companies are permitted (subject to certain conditions) to acquire banks and bank holding companies across
state lines without regard to whether such acquisition is prohibited (or not specifically authorized) by state law; (ii) effective
June 1, 1997 (or earlier if both states opted-in to interstate branching), banks are permitted to merge across state lines provided
neither state has opted-out of interstate branching; and (iii) a bank in one state may establish de novo a branch in another state
provided that the other state’s laws expressly permit the establishment of the branch.

On December 19, 1991, the President of the United States signed into law the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
Improvement Act of 1991 (“FDICIA”). In general, FDICIA subjects banks (including bank holding companies and US branches of
foreign banks) to significantly increased regulation and supervision. It also provides for the recapitalization of the Bank Insurance
Fund (“BIF”) of the FDIC and authorizes the FDIC to impose significantly higher, risk-based, deposit insurance premiums.

Among other things, FDICIA requires Federal bank regulators to take prompt corrective action with respect to banks which
do not meet minimum capital requirements and imposes certain restrictions upon banks which meet minimum capital
requirements but are not deemed to be well capitalized. For example, banks which are critically undercapitalized (a term defined
to include institutions which have a ratio of tangible equity to total assets of equal to or less than 2%) are generally subject to the
mandatory appointment of a receiver or conservator. A bank which meets minimum capital requirements but is not deemed to be
well capitalized is generally prohibited from accepting brokered deposits and is subject to certain limitations on the interest rates it
may pay on deposits. As of the date of this report, AIB and all banking subsidiaries of Allfirst Financial Inc. meet the definition of
well-capitalized banks. Effective December 19, 1992, FDICIA generally prohibits a state-licensed branch of a foreign bank, such as
AIB’s New York branch, from engaging or continuing to engage in any activity which is not permissible for a national bank.

To date, these restrictions have not had a materially adverse effect upon AIB and AIB does not believe that they will in the future.

The FDIC’s deposit insurance assessments have moved under FDICIA from a flat-rate system to a risk-based system. Under
this system, the FDIC places each insured bank in one of nine risk categories based on its level of capital and other relevant
information (such as supervisory evaluations). Each insured bank’s insurance assessment rate is then determined by the risk
category in which it has been classified by the FDIC. Currently, the FDIC’s risk-based system provides that the highest and lowest
annual premiums assessed per $100 of deposits insured by the BIF or the Savings Association Insurance Fund (“SAIF”) are $0.27
and $0.To date the implementation of this risk-based assessment system has not had a materially adverse effect upon AIB.

On September 30, 1996, the President of the United States signed into law provisions to recapitalize the SAIF and to provide
for payment of Financing Corporation (“FICO”) bonds issued in the 1980 as part of the resolution of the problems of the US
savings and loan industry. Pursuant to such provisions, depository institutions are required to make quarterly assessment payments
to the FDIC on both their BIF-assessable and SAIF-assessable deposits which will be paid to the FICO. This assessment is not
expected to have a materially adverse effect on AlIB.

The Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (“FIRREA”) provides that a depository
institution insured by the FDIC can be held liable for any loss incurred by, or reasonably expected to be incurred by, the FDIC
after August 9, 1989 in connection with: (i) the default of a commonly controlled FDIC insured depository institution; or (ii) any
assistance provided by the FDIC to a commonly controlled FDIC insured depository institution in danger of default. “Default” is
defined generally as the appointment of a conservator or receiver for such institution and “in danger of default” is defined
generally as the existence of certain conditions indicating that a “default” is likely to occur in the absence of regulator assistance.

Under Board policy, AIB is expected to act as a source of financial strength to its banking subsidiaries, and to commit
resources to support these banking subsidiaries in circumstances where it might not do so absent from such policy.

In addition, FDICIA requires companies that have control of an insured depository institution to guarantee the institution’s
compliance with any capital restoration plan required under Section 38 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (“FDIA”).

The company’s guarantee liability is limited to the lesser of: (a) 5% of the institution’s total assets at the time it became
undercapitalized; or (b) the amount which is necessary to bring the institution into compliance with all capital standards applicable
with respect to such institution as of the time the institution fails to comply with the plan. As required by FDICIA, the federal
bank regulators have amended their risk based capital regulations to provide for the explicit consideration of interest rate risk
(“IRR”) in their own overall evaluation of a bank’s capital adequacy. IRR reflects the adverse effect which changes in market
interest rates may have on the financial condition of a bank or bank holding company. The amendments are intended to require
that banks effectively measure and monitor their IRR, and that they maintain capital adequate for that risk. Under the
amendments, banking institutions deemed by the federal bank regulators to have excessive IRR may be required to maintain
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additional capital beyond that generally required. In view of AIB’s current interest rate risk management policy, AIB does not
believe that the amendments will have a materially adverse affect upon AlB.

Effective August 10, 1993, the FDIA was amended to provide that, in the liquidation or other resolution by any receiver of a
bank (or US branch of a foreign bank) insured by the FDIC, the claims of depositors have priority over the general claims of other
creditors. Hence, in the event of the liquidation or other dissolution of a banking subsidiary (or the New York branch) of AIB,
the general claim of AIB as creditor of such banking subsidiary (or branch) would be subordinate to the claims of the depositors of
such banking subsidiary (or branch), even if the claims of AIB were not by their terms so subordinated. In addition, this statute
may, in certain circumstances, increase the costs to AIB’ banking subsidiaries (and the New York branch) of obtaining funds
through non-deposit liabilities.

On November 12, 1999, the President of the United States signed into law the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLBA”), which
provides for sweeping financial modernization for commercial banks, savings associations, securities firms, insurance companies, and
other financial institutions operating in the United States. Among other things, the GLBA permits qualifying financial institutions
to engage in expanded securities and insurance underwriting and sales activities. If AIB seeks to engage in these expanded activities
directly or through AFC, it must meet certain capital adequacy and management criteria and elect status as a “financial holding
company” with the Board. Allfirst Bank may also engage in certain expanded activities through an operating subsidiary after notice
to the OCC.To date, neither AFC nor Allfirst Bank has sought to engage in expanded activities pursuant to the GLBA.

The GLBA also places limitations on the sharing of consumer financial information with unaffiliated third parties. Specifically,
the GLBA requires all financial institutions offering financial products or services to retail customers to provide such customers
with the financial institution’s privacy policy and afford such customers the opportunity to “opt out” of the sharing of personal
financial information with unaffiliated third parties. AIB will ensure that its U.S. subsidiaries comply with the privacy provisions of
the GLBA in all retail customer relationships.

On October 26, 2001, in response to the events of September 11, the President of the United States signed into law the
Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001
(the “USA Patriot Act” or the “Act”). The Act significantly expands the responsibilities of financial institutions in preventing the
use of the U.S. financial system to fund terrorist activities. Title I11 of the Act (officially, the “International Money Laundering
Abatement and Anti-Terrorist Financing Act of 2001”) is the anti-money laundering portion of the USA Patriot Act. Title 111
provides for a sweeping overhaul of the U.S. anti-money laundering regime. Among other provisions, it requires financial
institutions operating in the United States to (i) give special attention to correspondent and payable-through bank accounts,

(i) implement enhanced reporting, due diligence and “know your customer” standards for private banking and correspondent
banking relationships, (iii) scrutinize the beneficial ownership and activity of certain non-U.S. and private banking customers and
(iv) develop new anti-money laundering programs, due diligence policies and controls to ensure the detection and reporting of
money laundering.

Among other powers, the Act gives the U.S. Department of the Treasury (the “Treasury™) broad discretion to determine
whether a jurisdiction or institution based outside the U.S. or a class of transactions involving such jurisdiction is of “primary
money laundering concern”. If it makes this determination, the Treasury may take special measures to restrict or prohibit access to
the U.S. marketplace. The Act requires all U.S. financial institutions to develop comprehensive anti-money laundering programs.
Such required compliance programs are intended to supplement any existing compliance programs for purposes of requirements
under the Bank Secrecy Act and the Office of Foreign Assets Control regulations.

United Kingdom.  AIB Group (UK) p.l.c. is a company incorporated in Northern Ireland and is an "authorized institution"
under the Banking Act 1987 (“the 1987 Act”). It carries on business in Great Britain under the service mark "Allied Irish Bank (GB)"
and in Northern Ireland “First Trust Bank”.

AIB Group (UK) p.l.c. has the statutory power to issue bank notes as local currency. In this connection it is subject to the
provisions of the Bank Charter Act 1844, the Bankers (Northern Ireland) Acts 1845 and 1928, the Allied Irish Banks Act
(Northern Ireland) 1971, the Allied Irish Banks Act 1981 and the Allied Irish Banks Act 1993.

The UK government has implemented a major overhaul of the UK financial regulatory system aimed at creating a new single
statutory regulator, the Financial Services Authority (“FSA™), for the full range of financial businesses, including deposit-taking
business, securities and other investment business and insurance business.

As part of the first stage of this programme, the Bank of England Act 1998 (“the 1998 Act”) came into force on June 1, 1998.
Under the 1998 Act, responsibility for banking supervision in the United Kingdom was transferred from the Bank of England to
the FSA.The Bank of England retains its monetary policy role and responsibility for the overall stability of the financial system.
The primary objective of the FSA (in its role as a bank supervisor) is to fulfil the responsibilities relating to the safety and
soundness of banks placed on it by the 1987 Act with the aim of strengthening, but not ensuring, the protection of depositors.

The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 is largely a consolidation of existing law and self regulatory requirements in
order to provide a single legal framework for the FSA in the three sectors of financial services industry (insurance, investment
business and banking).

The basic method of supervision employed by the FSA involves the regular reporting of statistical information in a set of
returns giving both balance sheet and consolidated statement of income data, material on the maturity structure of assets and
liabilities, sectoral analysis of business and details of concentration of risk in assets and deposits. Regular review meetings are held
by the FSA with AIB Group (UK) p.l.c. management to discuss issues such as performance, risk management and strategy. Under
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the risk-based approach introduced for all banks in 1998 - “RATE” - the starting point for the FSA’s supervision of all banks is
based on a systematic analysis of the risk profile of each bank.The FSA also promulgates requirements that it expects banks

(and groups containing banks which are subject to consolidated supervision) to meet on matters such as capital adequacy, limits on
large exposures to individual entities and groups of closely connected entities, and liquidity.

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., having established a place of business in England in connection with its remaining operation in
Great Britain, is subject to the provisions of the United Kingdom Companies Acts which affect overseas companies.

AIB Group (UK) p.l.c., as a company incorporated in Northern Ireland, is subject to the provisions of the Companies Order
(Northern Ireland) 1986.

Relevant provisions of the Financial Services Act 1986, the Consumer Credit Act 1974 and the 1987 Act apply to
AIB Group (UK) p.l.c. and Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., as a credit institution incorporated and having its principal places of business in Ireland, a member
state of the European Union, being authorized to act as a credit institution in Ireland by the Central Bank and having established a
branch in the United Kingdom, is a “European institution” within the meaning of The Banking Coordination (Second Council
Directive) Regulations 1992 (“the Regulations”) which implement the provisions of the Second Banking Directive in the United
Kingdom. As such, it is entitled to carry on in the United Kingdom any of the listed activities in the Second Banking Directive
which it is authorized or permitted to carry on in Ireland.

Powers of the FSA in relation to European institutions are limited as, under the Second Banking Directive, the Central Bank,
as the competent authority in Ireland, has primary responsibility for the supervision of credit institutions incorporated in Ireland.
The FSA, however, has a specific responsibility to co-operate with the Central Bank in ensuring that branches of European credit
institutions from Ireland maintain adequate liquidity in the United Kingdom.The FSA also has the responsibility to collaborate
with the Central Bank in ensuring that Irish credit institutions, carrying on activities listed in the Second Banking Directive in the
United Kingdom, take sufficient steps to cover risks arising from their open positions on financial markets in the United Kingdom.

Under the Regulations, the FSA is empowered in specified circumstances to impose a prohibition on, or to restrict the listed
activities of, a European institution. Consistent with the allocation of supervisory responsibilities in the Second Banking Directive,
the FSA would usually only exercise its powers after consulting the Central Bank, and indeed, in certain circumstances, the
Regulations explicitly require such consultation. The FSA has a memorandum of understanding with the Central Bank which,
inter alia, expresses the willingness of the respective authorities to exchange information in order to facilitate the effectiveness of
the supervision of credit institutions in the European Union. It also provides for the exchange of information in crisis situations
and in cases where the authorities become aware of contraventions of the law by institutions covered by the Second Banking
Directive operating in their territory.

Poland.  Bank Zachodni WBK S.A., with its seat in Wroclaw, is established under Polish Law as a joint stock company
authorized to carry out banking business in Poland. It is subject to supervision by the Banking Supervision Commission and
regulation by the Banking Supervision Commission and the National Bank of Poland.

The National Bank of Poland (“NBP”) is the central bank of Poland. The Banking Supervision Commission (“BSC”) is an
authority placed outside the NBP structures and composed of representatives of the NBP, Polish Government, Securities and
Exchanges Commission, Banking Guarantee Fund, and the President. Both the NBP and the BSC are regulated by the Act on the
National Bank of Poland of 1997, as amended (“NBP Act”).

The Banking Act of 1997, as amended (“Banking Act”) provides a framework for the operation of the Polish banking system.
The NBP does not engage in commercial banking, but performs regulatory functions in relation to the banks operating in Poland.
The Monetary Policy Council (an internal body of the NBP) is responsible for the monetary, credit and exchange rate policy of
Poland. The carrying on of banking business in Poland is restricted to holders of banking licences.

Pursuant to the Banking Act and the NBP Act the BSC has established a regulatory framework in order to supervise the
activities of banks in Poland. These powers are exercised by the BSC supported by the General Inspectorate of Banking
Supervisory within the NBP. In particular, the BSC is charged with issuing banking licenses and overseeing bankruptcy and
liquidation proceedings in the banking sector.

The Banking Act and the NBP Act have established various prudential standards including limits on lending concentrations,
classification of the quality of bank assets, limits on foreign exchange positions, constraints on equity investments, monthly
reporting of liquidity levels and a capital adequacy (solvency) ratio. These standards are generally in line with international standards.

Banks in Poland are generally required to maintain an 8% risk-adjusted capital adequacy ratio and are required to file monthly
reports with the NBP which include information on their current capital adequacy ratio.

The Banking Act sets limits on banks’ commitments to individual customers. Generally, the total commitments to a customer
(or a group of affiliated customers) should not exceed 25% of own funds.

The aggregate commitment to all such customers to which the bank’s commitment is in excess of 10% of its own funds should
not exceed 800% of such funds. Banks must report to the BSC on each commitment in excess of 10% of the bank’s own funds.

Pursuant to the Banking Act the investment of a bank in listed and unlisted equity and trust funds should not exceed 15% of
such bank’s own funds in relation to one entity. This restriction does not apply to investments in other banks and pension funds.
The Banking Act prohibits banks from holding aggregate investments in equity and real estate exceeding 60% of their own funds.

With respect to the accounting and reporting obligations, the NBP and the BSC have set specific principles for banks which
are consistent with the general framework established by the Accounting Law of 1994, as amended. Banks must submit reports to
the BSC with details relating to their liquidity, capital adequacy, credit exposures and other prudential standards. The BSC has a
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statutory power to carry out inspections of the books and records of the banks. Pursuant to this power, the BSC carries out review
meetings and sends its inspectors into head offices and branches of banks. Banks are required to allow BSC access to balance
sheets, records, registers, reports, plans and other documents and, on written request, to allow such officers to copy these documents.

The Law on the Banking Guarantee Fund of 1994, as amended, created a fund to provide deposit insurance for all banks. The
Law stipulates that all banks contribute up to 0.4% of the value of their risk-adjusted assets and guarantees to the Banking
Guarantee Fund. The scheme provides for full coverage for each depositor up to the PLN equivalent of €1,000, with the surplus
being guaranteed at the rate of 90% up to the PLN equivalent of €15,000.

European economic and monetary union (“EMU”’)

On January 1, 1999 the euro came into being and became the official currency of the eleven participating member states
(Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Portugal and Spain). On January 1, 2001 the
euro also became the official currency of Greece. The notes and coins of the former national currencies of these countries continued to be
used for cash transactions up to January 1, 2002 (“the transition period”) when the euro notes and coins became legal tender. On March
31, 2002 the national currency notes and coin were withdrawn from circulation and the changeover to the euro was completed.

The introduction of the euro has resulted in a common interest rate structure, European Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR?”),
prevailing throughout the eurozone. This new interest rate structure has resulted in a lower interest rate environment. The lower interest
rate environment, while boosting economic growth, consumer demand and business confidence particularly in Ireland, negatively impacts
net interest margins.

The estimated direct cost of the Group’s preparation for EMU and the introduction of the euro amounted to €42 million. Costs
incurred to date relate to systems developments, customer communications and education programs. The estimated remaining expenditure
of €3 million will be required in 2002 to complete the project.

Description of property

At December 31, 2001 AIB Group operated from over 1,000 branches and outlets worldwide, principally in Ireland, Northern Ireland,
Britain, the United States of America and Poland. A majority of the branches and offices are owned outright, with the remainder being held
under commercial leases.

AIB Group owns its headquarters building at Bankcentre, Ballsbridge, Dublin 4, a campus style complex of interlinked buildings on a
site of approximately 13 acres completed in 1979. It contains approximately 468,000 square feet of space (gross) and houses most of
AIB Group’s support functions.

In addition, AIB Group owns the AIB International Centre in Dublin’s International Financial Services Centre containing
approximately 101,000 square feet of office space. This building is occupied by the Capital Markets division, accommodating their global
treasury management and other activities.

In the US, Allfirst is @ major tenant in a building located at 25 South Charles Street, Baltimore, Maryland, occupying approximately 82%
of the 343,000 square feet of office space available in the building as of December 31, 2001 for executive office and certain commercial
operations functions. Allfirst’s lease for this space expires in 2006, with a renewal option to the year 2011. During 2001, the annual rental for
the space less amounts received on subleases to others was US$4.6 million.

Allfirst is the sole tenant at First Center located at 110 South Paca Street, Baltimore, Maryland. The building contains 267,000 square
feet of office space and houses certain staff and operations functions of Allfirst. The current lease term expires on December 31, 2011.
During 2001, the annual base rental for the space was US$2.6 million. Allfirst is a limited partner with a 0.2% operating interest and a 50%
residual interest in the limited partnership which owns the building.

Allfirst Financial Center, located at Mitchell Street, Millsboro, Delaware is owned by Allfirst. This building, acquired in 1981, contains
approximately 330,000 square feet of space, sits on approximately 60 acres of land, and houses certain retail operations functions of Allfirst.

One South Market Square Office Tower located at 213 Market Street, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania is also owned by Allfirst. The building
contains approximately 185,000 square feet of office space.

In Britain, AIB Group is the major tenant of Bankcentre - Britain, located at Belmont Road, Uxbridge, West London, occupying
approximately 63% of the 74,000 square feet of office space. The building, held under a 25 year lease from completion of construction in
1988, serves as headquarters for AIB Group operations in Britain.

In Northern Ireland, AIB Group owns the First Trust Centre, a building containing 90,000 square feet of office space and located at
92 Ann Street, Belfast. This, together with a building at 4 Queens Square, Belfast comprising of 32,000 square feet serves as headquarters for
AIB Group operations in Northern Ireland.

In Poland, BZWBK has a long-leasehold interest in its head office buildings at Plac Andersa 5 in Poznéan, and owns its head office
building at Ofiar Oewiecimskich 38/40 in Wroclaw.
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Organizational structure

The business of AIB Group is conducted through five major operating divisions and its principal subsidiaries as described below:

AlIB BANK ROI DIVISION

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.

General retail and commercial banking
through some 280 branches and outlets in
the Republic of Ireland.

AIB Finance Ltd.

Asset financing company providing
instalment/variable rate loans and deposit
products in Ireland.

AIB Leasing Ltd.
Asset financing company providing
leasing products in Ireland.

Ark Life Assurance Company Ltd.
Provision of Life Assurance services
principally in Ireland, Britain and
Northern Ireland and pension and
investment services in Ireland. These
services are delivered primarily through the
branch networks.

AIB Insurance Services Ltd.
Insurance broking.

AIB Bank (CI) Ltd.
Jersey (Channel Islands) based banking
company; provides financial services and

trust services through subsidiary companies.

AIB Bank (Isle of Man) Ltd.

Isle of Man based banking company;
provides trust and corporate services
through subsidiary companies.

AlIB BANK GB & NI DIVISION
AIB Group (UK) p.l.c.

36 branches and outlets in Britain, trading
as Allied Irish Bank (GB), focused
primarily on small and medium sized
entreprises.

66 branches and outlets in Northern
Ireland, trading as First Trust Bank, focused
on general retail and commercial banking
and also asset finance and leasing.

Divisions

USA DIVISION
Allfirst Financial Inc.
Bank holding company.

Allfirst Bank

General commercial and retail banking,
through 260 full service offices in
Maryland, Pennsylvania, Northern
Virginia and the District of Columbia, as
well as treasury and trust services.

Allfirst Financial Center, N.A.
Cash management services.

Allfirst Leasing Corporation
Equipment finance company.

Allfirst Mortgage Corporation
Commercial mortgage banking.

Allied Investment Advisors, Inc.
Provision of investment advisory and asset
management services.

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.

Provision of corporate, retail and treasury
services through its New York branch.
Manages AIB’s Cayman Islands branch
and representative offices in Philadelphia,
Los Angeles, Chicago, San Francisco and
Atlanta.

POLAND DIVISION

Bank Zachodni WBK S.A.

A commercial and retail bank which
operates through 441 branches and outlets,
primarily in western Poland.

CAPITAL MARKETS DIVISION
Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.
Management of liquidity and funding
needs; interest and exchange rate
exposures; financial market trading
activities; provision of lending; trade and
commercial treasury services and
custodial and trustee services.

AIB Capital Markets plc

Merchant banking operations including
corporate advisory services, provision of
venture capital and corporate finance.

AIB Corporate Finance Ltd.
Provision of advice to companies wishing
to raise capital through public or private
offerings and placements.

Allied Irish Capital Management Ltd.
Acts as a commodity trading advisor and
is engaged in advising clients in the
purchase/sale of equities, foreign
exchange and futures commaodities.

Goodbody Holdings Ltd.
Provision of a broad range of
stockbroking services, through its
subsidiary, Goodbody Stockbrokers.

AIB International Financial
Services Ltd.

Specializes in international financial
services activities, including tax efficient
cross-border investments, management of
investment companies, advisory services
and the provision of back office services.

AIB Asset Management Holdings Ltd.
Asset management and funds management
for institutional and retail clients principally
through offices in Dublin, London,
Singapore, Jersey and San Francisco.

The above subsidiary undertakings are wholly-owned with the exception of AIB Asset Management Holdings Limited (85.86%) and
Bank Zachodni WBK S.A. (70.5%). The registered office of each is located in the principle country of operations.
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Item 5.  Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

On December 12, 2001, the US Securities and Exchange Commission issued a release regarding disclosure about critical
accounting policies.

AIB’ financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of certain
properties and investments and comply with Irish statute and with Irish GAAP as well as general practices followed by the
financial services industry in Ireland and the UK. The preparation of financial statements require that the Group adopt the
accounting policies and estimation techniques that the Directors believe are most appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose
of giving a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, profit and cashflows. However, different policies, estimation techniques
and assumptions in critical areas could lead to materially different results. The estimation of potential loan losses is inherently
uncertain and depends upon many factors, including loan loss trends, portfolio grade profiles, local and international economic
climate, conditions in various industries to which AIB Group is exposed and other external factors such as legal and regulatory
requirements. For example, should the expectation of loss within a portfolio increase, then this may result in an increase to the
required general loan loss provision level. Further information on loan loss provisioning is set out in Provision and allowance for
loan losses in Item 11 “Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk”.

In addition, the profile of the amortization of goodwill would be different if a useful economic life longer or shorter than
20 years were used. The application of other accounting policies, including measuring the shareholders’ interest in the Long-term
assurance fund, impairment, debt securities and equity shares, retirement benefits and derivatives, require the use of estimation
techniques that involve making assumptions about future market conditions which could impact on the timing and amounts
recognized in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated balance sheet. Differences between Irish GAAP and
US GAAP are set out in note 49 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT: FRAUDULENT FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRADING ACTIVITIES

On February 6, 2002, AIB announced that it was undertaking a full investigation into fraudulent foreign exchange (“FX”)
trading operations at its US subsidiary, Allfirst Bank. The board appointed Mr. Eugene A. Ludwig, Managing Partner, Promontory
Financial Group, and a former U.S. Comptroller of the Currency, to report to them on these matters. The board also appointed
Mr. Edward D Herlihy and his law firm Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz to act as independent counsel and to report to the board
and provide legal advice on the basis of the investigation. The losses arising from the fraudulent FX trading activities were publicly
disclosed on February 20, 2002. Such losses amounted to US$691.2 million before taxation and related to years from 1997 to
2002.

The Report to the boards of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., Allfirst Financial Inc. and Allfirst Bank concerning currency trading
losses (the “Investigation Report™”) was submitted by Promontory Financial Group and Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz on
March 12, 2002. The Investigation Report found that an Allfirst employee had engaged in fraudulent FX trading activities over a
period of five years. There was no change in the amount of the losses as a result of the Investigation Report. A description of the
losses arising from the fraudulent activities, the main findings of the Investigation Report, and the actions taken by the AIB and
Allfirst boards following the review of the Investigation Report, are set out below. The fraudulent FX trading activities and the
resulting losses are referred to from time to time in this report as the “Fraudulent Activities”, or the “Fraud” and the “Fraud
Losses” or “Exceptional Foreign Exchange Dealing Losses”, respectively.

In accordance with Irish GAAP the total costs arising from the Fraud were reflected by way of an exceptional charge of
€789 million (of which €341 million relates to prior periods) in the profit and loss account in the Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended December 31, 2001, distributed to shareholders under Irish Companies Legislation. Under Financial Reporting
Standard 3 “Reporting Financial Performance” (“FRS 3”) prior period financial statements are restated for an error only if the
error is a fundamental error. Fundamental errors under FRS 3 are errors that are of such significance as to destroy the true and
fair view and hence the validity of the prior period financial statements. In the opinion of the Directors, the exceptional foreign
exchange losses, relating to each of the prior years, do not constitute fundamental errors because they are not of such significance
as to destroy the true and fair view and hence the validity of the prior period financial statements.

Under US reporting requirements, the filing of AIB’ 2001 financial statements by way of the Annual Report on Form 20-F
constitutes a reissue of the financial statements for prior years. For the purpose of presenting the Balance Sheet and Statement of
Income of the Group in this Form 20-F the US Securities and Exchange Commission requires all material errors in respect of
prior years to be accounted for and reported as prior year adjustments, in the years in which they occured. Accordingly, for
US reporting purposes, the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities are required to be charged in the years in which they
occurred.

As a result, the financial statements and notes in this Annual Report on Form 20-F for the years 2000 and 1999 are restated to
reflect the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities in the years that they occurred, while the charge in 2001 reflects the losses
occurring in 2001 only. The restatements are discussed more fully under note 51 “Subsequent Events: Fraudulent Exchange
Trading Activities” and note 52, “Restatement of Prior Years Financial Statements” in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The table over presents the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities in each of the periods 1997 to 2002. Such losses
amounted to US$691.2 million. In addition, the table sets out the effect of these losses on a pre-tax and after tax basis for each of
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the accounting periods 1997 to 2000 when the losses are translated into Euro at the exchange translation rates used in the
preparation of these accounts. Finally the table presents the net income to common stockholders, shown on an “as previously
reported in Form 20-F” and an “as restated for US reporting purposes” basis for the years 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997.

Net Income to
common stockholders

As previously As restated for
Net reported in  US reporting

Pre-tax loss loss Form 20-F purposes
Us$m €m €m €m €m
Period ended:
2002 through February 20..........cccovviveveiienenieniennenn (17.2)
December 31, 2001........cccceviueeieeiiiecie e (373.3) (417) (271)
December 31, 2000.........cccceieeieeiiieeiie e e e enee e (211.0 (228) (148) 762 614
December 31, 1999.......ccciiiiiiiiece e (48.2) (45) (29) 761 732
December 31, 1998........ccccviiiiieie e (12.4) (11) (7) 633 626
December 31,1997.......ccccviiiiiiiiieeie e (29.1) (24) (16) 465 449
(691.2)

The cumulative effect of the losses on retained earnings as at December 31, 2000 was €210 million.

As of February 20, 2002, all fraudulent open FX trading positions were either closed or hedged and no further income statement
exposure is expected. Under US reporting requirements the Fraud Losses of US$17.2 million, which includes the costs of closing out the
transactions, will be accounted for in the Consolidated Statement of Income in AIB’s Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2002.
In addition, AIB anticipates that the total costs arising from the investigation, and the consequent measures taken to strengthen the
controls, will amount to US$10 million approximately. Under Irish GAAP, the 2002 losses and the costs arising were included as part of
the exceptional charge of €789 million.

Of the losses arising in 2001, US$156.5 million (€175 million; after tax: €114 million) arose in the half-year ended June 30, 2001.
The previously reported net income to common stockholders under Irish GAAP of €463 million, for the half-year ended June 30, 2001,
when restated for the Fraud Losses, reduces to €349 million.

Main Findings of the Investigation Report
The main findings of the Investigation Report were as follows:

—The Fraud was carefully planned and meticulously implemented by one foreign currency trader (the “Trader”), extended
over a lengthy period of time, and involved falsification of key bank records and documents.

—The Trader circumvented the controls that were intended to prevent any such fraud by manipulating the weak control
environment in Allfirst’s treasury; notably, he found ways of circumventing changes in control procedures throughout the
period of his fraud.

—The Trader's trading activities did not receive the careful scrutiny that they deserved; the Allfirst treasurer and his treasury
funds manager — the principal persons responsible for the Trader’s supervision — failed for an extended period to monitor his
trading.

— At both the AIB Group and Allfirst levels, the Asset and Liability Committees (“ALCOs”), risk managers, senior
management and Allfirst internal auditors, did not appreciate the risks associated with the Trader's hedge-fund style of FX
trading; even in the absence of any sign of fraudulent conduct, the mere scope of his trading activities and the size of the
positions he was taking warranted a much closer risk management review.

— Allfirst and AIB senior management heavily relied upon the Allfirst treasurer, given the treasurer’s extensive experience with
treasury functions and FX trading in particular. In hindsight, this heavy reliance proved misplaced.

— Nothing has come to attention during the course of the review that indicates that anyone at AIB or Allfirst, outside of the
Allfirst treasury group, were involved in, or had any knowledge that, fraudulent or improper trading activity was occurring at
Allfirst before the discovery of the Fraud.

Actions of AIB and Allfirst Boards After Review of the Investigation Report
The Boards of AIB and Allfirst, after a thorough review of the Investigation Report, announced on March 14, 2002, a number
of actions to address the issues raised by the fraudulent trading activities engaged in by the Trader. These actions included:

— Recognition of primary responsibility for the losses with the Trader, who had already been dismissed for the fraudulent
activities that he perpetrated against Allfirst.

— Recognition that Allfirst treasury and internal audit failed to detect the situation over a long period. To address this failure,
the Boards decided that six individuals who were directly responsible for oversight of the Trader's activities, or should have
been aware of them, would be dismissed.
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— Additional actions announced by the Boards included the following organizational changes:

The Board of AIB Group has announced the appointment of Eugene Sheehy as Chief Executive of AIB
USA Division and Executive Chairman Designate of Allfirst Financial Inc. and Allfirst Bank. Mr. Sheehy was
formerly Managing Director AIB Bank Republic of Ireland.

Susan Keating will continue as Chief Executive Officer of Allfirst Financial Inc. Frank Bramble, Chairman of Allfirst
Financial Inc. and Allfirst Bank, whose retirement was agreed in January, will retire - this retirement to take place on
April 30, 2002.

— Both AIB and Allfirst will work with the relevant regulators to ensure that any concerns they may have are addressed.

—The AIB Board has decided on a rapid acceleration of an organizational strategy which commenced last year involving
greater focus on customer relationships by front line business units across the Group together with a simpler, more
streamlined, integrated Group support structure. In addition, measures are being taken to strengthen controls across the
Group, consistent with the findings and recommendations of the report. Specifically, it was decided to:

Appoint an individual of international standing to review, and advise the AIB Board on, risk management
organization across the Group. On April 19, 2002, Mr John G Heimann was appointed as a special advisor to the
board on Risk Management organization.

Reaffirm the decision to combine Finance and Risk functions across the Group under Mr Gary Kennedy, Group
Director Finance, Risk, Enterprise Networks and eBusiness.

Implement the decision to centralize the management and control of all treasury activities throughout AIB Group in
AIB Capital Markets in Dublin and to cease all proprietary treasury (trading) activities in Allfirst and Poland Division.
In that context First Manhattan Consulting Group has been appointed as an external expert to advise the
management of AIB Capital Markets on the centralization process and to confirm that it will be completed on a basis
which will leave the Group with a control environment which maintains the highest standards.

Introduce a more integrated Corporate Governance structure by strengthening the links between the main AIB
Board and the Boards of major subsidiaries. Accordingly, AIB Group non-executive directors will be appointed
to the Boards of Allfirst, AIB Group UK p.l.c. and BZWBK.

Refer to Item 3 “Key Information” and note 52 “Restatement of Prior Years Financial Statements” in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the effect of FX losses on previously issued financial
statements. Additional discussion regarding the impact of the FX Losses is included in the Liquidity Risk Management and Capital
Adequacy sections of the Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.

A more detailed description of the Fraudulent Activities can be found in the Investigation Report. This report is incorporated
by reference as an exhibit to Form 6-K filed by AIB on April 10, 2002.
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Operating results

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated Financial Statements of AIB Group included
elsewhere in this Report. These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Irish GAAP except as described on page 168
in respect of the restatement of prior years for the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities. Irish GAAP differs in certain
significant respects from US GAAP. Reconciliations of certain items in these financial statements to US GAAP are set forth in note
49 to AIB’s Consolidated Financial Statements. The principal accounting policies adopted by AIB Group are set forth on pages 87 to
91 of AIB’ Consolidated Financial Statements.

The 2001 results include the profit from the sale of AIB’ interest in Keppel Capital Holdings Ltd. (“KCH”), Poland restructuring
costs, an additional unallocated credit provision and the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities. Income on ordinary activities
before taxes was €990 million and the adjusted earnings per share, which is before goodwill amortization and the Fraud Losses, was
EUR 119.9c. The following table summarizes the impact of the above items on the income before taxation and earnings per share:

2001 2000
Income before Earnings Income before Earnings
taxation per share taxation per share
(Euro in millions) (Euro cent) (Euro in millions) (Euro cent)
Fraud 10SSES......ceverrieriieieiieseeriee e (417) (31.5) (228) (17.3)
Income on disposal of AIB’ interests in KCH.... 93 10.8 - -
Poland restructuring Costs...........ccccevvvrvrererennens (38) (2.3) - -
Additional unallocated credit provision............... (50) (5.1) - -
DIRT settlement..........cccccoevieiieviiniieie e, - - (113) (12.0)

Implementation of FRS 17 — Retirement benefits

The Group has adopted FRS 17 in its accounts for the year ended December 31, 2001 and prior year results have been restated.
This change in accounting policy increased income on ordinary activities before taxes by €39 million in 2001 (2000: €23 million;
1999: €31 million). This is a recurring item and it is expected, based on current assumptions, that the benefit in 2002 will be
broadly similar to 2001. Under FRS 17 the net surplus within a pension scheme is recognized as an asset on the balance sheet,
net of deferred tax, with a corresponding credit to revenue reserves. It is not included in the calculation of the tier 1 and total
capital ratios. The impact of the change in accounting policy on previously reported numbers is described in Note 52 “Restatement
of prior years financial statements”. Accounting policies on pages 87 and 88 and Note 14 “Retirement Benefits” provide details of
the accounting policy for retirement benefits.

Change in divisional structure

Under the new structure, announced in February 2001, AIB Bank division was divided into AIB Bank Republic of Ireland
(“AlB Bank ROI”) and AIB Bank Great Britain & Northern Ireland (“AlB Bank GB & NI”). A new division, Enterprise
Networks and eBusiness (“ENeB”), was also established. The divisional information has been restated to reflect the changes in the
divisional structure.

Acquisitions

The New York based Community Counselling Service Co., Inc (“CCS”) was acquired by the Group on May 17, 2001.
CCS is a consulting firm to the not-for-profit sector worldwide. CCS is primarily engaged in the design and direction of fund
raising initiatives for national and international charities, religious organizations and educational institutions. The acquisition, which
was accounted for as a purchase did not have a material impact on the results of the Group in 2001.

The 2000 results include the DIRT settlement and the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities. The Group results for the
year to December 2000 are not directly comparable with the previous year to December 1999 due to the acquisition of BZ.
The results for the year ended December 31, 2000 include a full year contribution from BZ while the results for the year ended
December 31, 1999 include only a 3 month contribution from BZ.

Commentary on 2001 results

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2001 was €730 million compared with a restated €636 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000. Average assets increased from €73,931 million for 2000 to €83,113 million for 2001 and the return on
average assets was 0.97% for 2001, compared with 0.94% for 2000. Average stockholders’ equity increased to €4,802 million for
2001 from €4,568 million for 2000 while the return on average stockholders’ equity was 15.2% for 2001 compared to 13.9% for
2000.

Despite the Fraud Losses and slower economic conditions in all our markets, exacerbated by September 11, 2001 events,
AIB delivered a strong performance from its core activities.WWhen the Fraud Losses are excluded income before taxes increased
10% to €1,407 million compared with €1,274 million for 2000 (excluding DIRT). Group operating income from continuing
activities excluding the Fraud Losses amounted to €1,304 million, up 3% on the 2000 figure of €1,266 million. AIB Group loans
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to customers and customer accounts increased by 12% and 14% respectively since December 2000. Excluding currency factors,
loans to customers increased by 10% while customer accounts grew by 11%.

Commentary on 2000 results - restated

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2000 was €636 million compared with €757 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999. Average assets increased from €60,866 million for 1999 to €73,931 million for 2000 and the return on average
assets was 0.94% for 2000, compared with 1.32% for 1999. Average stockholders’ equity increased to €4,568 million for 2000 from
€3,716 million for 1999 while the return on average stockholders’ equity was 13.9% for 2000 compared to 20.4% for 1999.

The results for 2000 were impacted by the DIRT settlement of €113 million. Excluding DIRT and the Fraud Losses, income
before taxes in 2000 increased 10% to €1,274 million compared with €1,163 million for 1999 while Group operating income from
continuing activities amounted to €1,266 million, up 11% on the 1999 figure of €1,143 million. AIB Group loans to customers
and customer accounts increased by 17% and 11% respectively since December 1999. Excluding currency factors, loans to customers
increased by 13% while customer accounts grew by 8%.

Net interest income
The following table shows net interest income for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(Euro in millions)
INtErest iINCOME........cocvveeiiieieeeiee e 5,346 5,127 3,842
INtErest EXPENSE. ....everrrererieerre e eee e sre e e anees (3,053) (3,105) (2,072)
Net interest income before exceptional item.... 2,293 2,022 1,770
Deposit interest retention taX..........coceeveeveeenne - (113) -
Net interest income after exceptional item....... 2,293 1,909 1,770

The main factors affecting the level of net interest are the volume of interest earning assets, the difference between the average rate of
interest earned on interest earning assets and the average rate of interest paid on interest bearing liabilities (the interest rate spread), the
proportion of interest earning assets financed by interest-free liabilities and the general level of interest rates. Net interest income, which is
the principal element of AIB Group’s income, mainly arises from the loan and deposit taking activities of AIB Group.

Commentary on net interest income performance in 2001

In 2001 net interest income was €2,293 million compared with €1,909 million for 2000, an increase of €384 million (20%).
Excluding the impact of currency factors and the DIRT settlement in 2000, net interest income increased by 11%. Average interest earning
assets increased by €8,567 million (13%) when compared with 2000.

The volume increase and the increase in the interest rate spread have been partly offset by a decrease in the gross yield. The interest
rate spread increased by 20 basis points on a Group basis during 2001. Overall the net interest margin increased to 3.03% in 2001 from
3.02% in 2000. The domestic margin reduced by 6 basis points since December 2000 to 2.69% while the foreign margin increased by
11 basis points since December 2000 to 3.34%.

Loans to customers increased by 10% on an underlying basis since December 31, 2000 (see table below). On a geographic basis,
loans in Ireland increased by 14%, in Northern Ireland by 8%, in Britain by 18%, and Poland reported loan growth of 11%. USA loans to
customers decreased by 1% due to the runoff in indirect retail lending and first mortgages. Customer accounts increased by 11% with
growth of 14% in Ireland, 3% in Northern Ireland, 18% in Britain, 10% in the USA, and 9% in Poland.

Commentary on net interest income performance in 2000

In 2000 net interest income was €1,909 million (€2,022 million excluding DIRT) compared with €1,770 million for 1999,
an increase of €139 million (8%). Excluding the impact of BZ (acquired September 16, 1999), the DIRT settlement in 2000, and currency
factors, net interest income increased by 4%. Including acquisitions, average interest earning assets increased by €12,913 million (24%)
when compared with 1999. The general level of interest rates in the Group’s main markets was higher in 2000 relative to 1999.

The volume increase and the increase in gross yield have been partly offset by a decrease in the interest rate spread. The interest rate
spread reduced by 50 basis points on a Group basis during 2000. Overall the net interest margin reduced to 3.02% in 2000 from 3.27% in
1999. The domestic margin reduced by 22 basis points since December 1999 to 2.75% while the foreign margin reduced by 31 basis
points since December 1999 to 3.23%.

Loans to customers increased by 13% on an underlying basis (see table below) since December 31, 1999. On a geographic basis loans
in Ireland increased by 19%, in Northern Ireland by 16%, in Britain by 20%, in USA by 3%, and Poland reported loan growth of 9%.
Customer accounts increased by 8% with growth of 14% in Ireland, 9% in Northern Ireland, 3% in the USA and 16% in Poland.

In Britain deposits decreased by 6% due to the movement of some large deposits from customer accounts to money market funds. Branch
customer accounts in Britain were up 23%.
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The following table shows the year on year percentage changes in loans to customers and customer accounts on an underlying basis.

% change December 2001 v % change December 2000 v

December 2000® December 1999®
Loans to Customer Loans to Customer
Customers Accounts Customers Accounts
Loans to customers and customer accounts % Change % Change % Change % Change
Ireland.......oocieiiece e 14 14 19 14
Northern Ireland 8 3 16 9
Britain......oooveeieviee e 18 18 20 -6
USA e -1 10 3 3
Poland.........ccoovveieiiiee e 11 9 9 16
AlB GroUP......coiiiiiiie e 10 11 13 8

@ Excluding money market funds and currency factors.

Average interest rates, gross yields, spreads and margins
The following table shows interest rates prevailing at December 31, 2001 together with average prevailing interest rates, gross
yields, spreads and margins for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

At Dec. 31, Years ended December 31,
2001 2001 2000 1999
Interest rates % % % %
Ireland
AIB Group’s prime lending rate........... 4.0 4.9 4.8 3.4
European inter-bank offered rate
One Month euro............cceeueeeeienen. 3.3 4.3 4.2 2.9
Three month euro.........ccccecveeviennene 3.3 43 4.4 3.0
United Kingdom
AIB Group’s base rate.........c.ccocervennene 4.0 5.1 6.0 5.3
London inter-bank offered rate
One month sterling...........ccccevvenens 4.1 5.0 5.9 5.4
Three month sterling............cc.coeee. 41 5.0 6.1 55
United States
Prime rate........ccoovieiinie e 4.8 6.9 9.2 8.0
Poland
One month zIoty..........coovvirereiene 11.9 16.4 16.1 14.5
Gross yields, spreads and margins®
Gross yield®
GIOUP....eoveeeieieeee e 6.8 7.3 6.6
DOMESEIC. ..o 5.9 6.2 5.6
FOreIgN. ... 7.6 8.2 7.5
Interest rate spread®
GIOUP. ... 24 2.2 2.7
DOMESEIC. ..cvvviieeiiiniiciesercseceeea 2.0 1.9 2.3
FOreIgN. ... 2.7 2.5 3.0
Net interest margin®
3.03 3.02 3.27
2.69 2.75 2.97
3.34 3.23 3.54

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

75,593 67,026 54,113

35,417 29,819 25,611

40,176 37,207 28,502

@ The gross yields, spreads and margins presented in this table are extracted from the average balance sheets and interest rates presented
on page 32 of this Report and this breakdown into domestic and foreign has been compiled on the basis of location of office. The
percentages for the year ended December 31, 2000 have been calculated excluding the impact of the DIRT settlement.

@ Gross yield represents the average interest rate earned on interest earning assets.

® Interest rate spread represents the difference between the average interest rate earned on interest earning assets and the average interest
rate paid on interest bearing liabilities.

@ Net interest margin represents net interest income as a percentage of average interest earning assets.
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Average Balance Sheet and Interest Rates

Years ended December 31,

ASSETS
Placings with banks
Domestic offices..................
Foreign offices.........cc.cveuenne.
Loans to customers®
Domestic offices..................
Foreign offices

Placings with banks and loans
to customers®
Domestic offices........coounenn
Foreign offices
Funds sold
Domestic offices........coounnn
Foreign offices.........c.ccounnee.
Investment securities
Domestic offices
Foreign offices.........ccccouvnee.
Installment credit and finance
lease receivables
Domestic offices........ccounen.
Foreign offices.........cc.ceeuenne.
Total interest earning assets
Domestic offices........ccoounene
Foreign offices

Allowance for loan losses............
Non-interest earning assets.........

Total assets.......ccvvvvveeveerennne.

Percentage of assets applicable to
foreign activities..........c.cvevene

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Interest bearing deposits and
other short-term borrowings
Domestic offices.........c.co....
Foreign offices.........cccvrurnne.
Funds purchased
Domestic offices.........c.e.....
Foreign offices.........ccevrunne.
Subordinated liabilities
Domestic offices.........oo....
Foreign offices.........cccveunne.
Total interest bearing liabilities
Domestic offices.. .
Foreign offices.........ccccveurnne.

Interest—free liabilities
Current accounts................
Other liabilities....................
Minority equity and non—equity
INTErEStS...cvevieivie e
Preference share capital...............
Reserve capital instruments........
Ordinary stockholders’
BOUILY. .t

Total liabilities and stockholders’
BOUILY. .o

Percentage of liabilities applicable
to foreign activities.................

2001 2000 (Restated)® 1999 (Restated)®
Average Average  Average Average Average Average
balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
(Euro in millions) % (Euro in millions) % (Euro in millions) %
3,441 138 4.0 2,410 114 4.7 2,572 81 3.2
2,041 117 5.7 1,897 123 6.5 1,342 76 5.7
21,210 1,390 6.6 18,570 1,239 6.7 15,416 974 6.3
25,026 2,051 8.2 22,772 2,056 9.0 17,476 1,430 8.2
24,651 1,528 6.2 20,980 1,353 6.4 17,988 1,055 5.9
27,067 2,168 7.9 24,669 2,179 8.8 18,818 1,506 8.0
93 2 2.7 75 5 6.4 36 2 5.1
8,886 432 4.9 7,100 398 5.6 6,263 299 4.8
11,558 784 6.8 11,014 775 7.0 8,495 551 6.5
1,880 119 6.3 1,739 109 6.3 1,360 89 6.5
1,458 90 6.2 1,449 96 6.6 1,153 80 7.0
35,417 2,079 5.9 29,819 1,860 6.2 25,611 1,443 5.6
40,176 3,044 7.6 37,207 3,055 8.2 28,502 2,139 7.5
75,593 5,123 6.8 67,026 4,915 7.3 54,113 3,582 6.6
(939) (828) (656)
8,459 7,733 7,409
83,113 5,123 6.2 73,931 4,915 6.6 60,866 3,582 5.9
53.2 55.3 52.4
27,285 1,044 38 22,797 944® 410 19,886 633 3.2
32,519 1,588 4.9 30,058 1,701 5.7 23,157 1,012 4.4
1,694 65 38 1,522 93 6.1 1,498 72 4.8
1,459 81 5.6 1,478 97 6.6 835 49 5.8
788 52 6.6 750 58 7.7 678 46 6.8
28,744 1,125 3.9 24,275 1,041@ 439 20,721 682 33
35,001 1,705 4.9 32,330 1,852 5.7 25,333 1,130 45
63,745 2,830 4.4 56,605 2,893@ 5.1@ 46,054 1,812 3.9
9,578 8,503 6,712
3,990 3,743 3,940
298 246 214
253 266 230
447 - -
4,802 4,568 3,716
83,113 2,830 34 73,931 2,893@ 3.99 60,866 1,812 3.0
53.7 55.0 51.2
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@ Restated to include the impact of FRS 17 and the Fraud Losses.

@ Loans to customers include money market funds. Non-accrual loans and loans classified as problem loans are also classified within this
caption. See Item 11 — Credit risk management — "Provision and allowance for loan losses".

®The interest amount and the average rate have been presented gross to eliminate the effect of the deposit interest retention tax
settlement.

The following table allocates changes in net interest income between volume and rate for the year ended December 31, 2001
compared with the year ended December 31, 2000 and for the year ended December 31, 2000 compared to the year ended
December 31, 1999.Volume and rate variances have been calculated based on the movements in average balances over the period and
changes in interest rates on average interest earning assets and average interest bearing liabilities respectively. Changes due to a
combination of volume and rate are allocated ratably to volume and rate.

December 2001 over December 2000 December 2000 over December 1999

Increase/(decrease) due to changes in:

Average Average Net Average Average Net
Volume Rate Change Volume Rate Change

(Euro in millions)
INTEREST EARNING ASSETS
Placings with banks

Domestic OffiCes.......covriieieieiiiene 43 (19) 24 (5) 38 33

Foreign OffiCes.......coverieiiiiirceiine 9 (15) (6) 35 12 47
Loans to customers

Domestic Offices........ccovvviniiincninennne. 170 (19) 151 202 63 265

Foreign Offices.........covvninininiiinine 189 (194) (5) 474 152 626

Placings with banks and loans
to customers

Domestic OffiCes.......covrvirereiiieiene 213 (38) 175 197 101 298

Foreign offices......ccccvvvveviivnnnincinnnnns 198 (209) (112) 509 164 673
Funds sold

Domestic OffiCes.......coovvriririiiiiene - - - - - -

Foreign OffiCes.........cevvvininininiiinine 1 (4) (3) 2 1 3
Investment securities

Domestic OffiCes........cccovevircvincnniennnn 89 (55) 34 44 55 99

Foreign offices 34 (25) 9 178 46 224
Installment credit and finance

lease receivables

Domestic OffiCes........cccovevircvincnniennnn 10 - 10 23 3) 20

Foreign offices.........covviiniiiniiinins 1 (7) (6) 21 (5) 16
Total interest iNCOME.......c..covvvverneiniiinnns 546 (338) 208 974 359 1,333
INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
Interest bearing deposits and

other short-term borrowings

Domestic OffiCes.......covrirerereiieiene 159 (59) 100 107 205 312

Foreign offices......ccccvevveviiveiinnennnnns 158 (271) (113) 346 343 689
Funds purchased

Domestic OffiCes.......covvirriniiiiiene - - - - - -

Foreign offices 12 (40) (28) 1 20 21
Subordinated liabilities

Domestic OffiCes........cccovevirciincnnennnn 1) (15) (16) 41 7 48

Foreign offices.........ouvninininiiiniies 3 9) (6) 5 7 12
Total interest eXPense........ccovvvvveerceerierennas 331 (394) (63) 500 582 1,082
Net interest income

Domestic OffiCes......cvvrererierierieieene 154 (19) 135 116 (59) 57

Foreign OffiCes........ccoevneiiiiciniininn 61 75 136 358 (164) 194
Net interest iNCOME........ccccevvveirecnnienne 215 56 271 474 (223) 251
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Other finance income

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(Euro in millions)
Expected return on pension plan assets............coveveeeieeeieneienesenesnennens 213 203 189
Interest on pension plan liabilities..........cooeiiiiiiiiiiie e (146) (132) (118)
Total other finanNCe INCOME.......ccviviiiiiieie e 67 71 71

Under Financial Reporting Standard 17 “Retirement Benefits”, the net of the interest cost of the pension liabilites and the expected
return on assets is to be recorded as other finance income, in the profit and loss account, adjacent to interest. The interest cost represents
the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities. The expected return on assets is based on long-term expectations at the beginning
of the period.

A description of the retirement benefit schemes operated by the Group is provided in note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Other income
The following table shows other income for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Dividend iINCOME.......c.coiriiriiieiiieeece e 11 6 2
Banking fees and cOmMmMISSIONS.........c.coveverveiieneiieniens 962 807 643
Asset management feeS.......ccoivveveiieeriisie e 185 187 152
Investment banking fees.........cocoovivriniiinincieeceee 111 107 114
Fees and commissions receivable®..........ccccccoevvveivivereenns 1,258 1,101 909
Fees and commissions payable (128) (108) (93)
Dealing profits®..........ccooveieiiicieeeeee 92 103 74
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses (417) (228) (45)
Other operating income:
Profit/(loss) on disposal of debt securities
held for investment purposes..........ccooveeverereenieriennn 24 (1) 16
Profit on disposal of investments
in associated undertakings..........cccoovevvevieviesieenieneens 1 5 3
(Loss)/profit on disposal of equity shares........................ (3) 24 15
Contribution of life assurance company...........c.ccccvevvenee. 84 95 64
Contribution from securitized assets...........covevvieriirennes 5 4 3
Mortgage origination and servicing income................... 10 3 3
Miscellaneous operating iNCOME...........cccocvvvrrerveviennenn 72 72 56
193 202 160
Total Other INCOME.......ueiviiiiciiiiiee e 1,009 1,076 1,007
Total other income excluding Fraud LOSSeS.................... 1,426 1,304 1,052

O Includes fees and commissions related to foreign exchange activities which were €90 million, €80 million and €68 million
for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

@ Includes dealing profits relating to foreign exchange activities which were €75 million, €69 million and €30 million for 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively, before the Fraud Losses.

Commentary on other income performance in 2001

In the year ended December 31, 2001 other income was €1,009 million compared with €1,076 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000, a decline of €67 million (6%). The performance in 2001 was impacted by the Fraud Losses, which were
€417 million in 2001 compared to €228 million in 2000. Excluding the Fraud Losses and currency factors, other income was up 5%.
Excluding the Fraud Losses, other income represented 39% of total income.

The following commentary is based on underlying percentage growth adjusting for the impact of currency movements and Fraud Losses.

Banking fees and commissions up 17%

Asset management fees down 2%

Investment banking fees up 4%

Contribution of life assurance company down 12%

O O o o
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Banking fees and commissions increased reflecting higher business volumes with strong growth in retail banking, corporate
banking and credit card revenues and the inclusion of CCS in the USA which was acquired in May 2001. Asset management fees
were impacted by the decline in equity markets which resulted in a fall in asset values and client volumes. Investment banking fees
were up 4% due to growth in corporate finance fees and international financial services activities. Dealing profits were down due
to lower profit on trading securities. Dealing profits reflect trading income and exclude interest payable and receivable arising from
these activities. Ark Life profit was down 12% reflecting lower product margins as a result of a change in mix of sales with
customers opting for a larger proportion of risk averse products reflecting weaker investment markets. The reduction in equity
values also had an influence on embedded value profits and the contribution in 2000 benefited from a higher impact of
recognizing reduced corporation tax rates in the Republic of Ireland.

Commentary on other income performance in 2000 - restated

In the year ended December 31, 2000 other income was €1,076 million compared with €1,007 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999, an increase of €69 million (7%). The performance in 2000 was impacted by the Fraud Losses,which were
€228 million in 2000 compared to €45 million in 1999. Excluding the impact of the Fraud Losses, BZ and currency factors, the
increase was 14%. Excluding the Fraud Losses, other income represented 40% of total income compared with 36% in 1999.

The following commentary is based on underlying percentage growth adjusting for the impact of currency movements and excluding BZ in both
years.

— Banking fees and commissions up 14%

— Asset management fees up 11%

— Investment banking fees down 8% or up 33% excluding 1999 privatization revenues
— Contribution of life assurance company up 48%

Banking fees and commissions increased reflecting higher business volumes with strong growth in branch banking, corporate
banking, credit card and finance and leasing revenues. Asset management fees increased due to good business growth in Ireland
and Britain coupled with higher trust and investment advisory fees in Allfirst. Excluding fees received in 1999 in relation to a
major privatization in the Irish market, investment banking fees increased by 33% mainly due to a strong performance from
stockbroking, corporate finance and international financial services activities.

Dealing profits increased by 33% with increased revenues from foreign exchange trading activities.

Ark Life reported significant profit growth reflecting strong sales of investment products, substantial growth in new pensions
and the benefit of lower corporation tax rates in the Republic of Ireland.

Operating expenses
The following table shows operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
SHAFF COSES.euveveiee e 1,342 1,192 1,010
Other administrative EXPENSES.........cvrvrrerrerererrenreneeeeeeeanes 703 634 521
DePreCiation..........cceiiiieieiesee e 164 145 119
Amortization of goodwill...........cccocoiiriiiiiiie 31 26 8
Operating expenses before integration COStS..........c.ccovrvenuene 2,240 1,997 1,658
Integration costs in continuing bUSINESSES..........ccvrverererienne 38 - -
Total operating EXPENSES.......cveverrerreriesrieierieseeeeseesreans 2,278 1,997 1,658

Commentary on operating expenses in 2001

In 2001, operating expenses increased by €281 million (14%) to €2,278 million from €1,997 million in 2000. Excluding integration
costs in continuing businesses, currency factors and Fraud Losses, total operating expenses increased by 10%. Operating expenses included
the operating costs of CCS and some one-off items. The material items impacting on the growth included euro conversion costs,
market related salary adjustments in Ireland and the USA and health insurance costs in the USA, an industry wide factor. In addition,
there were costs relating to the investment in and expansion of our businesses in Poland and Allied Irish America. Excluding these costs
and euro conversion, cost growth was in the region of 8% with the outcome in 2002 expected to be approximately 6%. The Group’s
tangible cost income ratio, excluding exceptional items, goodwill amortization and integration costs in continuing businesses, was 58.5%
compared to 58.0% for the year to December 2000.

Integration costs in continuing businesses related to the merger of WBK and BZ in Poland.

In 2001, staff costs were €1,342 million compared with €1,192 million for 2000, an increase of €150 million (13%) reflecting
normal growth in salaries and growth in business activities across the Group. Excluding integration costs in continuing businesses,
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currency factors, FRS 17, the impact of the CCS acquisition, the sale of KCH and Fraud Losses, staff costs increased by 11%.

Other administrative expenses increased by €69 million (11%) to €703 million for 2001 compared with €634 million for 2000.
Excluding integration costs in continuing businesses and currency factors, other administrative expenses increased by 9%.

The depreciation charge for 2001 was €164 million compared with €145 million for 2000, an increase of €19 million (13%).
The increase is due to increased investments in technology and systems.

Commentary on operating expenses in 2000

In 2000, operating expenses increased by €339 million (20%) to €1,997 million from €1,658 million in 1999. Excluding the impact
of BZ and currency factors, operating expenses increased by 8%. The increase in operating expenses was mainly attributable to increased
business activity, technology and e-business expenditure, including development work on a standalone internet bank and branch network
expansion in Poland. Following a review of our e-business strategy in Ireland, AIB will focus on developing and expanding 24hour-
online, our existing online service, as the core internet offering for the Irish personal market and will not proceed with the development
of a standalone internet bank at this time. Investment in e-business in the US and Poland continues and the Group remains committed to
an integrated multi-channel distribution strategy.

In 2000, staff costs were €1,192 million compared with €1,010 million for 1999, an increase of €182 million (18%) reflecting normal
growth in salaries and growth in business activities across the Group. Excluding the impact of BZ acquisition and currency factors, staff
costs increased by 7%.

Other administrative expenses increased by €113 million (22%) to €634 million for 2000 compared with €521 million for 1999.
Excluding the impact of BZ and currency factors, other administrative expenses increased by 9%.

The depreciation charge for 2000 was €145 million compared with €119 million for 1999, an increase of €26 million (22%). Of this
increase, €9 million related to the depreciation of freehold and long leasehold property and shell & core, arising from the implementation
of a new accounting standard. In addition, there were increased investments in technology and systems.

Provisions for loan losses
The following table shows the provisions for loan losses charged to income for each of the three years ended December 31,2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(Euro in millions)
Provisions for 10an 10SSES. .........ccuvvieriniiiininiceeeeeee 179 133 85
As a percentage of average 10ans®...........cccevvvveiieieienienienennens 0.36% 0.30% 0.24%

@ Average loans, before provisions less unearned income, include leasing and installment credit.

Commentary on provision for loan losses in 2001

The provisions for loan losses of €179 million (0.36% of average advances) for the year ended December 31, 2001 were
€46 million higher than 2000 (€133 million, 0.30% of average advances) following the inclusion of the €50 million unallocated
provision taken at Group level to reflect the economic uncertainty and weakness in the markets.

In 2001, the Group raised an additional unallocated provision for loan losses of €50 million at Group level. This component of our
general provision was created to cover the impact that various uncertainties may have on divisional management’s estimate of probable
losses at the year-end. These uncertainties include the particularly volatile economic environments in markets in which we operate,
volatility in default probabilities and grade migration.

Ireland

The provision for loan losses increased to €106 million in the year to December 31, 2001 (2000: €51 million). The principal
feature of the increase was the €50 million Group additional unallocated provision described above. Provisions in AIB Bank ROI
increased by €7 million over the year 2000, however the provision rate remained unchanged at 0.25% of advances.
United Kingdom

In 2001 the provision for loan losses at €19 million was €4 million lower than the year to December 31, 2000. Strong recoveries
were a feature of both years (€17 million in both 2000 and 2001).
United States

The provision for loan losses increased in the year to December 31, 2001 by €5 million to €38 million primarily due to an
increased general provision in Allied Irish America to take account of the level of growth in that portfolio.
Poland

The provision for loan losses for the year to December 31, 2001 at €16 million is €10 million lower than the 2000 provision and is
reported after using the remaining pool of fair value allowances of PLN 171 million (€47 million) in Poland, created on acquisition.
The underlying loan losses provision rate in Poland prior to fair value adjustments was 1.90% (2.84% in the year to December 31, 2000).
Rest of World

The net provision for loan losses was nil in the rest of the world in both 2001 and in 2000.
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Commentary on provision for loan losses in 2000

The provisions for loan losses increased from €85 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 to €133 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000. The charge for 1999 was €101 million or 0.28% of advances when the impact of the write back of
Latin American provisions is excluded. This is reflected in the annualized rate of provisions for loan losses as a percentage of average
loans which increased from 0.24% for the year ended December 31, 1999 to 0.30% for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Ireland
The provisions for loan losses remained static at €51 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 compared to the year ended
December 31, 1999.

United Kingdom

The provisions for loan losses increased from €6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 to €23 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000, reflecting a combination of a fall-off in the very strong recoveries recorded in 1999 and an increase in corporate
case provisions.

United States

The provisions for loan losses increased from €29 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 to €33 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000. Higher levels of commercial loan provisions were partially offset by lower retail and residential mortgage
provisioning.
Poland

The provisions for loan losses increased from €6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 to €26 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000, largely due to the inclusion of Bank Zachodni for a full year following its acquisition in September 1999.

Rest of World
The provisions for loan losses decreased from a net recovery of €7 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, which included a
write back of Latin American provisions, to no net provision in the year to December 31, 2000, where recoveries offset new provisions.

Provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments
The following table shows the provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments for the years ended December 31, 2001,

2000 and 1999.
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments................... 19 2 2

The provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments amounted to €19 million in 2001, an increase of €17 million on 2000.
The increase was due mainly to a provision in relation to one specific case.
The provisions for 2000 remained consistent with 1999.

Profit on disposal of businesses

In August 2001, AIB sold its interests in Keppel Capital Holdings (“KCH?”), realising a profit on disposal of €93 million. In addition,
the 1999 Singapore $351 million three year senior bonds with warrants were fully redeemed at par.

In October 1999, AIB’ private banking and treasury operations in Singapore were sold to Keppel Tatlee Bank Limited, giving rise to a
profit before taxation on disposal of €15 million.

Applicable taxes
The following table shows applicable income taxes and tax rates, as well as effective tax rates, for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
Applicable INCOME taXES.......covveriririerieeecre e 187 239 317
Irish corporation tax rate..........c.ccovvverererenieiieesesenennens 20.0% 24.0% 28.0%
Effective taX rate.........coveviieiiiniiese e 18.9% 25.6% 28.4%
Effective tax rate - adjusted®...........ccocvreriniicicciene, 23.6% 25.8% 28.6%

@The adjusted effective tax rate has been presented to eliminate the effect of the Fraud Losses in all years and the deposit interest
retention tax settlement in 2000 (note 6).

The taxation charge was €187 million in 2001 compared with €239 million in 2000. The adjusted effective tax rate for the year was
23.6% down from 25.8% in 2000. The reduction in the effective tax rate was mainly due to the decrease in the standard rate of Irish
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corporation tax from 24% in 2000 to 20% in 2001. The effective tax rate is also influenced by the geographic and business mix of profits
and was significantly impacted in 2001 by the Fraud Losses.

The taxation charge was €239 million in 2000 compared with €317 million in 1999. The reduction in the tax charge arose primarily
from the higher Fraud Losses in 2000. The adjusted effective tax rate for the year was 25.8% down from 28.6% in 1999. The reduction
was mainly due to the decrease in the standard rate of Irish corporation tax from 28% in 1999 to 24% in 2000 and a lower effective tax
rate in Allfirst. The effective tax rate is also influenced by the geographic and business mix of profits.

The Irish government proposals to progressively reduce the standard rate of Irish corporation tax to 12.5% by January 2003 and the
reduction in the rate of corporation tax applying to non-trading income to 25% from January 1, 2000 will have a positive impact on
future earnings in Ireland. As it is not anticipated that foreign tax rates will fall in line with Irish tax rates, the effective tax rate in future
years will continue to be in excess of the standard rate of Irish corporation tax.

1999 compared to 1998 - restated

Net income for the year ended December 31, 1999 was €757 million compared with €626 million for the year ended
December 31, 1998 an increase of €131 million (21%).

On September 16, 1999, the Group completed the acquisition of an 80% shareholding in Bank Zachodni S.A. (“BZ”) from the
State Treasury of the Republic of Poland. The profit contribution from BZ for the period from September 16, 1999 to December 31,
1999 was negligible after funding costs and amortization of intangible assets.

Net interest income in 1999 was €1,770 million compared with €1,609 million for 1998, an increase of €161 million (10%).
Excluding the impact of the BZ acquisition and currency factors, net interest income was up 7%. Average interest earning assets increased
by €5,851 million (12%) when compared with 1998. Group lending volumes increased by 17% on an underlying basis since
December 31, 1998. On a geographic basis, loans in Ireland increased by 25%, in Northern Ireland by 11%, in Britain by 32%, in USA by
3%, and Poland reported loan growth of 33%. Group deposits increased by 4% with growth of 12% in Ireland, 7% in Northern Ireland,
8% in Britain, 34% in Poland. In the USA deposits decreased by 13% mainly reflecting a migration of predominantly low margin funds
from the traditional deposit account into mutual funds and other investment products. The volume increase has been partly offset by a
decrease in the net interest margin to 3.27% in 1999 from 3.33% in 1998. The domestic margin reduced by 12 basis points since
December 1998 to 2.97% while the foreign margin reduced by 2 basis points since December 1998 to 3.54%. Net interest income
includes €2 million in net funding costs relating to AIB’ strategic alliance with KTL.

Other income for the year ended December 31, 1999 was €1,007 million compared with €969 million for the year ended
December 31, 1998, an increase of €38 million (4%). Excluding the impact of the Fraud Losses, the BZ acquisition and currency factors,
the increase was 5%. Net fees and commissions were €816 million for 1999 compared with €693 million for 1998, an increase of
€123 million (18%). In Ireland this increase reflected strong performances in branch banking, credit card, finance and leasing revenues,
corporate and commercial treasury, stockbroking, corporate banking, corporate finance and international financial services. In addition,
AIB Capital Markets acted as advisor to the Irish Government on the Bord Telecom Eireann (eircom p.l.c.) Initial Public Offering. In the
USA strong growth was achieved in key categories, particularly an 18% growth in electronic banking income, a 15% growth in trust and
investment advisory fees and a 5% growth in deposit service charges. AIB’s charity and church sector activities had a very successful year
with growth of 22% in income. In Poland, WBK reported a 161% increase in card fees and growth of 31% in current account fees and
branch commissions. The strong performance reflects the ongoing business development program in WBK. Dealing profits were
€74 million for 1999 compared with €69 million for 1998, an increase of €5 million (7%) with Treasury availing of the opportunities
which the volatility in the foreign exchange markets presented. The Fraud Losses were €11 million in 1998 and €45 million in 1999.
Other operating income was €160 million for 1999 compared with €217 million for 1998. This decrease was impacted by securities
gains realized in Allfirst in 1998, €54 million compared with €5 million in 1999, and the sale of our mortgage origination business in
Allfirst in 1998 offset by a higher contribution from Ark Life Assurance Company Limited ("Ark Life") which increased by 31% from
€49 million in 1998 to €64 million in 1999 reflecting a 31% increase in Annual Premium Equivalent sales. Miscellaneous operating
income increased from €54 million in 1998 to €56 million in 1999.

Operating expenses for the year ended 1999 increased by €216 million (15%) to €1,658 million from €1,442 million in 1998.
Excluding the impact of FRS17, the BZ acquisition, integration costs in USA in 1998 and currency factors, operating expenses increased
by 9%.The increase was mainly as a result of increased business activity, technology, electronic and e-business expenditure, and branch
network expansion in Poland. Operating expenses included amortization of goodwill of €8 million mainly related to the Bank Zachodni
acquisition. In 1999, staff costs were €1,010 million compared with €867 million for 1998, an increase of €143 million (16%) reflecting
normal growth in salaries and substantial growth in business activities across the Group. Excluding the impact of FRS17, BZ acquisition,
integration costs in USA in 1998 and currency factors, staff costs increased by 8%. Efficiency continued to improve and the cost income
ratio in Ireland reduced further to 57%. In Capital Markets there were additional staff costs associated with the Bord Telecom Eireann
(eircom p.l.c.) flotation. In the USA staff costs decreased as a result of savings following the integration of our franchises and sales of
businesses in recent years. Other administrative expenses increased by €75 million (17%) to €521 million for 1999 compared with
€446 million for 1998. Excluding the impact of BZ, integration costs in USA in 1998 and currency factors, other administrative expenses
increased by 12%. Costs increased due to increased business activities, technology expenditure and the opening of 23 new outlets and 51
new ATM’ by WBK in Poland. The depreciation charge for 1999 was €119 million compared with €109 million for 1998, an increase of
€10 million (9%). This increase was driven by increased investment in technology and systems.

Amounts written off fixed asset investments decreased by €2 million from a charge of €7 million in 1998 to a charge of €5 million
in 1999. The movements were spread over a number of investments.
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Profit on disposal of property in 1999 amounted to €2 million and related to the disposal of properties surplus to business
requirements. The profit on disposal of property in 1998 was €32 million and related to the sale of a site in Dublin and disposal of
branches.

In October 1999, AIB sold its private banking and treasury operations located in Singapore to Keppel TatLee Bank and achieved a
gain on sale of €15 million.

The provisions for loan losses decreased from €126 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 to €85 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999.This is reflected in the annualized rate of provisions for loan losses as a percentage of average loans which decreased
from 0.44% for the year ended December 31, 1998 to 0.24% for the year ended December 31, 1999. In Ireland, the provisions for loan
losses increased from €48 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 to €51 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This
increase reflects growth in the loan portfolio of 27% and a prudent approach to provisioning.In the United Kingdom, the provisions for
loan losses decreased from €22 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 to €6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999,
reflecting a generally improved provisioning experience and stronger recoveries. In the United States, the provisions for loan losses
increased from €5 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 to €29 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, reflecting
higher levels of consumer and retail provisioning. In Poland, the provisions for loan losses decreased from €11 million for the year ended
December 31, 1998 to €6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. In the Rest of the World, the provisions for loan losses
decreased from €40 million for the year ended December 31, 1998 to a net recovery of €7 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999, reflecting the lower provisioning in the foreign maritime portfolio and a write-back of Latin American provisions.

1998 Compared to 1997 - restated

Net income for the year ended December 31, 1998 was €626 million, compared with €449 million for the year ended
December 31, 1997. The net income was arrived at after charging €55 million in respect of the impact of the phased reduction in Irish
Corporation tax rates on deferred tax balances.

The Group results for the year to December 1998 are not directly comparable with the previous year to December 1997 due to
changes in the composition of the Group. The results for the year ended December 1998 include a full year contribution from Dauphin
Deposit Corporation (acquired July 1997) and WBK (became a 60% owned subsidiary in April 1997). Also, in February 1998, our USA
division completed the sale of its credit card and residential mortgage origination businesses.

Net interest income in 1998 was €1,609 million compared with €1,374 million for 1997, an increase of €235 million (17%).
Average interest earning assets increased by €10,840 million (29%) when compared with 1997. The Group’s net interest margin decreased
to 3.33% in 1998 from 3.67% in 1997. The domestic margin reduced by 40 basis points since December 1997 to 3.09% while the foreign
margin reduced by 27 basis points since December 1997 to 3.56%. The reduction in the margin reflected the lower interest rate
environment across divisions, the changing product profile in each of our markets, with growth mainly occurring in low margin products,
strong growth in treasury assets and changes in the composition of the Group. Group lending volumes increased by 17% on an underlying
basis since December 31, 1997. On a geographic basis loans in Ireland increased by 26%, in Northern Ireland by 14%, in Britain by 9%
and Poland reported loan growth of 33%. In the USA underlying growth, excluding the impact of the sale of the credit card portfolio, was
7%. Group deposits increased by 10% with growth of 13% in Ireland, 9% in Northern Ireland, 12% in Britain, 24% in Poland and 2% in
USA.

Other income in the year ended December 31, 1998 was €969 million compared with €731 million for the year ended
December 31, 1997, an increase of €238 million (32%). Net fees and commissions were €693 million for 1998 compared with €569
million for 1997, an increase of €124 million (22%). This increase reflected strong performances in credit card, commercial foreign
exchange, corporate and commercial treasury, stockbroking and international financial services. Dealing profits were €69 million for 1998
compared with €52 million for 1997, an increase of €17 million (34%) with Treasury availing of the opportunities which the volatility in
the foreign exchange markets presented. The Fraud Losses were €24 million in 1997 and €11 million in 1998. Other operating income
was €217 million for 1998 compared with €135 million for 1997. This increase was primarily due to investment securities gains realized
in Allfirst of €54 million, profit on disposal of investments in associates and a higher contribution from Ark Life which increased by 50%
from €33 million in 1997 to €49 million in 1998. Miscellaneous operating income increased from €36 million in 1997 to €54 million
in 1998.

Operating expenses in 1998 increased by €58 million (4%) to €1,442 million from €1,384 million in 1997. Operating expenses,
excluding integration costs, were up 7% to €1,422 million. The increase reflects the inclusion of Dauphin Deposit Corporation and WBK
for a full year, partially offset by the disposal of non-core businesses in the USA. Currency translation rates were adverse and there was
increased operational expenditure servicing substantially higher business volumes. There were benefits from Dauphin cost savings and from
lower pension costs of €17 million which arose from an actuarial valuation of the main Irish and British pension schemes. In 1998 staff
costs were €867 million compared with €782 million for 1997, an increase of €85 million (11%) reflecting normal growth in salaries and
higher performance related remuneration costs related to the higher income generated. Other administrative expenses decreased by
€7 million (2%) to €446 million for 1998 compared with €453 million for 1997 due primarily to the sale of non-core businesses in
USA division. The depreciation charge for 1998 was €109 million compared with €94 million for 1997, an increase of €15 million
(16%). This increase was driven by increased investment in technology and systems. The integration costs of €20 million mainly related to
the installation of an enhanced technology platform arising from the integration of Allfirst’s constituent banks.

Amounts written off fixed asset investments increased by €6 million from a charge of €1 million in 1997 to a charge of €7 million
in 1998. The movements were spread over a number of investments.

Income from associated undertakings decreased to €4 million in 1998 from €9 million in 1997.WBK was treated as an associated
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undertaking from July 1996 until April 30, 1997 and the reduction was primarily due to the inclusion of WBK as a subsidiary for the full
year 1998 compared with 1997 when WBK was an associate for four months of the year.

Profit on disposal of property in 1998 of €32 million related to the sale of a site in Dublin and disposal of branches. The loss on
disposal of property in 1997 of €2 million related to the disposal of branches.

The provisions for loan losses increased from €93 million for the year ended December 31, 1997 to €126 million for the year ended
December 31, 1998.This is reflected in the annualized rate of provisions for loan losses as a percentage of average loans which increased
from 0.39% for the year ended December 31, 1997 to 0.44% for the year ended December 31, 1998.

In the Republic of Ireland, the provisions for loan losses increased from €43 million for the year ended December 31, 1997 to
€48 million for the year ended December 31, 1998, reflecting growth in the loan portfolio and a prudent approach to provisioning.

In the United Kingdom, the provisions for loan losses increased from €18 million for the year ended December 31, 1997 to
€22 million for the year ended December 31, 1998.

In the United States, the provisions for loan losses decreased from €26 million for the year ended December 31, 1997 to €5 million
for the year ended December 31, 1998, reflecting the sale of the Bankcard portfolio.

In Poland, the provisions for loan losses increased from €6 million for the year ended December 31, 1997 to €11 million for the year
ended December 31, 1998.

In the Rest of the World, the provisions for loan losses increased from a zero charge for the year ended December 31, 1997 to
€40 million for the year ended December 31, 1998, reflecting the impact of reduced trade in global markets on the foreign maritime
portfolio and one large specific provision in Capital Markets division.

The provision for loan losses is considered adequate to cover known losses and any other losses reasonably expected to exist in the
loan portfolio.

Performance by division
Income before taxes by division for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
Income before taxes® (Euro in millions)

AIB Bank ROI 562 516 436
AIB Bank GB & NI 223 205 160
USA ..o 361 330 313
Capital Markets 194 159 152
POIANG. ... 36 88 63
Group ZENEB........cocooviiininies e 31 (24) 39
1,407 1,274 1,163

Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses................. (417) (228) (45)
Deposit interest retention taXx..........ccoeeveeereniencnieennens - (113) -
TOMAL. .. 990 933 1,118

@ The business segment information is based on management accounts information. Income on capital is allocated to the divisions
on the basis of the capital required to support the level of risk weighted assets. Interest income earned on capital not allocated to
divisions, the funding cost of the Bank Zachodni acquisition and central services costs are reported in Group.

Change in divisional structure

Under the new structure, announced in February 2001, AIB Bank division was divided into AIB Bank Republic of Ireland
(“AlIB Bank ROI”) and AIB Bank Great Britain & Northern Ireland (“AlB Bank GB & NI”). A new division, Enterprise
Networks and eBusiness (“ENeB”), was also established. The divisional information has been restated to reflect the changes in the
divisional structure.
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AIB Bank Republic of Ireland division
AIB Bank Republic of Ireland: Retail and commercial banking operations in Republic of Ireland, Channel Islands, and Isle of Man; AIB
Finance and Leasing; Card Services; and AIB’ life and pensions subsidiary Ark Life Assurance Company.

2001 performance

Income before taxes increased by 9% in AIB Bank ROI to €562 million in 2001 from €516 million in 2000 reflecting a
strong performance in all key business units. The divisional cost income ratio, despite an increase of 8% in costs, further improved
from 52% to 51% reflecting high levels of productivity.

Banking operations in the Republic of Ireland produced a strong performance despite a reduction in Irish GDP growth rate from
11.5% in 2000 to an estimated 6.5% in 2001. Profit increased due to good growth in business volumes, loans up 13% and
customer accounts up 14% since December 2000. There was a notable 20% increase in Home Mortgage lending since
December 2000, which was approximately 3% higher than the rest of the market. Deposit volumes were buoyant reflecting our
strong customer base, and AIB led the market in the introduction of its Special Savings Incentive Account (‘SSIA’) products
offering and achieved above its natural market share in these personal savings products by the year-end. AIB Finance and Leasing
performed particularly well, benefiting from better margins and good growth in loan volumes.

Costs increased by 8% as a result of growth in business activity levels, some one-off euro costs, salary increases reflecting the
National Programme for Prosperity and Fairness and a once-off realignment of salaries to market rates. Notwithstanding the
increase in costs, efficiency improved and the cost income ratio reduced from 52% to 51%.

Ark Life marked its 10th anniversary with profit of €84 million and another record year in new business sales. Profit was down
12% on 2000 reflecting lower product margins as a result of a change in mix of sales with customers opting for a larger
proportion of risk averse products reflecting weaker investment markets. The reduction in equity values also had an influence on
embedded value profits. In addition, the year 2000 benefited from a higher impact of recognising reduced corporation tax rates in
the Republic of Ireland. New regular premium business increased by 43% to €147 million including a 12% increase in new
regular pensions to €31 million. Despite a difficult year for markets new single premium sales again exceeded a half billion euro at
€530 million. Annual Premium Equivalent (“APE”) sales were up 27% to €200 million.

In 2001, AIB announced a joint initiative with An Post which will provide AIB customers with access to approximately 1,000
additional outlets for a specified range of transactions. The initiative will allow AIB customers to lodge and withdraw cash from
their accounts using their local post office from the second half of 2002.

2000 performance

Income before taxes increased by 18% in AIB Bank ROI division to €516 million in 2000 from €436 million in 1999
reflecting a strong performance in all key business units.

Banking operations in the Republic of Ireland experienced strong growth in business volumes reflecting the strength of the
domestic economy, the power of the AIB franchise and favourable demographics with increasing disposable income creating
higher demand for financial services. Loans increased by 22% with growth well spread across all economic sectors and customer
accounts were up 17% since December 1999 with particularly strong growth in the second half-year. Lower margins partly offset
the favourable impact of volume growth. There was good demand for home mortgage lending, up 26% since December 1999,
despite competition from new entrants to the market.

The growth in business activity levels coupled with wage cost pressures in Ireland has resulted in higher costs, however the
ongoing commitment to productivity has maintained the cost income ratio at 52% in 2000. The strength of the Irish economy
and the underlying demographics underpin the growth prospects going forward.

Ark Life reported substantial growth in profit of 48% to €95 million for the year to December 2000. The increased profit was
driven by record new business volumes and the benefit of lower corporation tax rates. Single premium product sales were very
strong at €547 million, up 35% on 1999. New regular premium business amounted to €103 million, an increase of 21% including
particularly strong growth of 55% in new regular pensions. The new pension legislation in Ireland has greatly enhanced the
attractiveness of retirement provision, especially for the self-employed and proprietary directors. APE sales were up 25% to
€158 million.
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AIB Bank GB & NI division
Retail and commercial banking operations in Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

2001 performance

AIB Bank GB & NI income before taxes was €223 million up €18 million or 8% on 2000. The increase in profit reflects
good performances in both Northern Ireland and Britain in less buoyant economic conditions. On a constant currency basis profit
increased by 10% reflecting higher business volumes and good growth in fee income. Branch loans and deposits both increased by
8% with good performances in business loans, current accounts and index linked savings products. Operating costs were well
managed with the cost income ratio remaining at 52%. Credit quality remained strong with the bad debt charge lower than 2000.

A focus on high potential sectors has yielded further expansion of the business, particularly from the professional sector. The
not-for-profit sector is performing exceptionally well with a broadening of the target market to include universities and schools.
Significant investment is planned with the objective of increasing business development capacity and the number of outlets. In the
personal sector there was strong growth in the home mortgage book in line with our intention to focus on selected market
segments.

2000 performance

AIB Bank GB & NI income before taxes was €205 million, up 28% on the year to December 1999 reflecting a very strong
performance with higher volumes and strong growth in other income with foreign exchange income and branch commissions in
particular, well ahead of 1999. An improved cost income ratio of 52% down from 57% in 1999 reflected improved efficiency with
an 8% increase in costs since 1999. Progress has been made in changing the profile of the business including a higher level of
business with medium sized firms and expansion in the professional sector, particularly in Britain. There was good growth in
commercial loans, home mortgages, current accounts and term deposits. Loans increased by 16% and customer accounts were up
17% since December 1999.

USA division

USA includes Allfirst and Allied Irish America. Allfirst has banking operations in Maryland, Pennyslvania, Virginia and Washington DC.
Allied Irish America includes retail and corporate operations in New York, Philadelphia, Los Angeles, Chicago, San Francisco and Atlanta and
Community Counselling Services (“CCS”).

2001 performance

Income before taxes of USA division, excluding the Fraud Losses, increased by 10% to €361 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared with €330 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Alffirst - Income before taxes in Allfirst, excluding the Fraud Losses, was higher by €40 million compared with 2000.

A 22 basis point increase in the net interest margin and a 4% increase in other income, excluding the Fraud Losses, contributed to
total revenue growth of 4%. Highlights of other income growth include 17% in electronic banking income and 14% in deposit
service charges. SME and mid-market lending, which increased by 4%, was offset by curtailment of exposures to less attractive
segments and the run-off of the residential mortgages portfolio following Allfirst’s exit from this line of business in 1998. Core
deposits increased by 10% partly due to a high level of short-term deposits at 31 December 2001. Costs increased by 2% mainly
due to higher pension and healthcare costs. Non-staff operating costs were down 5% compared with 2000.

Non-performing assets amounted to €101 million or 0.82% of loans, other real estate and other assets owned at
December 31, 2001, compared to €116 million, or 0.98% at December 31, 2000. The allowance for credit losses totaled
€173 million at December 31, 2001, equal to 199% of non-performing loans.

Notwithstanding the Fraud Losses, Allfirst capital ratios remain strong with the tier 1 ratio at 6.96% and the total capital ratio
at 10.6%. At December 31, 2001 Allfirst had trust preferred capital of US$397 million of which US$120 million was in excess of
the regulatory 25% limit for inclusion within tier 1 capital.

Allied Irish America — Income before taxes was lower in 2001 due to substantial investment costs incurred in relation to the
expansion of the geographic network and enhanced technology infrastructure. On an underlying basis there was strong growth in
business volumes which was reflected in a 41% increase in underlying fee income and growth of 27% in risk weighted assets,
mainly letters of credit. Provisions for loan losses increased due to an increased general provision to take account of the level of
growth in the portfolio.

The New York based CCS was acquired by the Group in May 2001. CCS is a consulting firm to the not-for-profit sector
worldwide. CCS is engaged primarily in the design and direction of fundraising initiatives for national and international charities,
religious organisations and educational institutions.

In January 2002, AIB announced that it had reached an agreement to acquire Ketchum Canada, Inc., a fundraising consultancy
which operates across Canada with main offices in Toronto, Montreal, Calgary and Vancouver. Ketchum was founded in 1984 and
has assisted more than 600 clients in the Canadian not-for-profit sector in raising approximately Canadian $1.5 billion.
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2000 performance

Income before taxes of USA division, excluding the Fraud Losses, increased by 5% to €330 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 compared with €313 million for the year ended December 31, 1999.

Alffirst - Income before taxes in Allfirst was higher by €14 million compared with 1999, excluding the Fraud Losses. Net
interest income decreased due to more reliance on wholesale funding, lower treasury profit and competitive pressures on product
margins. Underlying revenue highlights included strong growth of 16% in electronic banking income, 12% in corporate deposit
service charges, higher joint venture and trust revenues and an 8% increase in commercial loan balances since December 1999.
A decline in retail lending reduced overall growth in loans to 2%.

Costs increased by 2% mainly in advertising which was attributable to several advertising campaigns during 2000. Provisions
for loan losses decreased due to the significant improvement in the foreign maritime portfolio.

Non-performing assets amounted to €116 million or 0.98% of loans, other real estate and other assets owned at
December 31, 2000, compared to €80 million, or 0.74% at December 31, 1999. The allowance for credit losses totaled
€164 million at December 31, 2000, equal to 191% of non-performing loans.

Allied Irish America - AIB’s operations produced a strong performance with a good increase in operating profit before
provisions. An investment program is underway which includes plans to increase the number of representative offices and
‘e-enable’ the business to further develop the national franchise in the charity and church sectors commonly known as the
not-for-profit sector. The Chicago office opened in 2000 and the San Francisco office opened in early 2001 in addition to the
established offices in New York, Philadelphia and Los Angeles. Loans increased by 20% since December 1999 and there was a 34%
increase in other income.

Capital Markets division
Capital Markets division comprises Corporate Banking, Investment Banking and Treasury & International.

2001 performance

Income before taxes of Capital Markets division was €194 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 a growth of 22%
compared with €159 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The 22% growth in profit reflected buoyant customer
activity and a strong treasury performance.

Corporate Banking had a record year, reporting a significant increase in profit. Loans were up 29% since December 2000 and
fee income was particularly strong. In Ireland the business performed very well and completed a number of high profile
transactions for large corporate clients. Business in Britain continued to grow strongly. The special finance unit which focuses on
project and acquisition finance arranged and underwrote many significant debt financing deals. The New York business, which was
launched in 2001, exceeded first year profit expectations despite the downturn in US economic activity. International business
conducted from the IFSC also had a strong year.

Investment Banking profit declined due to reduced revenues resulting from lower asset values and client volumes in asset
management and stockbroking businesses. The International Financial Services business has responded successfully to the decline
in IFSC licensed activities with higher income streams from its activities in Switzerland and Hungary. There was a good increase
in corporate finance fees, with our teams involved in many large transactions in the domestic market. There was a substantial
growth in new business volumes in the custody/trustee/fund administration businesses.

Treasury & International reported strong growth in profit principally reflecting a substantially increased contribution from
interest rate management activities. Treasury customer business also performed strongly, and the Group continued to maintain a
strong liquidity position in euro, US dollar and sterling operations.

The division had higher credit and investment provisions reflecting the downturn in the global economic environment.

2000 performance

Income before taxes of Capital Markets division was €159 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 a growth of 4%
compared with €152 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. Excluding fees received in 1999 in relation to a major
privatization in the Irish market, profit growth was in excess of 20%. There has been substantial growth in recent years in corporate
banking, asset management, International Financial Services Centre (“IFSC™) services and corporate treasury activities. This has
resulted in the position where the vast majority of revenues are derived from customer services and a reduced proportion obtained
from proprietary activities.

Corporate Banking had a record year, reporting substantial growth in profits, with other income up 52%. Loans were up 25% since
December 1999 with all areas of the business performing very well. The domestic business continued to pursue its strategy of
providing innovative financing solutions and consulting services to its customers. The special finance unit which focuses on project
and acquisition finance had a superb year and the international business conducted from the IFSC produced a strong performance.

The business in Britain produced a very strong performance in only its third year of operation and won many arranging and
underwriting mandates. AIB Corporate Banking established a presence in New York during 2000 and plans to develop a lending
business in structured corporate credit. AIB became one of the first European banks to enter the fund management business for
corporate debt and bonds by launching a €350 million Collateralised Debt Obligation (“CDO”) in January 2001.

Investment Banking produced a strong performance in all major business units. Asset Management business had a good
performance with strong profit growth driven by new business mandates. Higher profit was achieved in the UK, where fees were
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earned from new investment trusts launched in 1999 and 2000.

Profit from Custodial, Trustee and Funds Administration businesses was substantially higher due to significant growth in new
business volumes, underpinning our presence as a major provider of funds administration and trustee services in the IFSC.

Goodbody Stockbrokers, Corporate Finance and IFSC operations performed very well. Goodbody benefited from its
involvement in a number of Initial Public Offerings and private placements and was the leading equity fundraiser in Ireland for
the technology sector in 2000.

Treasury & International reported profits were lower than 1999 due to a lower performance from interest rate management and
trading activities, particularly in the second half-year. Treasury customer business had a very good year with strong growth
particularly in commercial foreign exchange in Corporate and Commercial Treasury and a strong performance in International
Business Services activities.

Poland
Poland comprises Bank Zachodni WBK (“BZWBK?”), in which AIB has a 70.5% shareholding, together with its subsidiaries and associates.

2001 performance

AIB successfully completed the merger of its Polish operations in 2001, bringing together WBK and Bank Zachodni to form Poland’s
fifth largest bank.

Excluding merger costs income before taxes was lower at €74 million due to more difficult market conditions.

Revenue growth of 8% reflected slower economic conditions in Poland. Loans and deposits increased by 11% and 9% respectively.
The net interest margin declined reflecting reduced deposit margins due to substantially lower interest rates. Other income growth of 6%
reflected growth of 54% in card fees, a 12% increase in current account fees and branch commissions and a 7% increase in foreign
exchange profits partly offset by lower brokerage revenue as a result of the fall in equity markets. On a constant currency basis costs
increased by 12%. This increase included further progress in developing a new branch technology platform and the expansion of the
franchise with 68 new branches opened and 67 new ATMs installed in 2001.

Provisions reduced from €23 million to €9 million reflecting the use of general provisions which were created on acquisition and
slightly better bad debt experience in BZWBK.

2000 performance

Poland contributed €88 million in 2000, a 40% increase in income before taxes of €63 million in 1999. A majority shareholding in
BZ was acquired in September 1999. The Poland results include BZ for the full year in 2000 and for the period from September 16, 1999
to December 31, 1999.

WBK achieved record income before taxes with growth of 15% in 2000, or 31% excluding the impact of equity investment disposals
in 1999. The strong results reflect increased business volumes, wider deposit margins and good growth in fee income. Loans increased by
16% and customer accounts were up 21% since December 1999.

There was significant growth of 24% in other income, excluding the impact of equity investment disposals in 1999, illustrating the
growing revenue potential of our Polish franchises. Key highlights of the performance included a 128% increase in card fees, growth of
46% in foreign exchange income and a 16% increase in current account fees and branch commissions. Costs increased as a result of
expansion and development of the branch and ATM networks and technology enhancements.WBK expanded its franchise with 28 new
outlets and 44 new ATMs.

BZ full year accounts were included for the first time in 2000. Significant progress is being achieved in transferring AIB’s business and
lending processes to BZ. The analysis and assessment of credit quality for fair value purposes at BZ was completed in 2000 resulting in
additional fair value provisions of €38 million. Loan volumes were up 1% while deposit volumes increased by 10% since December 1999.
As part of its development programme BZ opened 16 new outlets and installed 29 new ATMs since December 1999.

AIB invested a further PLN 200 million in BZ in 2000, increasing the Group’s shareholding to 83%.
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Group/ENeB

Enterprise Networks and eBusiness (“ENeB”) - This division which was established in 2001 manages the development and
implementation of AIB Group’s information technology and e-business strategy and associated investments. These activities include the
consolidation and optimisation of the technology infrastructure with an emphasis on prioritisation and leveraging benefits across the
Group. ENeB costs not allocated to other divisions are included in Group.

Group also includes interest income earned on capital not allocated to divisions, the funding cost of certain acquisitions, hedging costs
in relation to the translation of foreign currency profits, and central services costs.

2001 performance

Group/ENeB reported a profit of €31 million in the year to December 2001, compared with a loss of €24 million in 2000. The
profit includes €93 million from the sale of AIB’ interests in KCH and the €50 million additional unallocated credit provision created at
Group level. Excluding these items, the reduced loss was primarily due to lower hedging costs on the translation of foreign currency
profits.

2000 performance

Group/ENEeB reported a loss before taxes of €24 million in 2000, compared with income before taxes of €39 million in 1999.
This decrease was primarily due to provision write-backs of €16 million in 1999 relating to Latin American provisions no longer
required, hedging costs in relation to the translation of our foreign currency profits and the funding cost of the BZ acquisition. The 1999
profit included a gain of €15 million from the sale of AIB’s private banking and treasury operations located in Singapore to KCH.

Liquidity & capital resources

It is the Group’ policy to maintain a strong capital base and to utilize it efficiently in the Group’s development as a diversified
international banking group.

The following table shows AIB Group’s capital resources at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999:

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

Stockholders’ funds-eqUILY..........ccooereeierieenine e 4,871 4,734 4,402
Stockholders’ funds NON-EQUILY.........ccccovererieiriieie e 775 264 245
Equity and non-equity minority interests............ccccovvevenernene 312 272 227
Undated capital NOLES.........coviriiiiiiiiieeeeeeee e 426 413 397
Dated capital NOTES........coverveeeieieicerere e 1,594 1,836 1,587
7,978 7,519 6,858

Capital resources increased by €459 million during the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase arose primarily as a
result of net retentions of €350 million and the issue of €500 million 7.5% Step-Up Callable Perpetual Reserve Capital
Instruments (RCI’%s) on February 5, 2001.The value of the Polish zloty, US dollar and sterling strengthened against the euro by
10%, 6%, and 3% respectively, resulting in a positive foreign currency translation adjustment of €263 million. These increases were
offset by redemptions of €311 million dated capital notes and the actuarial loss in recognized retirement benefit plans of
€402 million.

Capital resources increased by €661 million during the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase arose primarily as a
result of net retentions of €301 million and the issue of capital notes of €149 million. The value of the US dollar and Polish zloty
strengthened against the euro by 8%, resulting in a positive foreign currency translation adjustment of €290 million. These
increases were offset by the actuarial loss in recognized retirement benefit plans of €201 million.

In carrying out the Group’s overall capital resources policy, a guiding factor is the supervisory requirements of the Central
Bank of Ireland which applies a capital/risk assets ratio framework in measuring capital adequacy. This framework analyzes a bank’s
capital into two tiers. It also applies risk weightings to balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures, reflecting the credit and
other risks associated with broad categories of transactions and counterparties, to arrive at a figure for risk weighted assets. An
internationally agreed minimum total capital (to risk weighted assets) ratio of 8% and a minimum tier 1 capital (to risk weighted
assets) ratio of 4% are the base standards from which the Central Bank of Ireland sets individual capital ratios for credit institutions
under its jurisdiction.

The EU Capital Adequacy Directive (“CAD”) distinguishes the risks associated with a bank’s trading book from those in its
banking book. Trading book risks are defined as those risks undertaken in order to benefit in the short term from movements in
market prices such as interest or exchange rates. The remaining risks, relating to the normal retail and wholesale banking activities,
are regarded as banking book risks.

As part of the Group’s capital management activities, the Group manages its mix of capital by currency in order to minimize
the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on the Group’s key capital ratios.
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The following table shows the components and calculation of the Groups tier 1 and total capital ratios at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

Adjusted capital base

Tier 1 capital.......ooveeeeieeeeee e 4,499 3,604 3,110
Tier 2 capital.......cccveveeiiiieieee e 2,742 2,926 2,551

7,241 6,530 5,661
Supervisory deductions.............c.eceivieieenesieeiesee e 294 214 149
Total Capital.......ccocvveierieieiie e 6,947 6,316 5,512

Risk weighted assets
Banking book:

On balance Sheet.........ccuvveiiiiiiiiiiie e, 54,839 49,396 40,623
Off-balance sheet 10,854 8,779 7,184
65,693 58,175 47,807
Trading book:

MATKEE TISKS....cvviieictiee et 2,897 1,956 1,401
Counterparty and settlement risks..........cccoovevvrevieniens 268 82 54
3,165 2,038 1,455
68,858 60,213 49,262

Capital ratios
Tier 1 capital.....c.oeereerierire e 6.5% 6.0% 6.3%
Total capital.......c.cooveieiieiicecec e 10.1% 10.5% 11.2%

Although impacted by the Fraud Losses, the Group’s capital ratios remained at a satisfactory level in 2001, with the tier 1 ratio
at 6.5% and the total capital ratio at 10.1%. Tier 1 capital increased by €0.9 billion to €4.5 billion reflecting the issue of
€500 million RCI%, qualifying retentions of €287 million, and the impact of stronger exchange rates. Tier 2 capital decreased by
€184 million since December 2000 reflecting redemptions of €311 million, partly offset by currency movements. Risk weighted
assets increased by 14% to €69 billion, 11% excluding currency factors.

In 2000, the Group’s Tier 1 capital ratio declined from 6.3% to 6.0%. Tier 1 capital increased by €0.5 billion to €3.6 billion
reflecting qualifying retentions of €231 million, positive foreign currency translation adjustments of €150 million and issues of
share capital. Risk weighted assets increased by 22% to €60 billion, 18% excluding currency factors.

Access to the capital markets depends to a certain extent on external credit ratings although, except at the extremes, a credit
rating will normally impact the price at which capital is available rather than the volume. On April 15, 2002 Standard & Poors
lowered its long-term counterparty rating of AIB to single ‘A’ from single ‘A’ plus. The ratings action by Standard & Poors reflects
their view that the reported fraud at Allfirst and the subsequent public perception of weaknesses in risk management have reduced
AIB’s flexibility in the capital markets. However, AIB remains well capitalized with Tier 1 and total capital ratios well above the
regulatory minima of 4.25% and 8.5% respectively. Both Moodys and Fitch have re-affirmed their long-term counterparty ratings
of AIB at ‘Aa3’ and ‘AA’ minus respectively. Management believe that the ratings action by Standard & Poors will not have a
significant impact on AIB’s ability to access the capital markets or the cost of such access.

The table below provides details of the contractual cash obligations of the Group as of December 31, 2001.

Less than 1to 4 to After 5

1 year 4 years 5 years years Total
Contractual cash obligations (Euro in millions)
Long term debt........c.occeieeiiiniiiiecee e 161 - - 1,433 1,594
Capital lease obligations...........c.ccoovvenvrinincnennn 55 14 - - 69
Operating leases. ......ccverereerereeese e 3 11 8 33 55
Finance leases 1 1 - - 2
Other long term obligations (funding of Icarom)... 11 34 11 67 123
TOtAL e 231 60 19 1,533 1,843

The table above excludes deposits and other liabilities taken in the normal course of banking business and short term and undated
liabilities. The maturity of deposits by banks is given in note 32, customer accounts in note 33, and debt securities in issue in note 34.
In addition, AIB Group is party to contingent liabilities and commitments with nominal amounts of €25.5 billion at December 31,
2001 (see note 42 “Memorandum items: Contingent liabilities and commitments” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
Further discussion on liquidity is included in Item 11 “Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk - Liquidity
risk” on pages 67 to 68.
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Off-balance sheet arrangements

AIB utilizes Special Purpose Entities (also known as a Special Purpose Vehicles “SPV’”) in the ordinary course of business,
primarily to provide liquidity and facilitate customer transactions.

Under Irish GAAP, financial statements are required to reflect the substance of the transactions rather than their legal form.
As a result the substance of transactions with a Special Purpose Entity forms the basis for the treatment in the Group’s financial
statements. An SPV is consolidated in the financial statements if it meets the criteria for consolidation in Financial Reporting

Standard 2 “Accounting for Subsidiaries”, or if the risks and rewards associated with the SPV reside with the Group such that the

substance of the relationship is that of a subsidiary. The key areas where the Group uses SPV’s are set out below.

Structuring of loans

The Group structures certain financing transactions, including funding the purchase or construction of certain assets, through

SPV’s to ensure the availability of credit to customers in an efficient manner. These SPV’ are consolidated in the financial
statements and the exposures are included within loans to customers.
Financing transactions

The Group has used SPV’s to securitize some of its Asset Backed Securities portfolio. Under these transactions the Group’s
exposure to loss is limited. These transactions have been accounted for in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 5
“Reporting the substance of transactions” and details are included in note 24 of the notes to consolidated financial statements.
Asset management

The Group provides asset management services to a large number of clients on an arms length basis and at market terms and

prices. These assets are not consolidated in the Group’s financial statements, as they are not assets of AIB or its subsidiaries.

AIB also manages third party assets through SPV’s in which it has acquired interests. These SPV’s, primarily Collateralized
Debt Obligations (“CDO’”), are not consolidated in the Group’s financial statements. AIB does not have control over the SPV’s
nor does it bear the significant risks and rewards that are inherent in the assets. Accordingly, the Group’s interests are included

within equity shares. A CDO is an investment vehicle which allows third party investors to make debt and/or equity investments

in a vehicle containing a portfolio of loans and bonds with certain common features. The CDOs invest in a range of senior
secured loans, mezzanine loans and high yield bonds.
Employee compensation trusts

AIB and some of its subsidiary companies use trust structures to benefit employees and to facilitate the ownership of the
Group’s equity by employees. The Group consolidates these trust structures where the risks and rewards of the underlying shares
have not been transferred to the employees. Details of these structures are provided in notes 30 and 49 of the notes to
consolidated financial statements.

Capital expenditure commitments

At December 31, 2001, the total estimated outstanding commitments for capital expenditure not provided for in the accounts

amounted to €69 million (2000: €69 million; 1999 €46 million). AIB Group believes that its capital resources are adequate to
meet such commitments.

Placings with banks
The following table analyzes placings with banks, based on the offices from which the placing is made.

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Placings with banks, repayable within 30 days:
Domestic offices 1,949 2,056 2,072
Foreign offices 2,192 1,516 675
4,141 3,572 2,747

Placings with banks, repayable beyond 30 days:
DOMESEIC OffiCES. ..cvvviieirieiece e 945 400 441
Foreign offiCes......ccvciviiicii i 961 221 643
1,906 621 1,084
[ 1| 6,047 4,193 3,831

AIB Group places funds with other banks for a number of reasons, including liquidity management, the facilitation of
international money transfers and the conduct of documentary credit business with correspondent banks.

Limits on the aggregate amount of placings that may be made with individual institutions are established in accordance with
AIB Group credit policy.
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Deposits by customers
The following table analyzes average deposits by customers based on the location of the offices in which the deposits are recorded.

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Domestic offices

CUrTENt ACCOUNTS.....eeiiiiiiiiiieee e ettt 6,012 4,778 3,442
Deposits:
DEMANG.....eiiiiiiieiiiie et 4,137 4,386 4,096
LI LT OO 10,695 9,109 8,785
20,844 18,273 16,323
Foreign offices
CUITENT ACCOUNTS....eiiieeiiiiiiiee e e ettt e e et e e 7,388 6,478 4,872
Deposits:
DEMANG.....ooiiieiieciie ettt 5,778 5,951 5,183
LI LTS 12,344 11,801 9,990
25,510 24,230 20,045
o] - SRR 46,354 42,503 36,368

Current accounts are primarily non-interest bearing checking accounts raised through AIB Group’s branch network in
Ireland, Northern Ireland, Britain, the United States and Poland.

Demand deposits attract interest rates which vary from time to time in line with movements in market rates and according to
size criteria. Such accounts are not subject to withdrawal by check or similar instrument and have no fixed maturity dates.

Time deposits are generally larger, attract higher rates of interest than demand deposits and have predetermined maturity
dates.

Customer deposits by currency
The following table analyzes customer deposits by currency.

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

(=0T g 70 = RN 22,747 19,602 17,041
US OIS, ettt e 16,104 14,758 12,673
SEEITING et 10,928 9,909 9,009
POIIS ZIOTY......evieiieeee e 4,607 3,949 3,414
OThEr CUITENCIES. ...eeivveiiveeireeitee ettt e e srreeebeesbe e sreeenreeas 171 219 198
54,557 48,437 42,335

The following table shows details of the Group’s large time deposits and certificates of deposit (US$100,000 and over or the
equivalent in other currencies) by time remaining until maturity.

December 31, 2001

After 3 months After 6 months
3 months but within but within After
or less 6 months 12 months 12 months
(Euro in millions)

Large time deposits

Deposits OffiCES. ......couieiiieie e 6,648 185 125 262
FOreign OffiCeS......civieie et 2,331 162 164 362

Certificates of deposit
Domestic offices 959 56 - -
FOreign OffiCeS......coiiiiirire e 1,073 865 1,246 89
11,011 1,268 1,535 713
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Short-term borrowings

The following table shows details of short-term borrowings of AIB Group for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Commercial paper:
End of year outstandings...........ccoveveerinineninenesenee e
Highest month-end balance............ccoovviiiieiinccce
AVErage DAIANCE. ........coiiiiiic e
Average rate of interest
At end Of YEAr ...c.eiieiiiei e
DUIING the VBT ... ..ot
Federal funds purchased:
ENnd of year outstandings..........covvererieniiieneee e
Highest month-end balance............ccocovioiiiienineecceeee
AVErage DalanCe..........ccviiiiiiiiieii e
Average rate of interest
At end O YBA......oiiiiicie s
During year.
Repurchase agreements:
End of year outstandings...........ccoveveerinireseneneseneseeeeeee e
Highest month-end balance
AVErage DalanCe..........oiiee e
Average rate of interest
At end Of YRAr ..o
DUIING YEAL. ...ttt
Master demand notes of Allfirst Financial Inc.:
End of year outstanding...........cccevvevieiieiiiicse e
Highest month—end balance....
Average balance
Average rate of interest
AL N OF YBAN. ...
DUFING YEAN......ccviiiiiiiitiniiitesie e
Other short-term borrowings:
ENnd of year outstandings..........oeeeereeienenieseeee e
Highest month-end balance...............oooviiiiinii i,
AVErage DalanCe..........ooiiiiiee e
Average rate of interest
At end Of YEAN ...oviiiiiii e
DUIING VBN .. .itietieeiecte ettt e ettt et e saeeaesree e

Average interest rates during the year are computed by dividing total interest expense by the average amount borrowed.
Average interest rates at the year end are average rates for a single day and as such may reflect one-day market distortions which
may not be indicative of generally prevailing rates. "Other short-term borrowings" consist principally of borrowings in the
inter-bank market included within "Deposits by banks" in the Consolidated Financial Statements and generally have remaining
maturities of one year or less. The maturity profiles of the above outstandings are disclosed in notes 32, 33 and 34 of the

Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 122 to 124.

Trend information
See Item 5 — “Operating results” on pages 29 to 45.
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December 31,

2001

133
338
186

3.44%
4.38%

546
1,066
859

1.63%
3.94%

2,468
2,478
2,046

2.84%
4.09%

301
323
286

1.75%
3.68%

17,034
24,182
17,864

3.46%
4.47%

2000

(Euros in millions)

338
338
249

4.94%
4.18%

544
1,137
737

6.46%
6.19%

2,363
3,067
2,115

5.25%
4.72%

323
366
328

5.75%
5.49%

15,806
18,895
15,010

5.82%
5.79%

298
298
243

3.28%
3.00%

291
1,169
767

5.49%
4.96%

1,604
2,607
1,475

4.35%
4.38%

330
330
297

5.15%
4.78%

11,465
15,592
10,319

5.08%
4.91%



Item 6.  Directors, Senior Management & Employees

Directors & senior management

Certain information in respect of the Directors and Executive Officers is set out below, with the age of each such person as at
December 31, 2001 in parentheses and, in the case of Executive Directors, the year of appointment to their present position in
square brackets. At each Annual General Meeting, the terms of office of Directors appointed since the previous Annual General
Meeting, together with the terms of one-third by rotation of the remaining Directors expire. Such Directors are eligible to stand
for re-appointment.

Name Principal occupation Year in which
appointed
Director
Chairman
t  Lochlann Quinn (60) Chairman of AIB
and Deputy Chairman,
Glen Dimplex 1995

Group Chief Executive

*  Michael Buckley (56) [2001] Group Chief Executive 1995
Directors
*  Frank P. Bramble (53) [1998] Chief Executive,

USA Division 1998
# Adrian Burke (60) Chartered Accountant 1997
@ Padraic M. Fallon (55) Chairman, Euromoney

Institutional Investor PLC 1988
# Dermot Gleeson (53) Barrister 2000
@ Don Godson (62) Company Director 1997
#1 Derek A. Higgs (57) Company Director 2000
*  Gary Kennedy (43) [2002] Group Director,

Finance, Risk, Enterprise

Networks & eBusiness 1997
t John B. McGuckian (61) Chairman of Ulster Television plc 1977
@ Carol Moffett (49) Bank Director 1995

Jim O’Leary (45) University Lecturer 2001

# Michael J. Sullivan (62) Attorney-at-Law 2001

*Indicates Executive Director

Indicates member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee
# Indicates member of Audit Committee

g Indicates member of Social Affairs Committee

—+
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Name

Other Executive Officers

Gerry Byrne (45)

Principal occupation

Managing Director,

Year in which

appointed to
present position

Poland Division 2001
Colm Dobherty (43) Managing Director,

Capital Markets Division 1999
Michael J. Lewis (53) Head of Strategic

Human Resources 1997
Aidan McKeon (54) Managing Director

AIB Bank GB & NI 2001
Declan McSweeney (48) Chief Financial Officer 1997
Con O’Sullivan (55) Head of Group Finance

& Corporate Services 2001
Patrick Ryan (55) Group Treasurer 1995
Eugene Sheehy (47) Managing Director

AIB Bank Republic of Ireland 2001

Changes in top management team since December 31, 2001, were as follows:
— On January 8, 2002, it was announced that:-
— Con O’Sullivan was appointed Deputy Head of Group Finance, Risk, Enterprise Networks & eBusiness;
— Pat Ryan is to retire from the Group - this retirement to take place on June 2, 2002; and
— Susan Keating, President and Chief Executive Officer, Allfirst Financial Inc., is to join the AIB Group Executive Committee.
— On March 14, 2002, Eugene Sheehy was appointed Chief Executive Officer of USA Division and Executive Chairman Designate
of Allfirst Financial Inc., and Allfirst Bank. Also on that date, Frank Bramble’s previously planned retirement was announced — this
retirement to take place on April 19, 2002 from the AIB Board and on April 30, 2002 as Chief Executive, USA Division.
— On March 22,2002, Donal Forde was appointed Managing Director, AIB Bank Republic of Ireland.

Compensation

Aggregate remuneration of Directors and Officers

The aggregate remuneration for the year ended December 31, 2001 of all Directors and Executive Officers as a group
amounted to €7.472 million; the corresponding figure for the year ended December 31, 2000 was €7.565 million. These sums
include amounts paid under the Group’s Employees’ Profit Sharing Plans, together with pension and other remuneration paid to
former Directors (2001: €0.467 million; 2000: €0.425 million).

Included above is an aggregate amount set aside by AIB, in the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, to provide pension
benefits for Directors and Executive Officers of AIB which amounted to €1.081 million and €0.789 million respectively.

Remuneration policy

The Company’s policy in respect of the remuneration of the executive directors is to provide remuneration packages which
attract, retain, motivate and reward the executives concerned and, by ensuring strong links between performance and reward,
encourage them to enhance the Company’s performance. In considering such packages, cognizance is taken of: the levels of
remuneration for comparable positions, as advised by external consultants; the responsibilities of the individuals concerned; their
individual performances measured against specific and challenging objectives; and overall Group performance.
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Remuneration

Executive directors
Frank P Bramble .
Michael Buckley..................
Kevin J Kelly.......cocevverinns
Gary Kennedy........cccoevveenne
Thomas P Mulcahy..............

Non-executive directors

Adrian Burke..........ccccevenen.
Padraic M Fallon..................
Dermot Gleeson..................
Don Godson....
Derek A Higgs......covevrvrenns
John B McGuckian..............
Carol Moffett.......ccoeveevennne.
Jim O’Leary.....cccovevncnnennne
Lochlann Quinn..
Michael J Sullivan................

Former directors
Pensions® .........ccccceeiieiennne
Other payments?................

Total

Executive directors

Frank P Bramble.................
Michael Buckley..................
Kevin J Kelly.......ccccovvenenne.
Gary Kennedy...... .
Thomas P Mulcahy..............

Non-executive directors

Adrian Burke..........cccevenee.
Padraic M Fallon.................
Dermot Gleeson..
Don Godson..........ccccevueennene
Derek A Higgs.....c.ocverereenne
John B McGuckian..............
Carol Moffett........c.ccvevennnne.
Denis J Murphy...
Lochlann Quinn..................

Former directors
Pensions® ..........ccceeveinnne
Other payments?................

Total

December 31, 2001

Profit Taxable Pension
Fees® Salary Bonus® share® benefits® contributions® Total
(Euro in thousands)
29 811 - - 21 619 1,480
29 502 - 9 65 80 685
24 144 - 9 18 23 218
29 282 - 9 37 42 399
43 380 - 9 16 59 507
154 2,119 - 36 157 823 3,289
65 - 65
31 - 31
45 - 45
46 - 46
43 - 43
75 - 75
43 - 43
1 - 1
207 - 207
16 - 16
572 - 572
103
364
467
4,328
December 31, 2000
Profit Taxable Pension
Fees® Salary Bonus® share® benefits® contributions® Total
(Euro in thousands)
29 783 470 - 15 424 1,721
29 307 157 13 149 50 705
29 309 159 13 38 50 598
29 252 129 11 42 38 501
29 698 349 13 40 109 1,238
145 2,349 1,264 50 284 671 4,763
65 - 65
36 - 36
24 - 24
42 - 42
4 - 4
86 - 86
41 - 41
38 - 38
198 - 198
534 - 534
98
327
425
5,722
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@ Fees comprise a fee paid in respect of service as a director, and additional remuneration paid to any non-executive director who holds
the office of Chairman, serves on the board of a subsidiary company, or performs services outside the ordinary duties of a director, such as
through membership of Board Committees.

@The executive directors participate in a discretionary, performance-related, incentive scheme for senior executives under which bonuses
may be earned on the achievement of specific, performance-related objectives, reviewed annually. The bonus may range from 0% to 50%
of annual salary, except that the bonus for Mr Frank P Bramble, Chief Executive, USA division, may range from 0% to 120% of annual
salary.

®@Information on the employees’ profit sharing plans, which are operated on terms approved by the shareholders, is given on page Xxx.
“Taxable benefits include the use of a company car or an allowance in lieu thereof, benefit arising from loans made at preferential rates,
and any allowances related to the undertaking of international assignments within the Group.

®Pension contributions represent payments to defined benefit pension plans, in accordance with actuarial advice, to provide
post-retirement pensions. The fees of the non-executive directors who joined the Board since 1990 are not pensionable. In respect of the
US-based executive director, pension benefits are computed on the basis of salary and annual bonus in accordance with US practice.
The pension benefits earned during the year, and accrued at year-end, are as follows:

Increase in
accrued Accrued
benefits during benefit at Transfer
2001@ year end® values®

(Euro in thousands)
Executive directors
Frank P Bramble............cccoovvevieiieieiieie e 64 380 538
Michael BUCKIEY.........cccoviieiiiiiieicccee e 104 273 1,329
Kevin J KellY.....oooieieiicccsee e 29 261 463
Gary KenNEdy........ccovviriieninenenenee e 15 45 103
Thomas P MUICaNY...........cocoriiiiiiiiiieeceee e 49 553 788

Non-executive directors
Padraic M Fallon...........coceeeivieiiiiecciee e 0.2 10 2
John B McGuckian (0.2) 16 Q)

@ Increases/(decrease) are after adjustment for inflation, and reflect additional pensionable service and earnings.
(b) Figures represent the accumulated total amounts at December 31, 2001, or at actual retirement dates in respect of
Messrs Kelly and Mulcahy, of accrued benefits payable at normal retirement dates.
© Figures show the transfer values of the increases/(decrease) in accrued benefits during 2001. These transfer values do
not represent sums paid or due, but the amounts that the pension plan would transfer to another pension plan, in
relation to the benefits accrued in 2001, in the event of the member leaving service.
“ Pensions represent the payment of pensions to former directors or their dependants, granted on an ex-gratia basis and fully
provided for in the balance sheet.
“ Other payments comprise payment of €67,760 to a former non-executive director serving on the board of
a subsidiary company (2000: €42,228), and remuneration of €296,634 to Mr Jeremiah E Casey under the terms of a
post-retirement consultancy contract approved by shareholders at the 1999 Annual General Meeting (2000: €285,049).
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Board practices

Appointment of directors

Non-Executive Directors appointed since 1990 are appointed for an initial period of six years, which may be extended for a
further period of three years. Following co-option, Directors must retire at the next Annual General Meeting and may go before
the shareholders for re-election.

Not more than one-third of the Directors are required by the Articles of Association to retire from office at each Annual General
Meeting. This means that, in effect, Directors are re-elected every three years.“The Combined Code: Principles of Good Governance
and Code of Best Practice” (the “Code”) recommends that all Directors should submit themselves for re-election at regular intervals
and at least every three years. As the Articles’ provision in this regard could lead, in certain circumstances, to an interval of four years
between a Director’s appointment and re-appointment, an amendment to the Articles will be proposed at the 2002 Annual General
Meeting, to bring the relevant provision fully into line with the Code’s recommendation.

Changes in directorate during 2001

The following Board changes occurred with effect from the dates shown:

- Mr Kevin J. Kelly retired as an Executive Director on June 4, 2001;

- Mr Thomas P. Mulcahy retired as an Executive Director on June 21, 2001;

- Mr Michael J. Sullivan was appointed a Non-Executive Director on July 26, 2001;
- Mr Jim O’Leary was appointed a Non-Executive Director on December 20, 2001.

Audit committee

Members: Mr Adrian Burke, Chairman (from June 1, 2001), Mr Don Godson, Chairman (to May 31, 2001),
Mr Derek A Higgs (from June 1, 2001), Mr Michael J Sullivan (from November 1, 2001), Mr Dermot Gleeson.

The Audit Committee holds five/six scheduled meetings each year. The auditors are invited to attend these meetings, along
with the Group Chief Executive, the Group Director, Finance, Risk and Enterprise Networks and eBusiness, the
Chief Risk Officer and the Group Internal Auditor. The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s annual and interim accounts; the
scope of the audit and the findings, conclusions and recommendations of the auditors; the nature and extent of non-audit services
provided by the auditors; and the effectiveness of internal controls. The Committee is responsible for ensuring the cost-
effectiveness of the audit and for confirming the independence of the auditors and the Group Internal Auditor, each of whom it
meets separately at least once each year, in confidential session, in the absence of Management. Both the auditors and the
Group Internal Auditor have unrestricted access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

A written report is submitted annually to the Board showing the issues considered by the Committee.

Nomination and remuneration committee

Members: Mr Lochlann Quinn, Chairman, Mr Adrian Burke (to May 31, 2001), Mr Derek A Higgs (from June 1, 2001),
Mr John B McGuckian.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee meets five/six times each year. The Committee is responsible for recommending
candidates to the Board for appointment as Directors. Its remit also includes, inter alia, recommending to the Board appropriate
remuneration policies, and determining, under advice to the Board, the specific remuneration packages of the Executive Directors.

Social affairs committee

Members: Ms Carol Moffett, Chairman, Mr Michael Buckley (to May 31, 2001), Mr Padraic M Fallon, Mr Don Godson
(from June 1, 2001).

The Social Affairs Committee met on seven occasions in 2001. Its role, as defined in guidelines approved by the Board, is to
assist the Company in discharging its social responsibilities. This includes developing corporate-giving and sponsorship policies and
reviewing responses to a range of social responsibility issues.

Service contracts
There are no service contracts in force for any director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Share ownership

Share options

To encourage focus on long-term shareholder value, executive directors are eligible for grants of share options. Options are usually
granted on a phased basis. The exercise of options granted between January 1, 1996 and December 31, 2000 is conditional on the
achievement of earnings per share (“EPS’) growth of at least 2% per annum, compound, above the increase in the Consumer Price Index
(“CPI™) over a period of not less than three and not more than five years from date of grant. The exercise of options granted since
January 1, 2001 is conditional on the achievement of EPS growth of at least 5% per annum, compound, above the increase in the CPI
over a period of not less than three and not more than five years from date of grant. The percentage of share capital that may be issued
under the share option plan, and individual grant limits, comply with the requirements of the Irish Association of Investment Managers.

Details of the executive directors’ share options are given on page 55, and additional information in relation to the Executive
Share Option Plans is given on pages 56 and 57. Non-executive directors do not participate in that plan.
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Interests in shares

The beneficial interests of the directors and the secretary and of their spouses and minor children are as follows:

Ordinary shares of €0.32

December 31, January 1,
2001 2001*
(a) Ordinary shares
Directors:
Frank P Bramble 124,278 133,548
Michael Buckley 176,605 128,690
Adrian Burke 10,642 10,642
Padraic M Fallon 8,148 8,011
Dermot Gleeson 2,000 2,000
Don Godson 25,099 25,099
Derek A Higgs 5,000 -
Gary Kennedy 25,355 9,191
John B McGuckian 66,113 66,113
Carol Moffett 15,675 15,675
Jim O’Leary - -
Lochlann Quinn 314,588 309,309
Michael J Sullivan 700 700
Secretary:
W M Kinsella 13,897 13,005
*or later date of appointment
(b) Options to subscribe for shares
Market Weighted average
Price of price at subscription price of
December 31, January 1, Since January 1, 2001 options date of options outstanding
2001 2001 Granted Exercised exercised exercise at December 31, 2001
Directors: € € €
Michael Buckley 216,500 181,500 80,000 45,000 3.38 12.40 9.94
Gary Kennedy 105,000 235,000 20,000 135,000 6.25 13.05
15,000 6.25 12.82 7.88
Secretary:
W M Kinsella 60,000 65,000 10,000 5,000 3.38 12.00
10,000 3.38 13.53 8.90

The options outstanding at December 31, 2001 are exercisable at various dates up to 2011. Details of these are shown in the

Register of Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests, which may be inspected at the Company’s Registered Office.

(c) Other options

On January 1, 2001 and December 31, 2001, Mr Frank P Bramble held options over 650,000 AIB American Depositary

Receipts (‘ADRS’) (equivalent to 1,300,000 ordinary shares) at a weighted average price of US$22.45 per ADR, under the terms of
the Allfirst Financial Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan (note 40) and the Allfirst Financial Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan. Under the terms
of those Plans, ADRs are purchased in the market by a trust which holds the ADRs, and Plan participants are granted options over

ADRs so held. The options granted under the 1997 Plan, equivalent to 690,000 ordinary shares, have expiry dates up to
October 2008.The options granted under the 1999 Plan, equivalent to 610,000 ordinary shares, will not vest and become
exercisable unless the following criteria, set by the Management and Compensation Committee of Allfirst Financial Inc. and
approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, are satisfied:
— 35% of the grant on the achievement, by Allfirst, of tangible net income growth of 7.5% per annum, compound, over the two
year period following the date of grant;
— 35% of the grant on the achievement, by Allfirst, of a tangible cost/income ratio of less than 55.0% for the two year period

following the date of grant;

— 30% of the grant on the achievement of growth in AIB tangible EPS over the three year period following the date of grant
at least equal to the growth in the CPI plus 5% per annum, compound, over that period.

55



(d) Long Term Incentive Plan
Under the terms of the Long Term Incentive Plan, approved by shareholders at the 2000 Annual General Meeting (see note 40),

the following conditional grants of awards of ordinary shares were made during 2001:

Mr Michael Buckley 18,000 shares

Mr Gary Kennedy 10,000 shares
These awards will not vest in the award holders unless (a) the growth in the Company’s EPS, as defined in the Rules of the Plan,
in any three consecutive years within the five years following the grant is not less than the growth in the CPI plus 5% per annum,
compound, over the same three year period; and (b) the growth in the Company’s core EPS, as defined in the Rules of the Plan,
over the three year period during which the criterion at (a) is satisfied, is such as to position the Company in the top 20% of the
FTSE Eurotop Banks Retail Index. Partial vesting, on a reducing scale, will occur if the growth in the Company’s EPS, being
below that level, is such as to position the Company in the top 45% of that Index.Vested shares must be held until normal
retirement date, except that award holders may dispose of shares sufficient to meet the income tax liability arising on vesting.

The year-end market price, on the Irish Stock Exchange, of the Company’s ordinary shares was €13.00 per share; during the
year the price ranged from €9.31 to €13.80 per share.

There were no changes in the above interests between December 31, 2001 and March 12, 2002.

Employee share plans

The Company operates employee profit sharing plans on terms approved by the shareholders. All employees, including
executive directors, of the Company and certain subsidiaries are eligible to participate, subject to a minimum of one years
continuous service at the end of the relevant financial period and subject also to their being in employment on the date on which
the invitation to participate is issued. Under the plans, the directors at their discretion may set aside each year, for allocation to the
trustees of the Republic of Ireland Plan, a sum not exceeding 5% of eligible profits of participating companies in the Republic of
Ireland and, in the case of the UK Plan, 4% of such profits in the UK. Employees may elect to receive their profit sharing
allocations either in shares or in cash. Such shares are held by the Trustees for a minimum period of two years and are required to
be held for a total period of three years for the employee to obtain the maximum tax benefit.

Employees in the Republic of Ireland may elect to forego an amount of salary, subject to certain limitations, towards the
acquisition of additional shares. The maximum market value of shares that may be appropriated to any employee in a year may not
exceed €12,697 in the Republic of Ireland and Stg£ 8,000 in the UK.

A Save As You Earn share option plan is operated for eligible employees in the UK. Under that Plan employees may opt to
save fixed amounts on a regular basis, over a three-year period, subject to a maximum monthly saving of Stg £250 per employee,
and to utilize amounts so saved in the acquisition of market-purchased shares in the Company.

Share option plan

The Company operates a share option plan on terms approved by the shareholders. Officials may participate in the plan at
the discretion of the directors. Options are granted at the market price, being the middle market quotation of the Bank’s shares
on the Irish Stock Exchange on the day on which the option is granted. The exercise of options granted between January 1,1996
and December 31, 2000 is conditional on the achievement of earnings per share (“EPS”) growth of at least 2% per annum,
compound, above the increase in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) over a period of not less than three and not more than five
years from date of grant. The exercise of options granted since January 1, 2001 is conditional on the achievement of EPS growth
of at least 5% per annum, compound, above the increase in the CPI over a period of not less than three and not more than five
years from date of grant. Options may not be transferred or assigned and may be exercised only between the third and seventh
anniversaries of their grant in the case of the options granted up to December 31, 2000, and between the third and tenth
anniversaries of grant date in the case of options granted subsequent to that date.
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At December 31, 2001 options were held by some 3,085 participants over 29,808,629 ordinary shares in aggregate (3.4% of
the issued ordinary share capital), at prices ranging from €3.38 to €15.46 per share; these options may be exercised at various
dates up to September 4, 2011.

Subscription price Exercise period

€3.38 March 1998 - March 2002
€4.19 March 1999 - March 2003

€5.80/€6.25 May 2000 - May 2004
€7.61 October 2000 - October 2004

€11.90/€12.20 April 2001 - April 2005

€14.05/€15.46 May 2002 - May 2006
€10.02 May 2003 - May 2007
€11.98 April 2004 - April 2011
€12.40 September 2004 - September 2011

At December 31, 2001, Executive Directors and Officers as a group held options, under the AIB Share Option Plan, over a total of
1,147,000 ordinary €0.32 shares.

The following is a summary of the changes in outstanding options under the AIB Executive Share Option Plan for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Shares subject to options at January 1 29,379,228 19,973,976 14,778,476
Options exercised at €1.98..........cccceveeiereenn. - - (200,000)
Options exercised at €2.64..........ccccvireriineneneneeesenens - (30,000) (160,000)
Options exercised at €3.32......cccoeiiieeiiiiineiesee e (40,000) - -
Options exercised at £€3.36........ccccereereiiereiiereeree e (149,000) (680,500) (257,500)
Options exercised at €3.38.........ccooerieiiiieniiieeee e (1,851,728) (476,748) (283,000)
Options exercised at €3.68.........cccevviiririenereneneeeeeeniens - (200,000) -
Options exercised at €4.19........cccccvvveveiieieieseere e (664,000) (165,000) (538,000)
Options exercised at €5.80............... (620,000) (384,000) -
Options exercised at €6.25............... (150,000) (15,000) -
Options exercised at €11.90 (7,500) - -
Options granted 4,246,929 11,668,700 6,634,000
Options lapsed, in respect of former employees (335,300) (312,200) -
Shares subject to options at December 31.........ccccceeveeveeeenne. 29,808,629 29,379,228 19,973,976

Limitations on profit-sharing and executive share option plans

Under the terms of the Employees’ Profit Sharing Plans the aggregate number of shares which may be purchased/held by the trustees
may not exceed 10% of the issued ordinary share capital. The aggregate number of shares issued under the Share Option Plan may not
exceed 5% of the issued ordinary share capital. The Company complies with guidelines issued by the Irish Association of Investment
Managers in relation to those plans.
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Employees

As at December 31, 2001 AIB Group employed approximately 31,900 staff (2000: approximately 31,800 staff) on a world-wide basis
in Ireland, Northern Ireland, Great Britain, USA and Poland operating out of approximately 1,100 offices.

AIB Group offers a wide range of employee relations programmes and the continued success of the Group, in part, can be attributed
to the positive commitment and dedication of our employees in each of the areas in which we operate.

In terms of consultation, the AIB European Staff Forum continues to meet. AIB Group uses the forum to provide information,
exchange views and consult with staff members on issues which affect the Group’s operations across national boundaries within Europe.
In AIB Bank, staff members are also afforded the opportunity of meeting with and providing feedback to management by means of a staff
consultative/voice process — AIB Consult.

The sole recognized trade union for Bank Officials in the Republic of Ireland, Northern Ireland and Great Britain is the Irish Bank
Officials’ Association (“IBOA”). Since February 2000, AIB and the IBOA have conducted their relations in keeping with agreed
partnership principles, which underpin the approach to be taken in employee and industrial relations matters. In 2001, this partnership
ethos continued to develop in a constructive manner and a review process is underway to examine ways of enhancing and improving the
professional relationship that exists between the parties.

In the Republic of Ireland, the current national collective pay agreement, ““The Programme for Prosperity and Fairness” (“PPF) provided
for general pay increases of 2% and 5.5% in 2001 (the smaller increase resulting from a revision in the terms of the original agreement
due to higher than expected rate of inflation at the end of 2000). In 2002 the PPF provides for two payments — a once-off lump sum
equivalent to 1% of basic pay and a general pay increase of 4%. The PPF agreement expires at the end of April 2003. In 2001, AIB Bank
in the Republic of Ireland also realigned salary levels for a number of its junior bank official grades, based on general financial services
market movement. This initiative saw exceptional pay increases being made in these grades ranging from 5% to 15%.

In Northern Ireland a general pay increase of 3.4% was agreed while in Great Britain, AIB concluded a revision in its remuneration
structures which saw a move away from incremental pay progression to a performance related pay system. The general pay increase in
Britain, which was linked to the negotiation of these new arrangements, was settled at 3.8%.

In the USA, Allfirst continued to make strides on initiatives regarding employee retention, diversity, and the employee referral
program. In our on-going efforts to become an employer of choice, a Flexible Work Options program was introduced with a very positive
response from our employees and managers. The Diversity Council continued with their efforts in the establishment of a Diversity Vendor
Program. Through 2001, Allfirst filled 371 positions or about 21% of its openings through the job posting system and 550 new hires, or
about 39% of their new hires through the Employee Referral Program.

In Poland, BZWBK developed an internal recruitment progam which aims at filling any vacant positions with its own experienced
and educated resources. The Bank’s objective is to retain the most appropriate skills for its current and developing business, and open up
career opportunities for staff at every level. BZWBK is heavily investing in training programs and management development to improve
professional qualifications of the employees.

The number of employees within the major operating divisions for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 were as
follows:

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
AIB Bank RO......ccocviiiiiiiic e 9,723 8,573 8,101
AIB Bank GB & Nl....cccoovviiiiiiieiie e, 2,962 2,619 2,786
USA et 5,938 5,738 5,677
Capital Markets.........cccovoeiinieniieee e, 2,225 2,341 1,874
POIANG......oviiiii e 10,316 11,798 12,479
GroUP/ENEB.........cviiiiiiiiric e 731 709 681
L] - TR 31,895 31,778 31,598
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Item 7. Major shareholders and related party transactions

Major shareholders

AIB is not directly or indirectly owned or controlled by another corporation or any foreign government. There are no arrangements
known to AIB, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of AlB.

The following substantial interest in the ordinary share capital had been notified to the Company at February 19, 2002:

The Capital Group Companies, Inc. 7.1%

At the same date, subsidiaries of the Company had aggregated interests in 4.0% of the ordinary share capital. With the exception of
5.6 million shares (0.6%) held by a subsidiary (see note 40 to AIB’s Consolidated Financial Statements on page 130), these shares
represented non-beneficial interests. None of the clients for whom these shares and the shares of The Capital Group Companies, Inc.,
are held had a beneficial interest in 3% or more of the ordinary share capital.

The following table sets forth information, at December 31, 2001, with respect to the percentage of Ordinary shares owned by
Directors and Executive Officers of AIB as a group:

Identity of Number Percent
Title of class erson or grou owned of class
Ordinary shares Directors and Executive Officers

of AIB as a group 1,052,485 0.12%

Related party transactions

a) Subsidiary undertakings
In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 8 “Related Party Transactions”, transactions or balances between Group
entities that have been eliminated on consolidation are not reported.

b) Associated undertakings and joint ventures
From time to time the Group provides certain banking and financial services for associated undertakings. Details of loans to
associates are set out in note 23, while deposits from associates are set out in note 33.

¢) The Group provides certain banking and financial services for the AIB Group Pension Funds and also for unit trusts and
investment funds managed by Group companies which are conducted on similar terms to third party transactions and are not
material to the Group.

d) Interest of management in certain transactions

Loans to non-executive directors are made in the ordinary course of business on commercial terms. Loans to executive directors are
made on the terms applicable to other employees within the Group, in accordance with established policy. At December 31, 2001 the
aggregate amount outstanding in loans to persons who at any time during the year were directors was €42.8 million in respect of
7 persons; the amount outstanding in respect of quasi loans (effectively, credit card facilities), to 7 persons, was €0.07 million
(2000: €44.4 million in respect of loans to 8 persons and €0.03 million in respect of quasi-loans to 6 persons; 1999: €37.2 million in
respect of quasi-loans to 9 persons and €0.05 million in respect of quasi-loans to 9 persons).

Under the terms of a “Change of Control Agreement” between Mr Frank P Bramble and Allfirst Financial Inc. which agreement
existed at the time of his co-option to the Board of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., Mr Bramble would be entitled to a severance package in the
event of his discharge or constructive discharge within two years following a change of control. Essentially, a change of control would be
deemed to have occurred if a third party became the beneficial owner of 50% or more of the equity of AIB, or 25% or more of the
equity of Allfirst Financial, Inc. or its subsidiary Allfirst Bank or if, arising from any merger, consolidation, sale of assets or contested
election, the persons who were directors of AIB, Allfirst Financial Inc. or Allfirst Bank immediately before that transaction should cease to
constitute a majority of the Board of such entity, or the persons who were shareholders of AIB or Allfirst Financial, Inc., as applicable,
immediately before the transaction should cease to own at least 50% of the equity of the applicable entity. The severance package provides
for the payment, within US Internal Revenue limits, of: three times annual salary; short-term bonus; target payments under long-term
incentive awards; vesting of all stock awards; contribution of fringe benefits for up to two years; and out-placement.
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Item 8. Financial information

Consolidated statements and other financial information
(See Item 18 — Financial Statements and Exhibits on pages 87 to 174 of this Annual Report).

Significant changes

Except as described in Note 51 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Subsequent Events: Fraudulent FX Trading Activities,
no significant change has occurred since the date of the Annual Financial Statements included in this annual report. Detailed below are
legal proceedings and prospective accounting changes arising from accounting standards recently issued in the UK and the United States.

Legal proceedings

On June 28, 2000, the Commission of the European Communities served a Statement of Objections and initiated proceedings under
Article 81 of the Treaty establishing the European Community against AIB and other named banks and organizations. On June 6, 2001,
AIB announced new eurozone currency charges for customers. As a result of these initiatives the European Commission ended its
competition proceedings against AlB.

On March 6, 2002, AIB was informed of the filing of a class action in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York against AIB, Allfirst and serving and past officers of Allfirst, seeking remedies under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 of the United States relating to alleged misrepresentations in filings of AIB and Allfirst. On April 24, 2002, a second,
similar proceeding was filed in the same court on behalf of a holder of 100 ADRs.

By letters dated March 6, and April 5, 2002, a law firm purporting to represent a holder of ADRs, demanded that AIB and
Allfirst promptly institute legal action against all persons who were members of the boards of these companies during the period
from 1997 to February 2002 and against senior officers to recover the exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses. The law firm
threatened a derivative action on behalf of AIB and its subsidiaries if its demand was not acted upon. Management believes that
the threatened action, if instituted, will not have a material effect on AIB.These matters are at an extremely preliminary stage but
on the basis of the Complaints the Directors have been advised that the actions appear to be without merit.

There are no other material legal proceedings pending or, as far as AIB is aware, threatened against AIB Group.

Prospective accounting changes
Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 33, “Obligations in capital instruments” (“UITF 33”)

On February 14, 2002, UITF 33 was issued by the Urgent Issues Task Force. UITF 33 is applicable to accounting periods ending on
or after March 23, 2002. UITF 33 provides guidance on the application of Financial Reporting Standard 4 “Capital Instruments”
(“FRS 4”) to instruments that have the characteristics of both liabilities and stockholders’ funds.

The application of UITF 33 will require AIB to treat the Reserve Capital Instrument (“RCI”) as a liability as opposed to Non-equity
stockholders’ interests. The coupon on the RCI will be treated as interest expense as opposed to a dividend on Non-equity shares.
The change in presentation will not impact net income to ordinary stockholders although it will reduce income before taxation.

Financial Reporting Standard 19, “Deferred Tax” (“FRS 197)

In December 2000, FRS 19 was issued by the UK Accounting Standards Board and is effective for accounting periods ending on or
after January 23, 2002. The standard requires full provision to be made for deferred tax assets and liabilities and sets out other requirements
regarding the measurement and presentation of deferred tax assets and liabilities. The impact of FRS 19 on AIB Group is currently being
examined.

SFAS No. 141 - “Business Combinations”

SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, was issued in June 2001. This Statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for
business combinations. While this Statement supercedes APB Opinion No. 16, “Business Combinations”, it carries forward without
reconsideration the guidance in Opinion 16 and certain of its amendments and interpretations related to the application of the
purchase method of accounting.

All business combinations included in the scope of this Statement are to be accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. Additionally, this Statement requires that an intangible asset be recognized as an asset apart from goodwill if it arises from
contractual or legal rights. If an intangible asset does not arise from contractual or other legal rights, it shall be recognized as an asset
apart from goodwill only if it is separable; that is, capable of being separated or divided from the acquired entity and sold, transferred,
licensed, rented, or exchanged. Also, this Statement requires disclosure of the primary reasons for a business combination and the
allocation of the purchase price paid to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed by major balance sheet caption. If goodwill and
intangible assets acquired are significant in relation to the purchase price paid, disclosure of other information about those assets is
required.

The provisions of this Statement are effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. This Statement also applies
to all business combinations accounted for using the purchase method for which the date of acquisition is July 1, 2001 or later.

AIB Group adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 in July 2001 and will implement it for all future business combinations.
The issuance of the new statement did not have an impact on AIB Group during 2001.
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SFAS No. 142 - “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets™

Concurrent with the issuance of SFAS No. 141, SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, was issued in June 2001.
This Statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for intangible assets acquired individually or with a group of other assets
(but not those acquired in a business combination) at acquisition. This Statement also addresses how goodwill and other intangible
assets should be accounted for after they have been initially recognized in the financial statements. This Statement supercedes APB
Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets”, but carries forward without reconsideration the provisions in Opinion 17 related to internally
developed intangible assets.

This Statement requires that goodwill be allocated on a reporting unit level. Additionally, goodwill and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives will not be amortized but rather will be tested at least annually for impairment at the reporting unit level.
Intangible assets that have finite lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. Also, this Statement requires disclosures
related to the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill from period to period (in the aggregate and by reportable segment), the
carrying amount of intangible assets by major intangible asset classes both for those assets subject to amortization and for those not
subject to amortization, and the estimated intangible asset amortization expense for the next five years.

The provisions of this Statement are effective with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Goodwill and intangible assets
are subject immediately to the nonamortization and amortization provisions of this Statement. The Group adopted the provisions of
this Statement on January 1, 2002. As part of the implementation of SFAS No. 142, a transitional impairment test is required to be
applied to all goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets within the first half of 2002. Any impairment loss as a result of this
test is to be reported as a change in accounting principle. AIB currently does not have any indefinite lived intangible assets on its
balance sheet prepared for US GAAP purposes. AIB does not expect to record a transitional impairment charge in 2002 under
US GAAP.The future impact of this statement could result in income statement volatility under US GAAP due to the potential
recognition of impairment losses for goodwill, as opposed to the reduction of goodwill through recurring amortization.

SFAS No. 143 - “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations™

SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations", was issued in June 2001. This Statement requires that the fair value
of an obligation associated with an asset retirement be recorded in the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate can be
made. The costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset and depreciated over the useful life of the asset.
The provisions of this Statement are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. AIB Group
will implement the provisions of this Statement beginning January 1, 2003. The impact of adopting the requirements of this Standard
on the Group is not expected to be material.

SFAS No. 144 - “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, was issued in August 2001. This Statement
addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144 supersedes
SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of”, but retains the
fundamental provisions of Statement 121 for: (a) recognition and measurement of the impairment of long-lived assets to be held and
used and (b) measurement of long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale.

Additionally, this Statement supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results
of Operations - Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring
Events and Transactions”, for segments of a business to be disposed of. However, it retains the requirement of Opinion 30 to report
discontinued operations separately from continuing operations and extends that reporting to a component of an entity that either has
been disposed of or is classified as held for sale.

SFAS No. 144 applies to both business enterprises and not-for-profit organizations. If a long-lived asset is part of a group that
includes other assets and liabilities, the Statement is applied to the group. SFAS No. 144 primarily applies to all recorded long-lived
assets that are held for use, or that will be disposed of. Long-lived assets include capital lease assets of lessees, assets of lessors subject to
operating leases, long-term prepaid assets, and intangible assets that are amortized. A long-lived asset or group to be held and used
should be tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that it's carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss should be recognized only if the carrying amount of the asset or group is not recoverable. The
impairment loss is measured as the excess of the carrying amount of an asset or group over its fair value. A long-lived asset or group
that will be disposed of other than by sale should be classified on the balance sheet as held and used until the disposal transaction
occurs. An entity should continue to depreciate the asset or group until disposed of. A long-lived asset or group to be disposed of by
sale should be classified on the balance sheet as held for sale if certain criteria are met. The asset or group should be measured at the
lower of its carrying amount at the date of reclassification or fair value less cost to sell. Additionally, depreciation of the asset or group
should cease when reclassification occurs.

The provisions of this Statement are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001,
and interim periods within those fiscal years. The impact of adopting the requirements of this Statement is not expected to be
material.
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Item 9.  Offer & Listing

Offer and listing details
Trading market for Ordinary shares of AIB

At December 31, 2001, AIB had outstanding 886,690,015 ordinary shares of €0.32 each. The principal trading markets for AIB
ordinary shares are the Irish Stock Exchange and the London Stock Exchange. Listing of the ordinary shares, in the form of American
Depositary Shares (“ADS”), was obtained on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) effective November 28, 1990. Each ADS is traded
under the symbol “AIB” and is evidenced by an American Depositary Receipt (“ADR”).The ADR depositary is The Bank of New York.

At December 31, 2001, a total of 71 million ADSs were outstanding, representing 16% of total outstanding ordinary shares held by
5,410 registered stockholders and 20,500 shareholder accounts in street names. Since certain of the ordinary shares and ADRs were held
by brokers or other nominees, the number of recorded holders in the US may not be representative of the number of beneficial holders
or of their country of residence.

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of the ordinary shares during the periods indicated, based on mid-market
prices at close of business on the Irish Stock Exchange and the high and low sales prices for ADSs, as reported on the N'YSE composite
tape.

€0.32 Ordinary American
shares Depositary Shares®
High Low High Low
(Euro) (Dollars)

Year ended December 31,
1997 8.82 4.96 19 47/48 25 5/6
1998 15.27 8.61 36 19/24 19 1/4
1999 18.15 10.86 40 43/64 21 1/8
2000 13.10 7.93 23 172 15 1/8
2001 13.80 9.31 25 9/16 17
Calendar year
2000
First quarter 11.20 7.93 23 1/8 15 1/8
Second quarter 11.20 9.05 21 9/16 17 1/4
Third quarter 12.22 8.80 21 /8 16 1/4
Fourth quarter 13.10 11.30 23 172 19
2001
First quarter 13.55 10.38 25 9/16 17 9710
Second quarter 13.80 11.15 23 2/3 19 2/5
Third quarter 13.33 9.31 23 17
Fourth quarter 13.00 9.68 23 1/10 17 27/50
Month ended
October 2001 11.40 9.68 20 17725 17 9710
November 2001 11.62 9.78 20 11720 17 21/50
December 2001 13.00 11.70 23 1/10 20 17/21
January 2002 13.35 12.00 23 10/13 21 11/25
February 2002 13.80 11.35 23 21/25 19 10/13
March 2002 14.10 12.39 24 3710 21 25/81

@® An American Depositary Share represents two ordinary shares of €0.32 each.

Trading market for Preference shares of AIB

In May 1998, AIB issued 250,000 non-cumulative Preference shares, Floating Rate Series A. The ADSs have not been and will not be
registered under the Securities Act and will be traded in the United States only by Qualified Institutional Buyers (“QIBs”) in reliance on
Rule 144A under the Securities Act and to non-US persons in reliance on Regulation S.

Markets
(See Item 9 —*“Offer and listing details” above).
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Item 10.  Additional information

Memorandum & Articles of Association
There have been no amendments to the Memorandum & Articles of Association of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.

Exchange controls

Under Article 56 of the Treaty establishing the European Community, all restrictions on the movements of capital between
member states of the European Union and between such member states and third countries are prohibited.

Under Article 59 of the Treaty where, in exceptional circumstances, movements of capital to or from third countries cause, or
threaten to cause, serious difficulties for the operation of economic and monetary union, the Council of European Union, acting by a
qualified majority and a proposal from the European Commission, and after consulting the European Central bank, may take safeguard
measures with regard to third countries for a period not exceeding six months if such measures are strictly necessary.

Under Article 60 of the Treaty, the Council acting by a qualified majority, on a proposal from the European Commission, may take
action to interrupt or reduce capital movements and payments in respect of third countries where a common position or a joint action
according to the provisions of the Treaty of the European Union relating to the common foreign and security policy of the Union has
been adopted. As long as the Council has not taken any such action a Member State, for serious political reasons and on grounds of
urgency, may take unilateral measures against a third country in respect of capital movements and payments but the Council may, acting
on a qualified majority on a proposal from the Commission, decide that the Member State concerned is to amend or abolish such measures.

There are no restrictions under AIB’ Articles of Association or under Irish law, as currently in force, that limit the right of non-resident
or foreign owners, as such, to hold securities of AIB freely or, when entitled, to vote such securities freely. There are currently no restrictions
under Irish law, decrees, or regulations affecting the remittance of dividends or other payments to non-resident holders of AIB securities
except (i) in respect of residents of Iraq to whom, or by whose order or on behalf of whom, no such remittance or payment may be made,
without the permission of the Central Bank of Ireland; (ii) certain restrictions on the “transfer of funds and other financial assets”

(a phrase which is defined as including dividends) to the state or government of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia and of the

Republic of Serbia or to any person or business having any connection with the Republic of Serbia or any person acting on behalf of any
of the foregoing; (iii) certain restrictions arising from the freezing of “funds” (a phrase which is defined as including dividends) and other
financial resources under EC Council Regulation No. 467/2001 of March 6, 2001 (as amended) imposing sanctions in respect of the
Taliban of Afghanistan; (iv) certain restrictions arising from the freezing of the “funds” (a phrase which is defined as including dividends)
and other financial resources of certain persons involved in governmental functions in Burma/Myanmar under EC Council Regulation
No. 1081/2000 of May 22, 2000 imposing sanctions in respect of that country; (v) certain restrictions arising from the freezing of all
“funds, other financial assets or economic resources” (a phrase which is defined as including assets of every kind) of certain persons
involved in the Government of Zimbabwe or persons or bodies associated with them under EC Council Regulation No. 310/2002 of
February 18, 2002 concerning certain restrictive measures in respect of Zimbabwe; and (vi) certain restrictions arising from the freezing of
all “funds or financial resources” (a phrase which is defined as including dividends) of the Unido Nacional para a Indepéncia Total de
Angola (UNITA) and certain persons associated with it under the Financial Transfers (Angola)(Prohibition) Order, 2002. All of these
exceptions arise from United Nations and/or European Union sanctions.

Taxation

The tax discussion set forth below is intended only as a descriptive summary of certain consequences to Eligible US Holders
(as defined below) of the purchase, ownership and disposition of a beneficial interest in AIB shares or ADSs and does not purport to be a
complete technical analysis or listing of all potential tax effects or considerations that may be relevant. This discussion does not purport to
deal with the tax consequences of owning a beneficial interest in AIB shares or ADSs for all categories of investors, some of which
(such as insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations and dealers in securities) may be subject to special rules. The summary deals only
with Eligible US Holders that will hold AIB shares or ADSs as capital assets for Irish and US Federal income tax purposes. It does not
purport to deal with the tax position of those that are not Eligible US holders, who are advised to consult their own local tax advisors.

An “Eligible US Holder” is an owner of a beneficial interest in an Ordinary or a Preference share or an ADS who is () a resident of
the United States for the purposes of US Federal income tax, (b) not a resident of Ireland for the purposes of Irish taxes, and
(c) not engaged in trade or business in Ireland through a permanent establishment.

This summary is based upon the Double Taxation Convention between Ireland and the United States in effect as of January 1, 1998
(“the Tax Treaty™), tax laws, judicial decisions, regulations and administrative rulings and practices of Ireland and the United States as
currently in effect.

Owners of a beneficial interest in ADSs will be treated as the owners, as appropriate, of the underlying Ordinary or Preference shares
for United States Federal income tax purposes and for purposes of the Tax Treaty.

Purchasers of a beneficial interest in AIB shares or ADSs are advised to consult their own tax advisors as to the Irish, United States or
any other tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of an interest in AIB shares or ADSs, including the effect of any
foreign, state or local tax laws.

Irish taxation

Dividends.  Dividends paid by AIB with respect to AIB shares or ADSs and received by an Eligible US Holder who is not ordinarily
resident in Ireland in a year of assessment are not liable to Irish income tax.
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Withholding Tax on Dividends.  Dividends paid by Irish companies in respect of ordinary or preference shares are subject to dividend
withholding tax (“DWT?”). The rate of DWT was 22% for dividends paid in the year ended April 5, 2001 and the rate is 20% for
dividends paid with effect from April 6, 2001.

Individuals/trusts holding AIB shares.  Where the person beneficially entitled to the dividend is an individual resident in a Member
State of the EU or in a country with which Ireland has a double taxation treaty, such as the United States of America, and is not resident
or ordinarily resident in Ireland, the individual may be entitled to exemption from DWT in respect of the dividend paid. A claim for
exemption must be accompanied by a declaration which, in the case of an individual resident in the United States of America, is certified
to that effect by the Internal Revenue Service. The declaration contains additional requirements where the dividends are received by a trust.

Companies holding AIB shares. A company not resident in Ireland that is beneficially entitled to the dividend may, subject to certain
conditions and to the completion of a declaration, be entitled to exemption from DWT in respect of the dividend paid. The company’s
auditor must certify on the declaration that certain conditions, these being conditions which entitle the company to exemption, have been
satisfied. In addition, where the company is resident in a tax treaty country such as the United States of America, this must be certified
on the declaration by the Internal Revenue Service.

Claims for exemption must be filed with AIB’s Registrar in advance of the relevant dividend payment record date. In the absence of a
change in the person’s circumstances such declarations are valid for a period of five years. Declaration forms may be obtained either from
the AIB’ Registrar at the following address:

Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Ltd, Heron House, Corrig Road, Sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin 18, Ireland.

Telephone:+353-1-216 3100, Facsimile:+353-1-216 3151, e-mail: web.queries@computershare.ie;
or from the Irish Revenue Commissioners at the following address:

DWT Section, Office of the Revenue Commissioners, Government Offices, St Conlan’s Road, Nenagh, County Tipperary, Ireland.

Telephone +353-67-33533, Facsimile +353-67-33822, e-mail: infodwt@revenue.ie.

Individuals and Companies holding ADSs.  Persons holding ADSs, evidenced by ADRs, who are beneficially entitled to the dividend
and whose address in the register of ADRs is in the United States, are exempt from DWT. This is conditional on the depository bank, in
whose books the ADRs are registered, becoming a “qualifying intermediary” (“QI”) and entering into an agreement with the Irish Revenue
Commissioners. The Bank of New York is a QI and has entered into such an agreement. Where the registered owner is not the beneficial
owner, dividends may still be paid without DWT where the ADSs are in turn held through one or more specified intermediaries provided
the address of the beneficial owner of the ADSs, as shown in the register of the ultimate specified intermediary, is located in the United States.

Repayment or credit for DWT.  Eligible US Holders who have DWT applied to their dividend may, subject to certain conditions, be
entitled to a refund by making an application to the Irish Revenue Commissioners at the address shown above.Where entitlement to repayment
under these provisions cannot be established the provisions of the Tax Treaty may apply. The provisions of the Tax Treaty limit the Irish
tax liability of an Eligible US Holder, who is unable to claim repayment of the full DWT deducted from the dividend, to 15% of the
aggregate of the cash dividend and related DWT (the ‘gross amount’). In such circumstances the Eligible US Holder may claim repayment
from the Irish Revenue Commissioners under the provisions of the Tax Treaty of the amount of DWT in excess of 15% of the gross dividend.

Subject to limitation contained in the Code, the Tax Treaty provides that the U.S. shall allow to an Eligible US Holder who receives a
dividend the balance (15%) of the Irish tax paid by such Eligible US holder, as a foreign tax credit against US Federal income tax liability.

Under the Code, the limitation on foreign taxes eligible for credit is calculated separately with respect to separate classes of income.
Dividends paid by AIB with respect to AIB Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs are foreign source “passive” income or, in the case of
certain Eligible U.S. holders, “financial services” income. Foreign tax credits allowable with respect to each class of income cannot exceed
the U.S. Federal income tax otherwise payable with respect to such class of income.

Gain on sale, exchange or other disposition. A gain realized on the sale, exchange or other disposition of the Ordinary shares or the Preference
shares (including redemption of the Preference shares) or ADSs by a beneficial owner thereof that is not resident or ordinarily resident in Ireland
for Irish tax purposes is not subject to Irish capital gains tax, except where such Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs constitute assets
situated in Ireland and are used in or for the purposes of a trade carried on by such beneficial owner in Ireland through a branch or agency.

Irish stamp duty. ~ Under current Irish legislation, no stamp duty is payable in Ireland on transfers of, or agreements to transfer ADRs
where the ADRs (or the underlying securities which they represent) are dealt in and quoted on a recognised stock exchange in the
United States. The AIB Ordinary shares that are listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), in the form of ADSs
evidenced by ADRs, fall within this exemption. With regard to the AIB Preference shares, by concession of the Irish Revenue
Commissioners, for so long as the Preference share ADSs continue to be Portal designated securities on the Portal Market, they will be
regarded as being “dealt in and quoted on a recognised Stock Exchange in the United States of America” and transfers, or agreements to
transfer the Preference share ADSs will also be exempt from Irish stamp duty.

In the case of a transfer or sale of AIB Ordinary or Preference shares, stamp duty will be charged at a rate of €1 for every €100
(or part thereof) of the amount or value of the consideration (i.e. the purchase price).

The deposit of Shares with the Depositary in exchange for ADSs or the surrender of the ADSs to the Depositary in return for Shares
where the deposit or surrender does not relate to a sale or contemplated sale or mortgage of such AIB Ordinary or Preference shares, such
as a conveyance or transfer as a result of which there is no change in beneficial interest, will not be chargeable to duty provided the
instrument of transfer contains a statement to that effect, otherwise it will be chargeable to nominal duty of €12.50. Where there is a
change in the beneficial ownership, Irish stamp duty will be payable at the rate of €1 for every €100 of the price paid.

Inheritance and gift taxation. ~ See “United States and Irish Inheritance and Gift Taxation” below

United States income taxation
Dividends.  Dividends received by an Eligible US Holder of an Ordinary or a Preference share or an ADS is taxable as dividend
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income for US federal income tax purposes. This tax treatment is dependent upon AIB having sufficient current or accumulated earnings
and profits, as determined under US Federal income tax principles pursuant to the Internal Revenue code of 1986, as amended (“Code”).
To the extent that any distributions on the Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs in the future are not made out of current or
accumulated earnings and profits, such dividends would constitute a non-taxable return of capital to the extent of the US Holder’s basis in
his Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs and to that extent would reduce the US holder’s basis in his Ordinary or Preference shares or
ADSs. To the extent that such distributions exceeded the US holder’s basis in his shares, such distributions would be treated for US
Federal tax purposes as capital gains, provided the Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs are capital assets in the hands of such US Holder.

Dividends received deduction.  Dividends paid by AIB with respect to both the Ordinary and the Preference shares and received by or on
behalf of the holder of an ADS, will not generally qualify for the dividend received deduction otherwise available to US corporate stockholders.

Dividend reinvestment program.  Holders of Ordinary shares represented by ADSs, may elect to participate in a dividend reinvestment
program provided by the Depositary, which under its BuyDirect program will reinvest shareholders’ AIB dividends by purchasing
additional AIB stock in the open market. The US tax treatment, as set out in the preceding paragraphs, applies to dividends received by
such holders.

Dividend reinvestment plan.  Holders of Ordinary shares, other than holders of Ordinary shares represented by ADSs, may elect to
participate in the Dividend Reinvestment Plan and receive new Ordinary shares in lieu of cash dividends. A US holder who participates
in the Dividend Reinvestment Plan will be treated as having received a distribution for US Federal income tax purposes at the time of
receipt of any Ordinary shares or cash distributed pursuant to the Plan provided such distribution does not exceed the current or
accumulated earnings and profits of AIB (as determined under US Federal income tax principles). The amount of the distribution will be
equal to the sum of: (i) the amount of any cash dividend received (if any); (ii) the fair market value of the Ordinary shares on the date that
they are received; and (iii) the amount of any residual cash dividend entitlement that is carried forward to the next dividend payment date
as a result of the provision that no fractional Ordinary shares are allotted under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan. The tax basis of an
Ordinary share received under the Dividend Reinvestment Plan will be equal to its fair market value on the date of receipt and the
holding period of such a share will commence on the date of receipt.

Gain on disposition. Upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs, a US Holder will
recognize a gain or loss, if any, equal to the difference between the amount realized upon the sale, exchange, or disposition and the
US Holder’ tax basis. Generally, a holder’s tax basis in Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs will be the US Holder’s cost. Such gain or
loss will generally be capital gain or loss if the Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs were held as a capital asset. Any gain will generally
be treated as US source.

Withholding tax. A holder of ADSs may, under certain circumstances, be subject to US backup withholding tax with respect to
dividends paid on the ADSs or the proceeds of sale of the ADSs. For 2001, backup withholding tax is at a rate of 30.5%. A phased
reduction of the rate to 28% applies from 2002 through 2006. A US holder of ADSs is subject to backup withholding tax unless such
holder: (i) is a corporation or comes within the certain other exempt categories and, when required, demonstrates this fact; or
(ii) provides a correct taxpayer identification number (“T.I.N.”), certifying that such holder is not subject to backup withholding tax and
otherwise complies with applicable requirements of the backup withholding tax rules. A non-US holder of ADSs must complete and
provide AIB or its agent with the applicable Form W-8 (“Certificate of Foreign Status”) certifying that such person is a foreign person
exempt from backup withholding tax. Any amount withheld under the U.S. backup withholding tax rules will be creditable against the
holder’s US federal income tax liability. Form W-8 does not exempt the non-US holder of ADSs from normal withholding tax on
dividend distributions which are subject to a 30% or lower treaty withholding rate.

A US holder of Ordinary or Preference shares may be exempted from or entitled to a refund of Irish dividend withholding tax.

See “Irish Taxation - Withholding Tax on Dividends” above.

State and local taxes

Holders of Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs may be liable for state and local taxes on distributions with respect to such shares
or ADSs. Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors about state, local, and any other tax consequences to them of the
purchase, ownership and disposition of Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs.

United States and Irish Inheritance and Gift Taxation

Irish Capital Acquisitions Tax (“CAT”) would apply to gifts and bequests of Ordinary or Preference shares. CAT may also apply to
gifts and bequests of ADSs representing Ordinary or Preference shares, depending on the tax residence, ordinary residence and domicile
positions of the donor and the successor or donee. CAT is charged at a single rate of 20% above a tax-free threshold. This tax-free
threshold is determined by the amount of the current benefit and of previous benefits within the charge to CAT and the relationship
between the donor and the successor or donee. Gifts and inheritances between spouses are not subject to CAT.

There is no gift and inheritance tax convention between the United States and Ireland. Although an estate tax convention between
the two countries was ratified in 1951, estate duty was abolished in Ireland in 1975 and it is not clear whether the convention is
applicable to Irish gift and inheritance taxes that replaced the former estate duty. Nonetheless, under the Code any such inheritance tax
payable in Ireland generally will be allowed as a credit, subject to certain limitations, against so much of the US Federal estate tax as is
payable on the same property. Transfers of Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs upon death may be subject to US Federal estate tax
subject to certain threshold exemptions.

US Federal gift tax may apply to gifts of Ordinary or Preference shares or ADSs subject to certain thresholds and exemptions.

No credit against Federal gift tax for Irish gift tax paid on the same property is allowable.
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Item 11.  Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk

Risk management

Taking and managing risk for an appropriate return is central to creating stockholder value. Day to day risk management in
AIB Group centers on three major risks - credit risk, operational risk, market risk (including liquidity).

Credit risk is the exposure to loss due to counterparty default on credit obligations. It arises mainly in the Group’s retail, corporate
and interbank lending portfolios. Credit risk also arises in derivative contracts to the extent that the default of the counterparty to the
derivative transaction would expose the Group to the need to replace existing contracts at prices that are less favourable than when the
contract was entered into.

Operational risk, which is inherent in all business activities, is the exposure to loss from inadequate or failed internal processes, people
and systems or from external events. It excludes business risks, such as the risk to income or margins from competitive pressure. Business
risk is discussed on page 68.

Market risk is the exposure to loss arising from adverse movements in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. Liquidity
risk is the exposure to loss from not having sufficient funds available at an economic price to meet actual and contingent customer
commitments. Market and liquidity risks are an integral part of retail banking activities. Managing these risks also provides opportunities
for treasury to add value through position-taking.

Organizational structure for managing risk

AIB Group’s organizational structure for managing risk includes a set of committees and delegated authorities. The main Group-level
committees are the Group Executive Committee, the Group Credit Committee (“GCC”), the Group Asset and Liability Committee
(“Group ALCO”), and the Group Operational Risk Management Committee (“Group ORMCQO?”). Group risk is a Group-level risk
unit, independent of the divisions, with responsibility for formulating high-level credit, market and operational risk policies, providing
independent review, influencing effective management of the Group’s balance sheet and developing strategic risk management initiatives.

The unit reports to the Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”) who in turn reports to the Group Director of Finance, Risk, Enterprise
Networks and eBusiness.

Internal audit provides independent assurance to the Board Audit Committee in the form of a written opinion on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and control framework in operation throughout the Group. The risk
management processes for credit risk, market risk and operational risk are assessed and tested. In addition to audit reports, internal
audit provides information on the overall control environment to the management of the individual divisions. A secondary
objective of internal audit is to proactively influence executive decisions to strengthen the risk management and control
framework through the implementation of best practices.

In undertaking its responsibilities, internal audit adopts a risk-based approach which underpins the risk management processes
in place across the Group. Businesses undertake self-assessments of operational risk and the effectiveness of their controls in
managing these risks. The information contained in these self-assessments is subject to review by internal audit. There is a
programme of ongoing review of risk identification standards and risk measurement methodologies at business unit level, which
includes testing of the risk mitigators adopted by management.

Group compliance has responsibility within its agreed regulatory function for the development of policies and procedures to
ensure compliance with applicable law, regulations and codes of practice with respect to the conduct of business.

It has an independent reporting line to the Board Audit Committee and provides assurance to Group Management, the Board
Audit Committee and regulatory bodies on the overall standard of compliance throughout the Group.

The Investigation Report

Arising from the findings of the Investigation Report, the Board of AIB announced a number of actions to address the issues raised
by the fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities in Allfirst Bank. Specifically, it was decided to:
— Appoint an individual of international standing to review, and advise the AIB Board on risk management organization across the
Group. On April 19,2002, Mr John G Heimann was appointed as a special advisor to the board on Risk Management organization.
— Reaffirm the decision to combine the Finance and Risk functions across the Group under Mr Gary Kennedy, Group Director
Finance, Risk, Enterprise Networks & eBusiness. Amongst those reporting to Mr Kennedy will be the Chief Risk Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, Head of Group Internal Audit and Head of Group Compliance. Both of these latter functions will have direct
responsibility Groupwide. The Heads of Group Internal Audit and Group Compliance each will have separate direct reporting lines to
the AIB Board Audit Committee. The position of Chief Risk Officer will be filled by an external appointee in the near future. When
the position of Head of Group Internal Audit next falls vacant, it will be filled by an external appointment on a fixed term contract
rather than by a permanent employee of the Group.
— Implement the decision to centralize the management and control of all treasury activities throughout AIB Group in AIB Capital
Markets Division and cease all proprietary treasury activities in Allfirst and Poland Division. In that context First Manhattan Consulting
Group has been appointed as an external expert to advise management of AIB Capital Markets on the centralization process and to
confirm that it will be completed on a basis which will leave the Group with a control environment which maintains the highest
standards.
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Managing credit risk

Credit risk is managed and controlled throughout the Group on the basis of established credit processes and within a framework of
credit policy and delegated authorities based on skill and experience. Credit grading and monitoring systems accommodate the early
identification and management of deterioration in loan quality. In addition, the process is underpinned by an independent system of credit
review.

The credit grading systems across the Group continue to be refined, to facilitate risk-based pricing, economic provisioning and the
attribution of capital and performance evaluation.

The Board, in exercising its role in relation to credit risk, has approved lending authorities for the GCC and approved certain
high-level credit policies.

The GCC considers and approves credit exposures in excess of divisional authorities. It comprizes senior divisional and Group
management. The Committee approves key credit policies and reviews strategic portfolio management. It also reviews trends in credit
quality and determines overall provision adequacy.

Managing market risk

Group ALCO is responsible for strategic balance sheet management within the risk policies approved by the Board. It has a particular
focus on capital management, funding/liquidity, market risk capacity and market risk governance. It comprizes senior divisional and
Group management. In addition, there are local ALCOs in the Republic of Ireland, Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the US and
Poland.

Group ALCO policies determine the basis for managing the liquidity risk and interest rate risks arising from the structure of the
Group’s balance sheet.

The CRO allocates market risk limits to the divisional market risk-taking units. Market risks arising in the Group’s retail and
commercial activities are transferred to the relevant treasury units. These units take positions in marketable securities and derivatives to
mitigate these risks. The local ALCOs are responsible for identifying and measuring these risks and transferring them to treasury.

The principal aims of the Group’s market risk policies are to limit the adverse impact of interest, exchange rate and equity price
movements on profitability and shareholder value, and to enhance earnings within defined risk parameters. The Group’s policies and
practices in relation to market risk management reflect the following guiding principles:

(a) key market risk activities are subject to a Board-approved policy framework.

(b) market risk is substantially centralized in the treasury units, managed by skilled personnel, and monitored using appropriate
systems and controls.

(c) market risk is measured and monitored by risk management personnel operating independently of the risk-taking units.

Arising from the fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities in Allfirst Bank the Board decided to centralize the management and
control of all treasury activities throughout AIB Group in AIB Capital Markets Division in Dublin and cease all proprietary treasury
activities in Allfirst and Poland Division. In that context First Manhattan Consulting Group has been appointed to advise the management
of AIB Capital Markets Division on the centralization process and to confirm that it will be completed on a basis which will leave the
Group with a control environment which maintains the highest standards.

Liquidity risk

The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that, at all times, the Group holds sufficient funds to meet its contracted and
contingent commitments to customers and counterparties, at an economic price.

The Group Liquidity Policy is designed to provide adequate funding to cover both normal and abnormal working conditions. It also
incorporates a liquidity contingency plan for critical situations. The policy adopts a cash-flow based approach and specifies the minimum
amounts of high quality liquidity stock required for each major currency. This is calculated as a percentage of retail and wholesale
resources and undrawn credit facilities in each major currency. In all cases, net outflows are monitored on a daily basis and the required
minimum liquidity stock can be increased if these outflows exceed predetermined target levels.

The euro, US dollar, sterling and the Polish zloty represent the most important currencies to AIB Group from a liquidity perspective.
The Group has an established retail deposit base in Ireland, Britain, the US and Poland to fund asset growth. Although a significant
element of these deposits are contractually repayable on demand or at short notice, the Group’s substantial customer base and geographic
spread generally ensures that these current and deposit accounts represent a stable and predictable source of funds. The Group is also
actively involved in the interbank market and may be, at times, a net borrower from the market.

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed to maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, provider and product. The ability
to raise funds is dependent to a certain degree on a banks credit ratings, although a credit downgrade is more likely to affect the price at
which funding is available.

Following the announcement of the fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities in Allfirst Bank on February 6, 2002, Group
liquidity was managed in accordance with the liquidity contingency plan. Since February 6, 2002, Allfirst Bank experienced a small
decrease in core deposits and the temporary loss of a large portion of its Federal Funds purchased capacity. However, Allfirst Bank has
been a net seller of Federal funds as a result of actions taken under the liquidity contingency plan, including the sale of investment
securities and receipt of short-term funding from AIB. Allfirst Bank is currently in the process of remarketing the variable rate demand
bonds (“VRDB?™) backed by an Allfirst Bank standby letter of credit, of which US$300 million approximately were purchased by it,
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serving in the capacity of remarketing agent. As of April 25, 2002 there were US$1.2 billion of VRDB’ outstanding backed by an
Allfirst Bank letter of credit.

On April 15, 2002 Standard & Poors lowered its long-term counterparty rating of AIB to single ‘A’ from single ‘A’ plus and affirmed
its ‘A-1’" short-term counterparty credit rating on AIB. At the same time, Standard & Poor’s lowered its long and short-term counterparty
credit ratings on Allfirst Financial Inc. and Allfirst Bank to single ‘A’ minus and ‘A-2’ respectively, from single ‘A’ and ‘A-1". The ratings of
all three institutions were removed from CreditWatch. Moodys and Fitch Ratings have reaffirmed their long-term counterparty ratings
of AIB at ‘Aa3’ and ‘AA’ minus, respectively, and their short-term ratings of ‘P-1’ and ‘F1+’, respectively. Standard & Poors actions are not
expected to impact the Group’s liquidity or financial results to a significant degree although it could impact the cost to Allfirst of accessing
the wholesale markets and adversely impact the capital markets receptiveness to VRDB’s backed by an Allfirst standby letter of credit.

As reflected in the consolidated cash flow statement, there was a net increase in cash of €377 million during the year ended
December 31, 2001. Net cash inflow from operating activities was €231 million, of which €1,640 million arose from trading activities.
This cash inflow was offset by outflows of €242 million for taxation and equity dividends of €334 million. Net cash inflows from
capital expenditure were €700 million consisting mainly of a net decrease in debt and equity securities of €998 million offset by
additions to property and equipment of €328 million. Net cash outflows from acquisitions and disposals were €59 million arising
mainly from the acquisition of Group undertakings of €59 million. Financing, primarily the issue of reserve capital instrument and the
redemption of subordinated debt generated a net cash inflow of €208 million.

As reflected in the consolidated cash flow statement, there was a net decrease in cash of €1,016 million during the year ended
December 31, 2000. Net cash inflow from operating activities was €2,433 million, of which €1,027 million arose from trading
activities. This cash inflow was offset by outflows of €199 million for taxation, equity dividends of €228 million and capital expenditure
of €3,004 million, mainly net increase in debt and equity securities of €2,830 million and expenditure on property and equipment of
€237 million. Financing, primarily the issue of subordinated debt, generated a net cash inflow of €164 million.

As reflected in the consolidated cash flow statement, there was a net increase in cash of €1,477 million during the year ended
December 31, 1999. Net cash inflow from operating activities was €3,191 million, which arose primarily as a result of a net cash inflow
from trading activities of €1,673 million and strong growth in customer accounts and debt securities in issue. This cash inflow was offset
by outflows of €237 million for taxation, equity dividends of €215 million and expenditure on property and equipment of
€177 million. Further outflows arose from increases in debt and equity securities of €1,248 million and €391 million from acquisitions.
Financing, primarily the issue of subordinated debt, generated a net cash inflow of €640 million.

Managing operational risk

The management of operational risk is a line management responsibility. It is supported by specialist functions that assist and advise
line management on specific operational risks. Examples include prevention, compliance, business continuity planning, information
security and insurance. This is supplemented by a structured operational risk management (“ORM?”) program.

An element of AIB’s structured ORM program is an operational risk self-assessment process. This process requires each business
within the Group to assess its operational risks and the effectiveness of the related controls to address these risks. It complements the
risk-based audit approach applied by internal audit in its role as independent assessor of management’s control and risk management
processes.

The role of Group ORMCO is to influence and co-ordinate divisional actions in managing operational risk. There is an
independent operational management unit in Group Risk. This unit has functional responsibility for ORM policy on behalf of Group
ORMCO.

The losses arising from the fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities in Allfirst, discussed in more detail in Item 5 “Operating
and Financial Review and Prospects” under the caption Subsequent Event: Fraudulent Foreign Exchange Trading Activities, are
operational risk losses. While internal controls over foreign exchange trading activities had been established and documented, the
circumvention of such controls and failure of support functions with key roles in testing controls to detect this circumvention allowed
the losses to go undetected for an extended period of time.

Managing business risk

Identification and management of business risks are the responsibility of line management and ultimately the Group Executive
Committee. In the course of its regular meetings, the Committee considers market and risk developments across the Group’s major areas
of operation.

Business planning occupies a central role in the management of AIB Group. The Board formally approves the overall strategy and
direction of the business on an annual basis and also receives regular financial reports on actual results against budget.

Market risk measurement

Value at Risk (“VAR”) is an industry practice for market risk measurement. It provides an estimate of the potential loss resulting
from market movements over a specified period of time within a specified probability of occurrence.

For internal risk measurement and management puroses, AIB Group applies a VAR methodology whereby the risk is calculated as
the probable maximum loss in fair value over a one month period that would arise from a “worst case” movement in market rates
(interest, foreign exchange, equity, as applicable). This “worst case™ is based on an historical observation of weekly price volatility over a period
of three years. AIB Group raises the measured price volatility to a 99% statistical confidence level. VAR figures are quoted on the
following page using both one-month holding and one day holding periods.

68



Recognizing that the prices of similar financial instruments do not move in exact step with each other, the total risk for a portfolio
of different instruments is not the same as the sum of the individual risks. Having calculated VAR on a single instrument, the total VAR
for a portfolio of market positions is adjusted to reflect the reality that the “worst case” scenario is unlikely to occur in all markets
simultaneously. AIB Group uses an industry-practice formula to take account of this portfolio diversification impact within each risk
category. In technical terms, this is appproach is termed a variance-covariance approach.

As with any market risk measurement methodology, the VAR system used by AIB has known limitations. These stem from the
need to make assumptions about the range of likely changes in future market rates in order to determine the probable maximum
loss in fair value. To deal with this, AIB supplements its VAR measure with other techniques including sensitivity analysis.

Special attention is required for measuring the market risk of option portfolios because the relationship between an option’s
value and the price of the underlying instrument can be quite complex. Option values are affected by several variables, including
changes in market volatility. A statistical simulation methodology, consistent with the variance-covariance approach, is used to
more accurately measure the market risk in currency option portfolios. The currency option VAR figure is included in the foreign
exchange rate VAR figures on page xx. The VAR on interest rate options is computed by revaluing these options under the
assumption that the worst case movement in interest rates occurs. This approach relies on certain assumptions about changes in the
direction and volatility of future interest rates. The VAR on interest rate options is included in the interest rate VAR figures.

The following table illustrates the VAR figures for interest rate risk for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. These figures
represent the potential loss in shareholder value arising from a worst case change in interest rates.

2001 2000
Trading Non-Trading Trading Non-Trading

Interest rate risk (Euro in millions) (Euro in millions)
1 month holding period:

Average... 9.5 73.4 4.1 83.5

High....... 12.0 88.8 53 90.5

LOW...ooieiriennen, 7.3 58.4 2.8 72.6

December 31 9.6 69.9 3.2 72.6
1 day holding period:

Average... 21 16.4 0.9 18.7

High....... 2.7 19.9 1.2 20.2

LOW...oveiiiieene 1.6 13.1 0.6 16.2

December 31 2.2 15.6 0.7 16.2

Interest rate risk

The Group Interest Rate Risk Policy, as approved by the Board, limits the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. The risk to
AIB Group is that changes in interest rates will have adverse effects on earnings and on the economic value of its assets and
liabilities. Recognizing this, the Group’s tolerance limits for interest rate risk are established from both an earnings and economic
value perspective. These limits reflect the Group’s prudential philosophy as a retail/commercial bank.

In managing interest rate risk, a distinction is made between trading and non-trading activities. Trading activities are recorded
in the trading book. Interest rate risk associated with the Group’s retail and commercial activities is managed through the non-
trading book. The reported interest rate VAR figures represent the average, high, low and year-end probable maximum loss in
respect of both trading and non-trading book positions held in treasury.

Trading book

The interest rate trading book incorporates all securities and interest rate derivatives that are held for trading purposes in the
Group?s treasury units. These are revalued daily at market prices (marked to market) and any changes in value are immediately
recognized in income. During 2001, trading book interest rate risk was predominantly concentrated in the euro, sterling and the
US dollar although positions were also taken in Polish zloty and a number of other developed country markets.

Non-trading book

The Group’s non-trading book consists of its retail and corporate deposit and loan books as well as the Group’s treasury
interbank cash books, and the Group’s investment portfolio. The interest rate risks in the retail and corporate deposit and loan
books are transferred to treasury and managed using interest rate swaps and other conventional hedging instruments.

AIB Group’s banking businesses have a substantial level of interest-free current accounts, equity and other interest-free or fixed
rate liabilities and assets. Unless carefully managed, the net income from these funds will fluctuate directly with movements in
short-term interest rates. Group policy is to manage the earnings volatility arising from the impact of interest rate movements on
such funds. The “structural” risk position arising from these funds is hedged by maintaining a portfolio of assets with interest rates
fixed for several years. In designing the hedges, care is taken to ensure that the management of the portfolio is not inflexible, as
market circumstances and evolving customer requirements can change the desirable portfolio structure.
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Interest rate sensitivity

The net interest rate sensitivity of the Group at December 31, 2001 and 2000 is illustrated in the tables below and on
page 71.The interest sensitivity gap is split by functional currency. The tables set out details of those assets and liabilities whose
values are subject to change as interest rates change within each repricing time period. Details regarding assets and liabilities which
are not sensitive to interest rate movements and any rate sensitive off-balance sheet contracts are also included. The tables show the
sensitivity of the balance sheet at one point in time and are not necessarily indicative of positions at other dates. In developing the
classifications used in the tables it has been necessary to make certain assumptions and approximations in assigning assets and
liabilities to different repricing categories.

The tables do not take into account the effect of interest rate options used by the Group to hedge its exposure. Details of
options are given in Note 43.

December 31, 2001

Non-
0-3 3-6 6-12 1-5 interest
Months Months Months Years 5 years + bearing Trading Total
(Euro in millions)
Assets
Central Government bills
and other eligible bills................ 16 29 - - - - 4 49
Loans and advances to
DANKS. ...veeiveecrieceece e 4,764 537 143 33 - 570 - 6,047
Loans and advances to
CUSEOMENS...eeiiveeeeeciveeeeeireee e 35,669 2,365 2,034 6,242 5,088 - - 51,398
Debt SeCUrities.......ccovevvveervveernenne 5,126 1,469 2,195 4,400 3,110 - 3,782 20,082
Other assetS........covveeveeirveiireeineenns - - - - - 11,261 - 11,261
Total assets 45,575 4,400 4,372 10,675 8,198 11,831 3,786 88,837
Liabilities
Deposits by banks...........c..cccceeeenee. 9,862 2,151 713 47 110 340 - 13,223
Customer accounts.........ccceceeveeennns 36,666 1,792 1,470 2,302 582 11,745 - 54,557
Debt securities in issUe................... 3,813 601 298 89 232 - - 5,033
Subordinated liabilities................... 496 113 209 664 538 - - 2,020
Other liabilities........cccccovvvieivienennns 112 - - - - 8,246 - 8,358
Stockholders’ equity..........cceeveneenee. - - - - 496 5,150 - 5,646
Total liabilities.........coevvrveveeicreennen. 50,949 4,657 2,690 3,102 1,958 25,481 - 88,837
Off-balance sheet items
affecting interest rate
SENSIEIVITY....eevviiieiice e, 2,801 117 (311) (968) (1,639) - - -
53,750 4,774 2,379 2,134 319 25,481 - 88,837
Interest sensitivity gap........c.ccevenee. (8,175) (374) 1,993 8,541 7,879  (13,650) 3,786
Cumulative interest
SENSItIVILY GaP....ccvrvreririieeiins (8,175) (8,549) (6,556) 1,985 9,864 (3,786) -
Euro m Euro m Euro m Euro m Euro m Euro m Euro m
Interest sensitivity gap.........c.ccoeeeuene (1,045) (598) 724 3,997 2,137 (6,532) 1,935
Cumulative interest
SENSItIVILY GaP... e overeeeeeeeeeeearins (1,045) (1,643) (919) 3,078 5,215 (1,317) 618
Us $m UsS $m UsS $m US $m US $m US $m US $m
Interest sensitivity gap........c.cceeveeee. (1,998) (179) 317 3,184 2,988 (4,451) 710
Cumulative interest
SENSITIVILY GapP....cvvvveieereeririiens (1,998) (2,177) (1,860) 1,324 4,213 (238) 472
Stgm Stg m Stg m Stg m Stg m Stg m Stg m
Interest sensitivity gap........c.ccceveeee. (2,955) (196) 139 1,555 2,963 (2,807) 814
Cumulative interest
SENSItIVIEY GaP....ervererreerereraienennns (2,955) (3,151) (3,012) (1,457) 1,506 (1,301) (487)
PLN m PLN m PLN m PLN m PLN m PLN m PLN m
Interest sensitivity gap..........ccoeveenen. (1,382) (196) 744 (173) (86) (42) 177
Cumulative interest
SENSILIVILY GaP....eovereervereerierienieane (1,382) (1,578) (834) (1,007) (1,093) (1,135) (958)

70



Assets
Central Government bills

and other eligible bills.................
Loans and advances to

Loans and advances to

(o051 10] 1 111
Debt securities
Other assets.........oovvveevvvereicveeeiinnnn,

Total aSSetS....cvvrevrieiirieirie et

Liabilities

Deposits by banks............cccceenane.
Customer accounts.........ccceeevevveeenns
Debt securities in issue....................
Subordinated liabilities....................
Other liabilities..........cocvvevevvieiiniene

Total liabilities.......ccccevvrviiiiirieins
Off-balance sheet items
affecting interest rate

SENSILIVITY. ..o

Interest sensitivity gap........cccoeeevene
Cumulative interest
SENSILIVILY gap....coververrereerreriereene

Interest sensitivity gap..........ccceevene.
Cumulative interest
SENSITIVILY Gap.....covveveiieiiieiiens

Interest sensitivity gap........ccccoeeeuene
Cumulative interest
SENSILIVILY GaP....eoverrervereieeeieeine

Interest sensitivity gap........c.cccveevene
Cumulative interest
SENSILIVILY Gap.....covververierieerienn

Interest sensitivity gap..........ccooeevene.
Cumulative interest
SENSILIVILY GaP....eoververereerieiienieee

December 31, 2000 (Restated)

Non-
0-3 3-6 6-12 1-5 interest
Months Months Months Years 5 years + bearing Trading Total
(Euro in millions)
271 2 9 - - - 15 297
3,355 80 61 - - 697 - 4,193
30,342 2,303 1,816 6,850 4,735 — - 46,046
4,564 710 1,761 6,336 3,274 - 2,341 18,986
- - - - - 10,202 - 10,202
38,532 3,095 3,647 13,186 8,009 10,899 2,356 79,724
10,984 571 573 97 3 250 - 12,478
33,108 2,478 1,626 1,598 451 9,176 - 48,437
3,768 292 79 156 - - - 4,295
1,470 107 - 107 513 52 - 2,249
106 - - - - 7,161 — 7,267
— — - - - 4,998 - 4,998
49,436 3,448 2,278 1,958 967 21,637 - 79,724
(8,522) 1,443 10,119 (3,802) 762 — — —
40,914 4,891 12,397 (1,844) 1,729 21,637 - 79,724
(2,382) (1,796) (8,750) 15,030 6,280 (10,738) 2,356
(2,382) (4,178)  (12,928) 2,102 8,382 (2,356) -
Euro m Euro m Euro m Euro m Euro m Euro m Euro m
1,422 259 (5,332) 6,962 1,489 (5,572) 1,191
1,422 1,681 (3,651) 3,311 4,800 (772) 419
UsS $m UsS $m US $m US $m US $m US $m US $m
(626) (2,747) (2,418) 5,806 2,674 (3,255) 578
(626) (3,373) (5,791) 15 2,689 (566) 12
Stgm Stgm Stgm Stgm Stgm Stgm Stgm
(2,702) 9 (255) 1,822 1,801 (2,250) 463
(2,702) (2,693) (2,948) (1,126) 675 (1,575) (1,112)
PLN m PLN m PLN m PLN m PLN m PLN m PLN m
(1,156) (123) 27 339 22 (14) 78
(1,156) (1,279) (1,252) (913) (891) (905) (827)

This table has been restated to reflect the impact of FRS 17 and to ensure consistent presentation with the 2001 table on page 70.
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Foreign exchange rate risk - structural

Structural foreign exchange rate risk arises from the Group’s non-trading net asset position in foreign currencies. Structural
risk exposure arises almost entirely from the Group’s net investments in its sterling, US dollar, and Polish zloty based subsidiaries.

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in euro. Accordingly, the consolidated balance sheet is affected by
movements in the exchange rates between the above functional currencies and the euro.

It is normal Group practice to match material individual foreign currency investments in overseas subsidiaries, associated
undertakings and branches, with liabilities in the same currency. However, Polish investments are recorded in euro. Because of the
Group?s diversified international operations, the currency profile of its capital may not necessarily match that of its assets and risk
weighted assets. Under Board approved-policy, a sub-committee of Group ALCO has delegated responsibility for hedging this
structural mismatch against adverse exchange rate movements.

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Group’s structural foreign exchange position was as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2001 2000
(Euro in millions)
US dollar.......cooovveeiiiiiiiieeecee e, 1,375 1,687
SEErliNG..ccve e 1,185 1,023
Polish ZIOt......cceoveeriieeieceecee 209 142
2,769 2,852

This position indicates that a 10% movement in the value of the euro against these currencies at December 31, 2001 would result in
an amount taken to reserves of €277 million.

The Group may choose to hedge all or part of its projected future foreign currency earnings, thereby fixing a translation rate for the
amount hedged. The purpose of these hedges is to minimize the risk of significant fluctuations in the reported euro values of the Group’s
separate US dollar, sterling and Polish zloty earnings. In the year ended December 31, 2001, certain US dollar, sterling and Polish zloty
profits were hedged during the year and translated at the following exchange rates: €1: US $ 0.9375; €1: Stg £0.6227; €1: PLN 3.6582.

Foreign exchange rate risk - trading

The objective of the Group Foreign Exchange Risk Policy, as approved by the Board, is to limit the Group’s exposure to discretionary
foreign exchange risk. The exchange rate risk to AIB Group is that adverse movements in foreign exchange rates will decrease the value
of the discretionary foreign exchange portfolio. Group foreign exchange rate risk is measured as the probable maximum loss in fair value
(VAR) on the aggregate open foreign exchange position for the Group’s discretionary portfolio.

Arising from the Fraudulent Activities in Allfirst Bank, the board has decided to centralize the management and control of all treasury
activities throughout AIB Group in AIB Capital Markets Division and cease all proprietary treasury activities in Allfirst and Poland
Division.

The following table illustrates the VAR figures for trading foreign exchange rate risk for the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000. These figures have not been adjusted for the impact of the fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities in Allfirst. However, were
the figures adjusted the positions would have exceeded the policy limits.

2001 2000

(Euro in millions)
Foreign exchange rate risk-trading
1 month holding period:

AVEIAgE. ....oeiiiieiieeiee e 21 2.2
High. ..o 44 3.8
LOW..tiiiieiecccte e 0.5 0.9
December 31........ccccovevviiieniiieniens 4.4 1.9

AVETAZE.....coiiiririie e 0.5 0.5
High. .o 1.0 0.9
LOW. et 0.1 0.2
December 31......cccccoveviiveiieiiieiieenns 1.0 0.4
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Equity risk

As part of its normal activities, the Group’s subsidiary, Goodbody Stockbrokers, holds positions in equities to provide liquidity
for clients. Equity risk also arises from the management of the Group’s convertible bond portfolio and the hedging of stock
market linked investment products (tracker bonds) sold to customers. Equity risk is subject to Board approved policy and trading
activity is restricted to companies that are listed on recognized Stock Exchanges. The table below illustrates the VAR figures for
equity risk for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.

Trading Non-Trading
2001 2000 2001 2000
Equity risk (Euro in millions)
1 month holding period:
AVEIage......oveviveiieenieaiie e 13.0 10.7 0.5 0.4
High. oo 20.0 13.2 0.8 0.6
LOW.eiiieiecieecee e 10.3 8.4 0.1 0.3
31 December..........cccueneee. 121 13.2 0.1 0.5
1 day holding period:
AVEIage......eeeieeeieeeieeee e 2.9 2.4 0.1 0.1
High. oo 45 2.9 0.2 0.1
LOW. .t 2.3 1.9 0.0 0.1
31 December.........cccceveuennene 2.7 2.9 0.0 0.1

Off-balance sheet financial instruments

The Group uses off-balance sheet financial instruments, including derivatives, to service customer requirements, to manage the
Group’s market risk exposures and for trading purposes.

Contingent liabilities and commitments to extend credit are outlined on page 134. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit
loss in the event of non-performance by the other party, where all counterclaims, collateral or security prove valueless, is represented
by the contractual amounts of these contracts.

The following table shows the nominal or contract amounts and the risk weighted credit equivalent of contingent liabilities
and commitments at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Risk Risk Risk

Contract weighted Contract weighted Contract weighted
amount  amount amount amount  amount amount

(Euro in millions)
Contingent liabilities

Acceptances and endorsements............ccceeeeeeenees 142 109 147 137 143 132

Guarantees and assets pledged as collateral
SECUMTTY. vttt 5,245 4,854 4,027 3,557 2,835 2,570
Other contingent liabilities.............c.cccoovveieieenne. 1,125 570 1,089 546 933 476
6,512 5,533 5,263 4,240 3,911 3,178

Commitments

Sale and option to resell transactions.................... 402 402 257 257 188 188
Other COMMItMENTS........c.cvrierriiirce e 18,597 4,398 15,855 3,748 14,118 3,226
18,999 4,800 16,112 4,005 14,306 3,414

The Group uses the same credit control and risk management policies in undertaking all off-balance sheet commitments as it
does for on balance sheet lending including counterparty credit approval, limit setting and monitoring procedures. In addition, in
relation to derivative instruments, the Group’s exposure to market risk is controlled within the risk limits in the Group’s Interest
Rate Risk and Foreign Exchange Risk Policies and is further constrained by the risk parameters incorporated in the Group’s
Derivatives Policy as approved by the Board.
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The table below shows the notional amount and gross replacement cost for trading and non-trading interest rate, exchange
rate and equity contracts at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 (Restated) December 31, 1999 (Restated)

Gross Gross Gross
Notional  replacement Notional  replacement Notional  replacement
amount cost amount cost amount cost

(Euro in millions)
Interest rate contract

Trading.....cooeveeeeiiee e 46,015 586 37,271 199 56,844 190
Non-trading 70,136 846 93,674 676 72,727 649
116,151 1,432 130,945 875 129,571 839

Exchange rate contracts
Trading......ccccevevuene 18,766 217 18,844 447 6,524 58
Non-trading 7,739 63 5,797 131 17,407 618
26,505 280 24,641 578 23,931 676

Equity contracts

Trading....cccveveeieeveee e 23 1 40 - 48 -
Non-trading 2,870 194 2,898 297 1,874 313
2,893 195 2,938 297 1,922 313

Derivative instruments are contractual agreements between parties whose value reflects movements in an underlying interest
rate, foreign exchange rate, equity price or index. While notional principal amounts are used to express the volume of these
transactions, the amounts subject to credit risk are much lower. This is because most derivatives involve payments based on the net
differences between the rates expressed in the contracts or other market rates.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk when assets and liabilities mature or reprice at different times or in differing
amounts. Interest rate derivatives are used to manage interest rate risk in a cost-efficient manner. Similarly, foreign exchange and
equity derivatives are used to manage the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange and equity risk, as required.

The values of derivative instruments can rise and fall as market rates change. Where they are used to hedge on-balance sheet
assets or liabilities, the changes in value are generally offset by the value changes in the hedged items.

Derivative transactions entered into for hedging purposes are accounted for in accordance with the accounting treatment for
the item or items being hedged. Futures contracts are designated as hedges when they reduce risk and there is high correlation
between the futures contract and the item being hedged, both at inception and throughout the hedge period. Swaps, forward rate
agreements and option contracts are generally used to manage the risk of balance sheet items and are linked to specific assets or
groups of similar assets or specific liabilities or groups of similar liabilities. \Where a transaction originally entered into for hedging
purposes no longer represents a hedge, its value is restated at fair value and any subsequent change in value is taken to the
consolidated statement of income immediately.

The following is a brief description of the derivative instruments that account for the major part of the Group’ derivative activities:

Interest rate swaps are agreements between two parties to exchange fixed and floating rate interest by means of periodic
payments based upon notional principal amounts and interest rates defined in the contract. Currency swaps are interest rate swaps
where one or both of the legs of the swap is payable in a different currency. They are used by both customers and treasury to
convert fixed rate assets or liabilities to floating rate or vice versa or to change the maturity or currency profile of underlying
assets and liabilities as required.

The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage the impact on income and stockholder value, of interest rate changes on
variable and fixed rate assets. In addition, swaps are used to hedge the Group’s funding costs.

Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated contracts under which an interest rate is agreed for a notional principal
amount covering a specified period in the future. At the settlement date, if interest rates for the future period are higher than the
agreed rate, the seller pays the buyer the difference between the contract rate and the rate prevailing. If interest rates are lower, the
buyer pays the seller. These contracts are used by customers to fix the rates for future short-term borrowing or deposits.

Financial futures are exchange traded contracts to buy or sell a standardized amount of the underlying item at an agreed price
on a set date. Interest rate futures contracts are available in all of the major currencies. Foreign currency and equity index futures
are also available. Financial futures are used to hedge the Group’s exposures arising from the sale of forward rate agreements or
guaranteed equity products. They are also used to manage the interest rate risks arising in the Group’s debt securities portfolio.

Options are contracts that give the purchaser the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell an underlying asset eg bond, foreign
currency or equity index, at a certain price on or before an agreed date. These provide more flexible means of managing exposure to

74



changes in interest rates, exchange rates and equity index levels. Foreign exchange rate options are used to hedge income and expenses arising
from non-euro denominated assets and liabilities and to manage the impact of exchange rates on the reported euro value of non-euro
earnings. Foreign exchange rate options are also used to hedge exposures arising from customer transactions.

Interest rate caps/floors are series of options that give the buyer the ability to fix the maximum or minimum rate of interest.

A combination of an interest rate cap and floor is known as an interest rate collar.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are agreements to buy or sell a specified quantity of foreign currency, usually on a specified date, at
an agreed exchange rate. These contracts are used by customers to fix the exchange rates for future foreign exchange transactions. They are
also used by the Group to hedge non-euro income and expenses and to manage the impact of exchange rates on the reported euro value
of non-euro earnings.

Measurement and control of off-balance sheet financial instruments.

The market risk exposure arising from derivative transactions is controlled within the risk limits in the Group’s interest rate, foreign
exchange and equity risk policies. In addition, derivatives activities are further constrained by the risk parameters incorporated in the
Group’s Derivatives Policy, as approved by the Board.

In Capital Markets division, the Group’s exposure to credit risk on derivative instruments is measured using a simulation methodology
that models the extent to which prices may change over time. Elsewhere in the Group, the credit exposure is measured using the current
market value of each transaction, together with an add-on-factor, calculated to take account of the likely future volatility of market rates.
Where relevant, these measures also recognise the benefits of netting and margining agreements.

Risk weighted credit equivalent amounts are calculated according to rules specified by the Central Bank of Ireland, taking into account
the nature of the instrument and the risk classification of the counterparty.

In respect of contingent liabilities and commitments to extend credit, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit loss in the event of
non-performance by the other party where all counterclaims, collateral or security prove valueless, is represented by the contractual
amounts of these contracts. Risk weighted amounts are calculated according to rules specified by the Central Bank of Ireland, taking into
account the nature of the instrument and the risk classification of the counterparty.

Credit risk management

Credit risk is managed and controlled throughout the Group on the basis of established credit processes and within a framework of
credit policy and delegated authorities based on skill and experience. There are credit grading and monitoring systems which accomodate
the early identification and management of deterioration in loan quality. In addition, the process is underpinned by an independent system
of credit review.

The credit grading systems across the Group continue to be refined to facilitate risk-based pricing, economic provisioning, attribution
of capital and performance evaluation.

The Board, in excercising its role in relation to credit risk, has approved lending authorities for the Group Credit Committee
(“GCC”) and approved certain high-level credit policies.

The GCC considers and approves credit exposures in excess of divisional authorities. It comprises senior divisional and Group
management. The Committee approves key credit policies and reviews strategic portfolio management. It also reviews trends in credit
quality and determines overall provision adequacy.

Group and divisional credit risk management roles

Within the Group-level risk management unit, there is a credit risk management unit which has functional responsibility for credit
risk across the Group and provides executive support to the GCC. Its role is to influence and support the management of credit risk
across the Group by promoting high standards of professionalism and best market practice. In discharging its functional role, it works
closely with divisional risk and credit management. A key focus is to ensure that each division has robust credit structures, processes and
policies to underpin their credit activities.

The unit has specific responsibility to advise and report independently to the Group Chief Executive, the Audit Committee and the
Board on credit policy, process, standards and quality, and on the appropriateness of provisions. The unit presents a formal credit report to
the Board on a quarterly basis.

A divisional credit policy framework and credit review process supports the credit management structure in each division. Each division
invests significantly in developing the professional skills of its lenders and in the continuous improvements of the credit assessment, control
and monitoring processes. High priority is given to having a credit culture that is resilient through business cycles.

The Group’s provisions for loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2001 are discussed under “Provision and allowance for loan
losses” on page 78.

Loan portfolio

AIB Group’s loan portfolio comprises loans (including overdrafts) and installment credit and finance lease receivables.

The overdraft provides a demand credit facility combined with a checking account. Borrowings occur when the customer’s drawings
take the checking account into debit. The balance may therefore fluctuate with the requirements of the customer. Although overdrafts are
contractually repayable on demand (unless a fixed term has been agreed), provided the account is deemed to be satisfactory, full repayment
is not generally demanded without notice.

An important factor influencing the quality of AIB Group’s earnings is the diversification of its credit portfolio within each of its
geographic markets (Ireland, United Kingdom, United States of America and Poland) by spread of locations, industry classification and
individual customer. No one industry in any geographic market accounts for more than 10% of AIB Group?’s total loan portfolio.

75



The following table shows AIB Group’s total loan portfolio by categories of loans at December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997.

December 31,
2001 2000 1999 199 1997
(Euro in millions)

IRELAND

AGriCUltUre. ..o 1,344 1,233 1,261 1,053 952
ENEIGY..eiiteeeeeiie it eee et 386 385 234 137 51
Manufacturing.........ccocceeeeienieicse e 2,452 2,485 1,729 1,531 1,293
Construction and Property........ccccceceeeeerieereeenens 4,062 3,455 2,665 1,294 929
DiStribULioN.....ccovvveeiciieee e 3,351 2,960 2,412 2,010 1,579
TrANSPOIT. ... 544 404 505 270 218
FInancial.......cccoeovvvee i 556 392 804 845 399

Services 1,600 1,300 978 1,027 786
Personal - Residential mortgages 5,930 4,922 3,915 3,038 2,545
- Overdraft/installment..............c........ 2,716 2,631 2,274 2,002 1,643
Lease finanCiNg........coceveeiieienieereceseeie e 1,364 1,336 1,202 951 828
Guaranteed by Irish Government....................... - 51 7 8 10
24,305 21,454 17,986 14,166 11,233
UNITED KINGDOM
Agriculture 134 136 120 104 105
Energy.......c.ce.... 20 87 25 26 45
Manufacturing 1,190 780 659 372 418
Construction and Property........c.ccceceveeeveereenens 2,156 1,850 1,473 1,128 1,015
Distribution........cccveveviie i 1,423 1,319 1,307 871 814
TrANSPOIt....eieieeeee e 308 149 60 59 35
Financial........ccccoovveiii e 745 521 268 93 92
SEIVICES...vvevierierierieeerieieneesieneenee s 1,805 1,522 1,440 1,052 932
Personal - Residential mortgages 1,965 1,775 1,523 1,166 1,096
- Overdraft/installment........................ 922 872 742 572 515
10,668 9,011 7,617 5,443 5,067
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
CommMErCial.......ccccoveeiiieeirie e 5,606 5,107 4,262 3,446 2,870
Real Estate........cccccovvvevievesiieieniaens 2,988 2,862 2,556 2,209 2,223
Residential mortgages 550 705 691 717 1,300
REtal...c.coririieieece 3,206 3,049 2,911 2,346 2,274
BanKCard..........ocvecveeiieeiie e 17 16 15 13 130
Leases receivable..........ccoevvviiiiienieieic e 1,235 1,321 1,202 891 845
13,602 13,060 11,637 9,622 9,642
POLAND®
AGrICUIUIE. ..o 169 133
ENEIGY..c i 263 207
ManufaCturing.........ccceevevvevieneeneseenens 1,018 886
Construction and Property.........ccccceeveevevivernenne. 230 187
Distribution..........ccoeeviiineneneccn 730 607
Transport 102 57
Financial...... 196 228
SBIVICES. ..ttt 275 181
Total Commercial...........ooocvviviiiiiiiiiiiiee e, 2,983 2,486 2,184 871 648
Personal - Residential mortgages 181 78
- Overdraft/installment.............ccccoee.... 333 340
Total Personal.........ccceecvevieiieeiie e, 514 418 294 96 100
3,497 2,904 2,478 967 748
REST OF THE WORLD.......c.cccoevvirirenne 230 220 301 483 551
Total Loans to customers 52,302 46,649 40,019 30,681 27,241
Unearned inCOMe...........cccoeu.. (311) (329) (293) (223) (201)
Allowance for loan losses (1,007) (869) (768) (538) (501)
50,984 45,451 38,958 29,920 26,539

@During 2000, a review of sector classification in Ireland was undertaken. December 1999 classifications in the above table have been
restated to reflect the impact of reclassifications that took place. December 1998 and 1997 reclassifications are shown as originally reported.
@ A common standard for sectoral reporting of Poland advances was implemented during 2000 and is reflected in the above table

for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 only.
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The following table shows the percentages of total loans by each category of loan at December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998
and 1997.

December 31,

2001 2000® 1999® 1998 1997
IRELAND
AGFICUIUIE. ... 2.6% 2.6% 3.1% 3.4% 3.5%
ENEIGY. .o 0.7 0.8 0.6 0.5 0.2
ManUfaCtUuring.........oovvveereneneneeecesee 4.7 5.3 4.3 5.0 4.8
Construction and property...... 7.8 7.4 6.7 4.2 34
DIiStribution.........ccovieiiiieiiee e 6.4 6.4 6.0 6.6 5.8
TrANSPOIT. ...t 1.0 0.9 1.3 0.9 0.8
Financial 11 0.8 2.0 2.8 15
SBIVICES. ...ttt 3.1 2.8 2.4 3.3 2.9
Personal - Residential mortgages............c.ccceue.. 11.3 10.6 9.8 9.9 9.3
- Overdraft/installment..............c.cce.... 5.2 5.4 5.7 6.5 6.0
Lease finanCing........cccoevvevievieiiciesecce e 2.6 2.9 3.0 3.1 3.0
Guaranteed by Irish Government...................... - 0.1 - - -
46.5% 46.0% 44.9% 46.2% 41.2%
UNITED KINGDOM
AGFICUIUIE. ..o 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.4%
Energy........cccoe... - 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2
Manufacturing 2.3 1.7 1.6 1.2 15
Construction and property........c.ccoeeeeeervervenne. 4.1 4.0 3.7 3.7 3.7
Transport 2.7 2.8 3.3 2.8 3.0
Distribution 0.6 0.3 0.1 0.2 0.1
Financial 1.4 11 0.7 0.3 0.3
SBIVICES. ...eueiieeie sttt 34 3.2 3.6 3.4 3.5
Personal - Residential mortgages............ccccoe..... 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 4.0
- Overdraft/installment.............cc.cc...... 1.8 1.9 1.8 1.9 1.9
20.4% 19.3% 19.0% 17.7% 18.6%
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
10.7% 11.0% 10.7% 11.2% 10.5%
5.7 6.2 6.4 7.2 8.2
1.1 1.5 1.7 2.3 4.8
6.1 6.5 7.3 7.7 8.3
- - - 0.1 0.5
24 2.8 3.0 2.9 31
26.0% 28.0% 29.1% 31.4% 35.4%
POLAND®
AGFICUIUIE. ... 0.3% 0.3%
ENEIGY..ei e 0.5 0.4
ManUfaCtUuring.......ccoovovrereneneneeeeceseene 2.0 1.9
Construction and Property..........c.ccoceverenereennes 0.4 0.4
Distribution...........ccooeiviiiiieciee 14 13
Transport 0.2 0.1
FINancial..........oooooiiiiiiine e 0.4 0.5
SBIVICES. ...ttt 0.5 0.4
Total Commercial..........cccoovvevneniiniiine 5.7 5.3 55 2.8 2.4
Personal - Residential mortgages............cc.ev... 0.4 0.2
- Overdraft/instalment...............c........ 0.6 0.7
Total Personal..........ccooeeieiiininiiiiiee e 1.0 0.9 0.7 0.3 0.4
6.7% 6.2% 6.2% 3.1% 2.8%
REST OF THE WORLD.........ccocovvninnnnn. 0.4% 0.5% 0.8% 1.6% 2.0%
Total 10ans to CUStOMENS..........ccovieereeriieineees 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

@During 2000, a review of sector classification in Ireland was undertaken. December 1999 classifications in the above table have been
restated to reflect the impact of reclassifications that took place. December 1998 and 1997 reclassifications are shown as originally reported.
@ A common standard for sectoral reporting of Poland advances was implemented during 2000 and is reflected in the above table

for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 only.
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Analysis of loans to customers by maturity and interest rate sensitivity

The following table analyzes loans to customers by maturity and interest rate sensitivity. Overdrafts, which in the aggregate
represent approximately 7% of the portfolio, are classified as repayable within one year. Approximately 24% of AIB Group’s loan
portfolio is provided on a fixed rate basis. Fixed rate loans are defined as those loans for which the interest rate is fixed for the full
term of the loan. The interest rate risk exposure is managed by Treasury within agreed policy parameters.

December 31, 2001

After 1 year

Within 1 but within 5 After 5

year years years Total
(Euro in millions)

Ireland..........cooveeeieveieecie e, 9,154 6,512 8,643 24,309
United Kingdom..........ccoooviiiiiiineec e 3,455 2,450 4,758 10,663
United States of AMEriCa........ccovvvveeivvciviiieeeeenne 3,292 7,115 3,228 13,635
Poland.........cccovveeiiieeieeeeeee e, 1,611 1,005 882 3,498
Rest of the WOorld.........c.coooevveiiiiiiiiieecee e, 1 - - 1
Total loans by mMaturity..........cccevevevenieneiiiennns 17,513 17,082 17,511 52,106

Fixed Variable
rate rate Total

(Euro in millions)

Ireland.........ooovveeeieeee e 3,836 20,473 24,309
United Kingdom..........ccoooviiniiiineec e 1,227 9,436 10,663
United States of AMEriCa........ccovvvveeeeviiviiieeeeenne 6,636 6,999 13,635
Poland.........cccovveeviiiiiieeccee e, 563 2,935 3,498
Rest of the world...........ccocooeeviiiiiiiiiiiiecccieeee 1 - 1
12,263 39,843 52,106

Provision and allowance for loan losses

A provision for loan losses is taken as a charge to income and added to the allowance for loan losses to bring the allowance to a level
considered sufficient, having regard to both specific and general factors. Any subsequent charge off (write-off) is charged against the allowance.

A specific provision is made against problem loans when, in the judgement of management, the estimated repayment realizable from
the obligor, including the value of any security available, is likely to fall short of the amount of principal and interest outstanding on the
obligor’s loan or overdraft account. The amount of the specific provision made in AIB Group’s consolidated financial statements is
intended to cover the difference between the balance outstanding on problem loans and estimated recoveries. The management process
for the identification of loans requiring provision is underpinned by independent tiers of review.

Credit quality and loan loss provisioning are independently monitored by head office personnel on a regular basis. A groupwide
system for grading advances according to agreed credit criteria exists with an important objective being the timely identification of
vulnerable loans so that remedial action can be taken at the earliest opportunity. Grading is fundamental to the determination of
provisioning in AIB Group; it triggers the process which results in the creation of a specific provision on individual loans where there is
doubt on recoverability.

General provisions are also maintained to cover loans, which are impaired at balance sheet date and, while not specifically identified,
are known from experience to be present in any portfolio of loans.

General provisions are maintained at levels that are deemed appropriate by management having considered:

- credit grading profiles and grading movements

- historic loan loss rates

- changes in credit management, procedures, processes and policies

- levels of credit management skills

- local and International economic climates

- portfolio sector profiles/industry conditions

- current estimates of expected loss in the portfolio

All AIB divisions assess and approve their provisions and provision adequacy on a quarterly basis. These provisions are in turn
reviewed and approved by the AIB Group Credit Committee on a quarterly basis with ultimate Group levels being approved by the
Group Audit Committee and the Group Board of Directors.

All divisions operate within the parameters of the Group provisioning policies, although some differences do exist between the
provisioning methodologies of our Polish, USA and European divisions in order to meet local regulatory needs.

When a loan has been subjected to a specific provision and the prospects for recovery do not improve, a point will come when it
may be concluded that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.When that point is reached, the amount of the loan which is considered
to be beyond prospect of recovery is charged off.
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Movements in the allowance for loan losses

December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(Euro in millions)
Total allowance at beginning of period................... 872 771 538 501 362
Acquisition of subsidiary companies....................... 35 184 - 105
Allowance of disposed 10ans............ccoovvvrererennne - - - (6) (19)
Transfer from provisions for
contingent liabilities.........cccoceveriirienieneneee - - - 4 -
Currency translation and other
AJUSEMENTS. ...t 46 33 43 (13) 43
Recoveries of provisions previously
charged Off....cocoiiiiic 25 32 28 24 27
Amounts charged off
Ireland.......ccooeieiiiii (34) (33) (31) (30) (35)
United Kingdom.........ccococeneiniiiicninne, (10) (17) (16) (23) (27)
United States of AMerica..........ccocovevvnenne (42) (44) (43) (24) (45)
POIANG. ... (24) (18) (6) (5) (3)
Rest of the World.........c.cccoovvinincicnen, 3) (20) (11) (16) -
(113) (132) (107) (98) (110)
Provisions charged against income®
Ireland........coovvvviiini 137 80 80 79 67
United Kingdom........cccoeieiiieieciiee 36 40 31 43 36
United States of America...........cccceveeriennenne 49 44 38 19 33
POIANG. ..ot 122 91 22 27 11
Rest of the World............ccoooeiiiiiiiee 2 3 7 42 1
346 258 178 210 148
Recoveries of provisions against income®
Ireland........ccoovveiiiiii (18) (14) (15) (16) (8)
United Kingdom.........ccooeoevvienincnenenne, (16) (11) (21) (20) (14)
United States of America..........c.coeeeveenene - (1) - (6) -
POIANG. ... (106) (64) (15) (16) 5)
Rest of the world...........ccooevveiiiiiiinen. 2 (3) (14) (2) (1)
(142) (93) (65) (60) (28)
Recoveries of provisions previously
charged off ®
Ireland........ccoooviiieiii e (13) (15) (14) (15) (16)
United Kingdom.........ccoocevivviievineiieiennns (0] (6) 4) 1) (4)
United States of America.........ccccecvervennne (11) (10) 9) (8) (7
Poland........c.cccoeeiieieiee e - (1) (1) - -
Rest of the World..........ccooereiiiiiiiiee. - - - - -
(25) (32) (28) (24) 27)
Total allowance at end of period 1,009 872 771 538 501
Allowance at end of period
SPECIIC...ciiiiiii et 555 452 401 258 258
GENETAL....ceeiiiciieiiece e 454 420 370 280 243
[0 1,009 872 771 538 501
Amounts include:
Loans and advances to banks............cocoeeveencrennenn. 2 3 3 - -
Loans and advances to CUStOMErS...........cccvvveeeennenen. 1,007 869 768 538 501
1,009 872 771 538 501

WThe aggregate of these sets of figures represents the total provisions for loan losses charged to income.
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The following table reconciles the total provisions for loan losses charged to income as shown in (A), the table on page 79
above relating to “Movements in the allowance for loan losses”, with that shown in (B), AIB Group’s “Consolidated statement of

income”.

(A)

Provisions charged against income..

Recoveries of provisions charged against income..........
Recoveries of loans previously charged off..................

Total charged t0 INCOME.........ccooiriiiiriiiiee e

(B)

Provisions for loans losses

Years ended December 31,

The following table presents additional information with respect to the provision and allowance for loan losses for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997.

Allowance at end of period as a percentage

of total loans, less unearned income, at
end of period

Specific AlOWANCE.........ccvvvvveieie e
General Allowance...........cooeveveeiveeveesneenne.

Provisions charged to income and net loans

Total provisions charged to income
Net loans charged off

charged off as a percentage of average
loans

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
346 258 178
(142) (93) (65)
(25) (32) (28)
179 133 85
179 133 85
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
1.07% 0.97% 1.01% 0.85% 0.95%
0.87% 0.91% 0.93% 0.92% 0.90%
1.94% 1.88% 1.94% 1.77% 1.85%

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
0.36% 0.30% 0.24% 0.44% 0.39%
0.18% 0.23% 0.22% 0.26% 0.33%
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The following table presents an analysis of AIB Group’s loans charged off for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.

IRELAND

TrANSPOIT. ...
FIinancial.........ccooooveiiiine e
SBIVICES. ..ttt
Personal - Residential mortgages....................

- Overdraft/installment....................
Lease financing

UNITED KINGDOM

TrANSPOIT...c.eeeeeee et
Financial..........cooovevniinii e
SEIVICES. .. ettt e
Personal - Residential mortgages....................

- Overdraft/installment....................

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Commercial........cceevveiieiieeiie e
Real EState........ccecvviivierie e
Residential mortgages.........ccoveeeveerenieeresenen
Retail....ccccoviiieie e
Bankcard

Analysis of loans charged off

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000
Recoveries of Recoveries of
loans loans
Loans previously Loans previously
charged off charged off charged off charged off

(Euro in millions)

2.8 1.0 24 1.0
0.9 0.3 1.7 0.8
21 0.8 2.1 0.9
5.5 2.2 3.6 1.6
0.3 0.1 0.8 0.4
19 1.0 0.4 0.2
18 0.7 2.0 0.9
0.1 - 0.1 -
15.1 5.4 16.6 7.4
3.5 1.2 2.9 1.3
34.0 12.7 32.6 14.5
0.1 - 0.9 -
2.2 0.5 0.8 0.1
0.1 - 1.0 0.3
0.7 - 4.3 1.7
0.1 - 0.1 -
0.1 - 0.1 0.1
2.3 0.4 4.4 2.8
0.1 - 0.1 -
4.8 0.4 5.4 1.1
10.5 1.3 17.1 6.1
15.6 1.9 17.0 0.9
0.8 0.8 3.1 2.7
2.7 1.0 3.1 1.0
21.9 6.9 17.2 4.7
- - 0.2 0.1
0.8 0.4 3.3 0.4
41.8 11.0 43.9 9.8
23.5 - 18.2 1.1
2.7 - 20.1 0.2
112.5 25.0 131.9 31.7
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The following table presents an analysis of AIB Group’s allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
IRELAND
AGFICUIUIE. ... 8 9 7
ENEIGY...cccviiiiiiiiiin 9 - -
ManUfaCturing........coceoverveieiinineseee e 13 9 7
Construction and Property..........ccceceeevereeveneneenn. 4 4 4
DIiStribUtioN........ccoveiiiiiiee e 6 5 7
TrANSPOIT. .. 1 1 1
FINANCial.......ccoveivieieecee e 1 1 1
Services 8 7 8
Personal - Residential mortgages............cccceveeunene. 4 3 2
- Overdraft/installment............c.ccccceeuenee. 46 35 36
Lease financing 18 15 11
118 89 84
UNITED KINGDOM
Agriculture......... 3 2 2
Energy.......ccccvenee. - 1 3
ManufaCturing.........oceeereneiieneee e 26 17 7
Construction and Property........c.cceeeeveererieere e veee 7 7 5
DistribUtioN. .....coeviiiiiiieee e 11 11 13
TrANSPOIT...eeieeciecee e 3 1 1
FINanCial.........ccovvineiinece e - 1 -
SBIVICES. c.vveuveeteeiesreesieetesie e et esbe e sbesneesteeeesreens 14 22 22
Personal - Residential mortgages..........c.cceevvevennne 1 4 1
- Overdraft/installment.............c.ccccoeenene 10 4 10
75 70 64
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Commercial 13 8 4
Real Estate...........cccoevrennene 1 1 2
Residential Mortgages 5 6 4
RELAIL....oicciice e 15 17 15
34 32 25
POLAND
Commercial........ccevvveeiiieeiee e 279 233 188
Personal 46 23 15
325 256 203
REST OF THE WORLD.......cccocvvei e 3 5 25
TOTAL SPECIFIC ALLOWANCE................. 555 452 401
TOTAL GENERAL ALLOWANCE................. 454 420 370
TOTAL ALLOWANCE........ccocvieierrieniinenannens 1,009 872 771
Amounts include:
Loans and advances to banks...........cccccceveinnnnn 2 3 3
Loans and advances to CUStOMETrS..........cceeereneeane. 1,007 869 768
1,009 872 771
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Risk elements in lending

AIB Group makes provisions for loan losses in accordance with the method described under “Provision and allowance for loan
losses”. Outside of the US, its loan control and review procedures generally do not include the classification of loans as non-accrual,
accruing past due, restructured and potential problem loans, as defined by the US Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Management has, however, set out below the amount of loans, without giving effect to available security and before deduction of
provisions, which would have been so classified had the SEC’s classification been used:

December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

(Euro in millions)

Loans accounted for on a non-accrual

basis®
Ireland......cooceeiiiece e 195 162 146 141 124
United Kingdom.........cccoccvvnininnnenn. 107 98 101 128 168
United States of America...........c..cv.nn. 85 85 44 49 56
Poland®@........ccceeveiiieieeie e 643 523 436 91 91
Rest of the World........c.cooeevvviiiienenen, 3 3 26 27 4
1,033 871 753 436 443
Accruing loans which are
contractually past due 90 days or
more as to principal or interest®
Ireland......c.cooveeiiieiiecc e 63 79 57 48 54
United Kingdom..........cccoevvivenieivieninns 42 38 27 6 11
United States of America..........ccc.cveenn. 51 36 32 34 21
156 153 116 88 86
Restructured loans not incuded above®............ - - - - 3
Other real estate and other assets owned........... 14 30 29 36 15

@ Total interest income that would have been recorded during the year ended December 31, 2001 had interest on non-accrual
loans been included in income amounted to €13 million for Ireland, €7 million for the United Kingdom, €6 million for the
United States of America, €89 million for Poland and zero for rest of the world. Interest on non-accrual loans included in income
for the year ended December 31, 2001 totaled €53 million.

@The increase in non-accrual loans in Poland in 1999 reflected the impact of the acquisition of Bank Zachodni.

® Overdrafts generally have no fixed repayment schedule and consequently are not included in this category.

@ Qutside of the United States, AIB Group does not normally renegotiate doubtful loans at concessionary rates of interest.

AIB Group generally expects that loans where known information about possible credit problems causes management to have
serious doubt as to the ability of borrowers to comply with loan repayment terms would be included under its definition of
non-performing and would therefore have been reported in the above table. However, management’s best estimate of loans, not
included above, that are current as to payment of principal and interest but concerning which AIB Group has serious doubts as to
the ability of the borrower to comply with loan repayment terms, totaled approximately €186 million at December 31, 2001.

AIB Group’s policy is that, whenever doubt exists, interest is not taken into income if it may subsequently have to be reversed.
Consequently, interest is accounted for on a cash received basis and loans are designated as “non-accrual” when interest thereon is
90 days or more past due, except: (i) where there is sufficient evidence that repayment in full, including all interest up to the time
of repayment (including costs) will be made within a reasonable and identifiable time period, either from realization of security,
refinancing commitment or other sources; (ii) where there is independent evidence that the balance due, including interest, is
adequately secured; or (iii) in certain exceptional cases where there is clear evidence from cash flow projections, provided such
projections have been independently examined to the satisfaction of AIB Group, that payments will be brought up to date within
a reasonable period of time not to exceed six months.

However, the definition of non-accrual in Poland includes loans that are 30 days past due, but accruing, to ensure Polish
regulation compliance.
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The following table presents an analysis of AIB Group’s loans which are accounted for on a non-accrual basis at December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
IRELAND
Agriculture.........coooo i, 21 27 18
ENEIGY...ccovieiiiiiie e 14 - -
Manufacturing.........ccoeeeeeneeieneenienn, 19 16 15
Construction and property...... 11 10 7
Distribution 14 15 14
Transport 3 2 2
Financial.........ccooveeveniiicce e 1 2 2
SEIVICES....iveiirreiiriet et 16 15 13
Personal - Residential mortgages............. 18 17 17
- Overdraft/instaliment.............. 62 48 51
Lease financing........ccoovvvvvrveeeiienennenen 16 10 7
195 162 146
UNITED KINGDOM
AGriCUtUre.....coveciiece e 3 3 3
ENErgY...ccoviiiiiciiccie e - 1 1
ManufaCturing........ccocoevvevvevienieieieneens 19 14 6
Construction and property...........cc.ceee.... 13 10 12
Distribution...........ccooeveviiniiiienceiee, 24 20 20
Transport 3 3 2
SEIVICES...veeieeie ettt 30 22 29
Personal - Residential mortgages............ 9 10 14
- Overdraft/installment............. 6 15 14
107 98 101
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Commercial.......ccooevveieiieieiiese e 62 58 13
Real EState........cccoovvireneiiineceeeniee 5 8 10
Residential mortgages.........c.covvvvrennennes 18 19 21
85 85 44
POLAND®
AGriCURUIe. ... 39
ENEIgY....cccvviiiiiiiiiicii 8
Manufacturing.........ccceevvevinininencnennnn 236
Construction and Property..........c.cc.ceve. 67
Distribution..........cccocvviiiiniiieneeee 158
Transport 7
Financial.........ccocooveviieieniies e 38
SBIVICES. ..veveiieeiesteetienie st ie e sieeee e seeene 21
Total Commercial 574 493 412
Personal - Residential mortgages............ 8
- Overdraft/installment............. 61
Total Personal..........cccceveeiieieiieeiieinn 69 30 24
643 523 436
REST OF THE WORLD.......ccccc...... 3 3 26
TOTAL..coiiiiiiteet s 1,033 871 753

® A common standard for sectoral reporting of Poland non-accrual loans was implemented during 2001 and is reflected in the
above table for year ended December 2001 only.
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Non-performing loans

Group loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis increased by €162 million between December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001
(€102 million net of currency exchange rate movements) increasing from 1.9% to 2.0% of advances. The increase in non-accrual loans is
primarily reflected in Poland with smaller increases in Ireland and the UK.

In the Republic of Ireland, loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis increased by €33 million during the year to December 31, 2001,
including a small number of corporate cases. This represents a marginal increase in the amount of loans accounted for on a non-accrual
basis as percentage of advances to 0.80%. The increase was influenced by the impact of slower economic activity in the Republic of Ireland.

In the United Kingdom, there was an increase of €9 million in loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis during the year to
December 31, 2001. This reflects the addition of a small number of corporate cases in Britain partially offset by recoveries and a small
increase in the First Trust portfolio in Northern Ireland.

In the United States of America, non-accrual loans at €85 million, remain unchanged between December 31, 2000 and
December 31, 2001. Net of currency exchange rate movements, loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis decreased by €5 million.

In Poland, the increase of €120 million (€67 million net of currency exchange rate movements) in loans accounted for on a
non-accrual basis in the year ended December 31, 2001, reflects the ongoing review work undertaken during 2001, problems in certain
sectors (e.g. steel and construction) and a general downturn in the economy. The increase in loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis
during 2001 from 18% to 18.4% of advances compares with a market range of between 13% and 23% for non-accrual loans in Poland.

The classification of a loan as non-accrual does not necessarily indicate that the principal amount of the loan is uncollectable in whole
or in part. As described above under "Provision and allowance for loan losses”, the provision made in respect of any particular loan is
calculated net of any realizable security value and other identifiable repayment sources, while the full principal amount of the loan is
reflected as non-accrual before any deduction for provisions, security values or other elements of loans that may be partially recoverable.

The allowance for loan losses as a percentage of customer loans accounted for on a non-accrual basis decreased from 100% as at
December 31, 2000 to 97% as at December 31, 2001.

In accordance with AIB Group’s provisioning policy for loan losses, it is considered that appropriate provisions for the above losses
have been made. See “Provision and allowance for loan losses” on page 78

Cross-horder outstandings

Cross-border outstandings, which exclude finance provided within AIB Group, are based on the country of domicile of the borrower
and comprise placings with banks and money at call and short notice, loans to customers, finance lease receivables and installment credit,
acceptances and other monetary assets, including non-local currency claims of overseas offices on local residents. AIB Group monitors
geographic breakdown based on the country of the borrower and the guarantor of ultimate risk.

Cross-border outstandings exceeding 1% of total assets are shown in the following table.

Commercial
Banks and Government industrial
As % of other and and other
total financial official private
assets® Total institutions institutions sector
(Euro in millions)
December 31,2001
United Kingdom.................. 6.5% 5,748 2,243 268 3,237
United States.........cccccceeveee.. 2.9% 2,570 250 568 1,752
Germany........ccooevererireenneenns 2.7% 2,443 1,881 323 239
talyeoeececeeceeee, 1.6% 1,419 464 731 224
Netherlands...........cccccoveenene 1.1% 1,002 346 104 552
Poland..........cccoovveevieeiiinee 1.1% 952 295 89 568
December 31, 2000
United Kingdom.................. 5.6% 4,465 1,832 388 2,245
Germany.......cocoeveveenveennens 3.2% 2,548 1,754 641 153
United States.........cccccceeveee.n. 2.5% 1,968 265 923 780
Al 1.2% 921 404 506 11
December 31, 1999
United Kingdom.................. 4.6% 3,144 650 946 1,548
United States 4.0% 2,731 1,012 1,058 661
Germany........ccoceeveeeneenieenne. 2.2% 1,469 599 824 46

@ Assets, consisting of total assets as reported in the consolidated balance sheet and acceptances, totaled €88,979 million at December 31,
2001 (2000: €79,871 million; 1999: €67,861 million).

At December 31, 2001 cross-border outstandings to borrowers in Spain amounted to 0.77%. At December 31, 2000 cross-border
outstandings to borrowers in Poland, Spain and the Netherlands amounted to 0.91%, 0.77% and 0.75%, respectively. At December 31, 1999
cross-border outstandings to borrowers in Poland and Italy amounted to 0.91% and 0.86%, respectively.

Concentrations of credit risk

Concentrations of credit risk exist when changes in economic, industry or geographic factors similarly affect groups of counterparties
whose aggregate credit exposure is material in relation to AIB Group’s total credit exposure. Although AIB Group’s portfolio of financial
instruments is broadly diversified along industry, product and geographic lines, material transactions are completed with other financial
institutions, particularly in securities trading, derivative, and foreign exchange business.
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Item 14.

Item 15.

Item 16.

Item 17.

PART 11

Defaults, dividend arrearages and delinquencies
(@) None
(b) None

Material modifications to the rights of security holders and use of proceeds
(@) None

(b) None

(c) Not applicable

(d) No changes

(e) Not applicable

Reserved

Reserved

PART 111

Financial statements

(Not responded to as Item 18 is complied with)

Item 18 and 19.

Financial statements and exhibits
(@) Financial statements
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ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.
Accounting policies

The accounts on pages 92 to 169 have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
certain properties and investments, and comply with the requirements of Irish statute comprising the Companies Acts 1963 to
2001 and the European Communities (Credit Institutions: Accounts) Regulations, 1992, and with accounting standards generally
accepted in Ireland (“Irish GAAP™), except as described below in respect of the restatement of prior years for the losses arising
from fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities at Allfirst Bank related to those years. The preparation of accounts requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Since management’s judgement involves making estimates concerning
the likelihood of future events, the actual results could differ from those estimates.

Losses arising from the fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities at Allfirst bank

In accordance with Irish GAAP the total costs arising from the Fraud were reflected by way of an exceptional charge of
€789 million (of which €341 million relates to prior periods - see note 52) in the profit and loss account in the Annual Report
and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2001, distributed to shareholders under Irish Companies Legislation
(“Irish Legislation Annual Report and Accounts”). Under Financial Reporting Standard 3 “Reporting Financial Performance”
(“FRS 3”) prior period financial statements are restated for an error only if the error is a fundamental error. Fundamental errors
under FRS 3 are errors that are of such significance as to destroy the true and fair view and hence the validity of the prior period
financial statements. In the opinion of the Directors, the exceptional foreign exchange losses, relating to each of the prior years, do
not constitute fundamental errors, because they are not of such significance as to destroy the true and fair view and hence the
validity of the prior period financial statements. As restatement of errors in accounts under Irish GAAP is limited to fundamental
errors, these losses are not reflected in prior periods in the Irish Legislation Annual Report and Accounts.

Under US reporting requirements, the filing of the 2001 financial statements by way of Annual Report on Form 20-F
constitutes a reissue of the financial statements for prior years. For the purpose of presenting the Balance Sheet and Statement of
Income of the Group in the Form 20-F, the US Securities and Exchange Commission requires all material errors relating to prior
periods to be accounted for and reported as prior year adjustments. Accordingly, the financial statements prepared for inclusion in
this Annual Report on Form 20-F are restated to reflect the losses arising from the Fraud in the periods in which they occurred.

As a result the financial statements and notes in this Annual Report on Form 20-F for the years 2000 and 1999 are restated to
reflect the losses arising from the Fraudulent Activities in the years that they occurred, while the charge in 2001 reflects the losses
occurring in 2001 only. The restatements are discussed more fully under note 51 “Subsequent Event: Fraudulent Foreign
Exchange Trading Activities” and note 52, “Restatement of Prior Year Financial Statements” in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Accordingly, the Financial Statements prepared for inclusion in this Form 20-F have been prepared in accordance with
Irish GAAP except for the restatement of prior years in respect of the losses arising from the fraudulent foreign exchange trading
activities.

The following terms are used to describe the losses arising from the fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities and other
commonly used descriptions throughout the Financial Statements and notes thereto.

“Fraudulent Activities” or “Fraud”

— Fraudulent foreign exchange trading activities

— Losses arising from fraudulent foreign = “Fraud Losses” or

exchange trading activities “Exceptional Foreign Exchange Dealing Losses”
— Fair value — foreign exchange option purchased = “FX Option Asset”
— Fair value — Foreign exchange option written = “FX Option Liability”

— Foreign Exchange = “FX”

The effect on the Group’s consolidated net income, consolidated total assets and consolidated total liabilities and ordinary
stockholders’ equity had US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘US GAAP’) been applied in the preparation of these
accounts is set out in note 49.

Change in accounting policy and presentation of financial information
(a) Retirement benefits

The Group has adopted Financial Reporting Standard 17 “Retirement benefits” (“FRS 17”) in the preparation of its accounts
for the year ended December 31, 2001. FRS 17 applies to all types of benefits that an employer provides after employees have
completed their service, including pensions and other retirement benefits. Changes to the Group accounting policy for retirement
benefits apply to defined benefit plans only. There is no change to the accounting for defined contribution plans arising from the
implementation of FRS 17.

FRS 17 requires that plan assets are valued at fair value and plan liabilities are measured using the projected unit method. Net
plan assets and liabilities, reduced by deferred tax amounts, are required to be shown on the face of the balance sheet as a pension
surplus or deficit as appropriate. Previously, a surplus or deficit within a plan was not recognized on the Group’s balance sheet.
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ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.
Accounting policies - (Continued)

Under FRS 17, the statement of income charge consists of two elements:- the current service cost, recorded in administrative
expenses; and the net of the expected return on pension assets and the interest cost of the pension liabilities, recorded in other
finance income. Previously, the charge to the statement of income in respect of defined benefit pension plans and other retirement
benefits was determined by funding rates recommended by independent qualified actuaries.

Actuarial gains or losses are recognised through the statement of total recognized gains and losses. Previously these gains and
losses were spread in the statement of income, as a component of pension expense, over the employees’ remaining service lives.

The change in accounting policy arising from the adoption of FRS 17 has resulted in a prior year adjustment and
comparative figures have been restated accordingly. This change has resulted in a net credit to stockholders’ funds of €648 million
as at January 1, 2001. The December 31, 1999 impact on stockholders’ funds was a credit of €809 million. Income before taxes
for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 has been increased by €23 million and €31 million respectively. The effect on
2001 income before taxes was to increase profits by €39 million.

(b) Divisional restructure

During 2001, a new divisional structure was put in place with the creation of a new AIB Bank GB & NI division
incorporating the businesses of Allied Irish Bank (GB) and First Trust Bank. In addition, a new Enterprise Networks and eBusiness
division, with responsibility for the development and implementation of AIB Group’s IT and eBusiness strategy, was formed.
The segmental information has been restated to reflect these changes in the organizational structure.

The principal accounting policies adopted by the Group, are as follows:

(a) Basis of consolidation
The Group accounts include the accounts of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. (the parent company) and its subsidiary undertakings
made up to the end of the financial year. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated from the consolidated accounts.
In order to reflect the different nature of the stockholders’ and policyholders’ interests in the long-term assurance business,
the value of long-term assurance business attributable to stockholders and the long-term assurance assets and liabilities
attributable to policyholders are classified under separate headings in the consolidated balance sheet.

(b) Interests in associated undertakings
The attributable share of income of associated undertakings, based on accounts made up to the end of the financial year, is
included in the consolidated statement of income using the equity method of accounting. Interests in associated
undertakings are included in the consolidated balance sheet at the Group’s share of the book value of the net assets of the
undertakings concerned less provisions for any impairment in value.

(c) Income and expense recognition
Interest income and expense is recognized on an accruals basis. Fees which, in effect, increase the yield on transactions are
spread over the lives of the underlying transactions on a level yield basis. Fees and commissions received for services provided are
recognized when earned. Expenses are, in general, charged to statement of income as accrued. However, in some cases, expenses
incurred in the setting up of transactions are deferred and are charged to statement of income over the lives of the transactions.

(d) Allowance for loan losses
Specific provisions are made as a result of a detailed appraisal of risk assets. In addition general provisions are carried to
cover losses which, although not specifically identified, are present in any portfolio of bank advances. The total allowance for
loan losses (note 23) is deducted in arriving at the balance sheet figures of loans and advances to banks and to customers, as
appropriate. Provisions made during the year, less existing provisions no longer required and recoveries of bad debts
previously written off, are charged against profits. Interest is not taken to profit where recovery is doubtful.

(e) Debt securities

Premiums and discounts on Government and other debt securities having a fixed redemption date, which are not held for
trading purposes, are amortized over the period from date of purchase to redemption and an appropriate proportion is taken
to the statement of income each year and included in interest income. Securities held for investment purposes are stated in
the balance sheet at amortized cost, less provision for any impairment in value. Securities held for hedging purposes are
included in the balance sheet at a valuation, the basis of which is consistent with that being applied to the underlying
transactions. Securities held for both investment and hedging purposes are classified as financial fixed assets in the balance
sheet. Securities held for trading purposes are included in the balance sheet at market value.

Profits and losses on disposal of securities held for trading and investment purposes are recognized immediately in the
statement of income. The realized and unrealized profits and losses on trading securities are included with dealing profits,
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Accounting policies - (Continued)

while the profits and losses on disposal of securities held for investment purposes are included with other operating income.
Profits and losses on disposal of securities held for hedging purposes are amortized over the lives of the underlying
transactions, and included in net interest income.

Finance leases

Income from leasing transactions is apportioned over the primary leasing period in proportion to the monthly balance of
finance outstanding using the investment period method. Government grants in respect of these assets are credited to the
statement of income on the same basis.

Hire purchase and instalment finance
Interest and charges on hire purchase and on instalment credit agreements are taken to the statement of income by the
sum of the digits method over the period of the agreements after deducting the costs of setting up the transactions.

Securitized assets

Securitized assets are included in the balance sheet at their gross amount less non-returnable proceeds received on
securitisation, where the Group has retained significant rights to benefits and exposure to risks, but where the Group’s
maximum loss is limited to a fixed monetary amount. The contribution from the securitized assets is included in other
operating income.

(i) Operating leases

()

(k)

0]

(m)

Rentals are charged to statement of income in equal instalments over the terms of the leases.

Depreciation
Up to December 31, 1999, freehold and long leasehold properties were not depreciated. Since January 1, 2000, with the

introduction of Financial Reporting Standard 15 “Tangible Fixed Assets”, freehold and long leasehold properties are written
off over their estimated useful lives of 50 years. The impact of this change was to increase the depreciation charge in 2000 by
€9 million.

Leasehold properties with less than 50 years unexpired are written off by equal annual installments over the remaining
terms of the leases.

Depreciation on equipment is provided on a straight line basis at rates which will write off these assets over their expected
useful lives, which for furnishings are 10 years and for computers, motor vehicles and other equipment are 3 to 10 years.

Expenditure incurred to date amounting to €68 million on the development of computer systems has been capitalized
and included under equipment. This expenditure is written off over a maximum period of 5 years and to date €20 million
has been charged to the statement of income.

Discounting of future commitments

The Group provided in the year ended December 31, 1993, on a present value basis, for the cost of its future
commitments arising under the agreements reached in relation to the funding of Icarom plc (under Administration), formerly
The Insurance Corporation of Ireland plc. The future commitments under the agreements were each discounted to their
present value by applying an interest rate derived from the weighted average of the yield to maturity of Irish Government
securities maturing on the same dates as the future commitments. The Group’ policy is not to revise these discount rates for
future changes in interest rates. The commitments are deducted from the present value provisions as they mature and interest
at the relevant discount rates is charged annually to interest expense and added to the present value provisions. The present
value provisions are included in other liabilities (note 35).

Equity shares

Equity shares held as financial fixed assets are included in the balance sheet at cost, less provision for any impairment in
value. Profits and losses on disposal of equity shares held as financial fixed assets are recognized immediately in the statement
of income. Equity shares held for trading purposes are marked to market with full recognition in the statement of income of
changes in market value.

Retirement benefits

AIB Group provides a number of defined benefit and defined contribution retirement benefit plans in various geographic
locations.

In relation to the defined benefit plans, a full actuarial valuation is undertaken every three years and is updated to reflect
current conditions in the intervening periods. Plan assets are valued at market value. Plan liabilities are measured on an
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Accounting policies - (Continued)

actuarial basis, using the projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate
bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability. The net pension surplus or deficit is shown net of the deferred tax
impact on the balance sheet. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in the statement of total recognized gains
and losses.

The current service cost of the defined benefit plans is charged to operating income and the expected return on assets net
of the change in the present value of the plan liabilities arising from the passage of time, is credited to other finance income.
The costs of the Group’s defined contribution plans are charged to the statement of income in the period in which they

are incurred.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is accounted for in respect of timing differences between the profits as stated in the accounts and as
computed for taxation purposes using the liability method where, in the opinion of the directors, there is a reasonable
probability that a tax liability or asset will arise in the foreseeable future. The calculation of the deferred taxation asset or
liability is based on the taxation rates expected to be applicable when the liabilities or assets are anticipated to crystallize.

Foreign currencies

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and commitments for the purchase and sale of foreign currencies
are translated at appropriate spot or forward rates of exchange ruling on the balance sheet date. Profits and losses arising from
these translations and from trading activities are included as appropriate, having regard to the nature of the transactions, in
other operating income or dealing profits.

In the case of net investments in foreign subsidiaries, associated undertakings and branches, exchange adjustments
arising from the retranslation of these investments, net of hedging profits and losses, are included as appropriate in the
currency translation adjustments on reserves and the profit and loss account reserves.

Profits and losses arising in foreign currencies have been translated at average rates for the year. The adjustment arising on
the retranslation of profits and losses to balance sheet rates is included in the currency translation adjustments on the profit
and loss account.

Capital instruments

Issue expenses of capital instruments are deducted from the proceeds of issue and, where appropriate, are amortized to the
statement of income so that the finance costs are allocated to accounting periods at a constant rate based on the carrying
amount of the instruments. The issue expenses amortized to the statement of income are subsequently transferred to the
share premium account.

Intangible assets and goodwill

Purchased goodwill is the excess of cost over the fair value of the Group’s share of net assets acquired. In accordance
with Financial Reporting Standard 10 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, purchased goodwill and intangible assets arising
on acquisition of subsidiary and associated undertakings, occurring after January 1, 1998, are capitalized as assets on the
balance sheet and amortized to the statement of income over their estimated useful economic lives subject to a maximum
period of 20 years.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions of subsidiary and associated undertakings prior to December 31, 1997 has been written
off to the statement of income in the year of acquisition. Purchased goodwill, previously written off, is charged in the
statement of income on subsequent disposal of the business to which it relates.

Derivatives

The Group uses derivatives, such as currency and interest rate swaps, options, forward rate agreements and financial
futures, for both trading and hedging purposes (note 43). The accounting treatment for these derivative instruments is
dependent on whether they are entered into for trading or hedging purposes.

AIB Group maintains trading positions in a variety of financial instruments including derivatives. Most of these positions
are a result of activity generated by corporate customers while others represent trading decisions of the Group’s derivative
and foreign exchange traders with a view to generating incremental income. Trading instruments are recognized in the
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accounts at fair value with the adjustment arising included in other assets and other liabilities, as appropriate, in the
consolidated balance sheet. Gains and losses arising from trading activities are included in dealing profits in the statement of
income using the mark to market method of accounting.

Derivative transactions entered into for hedging purposes are recognized in the accounts in accordance with the accounting
treatment of the underlying transaction or transactions being hedged. To qualify for hedge accounting the derivative must be
designated as a hedge at its inception and must remain effective as a hedge throughout the hedge period. Derivatives
that are not designated as hedges are classified as held for trading purposes. Gains and losses arising from hedging
activities are amortized to net interest income over the lives of the underlying transactions. Futures contracts are
designated as hedges when they reduce risk and there is high correlation between the futures contract and the item
being hedged, both at inception and throughout the hedge period. Interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements and
option contracts are generally used to modify the interest rate characteristics of balance sheet instruments and are linked
to specific assets or groups of similar assets or specific liabilities or groups of similar liabilities. Upon early termination of
these derivative financial instruments, any realized gain or loss is deferred and amortized over the life of the original
hedge, as long as the designated assets or liabilities remain. Where a transaction originally entered into for hedging
purposes no longer represents a hedge, its value is restated at fair value and any change in value is taken to the statement
of income immediately.

Long-term assurance business

The value placed on the Group’s long-term assurance business attributable to shareholders represents a prudent valuation
of the investment in business on policies in force together with the net tangible assets of the business. The value is
determined on the advice of a qualified actuary on an after tax basis using a discount rate of 12% and is included separately
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Movements in the value placed on the Group’ long-term assurance business attributable to shareholders, grossed up for
taxation, are included in other operating income.

Fiduciary and trust activities

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. and some subsidiary undertakings act as trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the
holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, investment trusts, pension schemes and unit trusts. These assets are not
consolidated in the accounts as they are not assets of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. or its subsidiary undertakings. Fees and
commissions earned in respect of these activities are included in the statement of income.
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Interest income:
Interest income and similar income arising from
debt securities and other fixed income securities.........
Other interest receivable and similar income......................
LesS: INTEreSt EXPENSE......cuveieeeieiieriereee et
Deposit interest retention taX........ccoeeveeveevienenenenciesenenene

NEt INTErest INCOME........covieiiiierirerere e
Other finance income
Dividend inCOME.......cccovvveerveiieieeiene
Fees and commissions receivable....
Less: fees and commissions payable
Dealing Profits........ccooveiiiniiesieece e
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing 10SSes...........ccccvereeenne
Other operating INCOME........ccoiieriieiieie e
Other INCOME........oiiiiieiie e e

Total operating income
Before exceptional item
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing 10sses............ccco.....
Deposit interest retention taX........c.ocoevevereiencneneneieeiens

Administrative expenses:

Staff and other administrative eXpenses..........c.ovvveveiereenenen
Integration costs in continuing businesses............c.ccocvvveane.

AdMINISLrative EXPENSES. ....cveeveeieerieerieerieesieerie e eieesee e ens

Depreciation and amortization.............ccccceeeeveeienieeneeneens

Total Operating EXPeNSES. ......coverrereerreree e see e seee e

Group operating income before provisions.............cc.ccovveevenee.
Before exceptional item.........cccoccveviiiiiiiiic e
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing 10sses..........cccovevene.
Deposit interest retention taX.........cooevevereniereneneseenns

Provisions for 10an 10SSES..........oovriiiniienieceee e
Provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments.............
Amounts written off/(written back) fixed asset

INVESTMENTS. ...

Group operating income - continuing operations...................
Before exceptional item..........cccccvevvviieie e,
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing l0SSes...........cccervennee
Deposit interest retention taX.........occoveeveveeieicneneseneenns

Income from associated undertakings....................

Income on disposal of ProPerty........cccccevverieninenenereeeenn

Income on disposal Of DUSINESSES. ......ccveereereriieieiieieieeeae

Income before taxes (carried forward)
Before exceptional item..........cccccvvveiiiiineiiineeee
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing 10Sses..........c.ccecvennee
Deposit interest retention taX.........cocoevevererereeicseseneneeneas
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9&51

11(a)
11(b)

12

9&51

13

9&51

15

9&51

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

1,198 1,140 833
4,148 3,987 3,009
(3,053) (3,105) (2,072)

- (113) -
2,293 1,909 1,770
67 71 71
11 6 2
1,258 1,101 909
(128) (108) (93)
92 103 74
(417) (228) (45)
193 202 160
1,009 1,076 1,007
3,369 3,056 2,848
3,786 3,397 2,893
(417) (228) (45)
- (113) -
2,045 1,826 1,531
38 - -
2,083 1,826 1,531
195 171 127
2,278 1,997 1,658
1,091 1,059 1,190
1,508 1,400 1,235
(417) (228) (45)
- (113) -
179 133 85
19 2 2
6 (1) 5
204 134 92
887 925 1,098
1,304 1,266 1,143
(417) (228) (45)
- (113) -
4 3 3
6 5 2
93 - 15
990 933 1,118
1,407 1,274 1,163
(417) (228) (45)
- (113) -




ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.

Consolidated Statements of Income - (Continued)

Notes

Income before taxes (brought forward)...........ccoovvvereviiniiiiennnn
APPIICADIE TAXES. ...t 16
INCOME AftEr TAXES. .. eeveieeeiieeeee s
Equity and non-equity minority interests in subsidiaries............ 17
Dividends on non-equity SNares...........cccceeeeiveniiiieniienie e 18
Net income applicable to ordinary stockholders.............c..........
Earnings per € 0.32 ordinary share — basic............ 20(a)
Earnings per € 0.32 ordinary share — adjusted 20(b)
Earnings per € 0.32 ordinary share — diluted 20(c)
Net income in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States.........c.ccoevevvvrerennne. 49

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
990 933 1,118
187 239 317
803 694 801
23 38 28
50 20 16
73 58 44
730 636 757
84.8c 74.3c 89.1c
119.9c 106.7c 93.5¢
84.2¢c 73.8c 88.1c
665 571 663

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Notes

ASSETS

Cash and balances at central banks.............ccoovevvieeiiviee e,

Items in course of COHECtION...........covvveeiieiiie e

Central government bills and other eligible bills

Loans and advances t0 DankKs..........cocevvveieiiieiiiree e e 22

Gross loans and advances to customers
Allowance for loan 10sSes..............ccve.....
Unearned iNterest.........ccovveevveeeeeiveeeceveee e,
Loans and advances to customers net
Money market funds...........ccovrerineienereeece e

23
SECUNTTIZEA BSTLLS....veeeee ettt e
Less: non-returnable proceeds
24
Debt securities (market value of €20,251 million,
€19,002 million and €14,900 million) 25
EQUITY Shares.......ccoveiiieieiicciecee et 26
Interests in associated undertakings...........ccceovvvieiiniinennens 27
INtangible fIXEd ASSELS........evreririrrcrrese e 28
Property and equipment 29
OWN SNArES......covereeeiiverieeeeeeenne 30
(@] 1T R SRR
Prepayments and accrued iNCOME.........coeevevvereerieeieniencse e
PENSION BSSBL.....etieieeitee ettt 14
Long-term assurance business attributable to shareholders............ 31
Long-term assurance assets attributable to policyholders............... 31
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Deposits BY DaNKS...........cooiiiiiiiiiie e 32
CUSEOMEY ACCOUNTS.......eveeureieeieeiee ettt 33
Debt SECUFILIES TN ISSUB.....evvereierieiieeieeie et 34
Other lTaDIlITIES. ......eiveeee et 35
Accruals and deferred iNCOME........cccooviieiieieiieiee e
Provisions for liabilities and charges...........ccccvvvviveveiiienecciesieenn, 36
Deferred taxation.........veeiverieieeieeie e 37
Subordinated Habilities...........ooiiiiiieeee e 38
Memorandum items: contingent liabilities and commitments....... 42
Equity and non-equity minority interests in consolidated
SUBDSIIAITES. 1.ttt sttt 39
Stockholders’ equity
Ordinary shares of €0.32 each: 1,160 million authorized

(2000 and 1999: 1,160 million), 886.7 million, 879.2 million

and 866.0 million issued and outstanding as at December 31,

2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively and non-cumulative

preference shares of US$25 each: 20.0 million authorized

and 0.25 million issued and outstanding at December, 31,

2001, 2000 and 1999........cceciieiiriiiecieie e 40
Share premium aCCOUN..........ccovirerieinereeese s
RESEIVES. ...ttt
Profit and 10SS 8CCOUNT........c.veviiiieicicere e

Total stockholders’ funds including non-equity interests..............
Long-term assurance liabilities to policyholders...............cccceene. 31

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
1,175 938 1,119
1,536 1,116 916
49 297 718
6,047 4,193 3,831
52,106 46,423 39,804
(1,007) (869) (768)
(115) (103) (78)
50,984 45,451 38,958
232 429 213
51,216 45,880 39,171
1,099 933 598
(917) (767) (473)
182 166 125
20,082 18,986 15,108
332 412 297
10 8 22
495 466 468
1,305 1,127 1,039
245 177 123
1,260 1,119 923
2,080 1,835 1,195
255 625 796
304 238 166
86,573 77,583 66,017
2,264 2,141 1,701
88,837 79,724 67,718
13,223 12,478 8,608
54,557 48,437 42,335
5,033 4,295 4,298
3,252 2,806 2,362
2,148 1,684 1,306
71 43 34
311 321 216
2,020 2,249 1,984
312 272 227
291 288 284
1,926 1,877 1,832
959 401 330
2,470 2,432 2,201
5,646 4,998 4,647
86,573 77,583 66,017
2,264 2,141 1,701
88,837 79,724 67,718

See note 49 for ordinary stockholders’ equity in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL

Balance, JANUAIY 1 ......c.oooiiiiiiiieiieie e 7 6
Currency translation and other adjustments...........cccocvvrerinereneieieenens - 1 2
Balance, DecemMDEr 31........ooiiiieieiiee e 7 7 7
ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
Balance, JANUArY L........c.cooiiiiiiiieiieie e 281 277 273
Capitalization of reserves on renominalization of share capital - - 2
Issued under:

Dividend reinvestment plan (note 40)...........ceeeeeeeeeeiieeeeeeiieiiieee, 1 3 1

Other (NOtE 40).....ceeeeeeeeeee e 2 1 1
Balance, DECemMDBEr 31L.......cocviiiiiiee et 284 281 277
SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT
Balance, JANUAIY L........cooiiiiiieeie e 1,877 1,833 1,771
Premium arising on shares issued under:

Employees’ profit sharing plans............ccocevereiniieneneneee e 18 17 19

Executive share option plan 13 7 4

Allfirst Financial, Inc. stock option plans 4 2 4
Profit and 1055 aCCOUNL.........ccceveiirierieie e Q) - -
Currency translation adjustmeNtS..........cccvirerinereneieeeese e 15 18 34
Balance, DECemMDBEr 31L.......ccocuviiiiiieeceee et 1,926 1,877 1,832
RESERVES
Balance, JANUAIY L.........c.ooiiiiiiiieiie e e 401 330 279
Profit and 1085 8CCOUNT.........cc.eiiiiiiieie e e 63 70 45
Issue of reserve capital INStrUMENT.........coooviiiieiiii e 496 - -
Currency translation and other adjustments............cccccocveveieeieieeieiens 1) 1 6
Balance, December 31 959 401 330
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT RESERVES
Balance, January 1................... 2,432 2,201 710
Prior year adjustment - — 201
Balance, January 1 after prior year adjustment.... 2,432 2,201 911
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognized in retirement benefit schemes (note 14).. (402) (201) 551
NEE INCOME. ...ttt et 730 636 757
Dividends on equity shares (N0te 19)..........uuuuuumrmrmrrreeeeeeeeiinneeeeenennnns (380) (335) (288)
Dividend reinvestment plan...........ccvoceiiiieie e 22 75 38
Reserves Capitalized.........c.ocvviveieriiiicie e (63) (70) (45)
Capitalization of reserves on renominalization

Of Share Capital.........cooeriiecr e - - (2)
Share Premium aCCOUNT.........cveveiiiiire e 1 - -
Currency translation adjustments 130 126 278
GOOAWIll WIIEEN DACK. ....c.eiiieeiieiie et - - 1
Balance, DeCEMDBEr 31M......uuuiiiiiiiciiiiiee e 2,470 2,432 2,201
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ FUNDS INCLUDING

NON-EQUITY INTERESTS.....ccoiiiiiinieneniene e 5,646 4,998 4,647
Analysed as to:

EQUITY. .o 4,871 4,734 4,402

NON=EQUITY. ..ttt 775 264 245

5,646 4,998 4,647

@ The cumulative goodwill arising on acquisitions of subsidiary and associated undertakings which are still part of the Group, and
charged against profit and loss account reserves of the Group, amounted to €1,754 million at December 31, 2001 (2000: €1,670 million).
Included within the profit and loss account reserve for the Group at December 31, 2001 is €255 million relating to the pension asset (note 14).

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statements

Net cash inflow from operating activities.......................

Dividends received from associated undertakings.........
Returns on investments and servicing of finance..........
Equity dividends paid
TaXALION. ..o
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Acquisitions and diSposals............cceeevriiniiinieneneneeen
FINANCING....v et

Increase/(decrease) in Cash..........ccoooiieiiniiiiiinin e,

Reconciliation of Group operating income to net
cash inflow from operating activities
Group operating iNCOME.........ccoueveeruerierreieese e
Increase in prepayments and accrued income...............
Increase in accruals and deferred income...........cccooveevveer e,
Provisions for 10an 10SSES. .........cveiveieiierieiiene e
Provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments............
Amounts written off/(written back) fixed asset investments...
Increase in Other ProvViSioNS..........ccoevererrereeieeeseecse e
Depreciation and amortization............cccocevererienieicnieennnne
Amortization of OWN Shares.........ccccoveeiiriiriinieiccie e
Income on disposal of bUSINESS...........cccveiirieniieccec
Interest on subordinated liabilities............ccoceviiiiiiiiiinns
Income on disposal of debt securities and equity shares.........
Averaged gains on debt securities

held for hedging PUrPOSES........c.ccveieieeriesiee e
Income on disposal of associated undertakings.......................
Amortization of (discounts)/premiums on debt......................

securities held as financial fixed assets..........cccvvvrvviivriinnnne.
Increase in long-term assurance busingss............ccoceeveveenennne.

Net cash inflow from trading activities

Net increase in deposits by banks...........ccccccevvveviiieiiiiniienns
Net increase in CUStOMEr ACCOUNTS.........evverveverieerieeieniisreneens
Net increase in loans and advances to CUStOMErS...........cc.e.....
Net (increase)/decrease in loans and advances to banks..........
Decrease/(increase) in central government bills.....................
Net increase in debt securities and equity

shares held for trading PUrPOSES.........eovvvverveieeiirenereneene
Net (increase)/decrease in items in course of collection.........
Net increase/(decrease) in debt securities in issue...................
Net increase in notes in circulation............ccccooevinieiieninnnnn.
Decrease/(increase) in Other assets........coovveeveiieienceienenes
Increase in other liabilities..........cc.cooviiriiiienee
Effect of currency translation and other adjustments..............

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Notes

41(a)

41(b)
41(c)
41(d)
41(e)
41(f)

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

231 2,433 3,191

4 - 2
(131) (184) (108)
(334) (228) (215)
(242) (199) (237)
700 (3,004) (1,405)
(59) 2 (391)
208 164 640
377 (1,016) 1,477
887 925 1,098
(199) (607) (20)
418 355 351
179 133 85
19 2 2

6 (1) 5

19 11 1
202 171 127

2 1 -

93 _ 15
133 155 95
(21) (23) (31)
(24) (16) (18)
1) () @)

U] @ 13
(66) (72) 47
1,640 1,027 1,673
452 3,621 479
4,647 4,854 2,545
(4,281) (5,812) (5,398)
(1,588) (1,015) 2,748
274 445 (414)
(1,394) (710) (542)
(374) (160) 192
533 (266) 1,912
44 23 16
(74) (158) (236)
460 471 126
(108) 113 90
(1,409) 1,406 1,518
231 2,433 3,191

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statements of Total Recognized Gains and Losses

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
N INCOME. ...ttt sae e 730 636 757
Currency translation differences on foreign currency
NET INVESTMENTS. ....veveees ettt 165 138 291
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognized in retirement benefit
PIANS (NOTE 14)...uveivieieceiesie sttt sra e (402) (201) 551
Total recognized gains relating to the year...........ccocoveneiiiiennccee, 493 573 1,599
Prior year adjustment
Prior to January 1, 1999........coiiiiiii i 201
Year ended December 31, 1999 550
Year ended December 31, 2000 (313)
438
Total recognized gains/(losses) since last annual report on Form 20-F........ 931

Note of Historical Cost Profits and Losses

Reported profits on ordinary activities before taxation would not be materially different if presented on an unmodified historical
cost basis.

The accompanying notes are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. NOTES IN CIRCULATION

AIB Group (UK) p.l.c. (formerly AIB Group Northern Ireland plc) is authorized to issue bank notes in Northern Ireland
under the provisions of the Bank Charter Act 1844, the Bankers (Northern Ireland) Acts 1845 and 1928, the Allied Irish Banks
Act (Northern Ireland) 1971, the Allied Irish Banks Act 1981 and the Allied Irish Banks Act 1993 (note 35).

2. OPERATIONS BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Interest income
T FT g To 2,089 1,951 1,581
United States......... 1,254 1,359 1,082
United Kingdom 1,000 1,059 820
POIANG. ... e 1,001 756 349
Rest Of the WOIIG.........ccviiiriiiie e 2 2 10
5,346 5,127 3,842
Other finance income
=151 o U 60 62 62
UNITEA SEALES.....eeiivvieeciree ettt ettt e e e e et e e et e e e erree e e e e erreeereenes 2 4 3
United Kingdom 5 5 6
Poland..........cccoeveevneenne - - -
Rest of the World - - -
67 71 71
Dividend income
=11 o U 4 1 1
United States......... 5 - -
United Kingdom - - -
POIANG......oeiiieeece e e 1 4 1
Rest Of the WOII......covviiiiiee e e 1 1 -
11 6 2
Fees and commissions receivable
=1 o USRI 457 428 407
UNITEA SEALES......eiiieriieiciiie ettt e et e s tee e e e are e e s earee e e s aeeeeennens 433 355 282
United KiNGOOM......ccuiiiiiieii et 225 207 162
1200 F: T To ISR 142 109 56
Rest Of thE WOII........veeeiieeeece e 1 2 2
1,258 1,101 909
Dealing profits/(losses)
=151 o R 62 25 29
UNITEA SEALES. ... eeeiivvieeeciiee e ettt et e st e e et e e e enre e e e eeaeesreenns 16 2 7
United KiNGOOM.....cuiiiiii e e 12 44 36
100 =1 Lo ISR 2 32 1
Rest Of the WOIIG. ... - - 1
92 103 74
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing 10SSes.........c.covvvvivieieeiiieseennnn (417) (228) (45)
(325) (125) 29
Other operating income
=11 o ST 110 121 79
UNITEA SEALES.....eeiiiieeiciiee ettt ettt e e e ree e s ebreeernenns 13 37 39
United KiNGAOm........coooiiiiiiiiirerees e 30 20 7
(0] F: T 1o FO USROS 44 24 36
Rest of the WOKId...........coviieiieecee e (4) - 1)
193 202 160
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
Gross income (Euro in millions)
IPEIANG. ... s 2,782 2,588 2,159
United States 1,723 1,757 1,413
United Kingdom 1,272 1,335 1,031
Poland 1,190 925 443
Rest of the World - 5 12
6,967 6,610 5,058
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing 10SSes. ..........coeevveiiineieiencnienns (417) (228) (45)
6,550 6,382 5,013
Total operating expenses
IPIANG. ... 885 801 726
United States......... 647 569 470
United Kingdom 350 332 298
Poland........ccoceveieieeiniainns 393 292 154
Rest of the WOIId...........ooooi e 3 3 10
2,278 1,997 1,658
Provisions
TFRIANG. ... 132 51 48
United States.........cccccevevenienene 44 38 22
United Kingdom............c...... 19 23 10
Poland........ccccoovenenineicee 9 23 9
Rest of the World - (1) 3
204 134 92
Income before taxes, minority interests
and preference dividends
549 571 525
364 301 324
340 285 230
52 105 72
1) 4 (8)
1,304 1,266 1,143
Income from associated UNAErtakings...........ooeveevvereerieeienieninene e 4 3 3
Income on diSPosals.........c.coeereieerienieieee e 99 5 17
Deposit interest retention tax - (113) -
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses 417) (228) (45)
990 933 1,118
December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
Total assets

42,089 36,889 31,676
22,729 20,365 18,036
16,772 16,170 12,764
7,235 6,052 5,000
12 248 242
88,837 79,724 67,718
2,245 2,009 1,821
1,277 1,490 1,486
1,029 914 816
320 300 257

- 21 22
4,871 4,734 4,402

With the exception of ordinary stockholders’ equity, the geographical distribution is based on the location of the office recording the transaction.

The fungible nature of liabilities within the banking industry inevitably leads to the allocation of liabilities to segments, some of
which are necessarily subjective. Accordingly, the directors believe that the analysis of total assets is more meaningful than the analysis of
ordinary stockholders’ equity.

Turnover is not shown as it resulted in the main from the business of banking.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)

3. OPERATIONS BY BUSINESS SEGMENT®
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Net interest income
AIB Bank RON.......ccoiiiiiiese e 843 738 655
AIB Bank GB & NI 336 318 277
USA dIVISION. ... e 584 537 506
Capital Markets division 210 127 141
POlaNd diVISION......ceiieiiiiiieee e 275 252 139
GrOUP/ENEB........oe ittt 45 50 52
2,293 2,022 1,770
Deposit interest reteNtion taX.........eovevveeeinineneneseseseee e - (113) -
2,293 1,909 1,770
Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Other income
AIB Bank ROL......oiiiiiiiiiieece e 359 357 300
AIB Bank GB & Nl....cccooiiiiiiiiiietciee e 161 151 122
USA IVISION. ...ttt 446 381 296
Capital Markets division 305 304 270
Poland division 163 153 87
GIOUP/ENEB. ... ..ottt (8) (42) (23)
1,426 1,304 1,052
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing l0SSes.........ccovevrviervneriennne (417) (228) (45)
1,009 1,076 1,007
Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Total operating income
AIB Bank RO......cciiiiiiiiieieieee e 1,245 1,141 991
AIB Bank GB & Nl....c.cccviiiiiiiieiiieiese e 500 473 403
USA IVISION....eiiiieiieitc et 1,032 922 805
Capital Markets diViSION...........ccooiiriiininiieeee e 523 439 417
POlaNd diVISION.......ieieiieiece et 438 406 227
GIrOUP/ENEB........ooiiiiiiiitieie e 48 16 50
3,786 3,397 2,893
Deposit interest retention taX..........ccooeveereriieienie e - (113) -
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses (417) (228) (45)
3,369 3,056 2,848
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)

Total operating expenses
AIB BanK RON.......ccviiiiicie ettt
AIB Bank GB & Nl....cocviiiiiiiiesiesie e
USA IVISION. ...ttt
Capital Markets diViSiON..........ccoeevireereriieeceeeee e
Poland diVISION........coeiiiiiiceee e e
GIOUP/ENEB...... .ottt s

Provisions
AIB Bank RO......cciiiiiiiriieeeeee s
AIB Bank GB & Nl.......ccviiiiiiiiriieeecesese e
USA IVISION. ...ttt
Capital Markets division
Poland division
GIOUP/ENEB.........oiiiieie et e

Income before taxes, minority interests
and preference dividends
AIB Bank ROI......ccccoooviiieieecece e
AIB Bank GB & NI
USA IVISION. ...ttt
Capital Markets diViSiON..........cocoieiiirenie e
POland diViSION........coiiiiiiiiesere e s
GIOUP/ZENEB.........ocuiiiiecee ettt e

Income from associated UNAErtakings...........cooververveeeeniineseneeeneseeiens
Income on disposals...........ccoevevrereennen

Deposit interest retention tax
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing 10SSes..........ccvrueeiereeieneeieieenenns

Total loans
AIB BanK RON.......cciiiiiiiiiicecece ettt s e
AIBBank GB & Nl.....cc.coiiiiiicececececceeesee e
USA dIVISION.....ooiiiiiiciicc ettt
Capital Markets division
Poland division
GIOUP/ZENEB.........ociiiieciee ettt e
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Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
641 593 526
259 248 229
632 554 460
296 265 244
396 296 155
54 41 44
2,278 1,997 1,658

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
44 36 30
19 20 15
39 38 33
38 18 23
9 23 9
55 (1) (18)
204 134 92

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
560 512 435
222 205 159
361 330 312
189 156 150
33 87 63
(61) (24) 24
1,304 1,266 1,143
4 3 3
99 5 17
- (113) -
(417) (228) (45)
990 933 1,118

December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

17,797 15,669 12,862
7,784 7,443 6,444
14,586 12,995 11,769
12,535 10,386 9,013
4,646 3,645 2,754
97 101 285
57,445 50,239 43,127
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December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Total deposits
AIB Bank RO.......cccuiiiiiiiie et 21,016 18,609 16,465
AIB Bank GB & Nl.....cocioiiiiiiiciccecesec et 7,015 6,410 5,491
USA IVISION.....eoiiiiiiit ettt 17,226 15,941 14,357
Capital Markets division 21,472 19,271 14,758
Poland division 5,968 4,897 3,993
GIrOUP/ENEB. ..ottt e 116 82 177
72,813 65,210 55,241
December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Total assets
AIB BanK RO.......ccviiiiiiiic ettt 23,588 21,184 17,615
AIB Bank GB & Nl...cooiiiiiiiiiieee e 8,892 8,487 7,596
USA QIVISION. ..ottt re e s eenee e 22,007 19,889 17,733
Capital Markets division 26,939 23,720 19,172
Poland division 7,238 6,060 4,997
GIOUP/ENEB....... ..ottt 173 384 605
88,837 79,724 67,718
Total risk weighted assets
AIB Bank RON........oooiiiic et 15,987 14,302 11,892
AIB Bank GB & NI 7,542 6,789 5,987
USA diviSioNn........cccceeeevineiieeiiens 22,403 20,309 16,885
Capital Markets diVISION........cooiiieiiieee e 18,821 14,879 11,415
00 T g 1o o 1A Y7 (o SRR 4,105 3,655 2,838
GIOUP/EINEB.........ciitiitiie e - 279 245
68,858 60,213 49,262
Ordinary stockholders’ equity
AlIB Bank RON......oioiiiiiice et 1,126 1,174 1,076
AIB Bank GB & Nl.....oioiiiiciecec et 532 557 542
USA QIVISION. ..ottt e et e st e e e s e enee e 1,598 1,458 1,472
Capital Markets diVISION..........cooiiiiiiieeie e 1,326 1,222 1,033
POIANA dIVISION....ccuviiiiieiie e 289 300 257
GIOUP/ENEB. ..ottt bbbt - 23 22
4,871 4,734 4,402

@ The business segment information is based on management accounts information. Income on capital is allocated to the divisions
on the basis of the capital required to support the level of risk weighted assets. Interest income earned on capital not allocated to
divisions, the funding cost of the Bank Zachodni acquisition and central services expenses is reported in Group.

The fungible nature of liabilities within the banking industry inevitably leads to the allocation of liabilities to segments, some
of which are necessarily subjective. Accordingly, the directors believe that the analysis of total assets is more meaningful than the

analysis of ordinary stockholders’ equity.
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4. OTHER INTEREST RECEIVABLE

AND SIMILAR INCOME Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Interest on loans and advances to Danks..........cccceeeveiieciee e, 255 238 157
Interest on loans and advances t0 CUSLOMETS.........c.c.ueeveeeieecvveiieeeeeseiveeeee e 3,684 3,544 2,683
Finance leasing and installment credit iNCOME..........ccccovvvvieiiereciie e, 209 205 169
Total other interest receivable and similar iNCOME..........ccovvvveiiiiciiiieeeeeene 4,148 3,987 3,009

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Income from leasing and installment credit agreements
has been accounted for as follows:
Investment period method (1€asing)........cccooveverirereneieieisese e 134 135 113
Sum of the digits method (installment credit)..........cc.ccovererincncicnn. 75 70 56
209 205 169
5. INTEREST EXPENSE Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Interest on deposits by banks and customer acCoUNts...........cceovereereereenennns 2,744 2,701 1,818
Interest on debt SECUNItIES IN ISSUB......veeivericreeiree ettt 176 249 159
Interest on subordinated labilities...........ccovveiiiiei i 133 155 95
TOtal INTErESt EXPENSE. ... eevvirieereeeieitietie st etesteete e e ste e ste e e steesbesbeebesne s 3,053 3,105 2,072

6. DEPOSIT INTEREST RETENTION TAX (‘DIRT’)

On October 3, 2000, AIB announced that it had reached a full and final settlement with the Irish Revenue Commissioners of
€114.33 million in relation to DIRT, interest and penalties in Ireland for the period April 1986 to April 1999. The settlement
included €1.37 million paid in prior years. Although AIB believe that it had an agreement with the Revenue Commissioners in
1991 in relation to DIRT, the Board considered that concluding this settlement was in the best interests of stockholders, customers
and staff. As a result an exceptional charge of €112.96 million was reflected in the accounts for the year ended December 31, 2000.

7. OTHER FINANCE INCOME

Under FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’, the net of the interest cost on liabilities and the expected return on assets is to be
recorded as other finance income adjacent to interest. The interest cost represents the unwinding of the discount on the plan
liabilities. The expected return on assets is based on long-term expectations at the beginning of the period.

A description of the retirement benefit plans operated by the Group is provided in note 14.

8. DIVIDEND INCOME
The dividend income relates to income from equity shares.

9. DEALING PROFITS/(LOSSES)
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

FOreign CUIreNCY CONIACES........ccveiviireeiesieeiteeiesteesreseesteeseesreesreensesreenne e 75 69 30
Profits less losses from securities held for trading

PUIPOSES. ..vveevievreereeeens 2 42 28

Interest rate contracts 15 (8) 16

92 103 74

Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses (note 51 & 52).......cccccevvevennnne (417) (228) (45)

(325) (125) 29

Dealing profits is a term prescribed by the European Communities (Credit Institutions: Accounts) Regulations, 1992.
“Dealing profits” reflects trading income and excludes interest payable and receivable arising from these activities. Staff and other
administrative expenses arising from trading activities are not included here but are included under the appropriate headings
within operating expenses (note 11(a)).
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10. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Profit/(loss) on disposal of debt securities

held for iNVEStMENT PUPOSES. ........eivieiiriieierieerie et 24 (1) 16
Profit on disposal of investments in associated

undertakings........oocovevvevevieneiiesenn 1 5 3
(Loss)/profit on disposal of equity shares (3) 24 15
Contribution of life assurance company (Note 31)........cccccvvvvreriererrenreniennn. 84 95 64
Contribution from securitized assets (N0te 24)..........oeeuuuuuniirieeeeiieeeiinnnnn. 5 4 3
Mortgage origination and servicing income 10 3 3
Miscellaneous operating inCOMe............ccccovevveenenne. 72 72 56
Total OPerating INCOME. .......cvii it 193 202 160

11. OPERATING EXPENSES
Years ended December 31,

(a) Staff and other administrative expenses 2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Staff costs:
WWAZES AN SAIAMIES. ... veeieeieiieieete et 1,060 934 785
SOCIAl SECUNILY COSES....viiuriiieiiitiesie ettt sre e sree s 104 85 68
Pension costs and other costs in respect of
post-retirement benefits (note 14) 106 113 107
Other staff COStS.......ocverviiieieereee, 72 60 50
1,342 1,192 1,010
Other administrative expenses:
Auditors’ remuneration (including VAT):®
Audit services: Statutory audit..........cccoooeieiiiniene e 2 2 1
Audit related Services........coovvvereriereeiienieenn 1 1 1
3 3 2
Non - audit services: IT CONSUIANCY..........covvvereeieiiiiinereseeee - 4 -
Taxation SErVICES......cccuerereereeienieeieseeeeeeaeas 1 1 1
Other consultancy...........cceoeeeeieniencenieniene 1 1 -
2 6 1
Operating lease rentals:
PIOPEITY. ..ttt 47 46 40
EQUIPMENT....coiiiie e 4 4 3
51 50 43
Other administrative EXPENSES. ........covieveriieriereerie e 647 575 475
Staff and other administrative eXPEeNSES. .......ueveerierieriiieseeee e 2,045 1,826 1,531

@ Audit services include fees for the statutory audits of the Group and fees for assignments which are of an audit nature. These fees
include assignments where the auditors provide assurance to third parties.

In the year ended December 31, 2001, 73% of the total audit services fees (2000: 70%; 1999: 67%) and 64% of the non-audit services
fees (2000: 56%; 1999: 100%) were paid to overseas offices of the auditors.

Included in non-audit services for 2001 are fees for work associated with the merger of Bank Zachodni and Wielkopolski Bank
Kredytowy. The level of non-audit services fees for 2000 is primarily due to fees for a number of significant IT assignments. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the level of non-audit services fees and is satisfied that it has not affected the independence of the Auditors.

It is Group policy to subject all large consultancy assignments to competitive tender.
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(b) Integration costs in continuing businesses

On 13 June 2001, Bank Zachodni S.A. (Group interest 83.01%) merged with Wielkopolski Bank Kredytowy S.A. (Group
interest 60.14%) through a share for share offering. The enlarged company, now called Bank Zachodni WBK S.A. (Group interest
70.47%), is listed on the Warsaw stock exchange. These costs relate to the integration of the two businesses.

12. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Depreciation of property and equipment:

Property depreCiation............cccoeieerenie e 37 32 20
Equipment depreciation 127 113 99
164 145 119

Amortization of goodwill (note 28).........cceeeiiiiiiii e, 31 26 8
195 171 127

13. AMOUNTS WRITTEN OFF/(WRITTEN BACK) FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(Euro in millions)
DEDE SBCUNILIES. ... vevreteeie sttt ettt 6 1) 2
Equity Shares........c.ccoovverereiicniese (1) - 3
Interests in associated undertakings 1 - -
6 Q) 5

14. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group provides pension benefits for employees in Ireland, the UK, and the US, the majority of which are funded.
Certain post-retirement benefits are also provided for retired employees, primarily healthcare and life insurance benefits in the US.

The Group operates a number of defined benefit plans. The majority of staff in the Republic of Ireland are members of the
AIB Group Irish Pension Plan (the Irish plan) while the majority of staff in the UK are members of the AIB Group UK Pension
Plan (the UK plan). Allfirst sponsors a number of defined benefit plans, the largest of which (the US plan) covers substantially all
employees of Allfirst and its subsidiaries. Retirement benefits for the defined benefit plans are calculated by reference to service
and pensionable salary at normal retirement date.

Independent actuarial valuations, for the main Irish and UK plans, are carried out on a triennial basis. The last such valuation
was carried out on January 1, 2001 using the Projected Unit Method. The plans are funded and contribution rates of 10.0% and
22.6% have been set for the Irish and UK plans respectively. As both these plans are closed to new entrants, under the Projected
Unit Method, the current service cost and the standard contribution rates will increase as members of the plans approach
retirement. Independent actuarial valuations of the US plans are carried out annually. The last such valuation was carried out on
December 31, 2001 using the Projected Unit Method. No contributions will be made in 2002 in respect of the main US plan.
The actuarial valuations are available for inspection only to the members of the plans.

The following table summarizes the financial assumptions adopted in respect of the main plans.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Financial assumptions % % %
Irish plan
Rate Of INCrease iN SAlArIES. ........ooveiiiiereee e 4.0 4.0 4.0
Rate of increase of pensions iN PAYMENT..........ccoveriirerereieene e 2.5 2.5 25
DISCOUNT FEE. ... eveietete ittt ettt ettt e ste st e aesteesaesteeseesaearaen 5.75 5.75 5.75
INFlation asSUMPLIONS. ......oviiiiiii e 25 25 25
UK plan
Rate of iINCrease in SAlAries..........eovevieririnenee s 4.0 4.0 4.0
Rate of increase of pensions iN PAYMENT..........cccovveiiiienineene e 2.5 2.5 25
Discount rate 6.0 6.0 6.0
INFlAtioN @SSUMPLIONS.......eitiiiiieieie e 2.5 2.5 25
US plan
Rate of INCrease iN SAlAries. .........vieriiieeereee e 45 4.0 4.0
Rate of increase of pensions in PaYMENT..........cooueiirieiiniiiine e - - -
Discount rate 6.94 7.47 7.93
INflation asSUMPLIONS.......cviiiiiicie e e 3.0 3.0 3.0
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14. RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
The following table sets out on a combined basis for all plans the fair value of the assets held by the plans together with the
long term rate of return expected for each class of assets.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999

Long term Long term Long term

rate of return rate of return rate of return
expected Value expected Value expected Value
% €m % €m % €m
EQUILIES..evveereie e 8.6 2,138 7.4 2,280 7.1 2,405
BONGS.....ccoiiiiiecie e 5.6 391 5.9 443 5.3 374
(@)1 =1 SRR 4.9 373 5.1 407 5.1 313
Total market value of assets..............cc...... 2,902 3,130 3,092
Actuarial value of liabilities........................ (2,645) (2,403) (2,146)
Surplus in the plans.........ccccceevveveieiiiennens 257 727 946
Related deferred tax liability...................... 2 102 150
Net pension asset 255 625 796

Included in the actuarial value of the liabilities is an amount in respect of commitments to pay annual pensions amounting to
€102,936 in aggregate to a number of former directors.

The following table sets out the components of the defined benefit cost for each of the three years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euros in millions)

Other finance income

Expected return on pension plan assets..........couvveveiieereseeieneeieeseeiesneas 213 203 189
Interest on pension plan liabilities..........ccooereiieiiiic e, (146) (132) (118)
67 71 71

Included within administrative expenses
CUITENTE SEIVICE COSE...neeieeieeiee it etie st eteste et et te e seessee e eesaeenneeee e 79 75 90
Past service cost 5 21 5
84 96 95
Cost of providing defined retirement benefits...........cccvvieiiniiinininenenn 17 25 24

Years ended December 31,

Analysis of the amount recognized in statement of 2001 2000 1999
total recognized gains and losses (Euros in millions)
Actual return less expected return on pension plan assets.........ccoceeerereeeennen. (438) (158) 324
Experience gains and losses on plan liabilities...........ccocevveiveeneieiiicieenenn (32) (72) (16)
Changes in demographic and financial assumptions (32) (18) 354
Actuarial (1035)/gain reCOGNIZEA........ccveeeiriiiieri e (502) (248) 662
DEFEITEA TAX. vttt s 100 47 (1112)
Recognized in STRGL (402) (201) 551
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14. RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Years ended December 31,

Movement in surplus during the year 2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Surplus in plan at beginning of Year...........cccccoevviieie i 727 946 245
Movement in year:

Current service cost (79) (75) (90)
Past Service COStS.........cccvvernene (5) (21) (5)
(7o) 0111 a 1V 1 To] oSSR 50 47 54
Other fiNANCE INCOME.......uiiiiieie ettt nreens 67 71 71
ACLUArTAl (I0SS)/GAIN. .....eevieiieiieeie e (502) (248) 662
Translation adjUSTMENT............ooiiiiieiee e (1) 7 9
Surplus in plan at end Of Year..........ccoiiiiiiiiiee e 257 727 946

Years ended December 31,

History of experience gains and losses 2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Difference between expected and actual return on plan assets:

AIMOUNL. ...ttt e st et e e sa e b e s b e e ae et e besteereeresbeanean (438) (158) 324
Percentage Of Plan aSSEtS..........eiiveruiieieiiiesicieie e 15% 5% 10%
Experience gains and losses on plan liabilities:

AIMOUNT ..t rere e (32) (72) (16)
Percentage of plan [abilities..........ooovviririieiic e 1% 3% 1%
Total amount recognized in STRGL:

AMOUNT et (502) (248) 662
Percentage of plan labilities. ..........ccoiiiiiiieie e 19% 10% 31%

The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plans in Ireland and the UK were closed
to new members from December 1997. Employees joining after December 1997 join on a defined contribution basis. The
standard contribution rate in Ireland is 10%. The standard contribution rate in the UK is 5% and these members are also accruing
benefits under SERP (the State Earnings Related Pension Plan). Allfirst provides a defined contribution plan whereby eligible
employees can contribute, subject to certain limitations, varying percentages of their annual compensation. Allfirst matches 100%
of the first 3% and 50% of the next 3% of an employee’s contribution. The total cost in respect of defined contribution plans for
2001 was €22 million (2000: €17 million; 1999: €12 million).

15. INCOME ON DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES

In August 2001, AIB’ interests in Keppel Capital Holdings Ltd. were sold to Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited,
giving rise to a profit before taxation on disposal of €93 million (tax charge €nil).

In October 1999, AIB’ private banking and treasury operations in Singapore were sold to Keppel TatLee Bank Limited, giving
rise to a profit before taxation on disposal of €15 million (tax charge €4 million).
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16. APPLICABLE TAXES
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. and subsidiaries:
Corporation tax in Republic of Ireland
Current tax on income for the period...........cccoceveiiieviiiieiiciesenn, 88 69 107
Adjustments in respect of prior Periods..........cccccvevveveiierieeiesiiveenne. (6) (1) -
82 68 107
Double taxation relief...........cocoveiiriieii 17 (15) (14)
65 53 93
Foreign tax
Current tax on income for the period...........cccovvvinereiiicicee, 118 101 112
Adjustments in respect of prior Periods..........ccccceveererierienieiieeenne. (8) (5) 1
110 96 113
Stamp duty on Section 84 INterest..........ccovveieiieiiienecee e - - 1
175 149 207
Deferred taxation
ON OrdiNary aCHIVITIES......veverieeieieiierisiesie s 12 90 110
187 239 317
Effective tax rate — adjuSted®.........c.coieiiieiiiiie e 23.6% 25.8% 28.6%

@ The adjusted effective tax rate has been presented to eliminate the effect of the exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses in
2001, 2000 and 1999 (note 9) and the deposit interest retention tax settlement in 2000 (note 6).

The reconciliation of the statutory corporation tax rate on ordinary activities is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

Restated Restated

% % %

Statutory COrporation taX Fate............ccevveirirerenenesese e 20.0 24.0 28.0
Tax on foreign income 6.9 3.2 2.1
Tax exempted income and income at reduced rate (2.5) (1.6) (2.2)
OLhers — NEtL.......oieiieeee s 0.8) 0.2 0.7
Effective tax rate - adjusted 23.6 25.8 28.6
Impact of deposit interest retention tax settlement...........cccoevevieiiieinnn, - 1.7 -
Impact of exceptional foreign exchange dealing 10SSes. .........cccovevvevvvninncnne. 4.7) (1.9) 0.2)
EffECtiVE TaX TALE......eieeeieiceeeeer e 18.9 25.6 28.4

The deferred taxation charge arises from the following sources:

Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

Ordinary activities

Leasing tranSaCtioNS. .........coveveiriiireste ettt 51 40 74
Short-term timing differences (39) 50 36
12 90 110
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17. EQUITY AND NON-EQUITY MINORITY INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

The profit attributable to minority interests is analyzed

as follows:
Equity interest in SUDSIAIArIEs. ........c.oovvreeirieeic e 15 28 18
Non-equity interest in SUDSIAIANIES.......ccoevereereiiriiee e, 8 10 10

23 38 28

18. DIVIDENDS ON NON-EQUITY SHARES
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 each

Dividends paid and accrued® 15 20 16
AmOrtization Of ISSUE COSES.....vvvivieiiiirieiiie e e - - -
Reserve capital instruments® 15 20 16
INTEIEST COST....vveeieiieee et et et e e e s e e e e e e e e e e e eneeas 34 - -
AMOrtization Of ISSUE COSES.......viiieriieeiieerieese et sre et 1 - -

35 - -

50 20 16

@ The charge in respect of preference dividends for the year ended December 31, 2001 includes an amount of €2 million which
has been accrued (2000: €4 million; 1999: €4 million).
@ In February 2001, Reserve capital instruments (RCIs) of €500 million were issued by Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. at an issue price
of 100.069%. The RClIs are perpetual securities and have no maturity date. The RCls are redeemable in whole but not in part at
the option of the Bank and with the agreement of the Central Bank of Ireland (i) upon the occurence of certain events, or
(ii) on or after February 28, 2011, an authorized officer having reported to the Trustees within the previous six months that a
solvency condition is met.

The RCls bear interest at a rate of 7.50% per annum from (and including) February 5, 2001 to (but excluding) February 28, 2011
and thereafter at 3.33% per annum above three month EURIBOR, reset quarterly.

The rights and claims of the RCI holders and the coupon holders are subordinated to the claims of the senior creditors and the
senior subordinated creditors of the issuer. In the event of a winding up of the issuer, the RCI holders will rank pari passu with the
holders of the classes of preference shares (if any) from time to time issued by the issuer and in priority to all other shareholders.

The holders of the US Dollar preference shares are entitled, in preference to the holders of any other shares of AIB, to a
non-cumulative preferential dividend, payable quarterly in arrears at a floating rate equal to 3 month dollar libor plus 0.875% on
the liquidation preference amount of US$1,000.

19. DIVIDENDS ON EQUITY SHARES

Holders of Ordinary shares are entitled to receive such dividends out of the profits of AIB as are available by law for distribution
and as may be declared by the stockholders at general meeting, but no dividends may be declared in excess of an amount
recommended by AIB’s Board of Directors. The Board may, without obtaining prior stockholder approval, pay to the stockholders
such interim dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the net income of AIB.

No dividend can be declared or interim dividend paid unless the dividend on any outstanding preference shares most recently
payable shall have been paid in cash.
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19. DIVIDENDS ON EQUITY SHARES (continued)

Years ended December 31, Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
(cent per €0.32 share) (Euro in millions)
Ordinary Shares
Interim dividend...........c........ 15.40 13.50 11.85 136 117 102
Second interim dividend.......... 28.40 - - 250 - -
Final dividend..........cc.ccoovvnennnne - 25.25 21.85 - 221 188
43.80 38.75 33.70 386 338 290
Employee share trusts® (6) (3) 2)
380 335 288

@ In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 14 “Earnings per Share”, dividends of €5.8 million (2000: €3.4 million;
1999: €2.0 million) arising on the shares held by certain employee share trusts (note 30) are excluded in arriving at income before
taxes and deducted from the aggregate of dividends paid and proposed.

20. EARNINGS PER €0.32 ORDINARY SHARE
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(a) Basic
Net income attributable to the ordinary shareholders®.............c.cccocn.... 730m 636m 757m
Weighted average number of shares in issue
AUPINg the YEar®.. ..o e 861.4m 856.1m 850.3m
EQrnings Per Share........c.cooeverieieicieiese e 84.8c 74.3c 89.1c

® In accordance with FRS 14 — ‘Earnings per share’, dividends arising on the shares held by the employee share trusts (note 30) are
excluded in arriving at income before taxes and deducted from the aggregate of dividends paid and proposed. The shares held by
the trusts are excluded from the calculation of weighted average number of shares in issue.

Earnings per share €0.32

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(b) Adjusted (cent per €0.32 share)
F X =1 o Lo =T USROS 84.8 74.3 89.1
Adjustment
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses (note 9) 315 17.3 34
Deposit interest retention tax (note 6)...........ccceceervenenne - 12.0 -
Goodwill amortization (NOte 28)........cccevereerieriererieriereree e 3.6 3.1 1.0
119.9 106.7 93.5

The adjusted earnings per share figure has been presented to eliminate the effect of goodwill amortization and the exceptional foreign
exchange dealing losses in 2001, 2000 and 1999 and the deposit interest retention tax settlement in 2000.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(c) Diluted (Number of shares in millions)
Weighted average number of shares
in issue during PEriod.........cccevevieiiiie i 861.4 856.1 850.3
Dilutive effect of options outstanding............cccveeeviveriiiveeiesce e, 5.7 5.8 8.9
DIULEA ... 867.1 861.9 859.2

The weighted average number of ordinary shares reflects the dilutive effect of options outstanding under the employee share trusts
(note 30), the Share Option Plan (note 40) and the Allfirst Stock Option Plan (note 40).
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21. CENTRAL GOVERNMENT BILLS AND OTHER ELIGIBLE BILLS

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Book Market Book Market Book Market
Amount Value Amount Value Amount Value
(Euro in millions)
Held as financial fixed assets
Treasury bills and similar securities...... 45 45 282 284 648 647
Held for trading purposes
Treasury Dills.........cooiiiiiiiiiiiies 4 15 70
49 297 718
December 31,
2001 2000

Analysis of movements in central government bills
and other eligible bills held as financial fixed assets:

(Euro in millions)

AL JANUANY Loooiiiiiiiie e nbeeabee e 282 648
Currency translation adjustments...........cccooviriienenenneneneee e 15 18
PUICINESES. ...ttt ettt e bt e bt e e e ebae e 4,938 6,740
Disposals/ (MALUFTLIES). .....covereeeeieieisie st (5,243) (7,173)
AMOrtization of diSCOUNTS.........covveiiiiiieeeee s 53 49
At December 31 45 282

22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Funds placed with the Central Bank of Ireland...............cccccccieinneene 399 304 425
Funds placed with other central banks............cccovoeiiiiniiieiineee 34 385 383
Funds placed with other banks®............ccooiiiniiiie e 5,614 3,504 3,023
6,047 4,193 3,831
December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Analyzed by remaining maturity:
Repayable 0n demand...........ccoovevieeiiiieiecie e 1,477 1,284 2,011
Other loans and advances by remaining maturity:

OVEI 5 YBAIS. ..ttt ettt 230 206 185
5 years or 1ess but over 1 Year........cccooevviieiineneneneeeseins 219 25 78
1 year or less but over 3 MONthS..........cccocvvvrineinincnese e 722 183 211
3 months or less but not repayable on demand...............ccoccovnene 3,401 2,498 1,349
6,049 4,196 3,834
Allowance for loan 10Sses (Note 23)......ceuuuuuiirieeiiiiiiiii e (2) (3) (3)
6,047 4,193 3,831

@ At December 31, 2001 securities purchased under agreements to resell amounted to €1,047 million (2000: €73 million; 1999:

€146 million). All securities were delivered either directly to the Group or to an agent for safekeeping.
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23. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS LESS ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Loans and advances t0 CUSTOMEIS®........ccuvvieiiiueeeeeeiiee e e evvaeee s 48,679 43,017 36,779
Finance lease receivables and installment credit 3,427 3,406 3,025
Money market fUNdS®........ ..o 232 429 213
52,338 46,852 40,017
AlloWaNCe fOr 108N 10SSES. ........evvireiiiririiierisre s (1,007) (869) (768)
UNEarned INTErEST.........eovieiiiiieiie ettt (115) (103) (78)
51,216 45,880 39,171

Analyzed by remaining maturity:
OVEI 5 YBAIS. ...ttt sttt s nnee s 17,502 15,577 12,370
5 years or 1855 DUt OVEr 1 YEar.........ccceiieriereeiiieie e 17,032 15,902 13,204
1 year or less but over 3 months............coceviiininiiin e 8,247 6,629 5,686
S MONLNS OF 18SS.....eeeeeieeii ettt et e s eraee e 9,442 8,641 8,679
52,223 46,749 39,939
AlIOWANCE FOr 108N T0SSES......vvevieviiieriirtiiteete e (1,007) (869) (768)
51,216 45,880 39,171
Of which repayable on demand or at short notice...........ccccocevereiieiens 10,889 9,108 8,105

Amounts include:
Due from associated UnNdertakings..........cocvevveveeiieerieneiiesee e - - -

@ Includes an amount of €958 million and €923 million (2000: €765 million and €823 million; 1999: €nil and €nil) of loans pledged
as collateral with the Central Bank of Ireland and The Federal Reserve Bank, respectively.
@ At December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, there were no securities purchased under agreements to resell.

The cost of assets acquired in the period for leasing to customers under finance leases and installment credit amounted to
€1,406 million (2000: €1,703 million; 1999: €1,882 million).

Allowance for loan losses December 31, 2001
Specific General Total

(Euro in millions)
Allowance at beginning of year......... 452 420 872
Currency translation adjustments 32 14 46
Acquisition of Group undertakings..........cccoevvveivevienienesiesiennen - - -
Charge against INCOME.........ccoviiriiereneeeee e - 179 179
Transfer t0 SPECITIC.......cviiriiiiiiei e 159 (159) -
Amounts charged Off ..o (113) - (113)
Recoveries of amounts previously charged off...........ccocoeiiiiiciiiiinns 25 - 25
Allowance at end Of YEAr ........ccovieriiiiieiiecee e 555 454 1,009

Analysed as to:

Loans and advances to banks (NOte 22)..........cccovereerienenenenieeeiene e 2 - 2
Loans and advances t0 CUSLOMENS..........uuuuererereriesieiniesieseesieereeeeeeniens 553 454 1,007
555 454 1,009
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Allowance for loan losses (continued) December 31, 2000
Specific General Total
(Euro in millions)
Allowance at beginning of Year........c.coevvieiiiiiiiienc e 401 370 771
Currency translation adjustments..........coccoeverererieeienienenenee 17 16 33
Acquisition of Group undertakings 28 7 35
Charge against income - 133 133
Transfer to specific.................. 106 (106) -
Amounts charged Off...........coooiiiii (132) - (132)
Recoveries of amounts previously charged off............ccccoceeene. 32 - 32
Allowance at end Of Year..........cccoevevuieieiiisieece e 452 420 872
Analysed as to:
Loans and advances to banks (note 22) 3 - 3
Loans and advances t0 CUSLOMENS........ccverveveieieenieniniesienee e 449 420 869
452 420 872

December 31, 1999

Specific General Total
(Euro in millions)
Allowance at beginning of Year...........cccceeevereieininise e 258 280 538
Currency translation adjustments...........cccovevverieiieieieese s 17 26 43
Acquisition of Group undertakings...........ccoovveverieeresieeresieereenes 139 45 184
Charge against iNCOME.........cccvvviiiiiiie e - 85 85
Transfer 0 SPECITIC.......uiviiieiiiieie et 66 (66) -
Amounts charged off.........ccociiiiiiie e (107) - (107)
Recoveries of amounts previously charged off...........ccccocveenee. 28 - 28
Allowance at end Of YEar .........cccoceieiiineiieree e 401 370 771
Analysed as to:
Loans and advances to banks (Note 22)..........ccocevveevereniennenennnenn 3 - 3
Loans and advances t0 CUSIOMENS...........cceeveveieeseereesieeiresneeineas 398 370 768
401 370 771

24. SECURITIZED ASSETS
December 31, 2001

Manufactured Asset Backed
Housing Securities Total
(Euro in millions)
SECUNITIZEA BSSELS....veivriveeeesiee it eie sttt ettt sae e - 1,099 1,099
Non-returnable
PIOCEEAS. ....vvetisteit ettt bbb - (917) (917)
- 182 182
December 31, 2000
Manufactured Asset Backed
Housing Securities Total
(Euro in millions)
SECUNTIZEA ASSELS.....eeeeivreeeiciree e et e cree ettt srre e e e e e earee e 16 917 933
Non-returnable
PIOCEEUS. ...ttt ettt ettt e sb e reenreaaean - (767) (767)
16 150 166
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December 31, 1999

Manufactured Asset Backed
Housing Securities Total

(Euro in millions)
...................................................... 21 577 598
..................................................... - (473) (473)
21 104 125

In September 1991 and July 1992, First Manufactured Housing Credit Corporation, a subsidiary of Allfirst, securitised and sold
manufactured housing receivables amounting to US$133 million. In December 2000, the manufactured housing receivables were
serviced by outside parties for a fixed fee under subservicing arrangements. Credit recourse is generally limited to future servicing
income and certain balances maintained in trust for the benefit of the investors.

In July 1999 and December 2000, a subsidiary company securitized and sold part of its Asset Backed Securities portfolio to a
third party. Under the terms of the agreement AIB has the option to transfer additional assets to the third party. AIB is not obliged, nor
does it intend, to support any losses in this portfolio in excess of the net amount recognized as an asset on the balance sheet.

The contribution from securitized assets, included in other operating income (note 10), is analyzed below.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
NEt INtEreSt INCOME.....iiieiieiiiieeie e 5 5 4
Other INCOME.......oiiiiiiieie et - - 1
Total operating INCOME..........cooui it 5 5 5
Total Operating EXPENSES. ......ccverueeruererreereesieeeesteeeesueeneesneeseeaes - 1 1
5 4 4
Provisions for loan losses - - 1
Contribution from securitized assets..........ccovvererieriveiiesvenennen 5 4 3
25. DEBT SECURITIES
December 31, 2001
Gross Gross
Book unrealized unrealized Market
amount gains losses value
(Euro in millions)
Held as financial fixed assets
Issued by public bodies:
GOVErNMENE SECUIITIES. .. .vvvereeeieeieiiiee e e ee e 5,014 87 (19) 5,082
Other public sector securities 4,012 48 (7) 4,053
Issued by other issuers:
Bank and building society
certificates of deposit 518 1 - 519
Other debt SECUrItIES........ccvevveiiiie e, 6,755 87 (28) 6,814
16,299 223 (54) 16,468
Held for trading purposes
Issued by public bodies:
GOoVErNMENt SECUNILIES. .. eevvveevrerieerireerie e s e sve e 511 - - 511
Other public sector SECUrities. ........ccoveervereerererrerenees 1,401 - - 1,401
Issued by other issuers:
Bank and building society
certificates of depoSit..........ccevvevveeeiiiiciiesecre e, 48 - - 48
Other debt SECUTItIBS. ......eveieeeiiiierine s 1,823 - - 1,823
3,783 - - 3,783
20,082 223 (54) 20,251
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December 31, 2000

Gross Gross
Book unrealized unrealized Market
amount gains losses value

(Euro in millions)
Held as financial fixed assets

Issued by public bodies:
GOVErNMENE SECUNILIES. .. vvvvevieeieieieeie e 6,113 40 (51) 6,102
Other public sector SECUrities........cccvvvererienieiienieneen 4,001 18 (24) 3,995
Issued by other issuers:
Bank and building society

certificates of deposit 395 1 - 396
Other debt SECUNILIES........ueeveeeiiiriiiiee e 6,136 46 (14) 6,168
16,645 105 (89) 16,661
Held for trading purposes
Issued by public bodies:
GOVErNMENt SECUNILIES. ... .vveueeieierieiiceiie e 431 - - 431
Other public sector securities 904 - - 904
Issued by other issuers: - -
Bank and building society
certificates Of depOSit.........cccovvreeieiieiiiieecee, 46 - - 46
Other debt SeCUrities.........cceierieiirieceee e 960 - - 960
2,341 - - 2,341
18,986 105 (89) 19,002

December 31, 1999

Gross Gross
Book unrealized unrealized Market
amount gains losses value

(Euro in millions)
Held as financial fixed assets

Issued by public bodies:

GOVErNMENt SECUNILIS.....ecvvevieeieieiieie e 6,674 34 (119) 6,589
Other public sector securities 3,833 3 (115) 3,721
Issued by other issuers:
Bank and building society
certificates Of deposit.........cccovvervinieniiiieiieie e, 192 - - 192
Other debt SECUNILIES........vevveeiiiiriiiiee e, 2,827 8 (19) 2,816
13,526 45 (253) 13,318
Held for trading purposes
Issued by public bodies:
GOVErNMENt SECUNILIES. ... cvveveeieieriesiieiie e 210 - - 210
Other public SeCtor SECUTItIes.......cvevveveirirrirerereenes 571 - - 571
Issued by other issuers:
Bank and building society
certificates Of depoSit.........ccooveriirienieiiiiecsee, 80 - - 80
Other debt SeCUrities.........ccveiirieiiiiecriecee e 721 - - 721
1,582 - - 1,582
15,108 45 (253) 14,900

Market value is market price for quoted securities and directors’ estimate for unquoted securities.
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Analyzed by remaining maturity
Due WIthin ONe YEar.........occoiveieiiieieiece e
Due 0Ne Year and OVE.........cocevereeeiininenese e

December 31, 2001

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

4,596 3,874 2,377

15,486 15,112 12,731

20,082 18,986 15,108

December 31, 2000

December 31, 1999

Book Market Book Market Book Market
amount value amount value amount value
(Euro in millions)
Analyzed by listing status
Held as financial fixed assets
Listed on a recognized stock exchange.......... 10,133 10,255 10,848 10,876 8,383 8,317
Quoted elseWhere........ccccccvveveeevieeiieeiie e, 4,826 4,877 4,797 4,785 4,308 4,166
UNQUOTEA....c.eeeeeeieeeeeec e 1,340 1,336 1,000 1,000 835 835
16,299 16,468 16,645 16,661 13,526 13,318
Held for trading purposes
Listed on a recognized stock exchange.......... 3,525 2,251 1,457
Quoted elsewhere 170 7 26
UNQUOLED. ..o 88 83 99
3,783 2,341 1,582
20,082 18,986 15,108

Debt securities with a book amount of €1,033 million, €1,106 million and €1,690 million at December 31, 2001, 2000, and
1999, respectively, were pledged to secure public funds, trust deposits, funds transactions and other purposes required by law. Debt

securities subject to repurchase agreements amounted to €1,956 million (2000: €1,761 million; 1999: €1,461 million).

Subordinated debt securities included as financial fixed assets amounted to €5 million at December 31, 2001 (2000:

€5 million; 1999: €6 million).

The amount of unamortized discounts net of premiums on debt securities held as financial fixed assets amounted to

€98 million at December 31, 2001 (2000: €86 million; 1999: €21 million).

The cost of debt securities held for trading purposes at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 amounted to €3,801 million,

€2,346 million and €1,580 million, respectively.

Analysis of movements in debt securities
held as financial fixed assets

At January 1, 2000.......cccceiirienienieeiienri e
Currency translation adjustments............ccocovvverennene.
PUICNESES. ...
Realizations/maturities
TrANSTEIS.... e
Charge against statement of income (note 13).............
Amortization of discounts net of (premiums)..............

At January 1, 2001.......cccoiiiiiieiiiieeee e
Currency translation adjustments.............ccccevevvenenne.
PUICNESES. ...t
Realizations/maturities.........ccooevererereneeeeiseseses
Transfer from trading debt securities.........ccccccvereenee.
Charge against statement of income (note 13).............
Amortization of discounts net of (premiums)..............

At December 31, 2001L........ccoocvieeeeiiiiiieeeee e

Discounts Amounts
and written Book
Cost premiums off amount
(Euro in millions)

13,536 (8) (2) 13,526
362 1 - 363
10,889 - - 10,889
(8,355) 4 2 (8,349)
213 - - 213

- - 1 1

- 2 - 2
16,645 (@))] 1 16,645
513 5 - 518
8,321 - - 8,321
(9,240) 40 - (9,200)
12 2 - 14
- - (6) (6)

- 7 - 7
16,251 53 (5) 16,299
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26. EQUITY SHARES
December 31, 2001

Gross Gross
Book unrealized unrealized Market
amount gains losses value
(Euro in millions)
Held as financial fixed assets
Listed on a recognized stock exchange...........cccccvevennne. 127 20 (23) 124
UNQUOTET. ... 156 15 (12) 159
283 35 (35) 283
Held for trading purposes
Listed on a recognized stock exchange............cc.ccceveenens 49 - - 49
332 35 (35) 332
December 31, 2000
Gross Gross
Book unrealized unrealized Market
amount gains losses value
(Euro in millions)
Held as financial fixed assets
Listed on a recognized stock exchange............cccccceeeeneene 175 7 (17 165
UNQUOLET. ... 189 6 (2) 193
364 13 (19) 358
Held for trading purposes
Listed on a recognized stock exchange...........cccccevvennnne 48 - - 48
412 13 (19) 406
December 31, 1999
Gross Gross
Book unrealized unrealized Market
amount gains losses value
(Euro in millions)
Held as financial fixed assets
Listed on a recognized stock exchange...........cc.oeeervennee 149 5 3) 151
UNQUOLED. ...ttt 86 8 - 94
235 13 (3) 245
Held for trading purposes
Listed on a recognized stock exchange...........cccocevvvennnns 62 - - 62
297 13 (3) 307

Market value is market price for quoted securities and directors’ estimate for unquoted securities.
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Amounts
Analysis of movements in equity securities written Book
held as financial fixed assets Cost off amount
(Euro in millions)
At January 1, 2000........ccceiiiiiiiieieiieie e 256 (21) 235
Currency translation adjustments..........c.ccooeeevererienne. 16 1) 15
Transfer to associated undertakings (note 27)................. 23 - 23
PUICNESES. ...t 162 - 162
DISPOSAIS. ...t (71) - (72)
At January 1, 2001.......cccoiiiineiie e 386 (22) 364
Currency translation adjustments.............coceoervenernne 18 2 20
Transfer to associated undertakings (note 27) (3) - (3)
Transfer to trading equity securities..............cc..... (3) - (3)
PUCNESES. ... 129 - 129
DiSPOSAS......vveveeiicieeie et (227) 2 (225)
Charge against statement of income (note 13)................ - 1 1
At December 31, 2001.........ccooiiiineienieieeneeee e 300 (17) 283
27. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED UNDERTAKINGS
Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

AT JANUAIY Leooeiiiee e e 8 22 23
Currency translation adjustmMents............ooeeiriieneieere e - 2 3
Transfer from/(to) equity shares (N0t 26)........cccuereerererieriiriieie e 3 (23) -
PUFCIESES. ...t bbb e enn e 1 4 1
DISPOSAS. ...ttt bbb - - (5)
Provisions for write-down charged to statement of income (note 13)............. @ - -
Profit retaiNed.......ccceeiviiieiieece ettt 1) 3 -
AL DECEMDET 3Lttt ettt sne e 10 8 22

The Group’s interests in associated undertakings are shown after accumulated provisions for write-down of €1 million (2000
and 1999: nil). The movements in the provisions are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(Euro in millions)
AT JANUATY Lo - - 7
DISPOSAIS. ...ttt e 1 - (7)
AL DECEMDEE L.ttt e 1 - -

The Group’s interests in associated undertakings, all of which are non-credit institutions, are unlisted and are held by
subsidiary undertakings.

The exemption permitted by the European Communities (Credit Institutions: Accounts) Regulations, 1992, has been availed
of, and in accordance with the regulations Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. will annex a full listing of associate undertakings to its annual
return to the companies registration office.
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28. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Goodwill:
COSt AL JANUANY L.t 500 476 -
Arising on acquisitions during the Year..........ccceeverereieniininesene e 59 24 475
Currency translation adjuStMEeNTS...........ccveivriiiiininise e 1 - 1
AL DECEMDET 3.ttt sttt e sne e b eneas 560 500 476
Accumulated amortization at JANUArY L..........ccccoeiieiiiieneiieneee e 34 8 -
Charge for the year (note 12) 31 26 8
AL DECEIMDET 3Lttt ettt e enene 65 34 8
Net book value:
AL DECEMDET 3L 495 466 468

Intangible fixed assets comprise purchased goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiary and associated undertakings. Prior to
January 1, 1998 goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiary and associated undertakings was taken directly to profit and loss
account reserves. The goodwill arising on acquisitions during 2001, 2000 and 1999 is set out in the following table:

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

51 - -

4 24 465

4 - 10

59 24 475
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29. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property Equipment Total
Leasehold
Long under 50
Freehold leasehold years
(Euro in millions)
Cost or valuation:
At January 1, 2001.........cccceeee. 657 127 157 1,084 2,025
AdItions........ooeevvvieniiieeae 42 4 19 263 328
Acquisition of
Group undertaking.............. - - - 2 2
DisSposals.......cc.erereeneneeieniens (12) (1) (3) (39) (55)
Transfers......ooeveieneeicneeee 11 - (10) (1) -
Currency translation
adjustments.........ccceevenienne 27 - 5 40 72
At December 31, 2001.............. 725 130 168 1,349 2,372
Accumulated depreciation:
AtlJanuary 1,2001..........cccoveee. 66 6 80 746 898
Depreciation
charge for the year............. 23 3 12 133 171
DisSpOsals.......ccvvererininiieninn (1) - 2 (28) (31)
Transfers......coovvverenienereeneene 3 - 3 - -
Currency translation
adjustments........ccoceervenene 5 - 3 21 29
At December 31, 2001.............. 96 9 90 872 1,067
Net book value:
At December 31, 2001.............. 629 121 78 477 1,305
At December 31, 2000.............. 591 121 77 338 1,127
Cost or valuation:
At January 1,2000...........ceenee. 589 122 134 980 1,825
Additions 45 6 24 162 237
Acquisition of
Group undertaking.............. 20 - - - 20
Disposals.........ccoviireneiininienen (19) 1) (6) (89) (115)
Currency translation
adjustments..........cooeeeneenne. 22 - 5 31 58
At December 31, 2000.............. 657 127 157 1,084 2,025
Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2000..........cc.oee.. 46 2 71 667 786
Depreciation
charge for the year.............. 18 4 10 113 145
Disposals........cooerieneeiiniiiinn (2) - (3) (52) (56)
Currency translation
adjustments.........ccccceeveennn. 4 - 2 17 23
At December 31, 2000.............. 66 6 80 746 898
Net book value:
At December 31, 2000.............. 591 121 77 338 1,127
At December 31, 1999.............. 543 120 63 313 1,039
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29. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The net book value of property occupied by the Group for its own activities was €799 million (2000: €751 million;
1999: €692 million).

The Group’s freehold and long leasehold property was valued by external valuers, DTZ Sherry Fitzgerald international
property advisers, as at December 31, 1998. Properties held as investment, for development and surplus to requirements were valued
on the basis of Open Market Value. Owner occupied properties were valued on the basis of Existing Use Value, with a Depreciated
Replacement Cost valuation of adaptation works not reflected in the Existing Use Value. Both bases are in accordance with the
Appraisal and Valuation Manual issued by the Society of Chartered Surveyors (SCS). The external valuers have provided an additional
valuation for a number of Group properties on the basis of Open Market Value for an alternative use, which if recorded, would have
resulted in a valuation of €27 million greater than the Existing Use Value provided. The Directors have adopted the transitional
provisions of FRS 15 and therefore the valuation has not been updated.

The valuation exercise gave rise to a property revaluation surplus of €141 million.

30. OWN SHARES

Allfirst Financial, Inc. sponsors the Allfirst Stock Option Plan, for the benefit of key employees of Allfirst. Allfirst has lent
US$201 million (2000: US$151 million; 1999: US$106 million) to a trust to enable it to purchase AIB ordinary shares in the form
of American Depositary shares in the open market. The shares purchased are used to satisfy options which have been granted to
Allfirst employees. Proceeds of option exercises are used to repay the loan to the trust. Under the terms of the trust, the trustees
receive dividends on the shares which are used to meet the expenses of the trust. Allfirst will provide funds as necessary to cover
expenses net of dividend revenue. At December 31, 2001 18.1 million ordinary shares (2000: 13.5 million; 1999: 8.6 million) were
held by the trust with a cost of €228 million (2000: €162 million; 1999: €108 million) and a market value of €238 million
(2000: €170 million; 1999: €90 million).

In 1999, the Group sponsored a Save As You Earn Share Option Scheme, the AIB Group 1999 Sharesave Plan for eligible
employees in the UK. In 2001, a similar plan was set up for employees in the Isle of Man and Channel Islands. The trustees of the
plan have borrowed funds from Group companies, interest free, to enable them to purchase Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. ordinary shares
in the open market. These shares are used to satisfy commitments arising under the plan. The trustees receive dividends on the
shares which are used to meet the expenses of the plan. The cost of providing these shares is charged to the statement of income
on a systematic basis over the period that the employees are expected to benefit. At December 31, 2001 1.5 million shares
(2000 and 1999: 1.4 million shares) were held by the trustees with a book value of €15 million (2000: €15 million; 1999:
€17 million) and a market value of €19 million, €17 million and €16 million in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

In 2001, the AIB Group Employee Share Trust was established to satisfy commitments arising under the AIB Group Long-Term
Incentive Plan (LTIP). Funds are provided to the trustees to enable them to purchase Allied Irish Bank p.l.c. ordinary shares in the
market. The cost of meeting the commitments under the LTIP are charged to the statement of income over the period that the
employees are expected to benefit. The trustees have waived their entitlement to dividends. At December 31, 2001, 0.2 million shares
(2000 and 1999: nil) were held by the trustees with a book value of €1.5 million and a market value of €2.6 million.

In accordance with the requirements of UITF Abstract 13 the shares held by the above employees share plans have been
recognized on the balance sheet of the Group and the dividend income received by the plans of €5.8 million (2000:
€3.4 million; 1999: € 2.0 million) has been excluded in arriving at income before taxes.

In accordance with FRS 14 - Earnings per Share, the shares held by the Trusts are excluded from the earnings per share
calculation. The accounting treatment is not intended to affect the legal characterization of the transaction or to change the
situation at law achieved by the parties to it. Thus, the inclusion of the shares on the Group balance sheet does not imply that they
have been purchased by the company as a matter of law.
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31. LONG-TERM ASSURANCE BUSINESS

The assets and liabilities of Ark Life Assurance Company Limited (“Ark Life”) representing the value of the assurance business

together with the policyholders’ funds are:
December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Investments:

Cash and short-term placings with banks............cccocooiiiiniiiiiiiic 1,019 954 779
DEDE SECUNTLIES. ...ttt e 256 179 153
EQUILY SNAIES....c. ettt 1,034 974 709
PIOPEITY. ...ttt e bbb 43 43 30
2,352 2,150 1,671
Value of investment in business 190 138 75
Other assets — Net.......ccocevvrvrennne 26 91 121
2,568 2,379 1,867
Long-term assurance liabilities to policyholders.............cccocereiieiiiieneiienene (2,264) (2,141) (1,701)
Long-term assurance business attributable to stockholders............c.cccovveviennnns 304 238 166

Represented by:
SNATES AL COSE...veveeriieeiieeie sttt ettt sttt e et e st e ne e esreenes 19 19 19
RESEIVES. ...ttt ettt st be et sbr e 281 218 149
Profit and 10SS ACCOUNT FESEIVES........eververieeiieiieiesesie et 4 1 2
304 238 166

The increase in the value to the Group of Ark Life’s long-term assurance and pensions business in force credited to the
consolidated statement of income and included in other operating income for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
amounted to €84 million, €95 million and €64 million respectively, after grossing-up for taxation.

Ark Life Assurance Company Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.

32. DEPOSITS BY BANKS December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Federal funds PUIChaSed...........coeiiiiiiiiiie e 546 544 291
Securities sold under agreements t0 repUrChase...........ccoeevereerieneenieseerieniene 1,742 1,484 514
Other borrowings from Danks............coeeiiieiiiere e 10,935 10,450 7,803
13,223 12,478 8,608
Of which:
DOMESEIC OFfICES....eeiierieeciiee ettt erre e e sae e e eees 7,899 7,396 5,893
FOreign OFfICES.... et 5,324 5,082 2,715
13,223 12,478 8,608
With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice,
by remaining maturity:
OVEI 5 YBAIS...c.teiieeriiete ettt 428 429 260
5 years or 1655 DUt OVEr 1 YEar.........ccovevveiiininiinieeeee e 289 260 385
1 year or less but over 3 MONthS.........cccceeeiieriiie e 2,781 792 1,195
3 months or less but not repayable on demand.............ccocooiiiiiinnene 8,871 9,806 5,691
12,369 11,287 7,531
Repayable 0N demand...........ccooeiiiiiniiiiee e 854 1,191 1,077
13,223 12,478 8,608

Federal funds generally represent one-day transactions, a large portion of which arise because of Allfirst’s market activity in
federal funds for correspondent banks and other customers.
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33. CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Current accounts 16,300 12,701 9,609
Demand deposits 11,165 10,297 10,360
THME EPOSITS....vvevieeieite ettt s sre et ste e sreenes 22,896 21,094 19,718
50,361 44,092 39,687
Securities sold under agreements t0 repUIChase..........cccevveereereeieniere e 726 889 1,090
Other Short-term DOFTOWINGS. ......ccoveeeiiieieiie e 3,470 3,456 1,558
4,196 4,345 2,648
54,557 48,437 42,335
Of which:
Non-interest bearing current accounts
[10) 00 1o Ko 0] 1 01T 5,857 4,655 3,987
FOreIgN OFfICES. ... ettt 6,140 4,515 3,787
Interest bearing deposits, current accounts and
short-term borrowings
DOMESEIC OFffICES.....eeiieeiie ettt 18,074 16,552 14,657
FOreign OffiCeS.....vcviiiecie et 24,486 22,715 19,904
54,557 48,437 42,335
Analyzed by remaining maturity:
OVEE 5 WBAIS. ..ttt ettt ettt e st b e e b e neenane s 654 601 640
5 years Or 1855 DUL OVEF 1 VBN ........coiiiiieieieerie et 2,688 2,005 1,557
1 year or less but over 3 months 3,150 3,679 2,701
3 months or less but not repayable on demand 19,743 19,161 17,701
26,235 25,446 22,599
Repayable 0N demand...........ccooviieiiiiiiecc e 28,322 22,991 19,736
54,557 48,437 42,335
Amounts include:
Due to associated UNAErtaKiNgs........c.oeeeiereriieeieii e 2 2 2

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are secured by Irish Government stock, US Treasury and US Government
agency securities and mature within three months.

The aggregate market value of all securities sold under agreements to repurchase did not exceed 10% of total assets and the
amount at risk with any individual counterparty or group of related counterparties did not exceed 10% of total stockholders’ equity.
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34. DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Bonds and medium term notes:
European Medium Term NOte Programme..........c.ccoeeerererieeeienienese e see e 84 114 221
Allfirst adjustable rate federal home loan bank advances:
due DecembBer 4, 2000........cciirireieieisiese e - - 199
dUE AUGUSE 23, 2011ttt 227 215 199
311 329 619
Other debt securities in issue:
Master demand Notes of AIIfIrSt...........ooeiiiiiiiie e 301 323 330
COMMETCIAl PAPET. .....iveitiieiiiecie ettt ettt bt nee s 133 338 298
Commercial certificates Of dEPOSIt........covririeririiriierrce e 4,288 3,305 3,051
4,722 3,966 3,679
5,033 4,295 4,298
Maturity analysis
Bonds and medium term notes, by remaining maturity:
OVEI 5 WBAIS. ..ttt sttt ettt ettt sb et eb e bt e b e e e b e e nenbeen 233 - 42
5 years Or 1855 BUL OVEr 1 YEAI.......c.coeiieieiiieie et - 114 333
1 year or less but over 3 months 72 215 237
3 mMOoNths O 1SS.......covveviiiiieiee e 6 - 7
311 329 619
Other debt securities in issue, by remaining maturity:
OVEI 5 WBAIS. ...ttt ettt st b e e sar e et e e ssne e sneeennis - - -
5 years Or 1855 DUt OVEr 1 YEAK.........cciiiiiieieieeie et 89 200 9
1 year or less but over 3 months 2,176 2,136 1,533
3 MONTNS OF 1B5S...iiiiieiieiiie et e e e e e e e s e s e sbbaaaa e e e e 2,457 1,630 2,137
4,722 3,966 3,679
5,033 4,295 4,298

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the weighted average interest rates applicable to the European medium term notes,
the master demand notes of Allfirst and the medium term Allfirst bank notes were 5.0%, 3.7% and 4.9% respectively.

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. has power to issue unsubordinated and subordinated notes up to a maximum principal amount of
€2,500 million (or its equivalent in other currencies as set out in the Agreement) under its European Medium Term Note
Programme.
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35. OTHER LIABILITIES

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

Notes in CIrculation (MO 1)........coerirereriieiese e 441 386 365

Current taxation..........cc.cceeeveennns - 51 168

Dividend (note 19) 250 221 188
Provisions for future commitments in relation

to the funding Of 1CArOM®.........coiiiiiii e 91 94 104

Short POSILIONS 1N SECUTEIES. ......eeviiiieiiieieiie et 205 379 65

(O] 101 SO PO SUP TSRV RUPPRPURPO 2,265 1,675 1,472

3,252 2,806 2,362

@The provision represents the present value of the cost of the future commitments arising under the 1992 agreement in relation to
the funding of Icarom (See Accounting Policies - note (K), Discounting of future commitments). A discount rate of 6.35% was applied
in the year ended December 31, 1993 in discounting the cost of the future commitments arising under this agreement. As at
December 31, 2001 the undiscounted amount of the cost of the future commitments relating to these agreements amounted to

€122.6 million (2000: €134.1 million; 1999: €150.5 million). Of the €122.6 million, €11.5 million is payable for the years

December 31, 2002 and 2003, with the remaining €99.6 million payable thereafter.

36. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Contingent

liabilities

and
commitments Other Total

(Euro in millions)

At January 1, 2000.........coceeiiieiie s 13 21 34
Currency translation adjustments............ccoceeiireereieene e 1 2 3
Acquisition of Group undertakings...........c.ccoeevieerenicnenn 3 - 3
Charge against statement of income 2 11 13
Provisions Utilized...........ccoveviiieeiiiie e (3) (7) (10)
ALJANUArY 1, 2001.......coiiiiiieiieesie e 16 27 43
Currency translation adjustments..........c.ccovvrerererereieeecseseneeee 1 1 2
Charge against statement of INCOME..........cccooivirereiiiein e 19 19 38
Provisions UtHlized...........cooeoiiiieii i e (4) (8) (12)
At December 31, 20071.......cccciiiiiiiiei e 32 39 71
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37. DEFERRED TAXATION

The tax effects of temporary timing differences that give rise to significant elements of the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are presented below.
December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses (183) (158) (144)
Amortized iNnCOMe..........ccovvernee. 47) (23) (10)
Deferred COMPENSALION. ........ciiirieieiciier e (12) (12) (10)
Timing differences on provisions for future
Commitments in relation to the funding of

(11) (1) (14)
(114) (43) (33)
(12) (1) (12)
(379) (258) (223)

Deferred tax liabilities:
ASSELS 18aSEA 1O CUSTOMIES. ... vvveeiierieeiteieectee e eetree e et e e e erre e e eare e e sbee e e enbaeeseaeeas 541 465 397
ASSets USed iN the DUSINESS..........ceiiveeee it 22 19 18
[Tt o] = Tot U [T 55 27 12
(13T OO 72 68 12
Total gross deferred tax Habilities..........ccoovveviiieiiciccec e 690 579 439
Net deferred tax Habilities..........cveiiiiuiiiiciic e 311 321 216

For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 full provision has been made for capital allowances and other timing
differences.

Due to the availability of roll-over relief and the expectation that the greater portion of land and buildings will be retained by
the Group, no provision is made for taxation which might arise on disposal of properties at their revalued amounts.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

Analysis of movements in deferred taxation:

AL JANUANY Loviiiiiiieie ettt et e et e sbeesbeesbeenrae s 321 216 151
Currency translation and other adjustments............ccoevevnerininenenee (22) 23 4)
Acquisition of Group UNAertakings..........coeevereieieiienirenese e - (8) (42)
Taxation (credit)/charge against statement of income
Ordinary aCtiVities.........ovvvrvreeiieieeeeeeee e (66) 125 118
Exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses 78 (35) (8)
AL DECEMDEE 3L it 311 321 216
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38. SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES
December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.

Undated Capital NOTES........ccorirriririeieeieicee s 426 413 397
Dated capital notes 804 1,088 897
1,230 1,501 1,294
Allfirst Financial Inc.
Dated Capital NOTES.........erviiieieieiieere e 787 745 688
Bank Zachodni WBK S.A.
Dated capital NOTES.......cciviiiieeii et 3 3 2
2,020 2,249 1,984
Undated capital notes
US$100 million Floating Rate Notes, Undated..........ccccoeevererenieeeennnen 113 107 99
US$100 million Floating Rate Primary Capital
Perpetual Notes, Undated...........ccoevirerenenenene e 114 108 100
€200 million Fixed Rate Perpetual Subordinated NOtes.............cccccvveennens 199 198 198
426 413 397
Dated capital notes
Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.
European Medium Term Note Programme:
US$130 million Floating Rate Notes due September 2006....................... - 140 129
US$150 million Floating Rate Notes due October 2006.............c.cccceeveene - 161 149
US$250 million Floating Rate Notes due January 2010 283 268 248
€45.1 million Floating Rate Notes due February 2007 45 45 45
€37.6 million 7.25% Fixed Rate Notes due October 2007..........c.cccone.e. 38 38 38
Stg£35 million 8% Fixed Rate Notes due October 2007..........c..ccveeveeee. 57 56 57
€32.2 million 6.7% Fixed Rate Notes due August 2009...........c.ccceevveriene 32 32 32
€250 million Floating Rate Notes due January 2010............ccccevvrervennene. 249 248 199
€100 million Floating Rate Notes due August 2010..........cccocvevrivniinennens 100 100 -
804 1,088 897
Allfirst Financial Inc.
US$100 million 8.375% Fixed Rate Subordinated
Notes due May 2002..........coiueireiiiienie e 113 107 99
US$200 million 7.2% Fixed Rate Subordinated
Notes due JUlY 2007.........covviieiieeieece et 226 214 198
US$100 million 6.875% Fixed Rate Subordinated
Notes due JUNE 2009.........oceiiriiiiene s 113 106 98
US$150 million Floating Rate Subordinated Capital Income
Securities due JanUary 2027.......cocceiveeieiieieniiniiesese e 167 159 147
US$150 million Floating Rate Subordinated Capital Income
Securities due February 2027.........ccccoivireniieeieeesee e 168 159 146
Bank Zachodni WBK S.A.
PLN 10 million Fixed Rate Loan due July 2002...........cccocevenieeieninnncnnn 3 3 2
1,594 1,836 1,587

The loan capital of the Bank is unsecured and is subordinated in right of payment to the ordinary creditors, including depositors,
of the Bank. There is no provision in any of the notes for a sinking fund.
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The US$ Undated Floating Rate Loan Capital Notes have no final maturity but may be redeemed at par at the option of the
Bank, after the approval of the Central Bank of Ireland, in or after November 1990 and July 1998, respectively. Interest is payable
semi-annually on the US$100 million Undated Floating Rate Notes and the weighted average interest rate applicable for the year
ended December 31, 2001 was 5.5%. Interest is payable quarterly on the US$100 million Floating Rate Primary Capital Perpetual
Notes and the weighted average interest rate applicable for the year ended December 31, 2001 was 4.9%. The €200 million Fixed
Rate Perpetual Subordinated Notes, with interest payable annually, have no final maturity but may be redeemed at the option of the
Bank, after the approval of the Central Bank of Ireland, on each coupon payment date on or after August 3, 2009.

The European Medium Term Note Programme is subordinated in right of payment to the ordinary creditors, including
depositors, of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. The US$250 million Floating Rate Notes, with interest payable quarterly, may be redeemed, in
whole but not in part, on any interest payment date falling in or after January 2005. The €45.1 million Floating Rate Notes will be
redeemed in February 2002. The €37.6 million Fixed Rate Notes and the Stg£35 million Fixed Rate Notes, with interest payable
semi-annually, are redeemable, in whole but not in part, on October 1, 2002 and October 31, 2002, respectively. The
€32.2 million Fixed Rate Notes, with interest payable annually, may be redeemed, in whole but not in part, on August 20, 2004.
The €250 million Floating Rate Notes, with interest payable quarterly, may be redeemed, in whole but not in part, in or after
January 2005. The €100 million Floating Rate Notes, with interest payable quarterly, may be redeemed, in whole but not in part,
on the interest payment date falling in August 2005. In all cases, redemption prior to maturity is subject to the necessary prior
approval of the Central Bank of Ireland.

The 8.375% and 7.2% Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes and the Floating Rate Subordinated Capital Income Securities of
Allfirst are subordinated in right of payment to the ordinary creditors of Allfirst. The 8.375% Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes, with
interest payable semi-annually, are not redeemable prior to maturity. The 7.2% Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes, with interest
payable semi-annually, may not be redeemed prior to maturity and are not subject to any sinking fund. The 6.875% Fixed Rate
Subordinated Notes mature on June 1, 2009, with interest payable semi-annually and are not redeemable prior to maturity.

The US$150 million Floating Rate Subordinated Capital Income Securities due January 2027, with interest payable quarterly,
are redeemable in whole or in part on or after January 15, 2007, or at any time, in whole but not in part, upon the occurrence of
a special event. The US$150 million Floating Rate Subordinated Capital Income Securities due February 2027, with interest
payable quarterly, are redeemable in whole or in part on or after February 1, 2007, or at any time, in whole but not in part, upon
the occurrence of a special event. In either case such redemption is subject to the necessary prior approval of the Federal Reserve
and the Central Bank of Ireland. Interest is paid quarterly and the weighted average interest rates applicable to these Capital
Income Securities for the year ended December 31, 2001 was 5.63%.

The subordinated floating rate notes pay a rate of interest related to the London Inter - Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) or the
European Inter - Bank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) of the currency of denomination, as appropriate.

There is no exchange exposure as the proceeds of these notes are retained in their respective currencies.

The maturity profile of the dated capital notes outstanding at December 31, 2001 is as follows:

Maturity during

the year ended (Euro
December 31 in millions)
2002, 161
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39. EQUITY AND NON-EQUITY MINORITY INTERESTS

IN CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
Equity interest in SUDSIAIArIEs. ........cccoeiveereiieii e 191 158 122
Non-equity interest in subsidiaries:
Allfirst Financial Inc:
Cumulative preferred StOCK®...........coiiiiiiei et 10 9 8
Floating rate non-cumulative subordinated capital
trust enhanced SECUNTtIES®...........coveiieriiiiiee e 111 105 97
121 114 105
312 272 227

@ Allfirst issued 90,000 cumulative preference shares of US$5 par value each on June 28, 1997. These shares have a liquidation
preference of US$100 each and the holders are subject to dividend entitlements at a rate of 4.5% on the liquidation preference
amount. The preference shares are redeemable at the option of the issuer and the holder during the period commencing

July 1, 2002 and ending on June 30, 2003 and are subordinated in right of payment to the ordinary creditors of Allfirst.

@ Allfirst issued 100,000 floating rate non-cumulative subordinated capital trust enhanced securities through a subsidiary on
July 13, 1999. The distribution rate on the securities is three month LIBOR plus 1.5% of the stated liquidation amount of US$1,000 per
security, reset quarterly.

40. SHARE CAPITAL
December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions except share amounts)

Ordinary shares of €0.32 each

Number of shares authorized (millions) 1,160.0 1,160.0 1,160.0

Number of shares issued (MIllIONS).........cooieiiiiiiiiiie e 886.7 879.2 866.0

Issued and fully Paid.........ccccoveeiiiiiiiii e 284 281 277
Non-cumulative preference shares of €1.27 each

Number of shares authorized (MilliONS)..........cccevvriiiiiiiniiieneecee 200.0 200.0 200.0

Number of shares issued (MIllIONS)........cooirirriiieii e - - -
Non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 each...........c.cccovvvviiniinninnen.

Number of shares authorized (millions) 20.0 20.0 20.0

Number of shares issued (MIllIONS).........ccovrirerereiiee e 0.25 0.25 0.25

Issued and fUlly Paid..........ccooveiieiriiiie e 7 7 7

Non-cumulative preference shares of Stg£1 each.........ccoceviviiiiniiiiiiin,
Number of shares authorized (MillioNS)..........ccoovrerereiniiirereeeseiene 200.0 200.0 200.0

Number of shares issued (MillioNS).........ccccvveveiiiiiiiiie e - - -

Non-cumulative preference shares of Yen 175 €ach........ccooceevviiiiiiieiniienene

Number of shares authorized (millions) 200.0 200.0 200.0

Number of shares issued (MillioNS).........cooveereiiiirieni e - - -
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During the year ended December 31, 2001 the issued ordinary share capital was increased from 879,207,610 to 886,690,015

ordinary shares as follows:

(@) under the dividend reinvestment plan, 1,920,148 shares were allotted to shareholders, at €11.76 per share, in respect of the
final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2000. These allotments were made in lieu of dividends amounting to
€22.6 million;

(b) by the issue of 1,625,197 shares to the trustees of the employees’ profit sharing plans at €11.58 per share; the consideration
received for these shares was €18.8 million;

(c) by the issue of 3,482,228 shares to participants in the share option plan at prices of €3.32, €3.36, €3.38,€4.19, €5.80, €6.25
and €11.90 per share; the consideration received for these shares was €14.3 million;

(d) by the issue of 454,832 shares to holders of Dauphin Deposit Corporation (now “Allfirst”) stock options, which were
converted, on the acquisition of Dauphin, into options to purchase AIB American Depositary Shares. The
consideration received for these shares was €3.9 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2000 the issued ordinary share capital was increased from 865,997,596 to 879,207,610

ordinary shares as follows:

(@) under the dividend reinvestment plan, 6,163,129 shares were allotted to shareholders, at €8.60 per share, in respect of the
final dividend for the year ended December 31, 1999 and 2,625,046 shares were allotted to shareholders at €9.40 per share, in
respect of the interim dividend for the year ended December 31, 2000. These allotments were made in lieu of dividends
amounting to €77.7 million;

(b) by the issue of 2,266,171 shares to the trustees of the employees’ profit sharing plans at €7.85 per share; the consideration
received for these shares was €17.8 million;

(c) by the issue of 1,951,248 shares to participants in the share option plan at prices of €2.64, €3.36, €3.38,€3.68, €4.19, €5.80
and €6.25 per share; the consideration received for these shares was €7.7 million;

(d) by the issue of 204,420 shares to holders of Dauphin Deposit Corporation (now “Allfirst”) stock options, which were
converted, on the acquisition of Dauphin, into options to purchase AIB American Depositary Shares. The consideration
received for these shares was €1.7 million.

During the year ended December 31, 1999 the issued ordinary share capital was increased from 859,881,145 to 865,997,596

ordinary shares as follows:

(@) under the dividend reinvestment plan, 1,633,779 shares were allotted to shareholders, at €15.49 per share, in respect of the
second interim dividend for the year ended December 31, 1998 and 1,180,162 shares were allotted to shareholders at €11.84
per share, in respect of the interim dividend for the year ending December 31, 1999. These allotments were made in lieu of
dividends amounting to €39.3 million;

(b) by the issue of 1,303,312 shares to the trustees of the employees’ profit sharing plans at €15.10 per share; the consideration
received for these shares was €19.7 million;

(c) by the issue of 1,438,500 shares to participants in the executive share option plan at prices of €1.98, €2.64, €3.36,€3.38 and
€4.19 per share; the consideration received for these shares was €4.9 million;

(d) by the issue of 560,698 shares to holders of Dauphin Deposit Corporation (now “Allfirst”) stock options, which were
converted, on the acquisition of Dauphin, into options to purchase AIB American Depositary Shares. The consideration
received for these shares was €3.9 million.

Employee Share Plans and Share Option Plan
These plans are detailed in Item 6 - Directors, senior management and employees - “Share ownership™” on pages 54 to 57 of this Report.

Dividend reinvestment plan

At the 1999 Annual General Meeting, the Directors were given authority for a five year period to offer shareholders the right to
elect to receive additional ordinary shares in lieu of cash dividends. The price at which such shares are offered is the average of the
middle market quotations of the Bank’s shares on the Irish Stock Exchange for the five business days commencing on the first
date on which the shares are quoted ‘ex-dividend’.

Allfirst Financial Inc. stock option plan

Under the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger between the Company, First Maryland Bancorp (now “Allfirst”) and
Dauphin Deposit Corporation (“Dauphin”, now “Allfirst”), approved by shareholders at the 1997 Annual General Meeting,
options to purchase Dauphin shares which were outstanding immediately prior to the merger were converted, at the holders’
elections, into either cash or options to purchase a similar number of AIB American Depositary Shares. At December 31, 2001,
options so converted were outstanding over 813,342 ordinary shares.
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AIB Long Term Incentive Plan

Under the terms of the AIB Long Term Incentive Plan, approved by shareholders at the 2000 Annual General Meeting,
conditional grants of awards of ordinary shares were made during 2001 in respect of 813,900 ordinary shares, in aggregate, to 206
employees. These awards will not vest in the award holders unless (a) the growth in the Company’s EPS, as defined in the Rules of
the Plan, in any three consecutive years within the five years following the grant is not less than the growth in the CPI plus 5%
per annum, compound, over the same three year period; and (b) the growth in the Company’s core EPS, as defined in the Rules of
the Plan, over the three year period during which the criterion at (a) is satisfied, is such as to position the Company in the top
20% of the FTSE Eurotop Banks Retail Index. Partial vesting, on a reducing scale, will occur if the growth in the Company’s EPS,
being below that level, is such as to position the Company in the top 45% of that Index.Vested shares must be held until normal
retirement date, except that award holders may dispose of shares sufficient to meet the income tax liability arising on vesting.

Non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 each

On May 5, 1998, 250,000 non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 each were issued at a price of US$995.16 per share raising
US$248.8 million before expenses. The holders of the non-cumulative preference shares are entitled to a non-cumulative
preferential dividend, payable quarterly in arrears, at a floating rate equal to 3 month dollar LIBOR plus 0.875% on the liquidation
preference amount of US$1,000. The preference shares are redeemable at the option of the Bank, and with the agreement of the
Central Bank of Ireland on or after July 15, 2008 (i) in whole or in part or (ii) prior to that date in certain circumstances in whole, but
not in part. In each case, the preference shares will be redeemed at a price equal to US$1,000 per share (consisting of a redemption
price of US$995.16 plus a special dividend of US$4.84 per share), plus accrued dividends.

Repurchase of ordinary shares

In September 1997, a subsidiary undertaking purchased 5.6 million ordinary shares of €0.32 each of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.
on the open market at a price of €7.30 per share. The purchase was undertaken at foot of a resolution approved by shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting held on May 21, 1997. In accordance with the Companies Act, 1990 the cost of the purchase of these
shares, €42 million including related expenses of €0.8 million, has been deducted from distributable reserves. The issued ordinary
share capital of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. continues to include these shares (nominal value €1.8 million) as they have not been
cancelled. The shares do not rank for dividend as the related dividend entitlements have been waived. The weighted average number
of shares in the earnings per share calculation has been reduced to reflect the purchase of these shares.

41. CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

(a) Returns on investments and servicing of finance

Interest paid on subordinated liabilities.............cooceveiniiieninics (108) (150) (84)
Dividends paid on non-equity Shares...........c.cccvoveviieiieiiee v 17 (20) (14)
Dividends paid to non-equity minority interests in

SUBDSIAIAIIES. ..ttt esne s (6) (14) (10)
Net cash outflows from returns on investments and

SErvicing Of fINANCE..........oiviiiieiee e (131) (184) (108)

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

(b) Taxation

Tax paid, Republic Of Ireland..........cccoeviieiiniice e (72) (82) (101)
FOreign taX Paid.........coceieeiie e (170) (117) (136)
Net cash outflow from taXation............ccceeeereriininieneeee e (242) (199) (237)

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

(c) Capital expenditure and financial investment

Net decrease/(increase) in debt SECUTILIES. .......cvveivvevieiiesee e 904 (2,763) (1,231)
Net decrease/(increase) in equity shares 94 (67) 17
Additions to property and eqQUIPMENT.........cccoveririiiieiineseeee e (328) (237) a7
Disposals of property and eqUIPMENt..........cocvvvereninenieienene e 30 63 20
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from capital expenditure............ccccoooeerieiennnne 700 (3,004) (1,405)
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Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

(d) Acquisitions and disposals
Acquisition of Group UNAertakings..........ccoevveeeiniieiiiiesicese e (59) - (602)
Net cash acquired with Group undertakings............cccocevverveviieniinnne - - 205

Investments in associated undertakings (1) (4) 2)
Disposals of investments in associated undertakings 1 6 8
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from acquisitions and disposals............c.cccecervernene (59) 2 (391)

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

(e) Financing

Issue of ordinary share Capital...........ccooeieriirenieniee e 23 15 14
Redemption of subordinated liabilities..............ccooiiiiiiiiiii e (311) - (57)
Issue of subordinated liabilities............ccveovieiiiiiii e - 149 733
Issue proceeds net of redemption of non-equity

minority interests in SUBSIAIAITES. ........ccveiieciiicie e - - (50)
Issue of reserve capital INSEUMENT...........ccoooiiirieriecrr e 496 - -
Net cash inflow from finaNCING........c.oovviiiiiiiir e 208 164 640

(f) Analysis of changes in cash
AIB Group defines cash for the purposes of the cash flow statements as cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand with

any bank or other financial institution.
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
At DeginNING OF YEAI......c.eiiiei e 2,222 3,130 1,523
Net cash inflow/(outflow) before the effect of currency translation
AU USEMIBNTS. ...ttt sttt st sb e b s e e e anee 377 (1,016) 1,477
Effect of currency translation adjustments............cccoovveiirieniiieneeie e 53 108 130
AL BN OF YBA.....vi et ers 2,652 2,222 3,130

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

(9) Analysis of cash

Cash and balances at central banks.............cccccviiiiiiiiiccec e, 1,175 938 1,119
Loans and advances to banks (repayable on demand)............ccccevveviiieniininnn 1,477 1,284 2,011
2,652 2,222 3,130

The Group is required to maintain balances with the Central Bank of Ireland which, at December 31, 2001 amounted to
€399 million (2000: €304 million; 1999: €336 million). The Group is also required by law to maintain reserve balances with the
Federal Reserve Bank in the United States of America, the Bank of England and with the National Bank of Poland. Such reserve
balances amounted to €34 million at December 31, 2001 (2000: €385 million; 1999: €383 million).
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Share capital®
Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

(h) Analysis of changes in financing
At DEgINNING OF YEAN. ..o s 2,165 2,116 2,050
Effect of currency translation adjustments............cccevveviienieninienicnicneseneen 15 19 35
Cash inflow from finaNCING.........ccoviviiiiiicciee e 519 15 14
Other MOVEMENTS. ...ttt sttt 14 15 17
AL ENA OF YBAN ..vi et 2,713 2,165 2,116

@ Includes share capital, share premium and reserve capital instruments.

The above table does not include a further €41.6 million paid in respect of the repurchase of 5.6 million ordinary shares in

September 1997.

AIB believes that future normal cashflows from operating and financing activities, primarily deposit-taking, will be more than
adequate to satisfy short-term and long-term future cash requirements, including estimated future capital expenditure

requirements.
Subordinated liabilities
Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
At DeginniNg OF YEar........coiiiiei s 2,249 1,984 1,140
Effect of currency translation adjustments...........cccervvvieninenenene e 80 115 168
Cash (outflow)/inflow from finanCing...........ccocoveeiiiieniic e (312) 149 676
AMOrtization Of ISSUE COSES.......ccueeitiiieieiie sttt 2 1 -
AL BN OF YBAT.....eiivieiicie et sre e nae e 2,020 2,249 1,984
Non - equity minority interests
Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
At DeginNINgG OF YEAI.......ccoiiiiiiiiiicier e 114 105 137
Effect of currency translation adjustments...........ccocvvvrerenineneicieieseins 7 8 18
Cash outflow from fiNANCING.........ccerveiiiiicr e - - (50)
Other MOVEMENTS. ... ittt ettt seeeseeseeenee - 1 -
AL N OF YBAN ... 121 114 105
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42. MEMORANDUM ITEMS: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

In the normal course of business the Group is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk to meet the financing
needs of customers.

These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk which are not reflected in the consolidated balance
sheet. Credit risk is defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss because the counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
perform in accordance with the terms of the contract.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit loss under contingent liabilities and commitments to extend credit, in the event of
non-performance by the counterparty where all counterclaims, collateral or security prove valueless, is represented by the
contractual amounts of those instruments.

The risk weighted amount is obtained by applying credit conversion factors and counterparty risk weightings in accordance
with the Central Bank of Ireland’s guidelines implementing the EC Own Funds and Solvency Ratio Directives.

The Group uses the same credit control and risk management policies in undertaking off-balance sheet commitments as it does for
on balance sheet lending.

At December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the nominal or contract amounts and the risk weighted credit equivalent of
contingent liabilities and commitments were:

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Risk Risk Risk

Contract  weighted Contract  weighted Contract  weighted
amount  amount amount  amount amount  amount

(Euro in millions)
Contingent liabilities

Acceptances and endorsements..........ccovoeereerveruene 142 109 147 137 143 132
Guarantees and assets pledged as collateral
security:

Guarantees and irrevocable letters of

CrEdit. .o 5,222 4,852 3,995 3,554 2,798 2,566

Assets pledged as collateral security.............. 23 2 32 3 37 4

5,245 4,854 4,027 3,557 2,835 2,570

Other contingent liabilities..........cccccoovviiiviiniinnne. 1,125 570 1,089 546 933 476

6,512 5,533 5,263 4,240 3,911 3,178

Commitments
Sale and option to resell transactions 402 402 257 257 188 188
Other commitments:

Documentary credits and short-term

trade-related transactions...........c.ccecevernen. 235 76 179 42 169 29
Forward asset purchases and forward

deposits placed..........ccvverireneneieiniee 5 2 83 82 - -
Undrawn note issuance and revolving

underwriting facilities...........cccooeeiiiinnnn. 100 12 36 9 116 25

Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit
lines and other commitments to lend:

1 year and OVEr........cccceevereenieeiie e 8,905 4,308 7,532 3,615 6,639 3,172
Less than 1 year®........ccccovoeeveeneneenienieennn, 9,352 - 8,025 - 7,194 -
18,597 4,398 15,855 3,748 14,118 3,226
18,999 4,800 16,112 4,005 14,306 3,414
25,511 10,333 21,375 8,245 18,217 6,592

@Undrawn loan commitments which are unconditionally cancelable at any time or which have a maturity of less than one year have
a risk weighting of zero.
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There exists a contingent liability to repay in whole or in part grants received on equipment leased to customers if certain events
set out in the agreements occur.

Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. has given guarantees in respect of the liabilities of certain of its subsidiaries and has also given
guarantees for the satisfaction of the relevant regulatory authorities for the protection of the depositors of certain of its banking
subsidiaries in the various jurisdictions in which such subsidiaries operate.

Charges in respect of the exchange of euro-zone currencies

On June 28, 2000, the Commission of the European Communities served a Statement of Objections and initiated proceedings under
Article 81 of the Treaty establishing the European Community against AIB and other named banks and organizations. On June 6, 2001,
AIB announced new eurozone currency charges for customers. As a result of these initiatives the European Commission ended its
competition proceedings against AlB.

Class action

On March 6, 2002, AIB was informed of the filing of a class action in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York against AIB, Allfirst and serving and past officers of Allfirst, seeking remedies under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 of the United States relating to alleged misrepresentations in filings of AIB and Allfirst. On April 24, 2002, a second,
similar proceeding was filed in the same court on behalf of a holder of 100 ADRs.

By letters dated March 6, and April 5, 2002, a law firm purporting to represent a holder of ADRs, demanded that AIB and
Allfirst promptly institute legal action against all persons who were members of the boards of these companies during the period
from 1997 to February 2002 and against senior officers to recover the exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses. The law firm
threatened a derivative action on behalf of AIB and its subsidiaries if its demand was not acted upon. Management believes that
the threatened action, if instituted, will not have a material effect on AIB.These matters are at an extremely preliminary stage but
on the basis of the Complaints the Directors have been advised that the actions appear to be without merit.

43. DERIVATIVES

The Group’s objectives, policies and strategies in managing the risks that arise in connection with the use of financial
instruments, including derivative financial instruments, are set out on pages 66 to 75.

The Group uses derivatives to service customer requirements, to manage the Group’s interest, exchange rate and equity
exposures and for trading purposes. Derivative instruments are contractual agreements whose value is derived from price
movements in underlying assets, interest rates, foreign exchange rates or indices.

These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of market risk and credit risk which are not reflected in the consolidated
balance sheet. Market risk is the exposure to potential loss through holding interest rate, exchange rate and equity positions in the face
of absolute and relative price movements, interest rate volatility, movements in exchange rates and shifts in liquidity. Credit risk is the
exposure to loss should the counterparty to a financial instrument fail to perform in accordance with the terms of the contract.

While notional principal amounts are used to express the volume of derivative transactions, the amounts subject to credit risk
are much lower because derivative contracts typically involve payments based on the net differences between specified prices or
rates. Credit risk arises to the extent that the default of a counterparty to the derivative transaction exposes the Group to the need
to replace existing contracts at prices that are less favourable than when the contract was entered into. The potential loss to the
Group is known as gross replacement cost. For risk management purposes, consideration is taken of the fact that not all
counterparties to derivative positions are expected to default at the point where the Group is most exposed to them.

For derivatives, credit risk is calculated as the positive mark to market value for each contract plus an estimate of the
additional credit risk that may arise over the contract’s remaining life from an adverse movement in the value of the underlying
asset or index. Any breach of credit risk limits on derivative contracts is reported to line management and reviewed by the
appropriate credit authority. The counterparty credit exposure on derivatives is amalgamated with all other exposures to the
counterparty to provide a comprehensive statement of individual counterparty risk.
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The following tables present the notional principal amount and the gross replacement cost of interest rate, exchange rate and
equity contracts at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Gross Gross Gross
Notional  replacement Notional  replacement Notional  replacement
amount cost amount cost amount cost
Restated Restated Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
Interest rate contracts

Trading...ceveveeerieeeee e 46,015 586 37,271 199 56,844 190
NON-Trading......cvvveiiienneseee e 70,136 846 93,674 676 72,727 649
116,151 1,432 130,945 875 129,571 839

Exchange rate contracts
TradING v 18,766 217 18,844 447 6,524 58
NON-trading........cccovvvveieiicece e 7,739 63 5,797 131 17,407 618
26,505 280 24,641 578 23,931 676

Equity contracts

Trading ...cooveeeeiereeee e 23 1 40 - 48 -
NON-TradiNg......evvveiirieeeseeeeeas 2,870 194 2,898 297 1,874 313
2,893 195 2,938 297 1,922 313

The Group uses the same credit control and risk management policies in undertaking all off-balance sheet commitments as it
does for on balance sheet lending including counterparty credit approval, limit setting and monitoring procedures. In addition, in
relation to derivative instruments, the Group’s exposure to market risk is controlled within the risk limits in the Group’s Interest
Rate Risk and Foreign Exchange Risk Policies and is further constrained by the risk parameters incorporated in the Group’s
Derivatives Policy as approved by the Board.

Trading activities

AIB Group maintains trading positions in a variety of financial instruments including derivatives. These financial instruments
include foreign exchange, interest rate, and equity futures, interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and floors, forward rate agreements,
and interest rate, foreign exchange and equity index options. Most of these positions arise as a result of activity generated by
corporate customers while others represent trading decisions of the Group’s derivative and foreign exchange traders with a view to
generating incremental income. The managers and traders involved in financial derivatives have the technical expertise to trade

these products and the active involvement of the traders in these markets allows the Group to offer competitive pricing to customers.

All trading activity is conducted within the risk limits approved by the board of directors. Systems are in place which measure
risks and profitability associated with derivative trading positions as market movements occur. Independent risk control units
monitors these risks.
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Nature and terms of trading instruments

The following table presents the notional amounts and fair values of the classes of derivative trading instruments at December
31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 as well as the average fair values during 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Fair values
Notional amounts® At December 31, Average
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Interest rate contracts:
Interest rate swaps.............. 34,817 21,525 18,042 234 5 (55)
In a receivable position... 538 195 159
In a payable position....... (444) (180) (220)
Interest rate caps, floors
5,364 5,420 1) 4) (11)
20 6 10
(21) (6) (15)
Forward rate agreements 5,092 8,449 29,932 - - (10)
In a favorable position.... 5 10 27
In an unfavorable position (6) (10) (35)
Financial futures................. 776 1,880 3,406 - - 1
In a favorable position.... 22 1 5
In an unfavorable position (19) (2) (3)
Other interest rate derivatives 37 53 44 - - - - - -
Foreign exchange contracts:
Currency options............... 2,391 3,763 3,884 (460) (64) (107) (92) (55) (75)
Forward FX contracts........ 16,375 15,015 2,640 4 (38) 3 1 (24) 2
Currency swaps................. - 66 - - - - - - -
Equity derivatives..................... 23 40 48 1 - (2) - - 1

@The notional amounts shown for the contracts represent the underlying amounts that the instruments are based upon and do not
represent the amounts exchanged by the parties to the instruments. In addition, these amounts do not measure the Group’s exposure
to credit or market risks.

Details of debt securities held for trading purposes are outlined in note 25 to the financial statements.

The Group’s credit exposure at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 from derivatives held for trading purposes is represented by the
fair value of instruments with a positive fair value as set out above. The risk that counterparties to derivative contracts might
default on their obligations is monitored on an ongoing basis and the level of credit risk is minimized by dealing with counterparties
of good credit standing. All trading instruments are subject to market risk. As the traded instruments are recognized at market
value, these changes directly affect reported income for the period. Exposure to market risk is managed in accordance with risk
limits approved by the board of directors through buying or selling instruments or entering into offsetting positions.

The Group undertakes trading activities in interest rate contracts with the Group being a party to interest rate swap, forward,
futures, option, cap and floor contracts. The Group's largest activity is in interest rate swaps. The two parties to an interest rate
swap agree to exchange, at agreed intervals, payment streams calculated on a specified notional principal amount. Forward rate
agreements are also used by the Group in its trading activities. Forward rate agreements settle in cash at a specified future date
based on the difference between agreed market rates applied to a notional principal amount. Most of these contracts have
maturity terms up to one year.
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Net trading income
The following table summarizes the Group’s dealing profits by category of instrument.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

FOreign CUrrenCy CONEFACES.........eevrvirririireerreieece e 75 69 30
Profits less losses from securities held for

ErAdiNG PUIPOSES. .. eeveeterieete ettt ettt see e e 2 42 28

INEErest rate CONMTIACES........ccviieeieieeie sttt 15 (8) 16

92 103 74

Exceptional foreign exchange dealing l0SSes........cccevvvvvereviierieiieiiieieinan (417) (228) (45)

Total® (325) (125) 29

@ Included as the caption of dealing profits in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Risk management activities

In addition to meeting customer needs, the Group’s principal objective in holding or issuing derivatives for purposes other
than trading is the management of interest rate and foreign exchange rate and equity risks.

The operations of the Group are exposed to interest rate risk arising from the fact that assets and liabilities mature or reprice
at different times or in differing amounts. Derivatives are used to modify the repricing or maturity characteristics of assets and
liabilities in a cost-efficient manner. This flexibility helps the Group to achieve liquidity and risk management objectives. Similarly,
foreign exchange and equity derivatives are used to hedge the nature of the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange and equity risk,
as required.

Derivatives fluctuate in value as interest rates rise or fall just as on balance sheet assets and liabilities fluctuate in value. If the
derivatives are purchased or sold as hedges of balance sheet items, the appreciation or depreciation of the derivatives, as interest
rates change, will generally be offset by the unrealized depreciation or appreciation of the hedged items. This means that separate
disclosure of market risk on derivatives used for hedging purposes is not meaningful.

To achieve its risk management objective, the Group uses a combination of derivative financial instruments, particularly
interest rate swaps, futures and options, as well as other contracts. The tables on pages 139 to 141 present the notional and fair
value amounts, weighted average maturity and weighted average receive and pay rates for instruments held for risk management
purposes entered into by the Group at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.
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Interest rate swaps:
Receive fixed

Pay fixed

1 year or 1ess.....ccocvrerereniennens

Forward rate agreements:

Loans

1 year or 1ess......cooovvvvvenvnnnne.

Deposits

1 year or 1ess.......cevveveeieeninnne

Interest rate options:
Purchased

Equity derivatives:

1 year or 1ess.....cccoeeevereenuennee
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December 31, 2001

Notional Weighted average
amount maturity in years

(Euro in millions)

9,216 0.48
18,023 2.25
2,574 7.43
29,813 2.15
7,991 0.58
15,784 2.22
1,823 9.27
25,598 221
99 2.00

15 9.33
114 2.96
1,582 0.44
2,807 0.52
740 1.33
3,547 0.69
1,491 0.67
818 2.02
27 8.00
2,336 1.23
303 0.66
756 1.90
1,059 1.54
4,303 0.58
994 1.49
5,297 0.74
294 0.73
380 2.53
116 6.92
790 2.51
849 0.50
1,941 2.70
80 5.25
2,870 2.12

139

Weighted average rate

Receive
%

4.78
5.14
6.05

511

3.54

2.46
4.43

2.72

4.57

4.19
3.56
4.45

3.97

4.75
3.52

3.87

2.85
5.02

3.26

5.76
4.54
7.38

5.42

Pay
%

3.95

4.82
5.16
5.78

5.10

3.26

4.50
5.46

4.70

5.61

Estimated
fair value

(Euro in millions)

205
373

1)
(20)

(21)

@

12
(10)

@)
@

3)



Interest rate swaps:

Receive fixed

Pay fixed

1 year or less..........c.c....

Pay/receive floating
1 year or less..................

Forward rate agreements:
Loans

Deposits
1 year or less

Interest rate options:

Purchased

Equity derivatives:
1 year or less.........ccoc.....
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December 31, 2000

Notional Weighted average Weighted average rate Estimated
amount maturity in years Receive Pay fair value
(Euro in millions) % %  (Euro in millions)
14,692 0.42 5.31 207
12,263 2.37 5.51 155
1,647 7.30 4.95 35
28,602 1.65 5.37 5.39 397
7,458 0.39 5.49 (48)
12,115 2.45 5.66 (144)
2,432 8.36 6.12 (39)
22,005 2.40 5.61 5.66 (231)
11 0.26 1.77 -
13 2.18 6.56 -
24 1.33 7.09 6.72 -
1,763 0.72 6.12 3
424 1.32 7.01 2
2,187 0.84 6.29
2,385 0.70 5.64 (4)
140 1.40 6.96 (2)
2,525 0.74 5.72 (6)
9,012 0.40 6.32 1
2,660 2.06 5.11 5
25 9.10 6.53 1
11,697 0.80 6.04 7
2,399 0.24 5.35 -
1,022 2.35 5.38 (2)
56 5.16 5.99 -
3,477 0.94 5.37 (2)
18,845 0.47 5.59 17)
3,107 1.54 5.75 2
21,952 0.62 5.62 (15)
519 0.46 9.36 4
686 1.60 8.51 5
1,205 1.11 8.88 9.63
1,174 0.46 -
1,655 2.58 (1)
69 5.22 -
2,898 1.78 (1)



Interest rate swaps:
Receive fixed

Pay fixed
1 year or 1ess.....cccovvvvveerveiennnne

Pay/receive floating
1 year or 1esS......cceevvereereenienne.

Forward rate agreements:
Loans

Deposits
1 year or 1ess.....coevvvveerveiennnne

Interest rate options:

Purchased
1 year or less
1 -5 years ..o
5 - 10 Years.....ccooevieeeiriesieninenn

Written
1 year or 1ess......cccccereeneenienne.
1-5years..coevinieneeneennn
5 - 10 YEarS...ccovveiirieeniir e

Financial futures:

Equity derivatives:
1 year or 1ess.....coevereerveiennane
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December 31, 1999

Notional Weighted average Weighted average rate Estimated
amount maturity in years Receive Pay fair value
(Euro in millions) % %  (Euro in millions)
8,535 0.50 5.16 88
12,833 2.63 5.02 (71)
1,705 7.59 6.02 (38)
23,073 221 5.15 4.66 (22)
5,824 0.53 5.16 (70)
11,661 2.63 5.01 20
1,828 9.39 6.24 3
19,313 2.64 5.33 5.17 47)
25 0.50 5.53 -
23 2.81 6.10 -
48 1.61 5.80 5.79 -
3,663 0.67 4.49 7
900 1.67 6.06 (2)
4,563 0.87 4.80 9)
3,655 0.67 4.76 5
255 1.50 5.76 -
3,910 0.72 4.82 5
1,685 0.33 591 1
2,009 2.54 5.10 3
20 5.33 6.75 1
3,714 1.55 5.48 5
2,619 0.25 5.64 -
943 3.76 4.79 (2)
97 6.17 4.36 -
3,659 131 5.39 2
7,165 0.58 5.39 1
5,298 1.88 6.32
12,463 1.13 5.79
903 0.42 10.12 (10)
982 247 10.82 (1)
99 5.75 6.06 (1)
1,984 1.70 10.26 11.30 (22)
156 0.42 (1)
1,594 2.21 2
124 5.33 (1)
1,874 2.27 -
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The carrying value of the interest rate derivative financial instruments held for risk management purposes at December 31,
2001 was €94 million (2000: €162 million; 1999: €57 million).

Reconciliation of movements in notional amounts of interest rate

instruments held for risk management purposes Interest FRA FRA
rate swaps Deposits Loans
(Euro in millions)

At December 31, 1998 32,402 7,054 5,921
AdItions........ccocevrieniennee, 26,195 14,623 14,408
Maturities/amortizations (15,380) (18,043) (16,166)
Cancellations (1,176) - -
EXChange adjuStMENTS........coviieerierie et 393 276 400
At December 31, 1999......cciiiiiieciee e 42,434 3,910 4,563
AGAITIONS. ... 22,740 2,555 2,028
Maturities/amOortizations..........ccvoveveiienieeie s (14,068) (3,933) (4,415)
CANCEIIALIONS. ...t (815) - -
Exchange adjuStmentS..........cvviviiiiinenenene e 340 (7) 11
At December 31, 2000.........ceoiiiireenieiiniee e 50,631 2,525 2,187
ATITIONS. ... 40,361 7,849 4,498
Maturities/amortizations..........cooeereieerene e (34,315) (6,851) (5,095)
CaNCIIALIONS. ...ttt (1,767) (50) (51)
Exchange adjuStments...........coiereienerenieieeseeese e 615 74 43
At December 31, 2001 55,525 3,547 1,582

Non-trading derivative deferred balances

Set out hereunder are deferred balances relating to settled transactions. These balances will be released to the Consolidated
Statement of Income in the same periods as the income and expense flows from the underlying transactions.

At December 31, 2001 the Group had deferred income of €65 million (2000: €73 million; 1999: €84 million) and deferred
expense of €89 million (2000: €88 million; 1999: €80 million) relating to non-trading derivatives. €38 million (2000: €38 million;
1999: €41 million) of deferred income and € 51 million (2000: €41 million; 1999: €40 million) of deferred expense is expected
to be released to the Statement of Income in 2002. During the year ended 31 December 2001, net deferred expense in relation to
previous years of €3 million was released to the Statement of Income.

After
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2006 Total
(Euro in thousands)
Interest rate swaps
Deferred inCOMe.........ccoovvvrvnenereenne, 5,484 3,814 3,173 2,696 2,686 2,360 20,213
Deferred exXpense........cooeveeveneeieneenenne (5,200) (4,698) (3,127) (2,060) (1,471) (2,818) (19,374)
Forward rate agreements
Deferred inCOMe.........ccooervvveeieniiiienin 3,063 - - - - - 3,063
Deferred eXpense........coovvveveivenieieeennnns (1,001) - - - - - (1,001)
Interest rate options
Deferred iNCOME.......cccoevveeveiierieiecnn, 6,090 3,214 204 109 28 - 9,645
Deferred eXpense.......cooeveereeeerieseeiieenes (5,543) (3,484) (935) (666) (107) (120)  (10,855)
Financial futures
Deferred iNCOME.......ccoceieeiiiieiieiecn 23,514 4,403 1,419 530 501 1,568 31,935
Deferred eXpense.........ccoovevrvrerernrennens (39,875) (8,563) (3,205) (2,173) (1,643) (2,768)  (58,227)
(13,468) (5,314) (2,471) (1,564) (6) (1,778)  (24,601)

The above deferred balances have related unrealized gains or losses on transactions which are on balance sheet. The matching of
the income and expense flows from the related transactions will be effected through the deferral process. At December 31, 2001 the
Group had deferred expense of €1 million (2000: deferred income €26 million; 1999: deferred income €50 million) relating to
debt securities held for hedging purposes. Deferred income of €3 million (2000: €15 million; 1999: €12 million) is expected to
be released to the profit and loss account in 2002. During the year ended December 31, 2001, deferred expense in relation to
previous years of €15 million was released to the Statement of Income.
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Unrecognized gains and losses on derivatives hedges

Gains and losses on instruments used for hedging are recognized in line with the underlying items which are being hedged. The
unrecognized net gain on instruments used for hedging as at December 31, 2001 was €25 million (2000: €138 million;
1999: net loss of €2 million).

The net gain expected to be recognized in 2002 is €20 million (2000: €52 million; 1999: net loss of €6 million) and thereafter a net
gain of €5 million (2000: €86 million; 1999: €4 million) is expected.

The net gain recognized in 2001 in respect of previous years was €52 million (2000: net loss of €6 million; 1999: net loss of
€32 million) and the net loss arising in 2001 which was not recognized in 2001 was €61 million (2000: net gain of €134 million;
1999: net gain of €61 million).

The disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments as required by FRS 13 is provided in note 50 on pages 164 to 166.

44. COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure

Estimated outstanding commitments for capital expenditure not provided for in the accounts amounted to €69 million (2000: €69 million;
1999: €46 million). Capital expenditure authorized, but not yet contracted for, amounted to €152 million (2000: €190 million; 1999: €27 million).

Operating lease rentals
The Group occupies various properties under lease arrangements, virtually all of which are operating leases. Rental expense in
respect of property and equipment held under non-cancelable operating leases is outlined in note 11 to the financial statements.

At December 31, 2001 the Group had annual commitments under non-cancelable operating leases as set out below.

After 1 After 2 After 3 After 4
year years years years
1 year through through through through After 5
or less 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years years Total
(Euro in millions)

Property.......ccccevvennne. 3 5 2 3 8 33 54
Equipment................. - 1 - - - - 1
3 6 2 3 8 33 55

The operating lease rentals in respect of property are subject to rent reviews.
Obligations under finance leases

At December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 the Group had total commitments under finance leases amounting to €2 million, €2
million and €3 million respectively.
45. REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS

Information relating to Directors’ remuneration and interests is included in Items 6 and 7 of this Report on pages xx to xx.

46. CURRENCY INFORMATION

Assets Liabilities
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
Restated  Restated Restated Restated
(Euro in millions) (Euro in millions)
EUNO. ... 35,906 32,995 26,122 35,288 32,889 26,618
(@1 =] SO SRRSO 52,931 46,729 41,596 53,549 46,835 41,100
88,837 79,724 67,718 88,837 79,724 67,718
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47. REPORTING CURRENCY

The currency used in these accounts is the euro which is denoted by ‘EUR’ or the symbol €. The euro was introduced on
January 1, 1999. The countries participating in the European Single Currency are: Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Greece,
Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain and Ireland. The national currency units of these participating currencies co-existed
with the euro, as denominations of the new single currency until December 31, 2001. Euro notes and coin were introduced on January
1, 2002. Ireland joined the European Single Currency at the fixed translation rate of EUR 1=IR £0.787564. Each euro is made up of
one hundred cent, denoted by the symbol ‘c’ in these accounts.

48. CAPITAL ADEQUACY INFORMATION
December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Risk weighted assets
Banking book:
ON DAIANCE SNEET......eeeeiiee et e e raaa e e 54,839 49,396 40,623
Off-DAlANCE SNEEL......co o 10,854 8,779 7,184
65,693 58,175 47,807
Trading book:
Y o T G A TSR 2,897 1,956 1,401
Counterparty and Settlement FiskS..........coovrererereieiien s 268 82 54
3,165 2,038 1,455
68,858 60,213 49,262
Capital
L SRRSO 4,499 3,604 3,110
i 2,742 2,926 2,551
7,241 6,530 5,661
294 214 149
6,947 6,316 5,512
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49. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN IRISH AND UNITED STATES
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The following is a description of the significant differences between Irish generally accepted accounting principles
(Irish GAAP) and those applicable in the United States of America (US GAAP).

Debt securities and equity securities

In preparing its US GAAP information, the Group has applied SFAS No. 115 “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities”.

Under Irish GAAP, debt securities held for investment purposes are stated in the balance sheet at amortized cost less provision
for any impairment in value. Securities held for hedging purposes are included in the balance sheet at a valuation, the basis of
which is consistent with that being applied to the underlying transactions. These are classified as financial fixed assets.

Under US GAAP, debt securities held to maturity are recorded at amortized cost. Because AIB periodically sells and buys long-
term debt securities in response to identified market conditions, including fluctuations in interest rates, debt securities classified as
financial fixed assets in the Group balance sheet in the amount of €16,299 million at December 31, 2001 would be classified for
US GAAP purposes as “available-for-sale”. The purpose of these securities transactions is to minimize the risk associated with the
AIB investment portfolio. At December 31, 2001 the market value of such securities was €16,468 million. The excess of market
value over amortized cost of the debt securities of €169 million gave rise to an after tax reconciling item of €125 million positive
in the consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity for US GAAP purposes.

Under US GAAP, at December 31, 2000 debt securities in the amount of €16,645 million would be classified as “available-for-
sale”. The Group uses these securities to minimize the risk associated with the AIB investment portfolio. At December 31, 2000,
the market value of such securities was €16,661 million. At December 31, 2000 the book amount of derivative financial
instruments held to hedge the debt securities within the “available-for-sale” portfolio exceeded the fair value of these instruments
by €63 million. The excess of market value over amortized cost of the debt securities of €16 million, offset by the excess of the
book amount over fair value of the derivative financial instruments of €63 million, gave rise to an after tax reconciling item of
€37 million negative in the consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity for US GAAP purposes.

Under US GAAP, at December 31, 1999 debt securities in the amount of €13,526 million would be classified as “available-for-sale”.
The market value of such securities was €13,318 million. At December 31, 1999 the book amount of derivative financial instruments
held to hedge the debt securities within the “available-for-sale” portfolio exceeded the fair value of these instruments by €17 million. The
excess of amortized cost over market value of the debt securities of €208 million, along with the excess of the book amount over fair
value of the derivative financial instruments of €17 million, gave rise to an after tax reconciling item of €148 million negative in the
consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity for US GAAP purposes. Gross unrealized gains were €45 million and gross unrealized losses
were €253 million at December 31, 1999.

The following table sets forth the amortized cost and market value of the available-for-sale investment portfolio owned by the
Group at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Available-for-sale investment portfolio

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999

Amortized Market Amortized Market Amortized Market

cost value® cost value® cost value®

(Euro in millions)

Irish GOVErNMENt........ccovevvvevieireecree e, 1,044 1,028 1,279 1,246 1,792 1,724

Other European Government...........c.cccceevvene 3,349 3,424 3,367 3,399 3,797 3,811

US Treasury & US Government agencies........ 235 236 183 185 361 354
Mortgage-backed obligations of federal

AQENCIES. ...t eiee ettt 2,768 2,797 2,201 2,179 1,991 1,887

Collateralized mortgage obligations®............... 1,307 1,318 2,297 2,294 1,928 1,911

US State & Municipal bonds............cccoeneee 559 570 538 551 470 459

Other asset backed SeCUrities..........coccevvvveeenns 806 814 724 722 503 496

Other SECUTILIES......ecvvveeeiree e e cree e e 6,231 6,281 6,056 6,085 2,684 2,676

TOtAl vt 16,299 16,468 16,645 16,661 13,526 13,318

@ Under US GAAP the book value of debt securities classified as available-for-sale equates to market value.
@ At December 31, 2001, €1,241 million of CMO?, were issues of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal
National Mortgage Association or the Government National Mortgage Association (2000: €1,903 million; 1999: €1,904 million).
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The following table shows the maturity distribution of the available-for-sale investment portfolio of the Group at December
31, 2001 based upon amortized cost.

Maturity distribution of available-for-sale investment portfolio
December 31, 2001

Maturing
After After
In one one year five years
year or through through After
less 5 years 10 years 10 years Total
(Euro in millions)
Irish Government.........ccoevveeeeveevnnenen. 277 440 255 72 1,044
Other European Government.............. 1,086 1,866 225 172 3,349
US Treasury and US
Government agencies.................... 27 148 - 60 235
Mortgage-backed obligations
of federal agencies®............ccoceenneee 290 811 754 913 2,768
Collateralized mortgage
obligations®..........cccccevveeeiiiiieenn, 472 393 57 385 1,307
US State & Municipal bonds............... 37 89 37 396 559
Other asset backed securities............... 661 125 17 3 806
Other SECUrities. .....ocvvvvververeiieiiiiens 1,201 3,932 781 317 6,231
TOtal. ..o 4,051 7,804 2,126 2,318 16,299
@ The maturity distribution is based upon long-term cash flow estimates for each security type and coupon rate.
The following table shows the book value of AIB Group’s debt securities at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.
December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)
IFISH GOVEIMMENT....cciiiiiieiee ettt e e et e e e e e e arbaae e 1,176 1,538 1,842
Other European GOVEIMMENT..........cccuiririeriieie e siee e 3,962 4,147 3,956
US Treasury and US GOVErnment agenCies.........coouereeeereereereesieenuenienns 175 77 362
Mortgage - backed obligations of federal agencies 2,253 2,195 1,991
Collateralized mortgage obligations® 3,497 2,938 2,497
US State & Muncipal bonds.............cccoeviveiieiieiiiiieninns 634 538 470
Other asset hacked SECUTTIES. ......coveiveriririeriereriere e 132 1,145 522
Other SECUNTIES?......eviii ittt et e e e 8,253 6,408 3,468
[ ] | OSSPSR 20,082 18,986 15,108

@ At December 31, 2001, €1,241 million of CMO’ were issues of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal
National Mortgage Association or the Government National Mortgage Association (2000: €2,091 million; 1999: €1,950 million).
@ QOther securities included certificates of deposit issued by financial institutions totaling €565 million at December 31, 2001
(2000: €378 million; 1999: €273 million), and quoted securities comprising Eurobonds issued by banks and large corporations
totaling €6,686 million at December 31, 2001 (2000: €5,174 million; 1999: €2,596 million).

The market value of AIB Group’s Irish Government securities at December 31, 2001 was €1,160 million (2000: €1,506

million; 1999: €1,775 million).
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The following table categorizes AIB Group’s debt securities (excluding €3,783 million of trading securities) by maturity and
weighted average yield at December 31, 2001.

December 31, 2001

After 1 but After 5 but
Within 1 year within 5 years within 10 years After 10 years
Euros Yield % Euros  Yield % Euros Yield % Euros  Yield %
(Euro in millions)
Irish GOVErNMENt.........ccovveeiiiieecrie e 277 3.7 440 7.1 255 5.0 72 4.7

Other European Government 1,086 45 1,866 49 225 4.0 172 5.8

US Treasury and US

GOovernment agenCies........uvevervverveaeeseernenes 27 6.5 148 3.7 - - 60 2.4
Mortgage-backed obligations of

federal agENCIES........oevvvviriiiiirc e 290 6.2 811 6.3 754 6.2 913 4.4
Collateralized mortgage

OblIGAtIONS.......cveiierieccc e 472 5.4 393 5.2 57 5.1 385 3.9
US State and Municipal bonds............c.ccoovveeene. 37 5.3 89 4.7 37 5.2 396 5.2
Other asset backed securities 661 5.2 125 6.8 17 6.9 3 6.9
Other SECUTTTIES. . cuveveerieereeeeie e e 1,201 5.4 3,932 4.7 781 2.3 317 1.3
Total DOOK ValUE.........cccrvererierieieeeeeeeee 4,051 5.1 7,804 51 2,126 45 2,318 4.1
Total market Value...........ocoueeeveiieiiiiieeicieee e, 4,087 7,917 2,131 2,333

The weighted average yield for each range of maturities is calculated by dividing the annual interest prevailing at the balance
sheet date by the book value of securities held at that date.

Investment securities sales

In the available-for-sale portfolio, proceeds from sales of debt securities during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 amounted to €5 billion, €7 billion and €16 billion, respectively. Gross realized gains and losses arising on the sale of these
debt securities were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(Euro in millions)
GroSS FEAlIZEA GAINS.....c.viiueeiieiierie ettt 33 4 79
Gr0OSS FEAIIZEA 10SSES. ... eveeeeeieeiesteeie sttt sttt st (15) (14) (11)
18 (10) 68

There were no investment securities classified as held-to-maturity during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.
The cost of securities sold by the Group is determined using both the portfolio method of average cost and the specific
identification method.
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Equity securities

Under US GAAP, at December 31, 2001 equity securities classified as financial fixed assets in the Group balance sheet in the
amount of €283 million would be classified as “available-for-sale”. At December 31, 2001, the market value of these securities
was €283 million. There is no adjustment to the consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity for US GAAP purposes as the book
amount equals the market value of these securities. Gross unrealized gains were €35 million and gross unrealized losses were €35
million at December 31, 2001.

Under US GAAP, at December 31, 2000 equity securities classified as financial fixed assets in the Group Balance sheet in the
amount of €364 million would be classified as “available-for-sale”. At December 31, 2000, the market value of these securities was
€358 million. The excess of book amount of these securities over market value was €6 million giving rise to an after tax
reconciling item of €4 million negative in the consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity for US GAAP purposes. Gross unrealized
gains were €13 million and gross unrealized losses were €19 million at December 31, 2000.

Under US GAAP, at December 31, 1999 equity securities classified as financial fixed assets in the Group balance sheet in the
amount of €235 million would be classified as "available-for-sale”. At December 31, 1999 the market value of such securities was
€245 million. The excess of market value of such securities over book amount was €10 million giving rise to an after tax
reconciling item of €7 million positive in the consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity for US GAAP purposes. Gross unrealized
gains were €13 million and gross unrealized losses were €3 million at December 31, 1999.

Equity securities sales

In the “available-for-sale” portfolio, proceeds from sales of equity securities during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999 amounted to €182 million, €72 million and €71 million, respectively. Gross realized gains arising on the sale of these
equity securities were €110 million in 2001, €23 million in 2000 and €8 million in 1999. Gross realized losses arising on the sale
of these equity securities were €19 million in 2001 and €2 million in 2000. There were no realized losses on sale of “available-
for-sale” equity securities in December 1999.

Debt securities held for hedging purposes

Under Irish GAAP, certain debt securities held as financial fixed assets are held to hedge the Group’s sensitivity to movements
in market interest rates. Profits and losses on disposal of these debt securities are deferred and amortized to the statement of
income over the lives of the underlying transactions.

Under US GAARP, profits and losses on disposal of debt securities are recognized immediately in the Statement of Income.

Internal derivative trades
Under Irish GAAP, where underlying Group subsidiaries and business units undertake internal derivative trades with the Group
central treasury to transfer risk from the banking book to the trading book, the Group central treasury is allowed to aggregate
and/or offset trades with similar characteristics for the purposes of establishing an effective hedge position against the underlying risk.
Under Irish GAAP, where positions established with external counterparties offset the net risk, hedge accounting is to be applied to
internal derivative trades. The accounting policy for derivatives under Irish GAAP is described more fully on pages 90 and 91.
Under US GAAP, contemporaneous offset with external counterparties is required if hedge accounting is to be applied to
internal derivative trades. As a consequence, trades not satisfying this requirement have been accounted for at fair value with gains
or losses being recognized in the consolidated net income statement. From January 1, 2001 the adjustment for internal derivative
trades is included with the derivatives FAS 133 adjustment.

FAS 133 - Derivatives and hedging activities

Under Irish GAAP, the Group uses derivatives, for both trading and hedging purposes. The accounting treatment for these
derivative instruments is dependent on whether they are entered into for trading or hedging purposes.

Trading instruments are recognized in the accounts at fair value with the adjustment arising included in other assets and other
liabilities, as appropriate, in the consolidated balance sheet. Gains and losses arising from trading activities are included in dealing
profits in the Statement of Income using the mark to market method of accounting.

Derivative transactions entered into for hedging purposes are recognized in the accounts in accordance with the accounting
treatment of the underlying transactions being hedged. Gains and losses arising from hedging activities are amortized to net
interest income over the lives of the underlying transactions.

Under US GAAP, all derivatives are recognized as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measured
at fair value. The recognition of the changes in the fair value of a derivative depends upon its intended use. Derivatives that do not
qualify for hedging treatment must be adjusted to fair value through earnings. If certain conditions are met, a derivative may be
specifically designated as (a) a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an
unrecognized firm commitment, (b) a hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows of a forecasted transaction, or (c) a hedge of
the foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an available-for-sale
security, or a foreign currency denominated forecasted transaction. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative
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depends on the intended use of the derivatives and the resulting designations.

In adopting Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 133,“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
(“FAS 133”) in its US GAAP reconciliation from January 1, 2001, AIB Group designated its derivative instruments anew for US reporting
purposes on that date. The transition adjustment arising from this action is reflected in net income and other comprehensive income.

Revaluation of property

Under Irish GAAP, property may be carried at either original cost or subsequent valuation less related depreciation, calculated
where applicable on the revalued amount.

Under US GAARP, revaluations are not permitted to be reflected in the financial statements.

Deferred taxation

Under Irish GAAP, deferred taxation is accounted for using the liability method in respect of timing differences between the
income as stated in the accounts and as computed for taxation purposes where, in the opinion of the directors, there is a
reasonable probability that a tax liability or asset will arise in the foreseeable future.

Under US GAAP, the liability method is also used but deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated for all temporary
differences. A valuation allowance is raised against a deferred tax asset where it is more likely than not that some portion of the
deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Under Irish GAAP, deferred taxation of €55 million arising from the phased reduction in Irish corporation tax rates
announced in 1998 was charged to the statement of income in December 31, 1998.

Under US GAAP, the impact of the phased reduction in tax rates is not recognized until the enactment of the appropriate legislation.

Depreciation

Under Irish GAAP, until December 31, 1999, depreciation was generally not charged by AIB Group on freehold and long
leasehold properties as their estimated useful economic lives and residual values made it insignificant. Since January 1, 2000 AIB
has adopted a policy of depreciating its freehold and long leasehold property over a period not exceeding 50 years.

Under US GAARP, freehold and long leasehold property must be depreciated. In AIB’s case, a period of 50 years is used in
preparing its US GAAP information.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiary and associated undertakings prior to December 31, 1997 has been written off to
reserves in the year of acquisition and written back in the year of disposal. Goodwill arising after January 1, 1998 is capitalized and
written off over its useful life, up to a maximum of 20 years.

In the US, goodwill is capitalized and amortized through income over the estimated useful life. In AIB’ case, a period of 20
years has been used in preparing its US GAAP information.

Core deposit intangibles

Under US GAAP, a component of goodwill arising on acquisition of bank subsidiary undertakings which relates to retail
depositors is termed core deposit intangibles. Under Irish GAAP, core deposit intangibles arising prior to December 31, 1997 have
been written off to reserves in the year of acquisition, as a component of goodwill.

Under US GAARP, capitalized core deposit intangibles are amortized through income over the estimated average life of the
retail depositor relationship. In AIB’s case a period of 10 years has been used in preparing its US GAAP information.

Long-term assurance policies

Under Irish GAAP, the shareholders’ interest in the long-term assurance fund is valued as the discounted value of the cash
flows expected to be generated from in-force policies together with the net assets in excess of the statutory liabilities.

Under US GAAP, premiums are recognized as revenue when due from policyholders. The costs of claims are recognized when
insured events occur. For traditional business, the present value of estimated future policy benefits is accrued when premium
revenue is recognized. Acquisition costs are capitalized and charged to expense in proportion to premium revenue recognized. For
unit-linked business, acquisition costs are amortized over the life of the contracts at a constant rate based on the present value of
estimated gross profits. Initial income in respect of future services is not earned in the period assessed but recognized as income
over the same amortization period and using the same amortization schedule as for acquisition costs.

Dividends payable on ordinary shares

Under Irish GAAP, AIB records proposed dividends on ordinary shares, which are declared after period end, in the period to
which they relate.

Under US GAARP, dividends are recorded in the period in which they are declared.
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Dividends on non-equity shares
Under Irish GAAP, AIB records dividends on non-equity shares in the statement of income on an accruals basis.
Under US GAAPR, dividends are recorded as a charge against ordinary stockholders’ equity in the period in which they are declared.

Acceptances

Under Irish GAAP, the Group presents acceptances as a contingent liability in a footnote to the financial statements.

Under US GAAP, acceptances outstanding are presented as a liability, with an equal amount presented as an asset, “customers’
acceptance liability”.

Own shares purchased

Under Irish GAAP, own shares purchased are recorded at cost and reflected as fixed asset investments in the consolidated
Balance Sheet.

Under US GAAP, own shares purchased are recorded at cost and reflected as a reduction to the consolidated ordinary
stockholders’ equity.

Internal use computer software

Under Irish GAAP, certain specific costs incurred in respect of software for internal use can be capitalized and amortized. All
other costs are expensed.

Under US GAAP, the same treatment applies, however there are additional specific costs that are capitalized which would be
expensed under Irish GAAP. These costs are being depreciated on a straight line basis over five years.

Transfer and servicing of financial assets

Under Irish GAAP, where a transaction involving a previously recognized asset transfers to others (a) all significant rights or
other access to benefits relating to that asset and (b) all significant exposure to the risks inherent in those benefits, the entire asset
should cease to be recognized.

Under US GAAP, an entity de-recognizes financial assets where control has been surrendered and de-recognizes liabilities
where they are extinguished. Control passes where the following criteria have been met: (a) the assets are isolated from the
transferor (the seller) i.e. the assets are beyond the reach of the transferor, even in bankruptcy or other receivership, (b) the
transferee (the buyer) has the right - free of any conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of the right - to pledge or
exchange the assets, and (c) the transferor does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets.

Special purpose vehicles

Under Irish GAAP, special purpose vehicles are consolidated as quasi-subsidiaries where risks and rewards from operations are
similar to those which would be obtained for subsidiaries.

Under US GAARP, consolidation of an entity by its sponsor, the party at whose initiative the entity is activated, is required if the
entity’s powers and activities are not strictly limited, and the entity does not have sufficient legal equity in form held by parties other
than the sponsor or its affiliates. Sufficient legal equity has been defined as at least 3% of capital at risk. Interest earned on the assets
held in the special purpose vehicles has been entirely offset by the interest expense and management fees of the special purpose vehicles.

Retirement benefits

Under Irish GAAP, the expected return on pension assets, net of the interest cost on pension liabilities, is credited to other
finance income while the service cost is charged to other administrative expenses. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized
through the Statement of Total Recognized Gains and Losses. Plan assets are valued at fair value and plan liabilities are measured
using the projected unit method. The net plan assets, reduced by deferred tax amounts are shown on the face of the balance sheet.

Under US GAAP, certain assumptions primarily in relation to the recognition of actuarial gains and losses and amortization
methods are used that are different when compared with Irish GAAP.

Pension accounting in the US has to apply the provisions of SFAS No. 87 “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions”. The
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 87 have been amended by SFAS No. 132 “Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other
Post-Retirement Benefits”. The Group has applied SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No0.132 in preparing its US GAAP information.

The impact of these pronouncements has been included in the US GAAP reconciliation in respect of the main AIB pension
plans. These plans make up approximately 90% of AIB Group’s plans in terms of assets and actuarial liabilities.
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The components of total pension expense for the main AIB pension plan which arise under SFAS No. 87 are estimated to be as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(Euro in millions)
SEIVICE COSL...uvitieuiiiteeieetee e ee sttt ettt e ettt esaeebeeneenbeeneas 66.4 56.3 53.7
INterest CoSt........cvvvivriienrienienne 120.3 1141 103.5
Actual return on plan assets 201.9 (16.7) (501.8)
Other COMPONENTS.........ccuiiieieiieie et (430.2) (219.8) 310.3
(41.6) (66.1) (34.3)

An expected rate of return of 7.5% on plan assets was used in determining the net periodic pension cost for the year ended
December 31, 2001 (2000 and 1999: 7.5%).

Actuarial assumptions used in determining the projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2001 included a discount rate of
5.8% (2000 and 1999: 6%), and an increase in future compensation expense of 4.0% (2000 and 1999: 3.5%).

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation, the fair value of the plan assets
and an analysis of the funded status of the plans for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Change in benefit obligation (Euro in millions)
Benefit obligation at beginning of year...........c.ccccovveviiieieiic i, 1,660.8 1,546.3 1,402.7
SEIVICE COSL...vivvirieiieiiiiieii ettt 66.4 56.3 53.7
INTEIESE COSL....eeiitiiieiii ettt 120.3 114.1 103.5
Actuarial gain/(1088)........coveiriiiriiiiese e 421.0 0.9) 37.8
Currency translation adjustments...........coevererenereieeinese e 16.3 - -
BENEfits PAIA.......cccivriiriiireieee e (57.5) (55.0) (51.4)
Benefit obligation at end Of Year...........oceoiiieiiiiiiicie e 2,227.3 1,660.8 1,546.3
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year...........c.ccccovvevieiiennens 2,716.1 2,710.3 2,206.5
Employers CONribULIONS..........ccoiiiiiiiiic e 43.9 46.5 53.4
Actual return on plan assets.........c.evveiveriiieeresiee e (201.9) 14.3 501.8
Currency translation adjustments..........coccoeverereneinieninse e 54.2 - -
Benefit PAYMENTS........coviiiiiiiire s (57.5) (55.0) (51.4)
Fair value of plan assets at end oOf year..........cccooeeviieiiiieneceee, 2,554.8 2,716.1 2,710.3

December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Funded Status..........ccoeeevveeiiiieeciiie e 327.5 1,054.7 1,164.0
Unrecognized transition obligation 76.4 83.9 914
Unrecognized Net gaiN.........cooeieeierer e (7.2) (819.8) (1,041.7)
Unrecognized prior service Credit..........coooeeereeienieeicniencseesieee (85.0) (92.6) (100.1)
Prepaid PENSION COSL.......c.uieririirierie et 3117 226.2 113.6

The unrecognized prior service credit arose during the nine months ended December 31, 1992 mainly as a result of changes in
the terms of the plans, following the restructure of the main Irish and UK plans during 1991.
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Post-retirement benefits

Post-retirement benefit liabilities are assessed actuarially on a similar basis to pension liabilities and are discounted at a long-
term interest cost.Variations from regular cost are expressed as a percentage of payroll and are spread over the average remaining
service lives of current eligible employees.

Under SFAS No. 106 “Employers’ Accounting for Post-Retirement Benefits other than Pensions”, there are certain differences in
the actuarial method used and variations in the computation of regular cost as compared with Irish GAAP. The disclosure
requirements of SFAS No. 106 have been amended by SFAS No. 132 “Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other Post-
Retirement Benefits”.

The Group has applied SFAS No. 106 and SFAS No. 132 in preparing its US GAAP information.

The following table shows the components of the net periodic post-retirement benefit cost for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(Euro in millions)

Service cost 1.7 2.2 2.2
Interest cost 4.0 3.5 29
Amortization of unrecognized transition obligation 11 1.4 13
Amortization of prior Service COSt........cocvrerririieiieereee e (0.9) 0.9) 0.4)
Recognized net actuarial [0SSes.........ccueieeieririeeie it - 0.2 -
6.4 6.5 6.0

The weighted average annual assumed rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered benefits is 8.5% for 2001 and is assumed to
decrease gradually to 5.0% in the year 2008 and will remain at that level thereafter. Increasing or decreasing the assumed health care
cost trend rates by one percentage point in each future year would have an immaterial impact on post-retirement benefits costs.

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation and an analysis of the funded
status and the amounts recognized in the Groups consolidated statement of condition.

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Change in benefit obligation (Euro in millions)
Benefit obligation at beginning of year...........c.ccccovveveiiiveciciie, 53.8 48.1 454
SEIVICE COSL. vttt 1.7 2.2 2.2
INEEIESE COSE.....viiiiiiiiticiici 4.0 3.5 2.9
AMENAMENTS. ...t - (1.6) 0.1
Actuarial 10SS/(gain)........coveiriiiriiiese e 9.2 3.2 (4.0)
Benefits paid.........cccoovevieiiiniiee (5.4) (4.2) (3.5)
Currency translation adjustments 2.3 2.6 5.0
Benefit obligation at end oOf Year...........coceviiieiiiiiiieee 65.6 53.8 48.1
Plan assets at fair ValUe...........cccvviiiiineincceeec s - - —
FUNAEA SEALUS. .....cveeeeieeiesieit e (65.6) (53.8) (48.1)
Unrecognized transition obligation.............ccccoereviiiiininenenenenes 12.4 19.1 19.2
Unrecognized Prior SErviCe COSL........ooovrerrerrereereeieesesesresne e (3.9) (4.2) (4.2)
Unrecognized Net 10S5/(gaiNn) ......coovrverrereeeeienisesenesese e 5.9 (3.5) (4.7)
Accrued post-retirement benefit CoSt...........coooeieiiiniiiiiic e (51.2) (42.3) (37.8)

The assumptions used in developing the present value of the post-retirement benefit obligation are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(Euro in millions)
Weighted average diSCOUNE Fate..........cccovieiiiieneiienieeee e 7.25% 7.75% 8.25%
Rate of increase in health care costs — initial............cccccovvvvieiiieiineeinnen, 8.50% 6.50% 7.50%
Rate of increase in health care costs — ultimate............ccceevvevieiieeineenns 5.00% 4.50% 4.50%
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Stock Compensation Plans

At December 31, 2001 the Group had four stock based compensation plans as outlined below. AIB has accounted for its stock
based compensation plan under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” and related interpretations. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), allows a company to recognize stock-based compensation using a fair-value based method of
accounting if it so elects. AIB has elected not to adopt the recognition provisions of SFAS 123.The compensation cost charged
against income for the Group’s performance based plans for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was €21 million,
€16 million and €19 million respectively.

For the purposes of providing the pro forma disclosures required under SFAS 123, the fair values of stock options granted were
estimated at the date of the grants using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The pro forma net income of AIB Group that
would have been recognized in the consolidated statements of income if the fair value method of accounting for stock options had
been used is €635 million, €546 million and €649 million, respectively for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Share option plan

The Company operates a share option plan on terms approved by the shareholders. Officials may participate in the plan at the
discretion of the directors. Options are granted at the market price, being the middle market quotation of AIB’s shares on the Irish
Stock Exchange on the day on which the option is granted. The exercise of options granted between January 1, 1996 and
December 31, 2000 is conditional on the achievement of earnings per share (“EPS”) growth of at least 2% per annum,
compound, above the increase in the Irish Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) over a period of not less than three and not more than
five years from date of grant. The exercise of options granted since January 1, 2001 is conditional on the achievement of EPS
growth of at least 5% per annum, compound, above the increase in the CPI over a period of not less than three and not more
than five years from date of grant. Options may not be transferred or assigned and may be exercised only between the third and
seventh anniversaries of their grant in the case of options granted up to December 31, 2000, and between the third and tenth
anniversaries of grant date in the case of options granted subsequent to that date.

The following table summarizes the number of options outstanding and weighted average exercise prices at December 31,

2001, 2000 and 1999.
December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Number of options outStaNdiNg..........cccoveieiierieiiecceee e 29,808,629 29,379,228 19,973,976
Weighted average eXercise PriCe.......cuiimiiiiieieiieriesieriesiesreseesreseenseans € 10.92 € 9.95 € 9.37

The following table summarizes the number of options outstanding at December 31, 2001.

Number of options Weighted average Weighted average
Range of exercise prices outstanding remaining contractual life exercise price
€ 338-€761 4,637,000 1.9 years € 5.23
€10.02 - €12.40 18,739,629 5.9 years € 10.78
€14.05 - €15.46 6,432,000 4.4 years € 1545
29,808,629

The following table summarizes the number of exercisable options outstanding at December 31, 2001.
December 31,
2001

Number of OptioNs EXErCISADIEM. ... ..ottt 7,761,500
WVRIGNTEA BVEIAGE PIICE. ...ttt ettt bttt bbbttt en € 7.92

WAL prices ranging from €3.38 to €12.20
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The following table summarizes option activity during 2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31,1999
Number Weighted Number Weighted Number Weighted
outstanding average outstanding average outstanding average
‘000 exercise price ‘000 exercise price ‘000 exercise price

(Euro) (Euro) (Euro)
Outstanding at beginning of year.......... 29,379.2 9.95 19,974.0 9.37 14,778.5 6.05
Granted.............. 4,246.9 11.98 11,668.7 10.02 6,634.0 15.45
Exercised (3,482.2) 411 (1,951.3) 4.84 (1,438.5) 3.40

Forfeited.......oooviveiereeeeee e, (335.3) 10.12 (312.2) 12.55 -

Outstanding at end of year................... 29,808.6 10.92 29,379.2 9.95 19,974.0 9.37

During the year ended December 31, 2001, 4,246,929 options were granted at a price of €11.98 per ordinary share, and
35,000 options were granted at a price of €12.40 per ordinary share, the market prices on the days preceding the date on which
the options were granted. They are exercisable between April 26, 2004 and April 26, 2011 and September 4, 2004 and September
4, 2011 respectively. The fair value of these options was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model to be €3.65 per
option. No options were forfeited or expired during the year. Options were exercised during the year at a weighted average
exercise price of €4.11 per option.

Employee share plans

AlIB operates employee profit sharing plans on terms approved by the shareholders. All employees, including executive
directors, of the Bank and certain subsidiaries are eligible to participate, subject to a minimum of one year’s continuous service at
the end of the relevant financial period and subject also to their being in employment on the date on which the invitation to
participate is issued. Under the plans, the directors at their discretion, may set aside each year, for allocation to the trustees of the
Republic of Ireland Plan, a sum not exceeding 5% of eligible income before taxes, of participating companies in the Republic of
Ireland and, in the case of the UK Plan, 4% of such income in the UK.

Employees may elect to receive their profit sharing allocations either in shares or in cash. Such shares are held by the Trustees
for a minimum period of two years and are required to be held for a total period of three years for the employee to obtain the
maximum tax benefit. Costs relating to the purchase of shares under the employee profit sharing plans are charged to the
Statement of Income when incurred.

Employees in the Republic of Ireland may elect to forego an amount of salary, subject to certain limitations, towards the
acquisition of additional shares. The maximum market value of shares that may be appropriated to an employee in a year, may not
exceed €12,697 in the Republic of Ireland and Stg£8,000 in the UK.

A Save AsYou Earn share option plan is operated for eligible employees in the UK. Under that plan employees may opt to
save fixed amounts on a regular basis, over a three-year period, subject to a maximum monthly saving of Stg£250 per employee,
and to utilize amounts so saved in the acquisition of market-purchased shares in the Company.

Allfirst 1989 Long-Term Incentive Plan and Trust

Allfirst’s 1989 Long-Term Incentive Plan and Trust (the “1989 Plan™) provides for the award to key employees who contribute
to the continued growth, development and financial success of Allfirst of up to 7 million €0.32¢ Ordinary Shares of AIB and
200,000 Non-Cumulative Preference Share ADSs of AIB (“Preferred Stock™) (together the “Restricted Stock™). Awards are made to
participants, without payment of consideration by the participant, in the form of Restricted Stock purchased by Allfirst in the open
market and are held in trust under the 1989 Plan until the expiration of the relevant restriction period. Awards aggregating the
equivalent of 68,000 common stock were made during 2001. Costs relating to this plan are charged to statement of income over
the period under which the shares will vest. Expenses relative to this plan totaled US$791,000, US$702,000 and US$827,000 in
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The awards are subject to a restriction period of at least three years.
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Allfirst 1997 and 1999 Stock Option Plans

Allfirst’s 1997 and 1999 Stock Option Plans provide for the grant to key employees of options to acquire AIB ADSs. The
options are granted at no less than the fair market value of the ADSs at the date of the grant. Options granted in 1998 through
2001, with the exception of options granted under the Allfirst Shares Plan, vest one half in 24 months and one half in 36 months
from the grant date and must be exercised within 10 years of the grant date or they will expire. Options granted on December
29, 1997 vested six months from the grant date and must be exercised within seven years of the grant date or they will expire.
During 1999, Allfirst implemented an all employee stock option program called Allfirst Shares which is part of the 1997 Stock
Option Plan. Each full and part-time employee who was eligible for employee benefits and was employed by the Company as of
May 4, 1999 received an option to purchase up to 100 AIB ADSs. The options may be exercised: (i) any time after May 4, 2002
and before May 4, 2004, as long as the closing price of AIB ADSs has equaled or exceeded 150% of the exercise price for five
consecutive days at any time after the grant date; or (ii) any time after May 4, 2004, regardless of the price of the ADSs. The
options must be exercised within 10 years or they will expire. Options under the 1999 Stock Option Plan vest based on certain
performance criteria. During 2001, 2000 and 1999, options were granted under the 1997 and 1999 Stock Option Plans.

Allfirst and an independent Trustee created a trust, for the purpose of acquiring AIB ADSs in the open market with the
proceeds of a loan from Allfirst. Generally, the Trust will acquire AIB ADSs in an amount equal to the number of stock options
granted at or about each grant date. Proceeds from option exercises and any dividends and other earnings on the trust assets will
be used to repay the loan to the trust. Option holders have no preferential rights with respect to the trust assets, and the trust
assets are subject to the claims of Allfirst’s general creditors in the event of insolvency. AIB will not issue any securities in
connection with the 1997 or 1999 Stock Option Plan, will not receive any proceeds from the exercise of the options, and
otherwise has no rights or obligations with respect to the Stock Option Plans.

The following summarizes option activity during 2001, 2000 and 1999.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31,1999
Number Weighted Number Weighted Number Weighted
outstanding® average  outstanding® average  outstanding® average
‘000 exercise price ‘000 exercise price ‘000 exercise price

(Dollars) (Dollars) (Dollars)
Outstanding at beginning of year........... 6,448.2 22.69 4,281.7 25.23 2,979.3 22.31
Granted.......coverereriiniereeeee e 2,165.1 21.64 2,391.7 18.56 2,174.3 28.05
Exercised (8.4) 18.67 (19.5) 18.67 (519.5) 18.67
Forfeited........oovvieiniiineccee (172.9) 24.93 (205.7) 27.76 (352.4) 27.68
Outstanding at end of year 8,432.0 22.38 6,448.2 22.69 4,281.7 25.23

@ Represent number of AIB ADSs.
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The following table summarizes information about fixed options outstanding at December 31, 2001:

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Number Number
outstanding at Weighted average exercisable
12/31/2001 remaining Weighted average at 12/31/2001 Weighted average
‘000 contractual life exercise price ‘000 exercise price
1,033.6 3.0 years $18.67 1,033.6 $18.67
1,083.1 6.8 years 26.62 1,083.2 26.62
76.2 7.1 years 34.04 38.1 34.04
435.3 7.3 years 31.67 21.0 31.67
1,311.3 7.6 years 26.05 655.6 26.05
1,584.4 8.6 years 17.72 - -
120.0 8.7 years 18.55 - -
534.4 8.8 years 20.50 - -
90.0 8.9 years 21.75 - -
2,163.7 9.0 - 9.8 years 21.64 - -
Total 8,432.0 7.76 years $22.38 2,831.5 $23.72

For purposes of providing the pro-forma disclosures required under SFAS No. 123, the fair values of stock options granted in 2001
and 2000, were estimated at the date of the grants using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model was originally developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded
options which have different characteristics from the Allfirst's employee stock options. The model is also sensitive to changes in the
subjective assumptions which can materially affect the fair value estimate. As a result, management believes that the Black-Scholes
model may not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of employee stock options.

The following table details the weighted average assumptions used and the resulting fair values provided by the option pricing
model:

Expected Fair value

future per share of

dividend \olatility Risk free options

Grant date yield factor interest rate Expected life granted
12/29/97 4.53% 0.2200 5.77% 7 years $3.52
10/9/98 & 10/22/98 4.03% 0.2600 4.70% 10 years $5.89
2/9/99 3.06% 0.2950 5.01% 10 years $10.47
5/4/99 2.96% 0.3036 5.38% 5.5 years $8.73
8/10/99 2.67% 0.3254 5.87% 5.5 years $8.03
8/14/00 2.61% 0.3399 6.24% 5.5 years $5.81
9/20/00 2.81% 0.3869 5.94% 5.5 years $6.44
11/3/00 2.84% 0.3874 5.78% 5.5 years $7.06
11/24/00 2.85% 0.3866 5.41% 5.5 years $7.35
2001 Grants 3.02% 0.3704 5.29% 7 years $7.47
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Impaired loans

SFAS 114 and 118 applies only to impaired loans, the measurement of which is based upon the present value of expected
future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, the loan’s observable market value, or the fair value of the collateral
dependent.

Smaller balance homogeneous consumer loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment are outside the scope of SFAS
114, as are debt securities and leases.

Reserves for probable credit losses related to these loans are included in the allowance for credit losses applicable to other than
impaired loans. The Group’s charge off policy for impaired loans is consistent with its policy for loan charge offs to the allowance.
Impaired loans are charged off when an impaired loan, or portion thereof, is considered uncollectible. Interest income received on
impaired loans is recorded on a cash basis, which is consistent with the Group’s method of interest recognition on non-accrual
loans.

At December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Group estimated that the difference between the carrying value of its loan
portfolio on the basis of SFAS No. 114 and 118 and its value in the Group’s accounts was such that no adjustment to net income
or consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity was required.

At December 31, 2001, the Group’s net investment in impaired loans amounts to €972 million (2000: €772 million; 1999:
€662 million). €886 million (2000: €680 million; 1999: €593 million) of this net investment included specific provisions of
€516 million (2000: €408 million; 1999: €342 million). The average level of such impaired lendings during 2001 was
approximately €916 million (2000: €717 million; 1999: €653 million). Interest income recognized on impaired loans during the
year ended December 31, 2001 amounted to €55 million (2000: €32 million; 1999: €11 million).

Cash flow statements

The consolidated cash flow statements on page xx have been completed in accordance with the revised Financial Reporting
Standard 1 (FRS 1) which was issued by the United Kingdom Accounting Standards Board in October 1996. FRS 1 is similar to
SFAS No. 95, statement of cash flows, in some respects. The principal differences between the standards relate both to the
definition of cash and the classification of certain transactions.

Definition of cash under FRS 1
FRS 1 defines “cash” as cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand with any bank or other financial institution.

Definition of cash under SFAS No. 95

Under SFAS No. 95, “cash” includes cash and cash equivalents and is defined as cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand
with any bank or financial institution, together with short-term liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash without notice and which are within three months of maturity when acquired.
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Classification under

FRS 1

Non-equity dividends paid............c.ccceevveieiieennnnns Returns on investments and
servicing of finance

Equity dividends paid...........cccceeviviiininniiieninenn Equity dividends paid
Taxation Paid.........cecvevveeeiriiiesinenese e Taxation

Net movement in lendings to
CUSEOMIETS. ...ttt ettt Operating activities

Net change in finance lease
balances receivable............ccooevveeiiiniiiiinne Operating activities

Net increase in depoSIts.........cvvevveivverieirvesieariesnans Operating activities
Net movement in current and deposit
accounts and other short-term

lHaDIITTIES. ... Operating activities

Future developments

The impact of recently issued accounting pronouncements is detailed on pages 60 and 61 under “Prospective accounting

changes”.
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Consolidated net income

Year ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions
except per share amounts)
Net income (Group profit attributable to the stockholders of
AIB) as in the consolidated statement of INCOME ..........ccoceveriieieinne, 730 636 757
Adjustments in respect of:
Depreciation of freehold and long leasehold property...........cc.ocoevverennnne 5 - (5)
Long-term assurance POLCIES. ........couvrvriieiiiieie e (48) (70) (43)
(0T 011 S (110) (78) (73)
Premium on core deposit intangibles.............coov i (7) 9) (11)
Retirement DeNefits..........ooviiiiiiiii e 53 94 54
Dividends on non-equity shares................... 50 20 16
Securities held for hedging purposes (24) (25) 34
Derivatives hedging available-for-sale securities - 9) -
Internal derivative trades.........cccvvevveiiiieiiici e - (6) (3)
Internal use COMPULEr SOftWAE........c.ovverveieiiieiecee e 6 11 -
Derivatives FAS 133 transition adjustment®...........ccccoovevevvieiniiienieenne 122 - -
Derivatives FAS 133 adjUStMENT........c..ccvieriririiinenesreeeeeeee e (107) - -
Deferred tax effect of the above adjustments............ccocvvvvvenineiienicnennens (5) 7 (8)
Impact of phased reduction in Irish corporation tax rates.............c.ccecue... - - (55)
Net income in accordance wWith US GAAP...........ccciiiininiieeeeseie 665 571 663
Net income applicable to ordinary stockholders of
AIB in accordance With US GAAP.........ccciiere it € 615 551 647
EQUIVAIENT T0....c.vetieeieeee e Us$ 542
Income per American Depositary Share (ADS*)
in accordance With US GAAP.........c.oci e € 1.43 1.29 1.52
Equivalent to 1.26
Diluted income per American Depositary Share (ADS*)
in accordance With US GAAP...........ociiiiiieee e € 1.42 1.28 151
EQUIVAIBNT 10.....e vttt uUs$ 1.25
Year end exchange rate €/USS..........ooviiiiiiiiine e 0.8813
*An American Depositary Share represents two ordinary shares of €0.32 each.
Comprehensive income Year ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)
Net income in accordance With US GAAP.........cccoceierineieneneeeeeene 665 571 663
Net movement in unrealized holding gains/(losses) on debt and equity
securities arising during the Period...........cceevveieiiieninics e 120 110 (237)
Derivatives FAS 133 transition adjustment® 41 - -
Currency translation adjustments............ccocceevvverienienennens 214 233 492
COMPreNENSIVE INCOME. .. .cueiiiriieitiriee e siee ettt b e 1,040 914 918

@ Cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle for derivatives and hedging activities.
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Consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity

Ordinary stockholders’ equity as in the consolidated

DAIANCE SNEEL......ooiiieiic e
Revaluation Of PrOPEItY........ccocuiiriiereieiie e
Depreciation of freehold and long leasehold property..........c.ccocevevineennee
GOOAWIIL .. e
Core deposit iNtaNGIbIES..........coeeiiiiiiie e
Dividends payable on ordinary Shares............cccoceeeereriieneeneseeniesee s
Dividends on NON-equity Shares...........cccovieieiieieneeeseee e
Long-term assurance POLICIES.........cvrireruererierieieeee st see e s
Unrealized gains/(losses) not yet recognized on:

Available-for-sale debt SECUFITIES.........ccuiiririririiiereceeeee

Available-for-sale equity SECUTItIES..........eviiiieriiieiiere e

Derivatives hedging available-for-sale SeCUFIti€s..........cccoevieriinrvnnns
Securities held for hedging PUIPOSES........cccvrverieririiiene e
Internal derivative trades...........ooveiieieiiee e
Derivatives FAS 133 adjUStMENT..........ccoirirerieiniienieeeeese e
Retirement DeNefits..........o i
Internal use computer software
OWN SNATES.......eeieiieeiieeie e
Deferred tax effect of the above adjustments
Ordinary stockholders’ equity in accordance

WItN US GAAP. ..ottt
EQUIVAIENT T0..... ittt
Ordinary stockholders’ equity per ADS in accordance

WIth US GAAP.. ...ttt
EQUIVAIENT T0.....eciiiieiieiciesc e
Ordinary stockholders’ equity per ADS in accordance

WIth TR GAAP.......eii e
EQUIVAIBNT 1.ttt

Statement of changes in stockholders’ equity

Opening balanCe..........ccccviiiiiiiieie e
NEt INCOME TOF YEAI........iiiiiieecee e
Dividends on equity SNATES.........cccereiieeresinsieeie e
Dividends on NoN-equity Shares...........ccocuvverirenineneneeeeee s
ISSUE OF SNATES ...
Unrealized gains/(losses) on debt securities and equity shares

held as available-for-sale............ccooveiiiieiiiese e,
FAS 133 transition adjustment
OWN SNATES ...t
Currency translation adjustments...........ccccooereienienieneeie e
Other MOVEMENTS. .....cviiiiiiiiierie ettt

CloSING DAIANCE........ocveiiieieci e e
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December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions
except per share amounts)

4,871 4,734 4,402

(204) (210) (2112)

(@7) (@71 (@7
1,070 1,097 1,074
19 26 33
250 221 188
1 - (1)
(236) (188) 97)
169 16 (208)
- (6) 10

- (63) (17
(1) 26 51

- (10) (©)

5 — —
77 (476) (812)
17 11 -
(245) 177) (123)
(50) 76 161

5,716 5,050 4,420

5,038

12.98 11.56 10.27

11.44

11.06 10.84 10.23
9.74

December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

5,050 4,420 3,761
665 571 663
(351) (302) (252)
(50) (20) (14)
60 105 67
120 110 (237)
41 - _
(68) (55) (66)
214 233 492
35 (12) 6

5,716 5,050 4,420
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Consolidated total assets

Total assets as in the consolidated balance sheet ..........ccccccovvvveeevivieeeennnnnn,
Revaluation Of PrOPEItY........ccoiieeiireeie e

Depreciation
Goodwill......
Core deposit

of freehold and long leasehold property..........cccoceeveveennene.

intangibles................

Available-for-sale debt securities..........ccocvevvvervenns

Available-for-sale equity securities

Derivative hedging available-for-sale seCUrities.............cooeverienieenenennnne
Internal derivative trades..........covveiiereiiene e
Derivatives FAS 133 adjUStMENT...........ccoovriririnirereeee e
Retirement Denefits....... ..o
Internal use COMPULEr SOFEWANE. .........coueiieieie e

Own shares..

Special PUrPOSE VENICIES........ccviiiiiiiierieeee e
Long-term assurance POIICIES. ... ..c.verveeererririerieneeeeeere st

Long-term assurance assets attributable to policyholders
Securitized assets

ACCEPEANCES. .....cvcveveeetevetet ettt ettt ettt bttt

Total assets in accordance With US GAAP..........ccccveeecvee e,
EQUIVAIENT T0......eieieeecces e

Consolidate
stockhol

d total liabilities and ordinary
ders’ equity

Total liabilities and ordinary stockholders’ equity as in the

consolidated balance SHEEL..........cccvvveeieiiiiice e

Ordinary Stockholders’ eQUILY..........coerveireriniiese e
Dividends payable on ordinary Shares............cccvereierienenenenenesenennens
Dividends on NON-qUItY SNAES..........coveieiriieieiiieeeeee e

Acceptances..
Securities hel

d for hedging PUIPOSES.........ccvrerererrenrineeeeeeses e

SECUNTTIZEA GSSELS......veeeicerieeieerieeeeteeeeeetreeeeereeeeereeeeebeeessreeeeebeeeeans

Debt securities in issue re special purpose vehicles

Deferred taxXation..........coocveeeiiiee i

Long-term assurance liabilities to policyholders

Total liabilities and ordinary stockholders’ equity in
accordance With US GAAP..........cci ittt

Equivalent to

161

December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

88,837 79,724 67,718

(204) (210) (2112)

(27) (@7) (@7)

1,070 1,097 1,074

19 26 33

169 16 (208)

- (6) 10

- (63) 17)

- (10) @)

5 — —

77 (476) (812)

17 11 -

(245) 177) (123)

667 - -

(236) (188) 97)

(2,264) (2,141) (1,701)

- @) 1)

142 147 143

88,027 77,720 65,778
77,579

December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

88,837 79,724 67,718
845 316 18
(250) (221) (188)

(1) - 1
142 147 143
1 (26) (52)

- @) 1)
667 - -
50 (76) (161)

(2,264) (2,141) (1,701)

88,027 77,720 65,778

77,579



ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)
Alternative presentation of consolidated statement of income
The Group’s share of profits of Ark Life Assurance Company Limited (Ark Life) has been included under other operating
income in the consolidated statements of income on page 92 and in note 10 on page 104. Under US GAAP, the income
statement of Ark Life would be consolidated within the Group figures on a line by line basis.

This presentation is illustrated in the summary consolidated statement of income below.

As outlined above, under US GAAP the losses arising from the Allfirst fraud would be reflected in the Group figures in the
years in which the losses arose. This approach is also illustrated in the summary consolidated statement of income below.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated
(Euro in millions)

Net interest income before exceptional iteM..........cocovieriiiiniiiiiie e 2,298 2,026 1,771

Deposit INerest reteNtioN taX.........ooieerereeieeie e - (113) -

Net interest income after exceptional itemM..........cccevvviriiiinininienne 2,298 1,913 1,771

Other finance iNCOME..........cccereieiieniincienne 67 71 71

Other income before exceptional item 1,421 1,300 1,051

Exceptional foreign exchange dealing l0SSeS.........ccovvrvririncienieieinieeceneee (417) (228) (45)

Total Operating INCOME. .........coieiuiiieieeere et 3,369 3,056 2,848

TOTAl EXPENSES. ... .eeeueeeeeeteeiee ettt ettt ettt e see st e st e nte e s e b et e sneenne e e e enn 2,482 2,131 1,750

Group operating income - continuing operations 887 925 1,098

Income from associated undertakings 4 3 3

Profit on disposal of property. 6 5 2

Income on disposal of businesses 93 - 15
Income before taxes, preference dividends and

MINOFIY INEEIESTS...vtevveitieiiecte ettt 990 933 1,118

APPHCADIE TAXES. ... e 187 239 317

803 694 801

Equity and non-equity minority interests 23 38 28

Preference diVideNds.........covoiiiieiiiiie e 50 20 16

73 58 44

INEE INCOME. ...ttt ettt bt bbb 730 636 757
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)

Alternative presentation of consolidated balance sheet

The long-term assurance assets and liabilities of Ark Life have been classified under separate headings in the consolidated
balance sheet (see basis of consolidation on page 88 and long-term assurance business, note 31 on page 122). Under US GAAP,

the balance sheet of Ark Life would be consolidated with Group figures.

The following consolidated balance sheet illustrates this presentation.

ASSETS

Cash and balances at central Banks............ccooovioiiiiiiiieeee e
Items in course Of COIIBCHION.........ccovieiieci e
Central government bills and other eligible bills.............ccocoiiiiininnne
Loans and advances t0 DaNKS..........cccocvveiieiieesie e
Loans and advances to customers less allowance for loan 10Sses..............c......
SECUNITIZEA BSSELS. .. eevveveerieiteitieite st et e st et e st e e e e te s be e e sbe e e e reetaesbesteeeesaaeneeas
DEDE SECUNITIES. ...vivviveeeiecie ettt
Equity shares

Interests in associated undertakings
INANGIDIE BSSELS......veeeieeiceecer s
Property and eQUIPMENT.........ooveieiiiiiniiesese e
OWN SNAES.....c.eieiiecciee ettt st et e e e sre e s rre e sbe e snbeereeeans
(@11 G T (SO PSSUSSRI
Prepayments and accrued iNCOME..........cooeririiriieie e
PENSION BSSEL... . veeveeeteecite et e see e st e e te e s e e te et e e e e srre e reeeneeesneesreeenreean
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
DepOsits BY DANKS.........coiiiiiiiieiieie i
CUSEOMET ACCOUNTS.....eeieiieeiiieeeeiee e et e e stte e e st e e e e e sre e e s nb e e e snr e e s snreeeeannes
DEDht SECUNITIES 1N ISSUE. .. .cveeiireeitiecre et eeie et e sre et e e sreesve e sre e srre e sreesrne e
(@1 LT Lo T L =T
Accruals and deferred INCOME.........ccveiiiiiie i
Provisions for liabilities and charges
Deferred taxation.............
Subordinated liabilities
Minority equity and non-equity interests in consolidated

SUBSIAIAIIES. ...t ete ettt ettt e beeae e

Stockholders’ fuNAS-EQUILY........cceivveieiiiireeie e
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY.....cccccvvevveene
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December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)
1,175 938 1,119
1,536 1,116 916
49 297 718
7,067 5,147 4,610
51,216 45,880 39,171
182 166 125
20,338 19,165 15,261
1,366 1,386 1,006
10 8 22
495 466 468
1,348 1,171 1,069
245 177 123
1,475 1,347 1,119
2,080 1,835 1,195
255 625 796
88,837 79,724 67,718
13,223 12,478 8,608
54,557 48,437 42,335
5,033 4,295 4,298
5,516 4,947 4,063
2,148 1,684 1,306
71 43 34
311 321 216
2,020 2,249 1,984
312 272 227
775 264 245
4,871 4,734 4,402
88,837 79,724 67,718




ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)
50. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (SFAS No. 107),
requires disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments (both on and off-balance sheet) for which it is practicable to estimate
such value.

Fair value is based upon quoted market prices where available. If a quoted market price is not available, fair value is estimated
using quoted market prices for similar securities and adjusted for differences between the quoted instrument and the instrument
being valued. In certain cases, including some lendings to customers, where there are no ready markets, various techniques have
been used to estimate the fair value of the instruments. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and
matters of significant judgment, and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. There have been no changes in the
estimation techniques underlying the calculations or the methodology used compared with December 2000. Changes in
assumptions could significantly affect estimates. Readers of these financial statements are advised to use caution when using this
data to evaluate the Group’s financial position or to make comparisons with other institutions.

Intangible assets, such as the value of AIB Group’s branch network and long-term relationships with its depositors and other
customers are not considered by the FASB to constitute financial instruments for the purposes of SFAS No. 107. The Group,
however, believes the value of such assets to be significant. Certain other assets and liabilities are likewise excluded from the scope
of SFAS No. 107. Furthermore, the concept of fair value assumes realization of financial instruments by way of a sale. However in
many cases a sale is unlikely, and the assets and liabilities will be held to maturity. Accordingly, the fair values calculated for the
purposes of reporting under SFAS No. 107 do not represent the value of the Group as a going concern at December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999.

The following table gives details of the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments at December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999.

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value amount value

(Euro in millions)
Assets

Trading financial instruments®

Debt securities 3,783 3,783 2,341 2,341 1,582 1,582
EQUILY Shares.......cooviieiieiiiieccceccese e 49 49 48 48 62 62
Central government bills and other eligible bills.... 4 4 15 15 70 70

Non-trading financial instruments

Cash and balances at central banks®...............c....... 1,175 1,175 938 938 1,119 1,119
Items in course of collection®............cccccceevvveeneen. 1,536 1,536 1,116 1,116 916 916
Central government bills and other eligible bills.... 45 45 282 284 648 647
Loans and advances to banks®..........ccccceeeveiviinnnnns 6,047 6,060 4,193 4,197 3,831 3,805
Loans and advances to customers® 48,768 49,026 43,434 43,745 36,945 37,118
Securitized assets® 182 182 166 166 125 125
Debt securities.......... 16,299 16,468 16,645 16,661 13,526 13,318
EQUItY Shares........ccocevvevieiiie e 283 283 364 358 235 237
Long-term assurance assets

attributable to policyholders®..............cccoeunenee. 2,264 2,264 2,141 2,141 1,701 1,701
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December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value amount value

(Euro in millions)
Liabilities

Trading financial instruments®
Short positions in SECUItIES.........ccevvevveiiieiieiins 205 205 379 379 65 65

Non-trading financial instruments

Deposits by banks..........cceveveriniiiieiiiieeiiieee 13,223 13,261 12,478 12,507 8,608 8,638
CUSTOMEr ACCOUNTS.....eeeeeeeeieeiiiiirreeeeeiteeeeaieeeeaen 54,557 54,615 48,437 48,527 42,335 42,330
Debt SECUrities iN ISSUE.........ccovvereieiriieeiiiieeeeeeeeees 5,033 5,041 4,295 4,310 4,298 4,312
Subordinated liabilities...........cccooiiiiiiiiiiieee 2,020 2,016 2,249 2,235 1,984 1,975
Stockholders’ funds: non-equity interests............... 775 790 264 267 245 248
Long-term assurance liabilities
attributable to policyholders®.............cccocoe..... 2,264 2,264 2,141 2,141 1,701 1,701
December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value amount value
Restated Restated Restated Restated
Off - balance sheet assets/(liabilities) (Euro in millions)
Trading financial instruments®
Interest rate CONLracts..........oeveeiieiieneiieiecceniee 95 95 14 14 (72) (72)
Foreign currency contracts...........ccoveeveereenunnenn. (456) (456) (102) (102) (104) (104)
EQUILY CONIACTS.......ccverieeiiriieiceie e 1 1 - - (2) (2)

Non-Trading financial instruments

Interest rate CONLracts.........cocevvevierverieiiesieciesiens 94 103 162 164 57 (89)
Foreign currency CONtracts.........c.ocvevververvesuenienns 9 28 21 158 16 160
EqQUity CONIACES.......coveeiieiririrese e - (3) - (1) - -

@Within the scope of SFAS No. 107, the fair value of these financial instruments is equal to the carrying value. These instruments
are either carried at market value, or have minimal credit losses and are either short-term in nature or reprice frequently.

@As required by SFAS No. 107, finance leases with carrying amount totaling €2,448 million, €2,446 million and €2,226 million
at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, are excluded. The fair values of the finance leases were €2,472 million,
€2,522 million and €2,207 million at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The carrying values are net of the
allowances for loan losses and related unearned income.

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Corporation in estimating the fair value for its financial
instruments as defined by SFAS No. 107.

Central government bills and other eligible bills
The fair value of central government bills and other eligible bills is based on quoted market prices.

Loans and advances to banks and loans and advances to customers

The Group provides lending facilities of varying rates and maturities to corporate and personal customers. Several different
techniques are employed, as considered appropriate, in estimating the fair value of loans. Where secondary market prices were
available, these were used. The carrying amount of variable rate loans was considered to be at market value if there was no
significant change in the credit risk of the borrower. The fair value of fixed rate loans was calculated by discounting expected cash
flows using discount rates that reflected the credit and interest rate risk in the portfolio.

The fair value of money market funds and loans and advances to banks was estimated using discounted cash flows applying
either market rates, where practicable, or rates currently offered by other financial institutions for placings with similar
characteristics.

165



ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - (Continued)

Debt securities and equity shares

The fair value of listed debt securities and equity shares is based on market prices received from external pricing services or
bid quotations received from external securities dealers. The estimated value of unlisted debt securities and equity shares is based
on the anticipated future cashflows arising from these items.

Deposits by banks, customer accounts and debt securities in issue

The fair value of current accounts and deposit liabilities payable on demand is equal to their book value. The fair value of all
other deposits and other borrowings is estimated using discounted cash flows applying either market rates, where applicable, or
interest rates currently offered by the Group.

Subordinated liabilities
The estimated fair value of subordinated liabilities is based upon quoted market rates.

Commitments pertaining to credit-related instruments

Details of the various credit-related commitments entered into by the Group and other off-balance sheet financial
guarantees are included in note 42 of the notes to the accounts. Fees for these instruments may be billed in advance or in arrears
on an annual, quarterly or monthly basis. In addition, the fees charged vary on the basis of instrument type and associated credit
risk. As a result it is not considered practicable to estimate the fair value of these instruments because each customer relationship
would have to be separately evaluated.

Derivatives

The Group uses various derivatives, designated as hedges, to manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest and exchange rates.
The fair value of these instruments is estimated using market prices or pricing models consistent with the methods used for
valuing similar instruments used for trading purposes. Derivatives are detailed in note 43 of the accounts and include the fair value
of these instruments.

Derivatives used for trading purposes are marked to market using independent prices and are included in other assets/other
liabilities on the consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999. The carrying values of derivatives are included
in other assets/other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet as appropriate.

Stockholders’ funds: non-equity interests
The fair value of these instruments is based on quoted market prices.
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51. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS: FRAUDULENT FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRADING ACTIVITIES

Fraudulent FX Trading

On February 6, 2002, Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. (“AlB”) announced that it was undertaking a full investigation into fraudulent
foreign exchange (“FX”) trading operations at its US subsidiary Allfirst Bank. The board appointed Mr. Eugene A Ludwig,
Managing Partner, Promontory Financial Group, and a former U.S. Comptroller of the Currency, to report on these matters to the
board of directors. The board also appointed Mr. Edward D Herlihy and his law firm Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen and Katz to report
to the board and provide legal advice on the basis of the investigation. The losses arising from the fraudulent FX trading activities
were publicly disclosed by AIB in its preliminary announcement of results on February 20, 2002. Such losses amounted to
US$691.2 million before taxation and related to years from 1997 to 2002. As of February 20, 2002, all open FX trading positions
were either closed or hedged and no further significant income statement exposure is expected.

Under US reporting purposes, US$17.2 million of the Fraud Losses, including the costs of closing out the transactions, will be
accounted for in the Consolidated Statement of Income in AIB’s Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2002. In addition,
AIB anticipates that the total costs in 2002 arising from the investigation and the consequent measures taken to strengthen the
controls, will amount to US$10 million approximately.

AIB provided €789 million by way of an exceptional charge in the profit and loss account charge in its Irish Legislation
Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended December 31, 2001, to cover the total costs arising from the Fraud.

The Fraud Losses resulted from two types of transactions that appeared to offset realized losses on authentic FX spot and
forward transactions at Allfirst Bank. The first type consisted of the recording of fictitious FX Option Assets. Assets were recorded
through a series of fictitious transactions that effectively recognized a FX Option Asset with an offsetting credit to FX trading
income. These fictitious options also tended to give the appearance that the real FX spot and forward positions were hedged. The
second type consisted of actual FX Option Liabilities that were initially recorded as liabilities and then, through a series of
fictitious transactions, effectively were recognized as closed transactions. The closing of these transactions through a reduction of
the FX Option Liability resulted in unrecorded liabilities with an offsetting credit to FX trading income.

The report to the boards of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., Allfirst Financial Inc and Allfirst Bank concerning currency trading losses
(the “Investigation Report™) was submitted by Promontory Financial Group and Wachtall, Lipton, Rosen & Katz on March 12,
2002 and released to the public on March 14, 2002. There was no change in the amount of the losses as a result of the
investigation. The main findings of the Investigation Report included:

—The fraud was carefully planned and meticulously implemented by one foreign currency trader (the “Trader”), extended
over a lengthy period of time, and involved falsification of key bank records and documents.

—The Trader circumvented controls that were intended to prevent any such fraud by manipulating the weak control
environment in Allfirst’s treasury. The treasurer and the Trader’s direct supervisor failed to monitor his trading.

— At both the AIB Group and Allfirst levels, the Asset & Liability Management Committees, risk managers, senior management
and Allfirst internal auditors all did not appreciate the risks associated with the Trader’s hedge-fund style of FX trading.

— Allfirst and AIB senior management heavily relied upon the Allfirst treasurer, given the treasurer’s extensive experience with
treasury functions and FX in particular.

As a result of the investigation, the AIB and Allfirst Boards announced a number of actions to address the issues raised by the
Fraudulent Activities. These actions included:

— Recognition of primary responsibility for the losses with the Trader, who had already been dismissed for the Fraudulent
Activities that he perpetrated against Allfirst.

— Recognition that Allfirst Treasury and Internal Audit failed to detect the situation over a long period. To address this failure,
the Boards decided to dismiss the six individuals who were directly responsible for oversight of the Trader’s activities, or
should have been aware of them.
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ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.

52. RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR YEARS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As a result of the Fraudulent Activities as described in note 51 and the change in accounting policy in respect of retirement
benefits, AIB Group has restated the financial statements for 2000 and 1999 attached hereto. Amounts affected are presented on

the following table.

Consolidated balance sheet:

Other assets®..........covveeveuveen.
Other liabilities®...................
Profit and loss account...........
Total asSetS......ccvveevevveeerrerens

Consolidated statement of income:

Dealing profits/(losses)...........
Total non-interest income......
Income before taxes...............
Income taxes/(benefit)...........
Net income/(10Ss).........cceevene

Consolidated balance sheet:

Other assets®..........cooveeeevveeen.
Otbher liabilities®...................
Profit and loss account...........
Total assetS......ccvveeverveeeiiveeens

Consolidated statement of income:

Dealing profits/(losses)...........
Total non-interest income......
Income before taxes...............
Income taxes/(benefit)...........
Net income/(108)........c.ccven...

Year ended December 31, 2000

As
previously Fraud Losses FRS 17
reported restatement As adjusted for restatement As
in Form 20-F adjustments Fraud Losses adjustments® restated
(Euro in millions)
3,543 (526) 3,017 562 3,579
5,256 (316) 4,940 (86) 4,854
1,994 (210) 1,784 648 2,432
79,688 (526) 79,162 562 79,724
103 (228) (125) - (125)
1,304 (228) 1,076 71 1,147
1,138 (228) 910 23 933
318 (80) 238 1 239
820 (148) 672 22 694
Year ended December 31, 1999
As
previously Fraud Losses FRS 17
reported restatement As adjusted for restatement As
in Form 20-F adjustments Fraud Losses adjustments® restated
(Euro in millions)

2,266 (89) 2,177 737 2,914
4,021 (32) 3,990 (72) 3,918
1,450 (58) 1,392 809 2,201
67,070 (89) 66,981 737 67,718
74 (45) 29 - 29
1,052 (45) 1,007 71 1,078
1,132 (45) 1,087 31 1,118
327 (16) 311 6 317
805 (29) 776 25 801

The profit and loss account adjustment for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 includes the cumulative effect of

restatements attributable to years 1998 and 1997 of €23 million.

@ See accounting policies on pages 87 and 88 and note 14 of the notes to consolidated financial statements for details of the

FRS 17 restatement adjustments.

@ Includes other assets, prepayments and accrued income and pension asset.

® Includes other liabilities, accruals and deferred income, provisions for liabilities and charges, and deferred taxation.
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53. RECONCILIATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EXTRACTS FROM THE ANNUAL REPORT ON
FORM 20-F TO THE IRISH LEGISLATION ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

The euro amount of the losses reported under US reporting requirements in the years 1997 to 2001 will not equate to the charge of
€789 million under Irish GAAP. This arises for a number of reasons. In the Irish GAAP accounts the total fraud losses, US$691.2
million, and costs estimated at US$10 million less the reversal of an incentive accrual of US$6 million were charged as an exceptional
item in 2001 at the exchange rate prevailing on December 31, 2001.

Under US reporting requirements the Fraud Losses were charged in each of the years they arose, translated at the average rates of
exchange used in the preparation of the accounts for those years. In addition the Fraud Losses arising in 2002, including the costs of
closing out the transactions, of US$17.2 million and estimated costs of US$10 million will be reflected in the Annual Report on Form
20-F for 2002. The Fraud Losses include the costs of closing out the transactions. The additional costs of US$10 million are those arising
from the investigation and the consequent measures taken to strengthen controls.

The following tables reflect the reconciliation of the net income attributable to ordinary stockholders, consolidated total assets, and
consolidated total liabilities and ordinary stockholders’ equity as reported in the Annual Report on Form 20-F to the amounts in the
Irish Legislation Annual Report and Accounts, for each of the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Restated Restated

(Euro in millions)

Net income attributable to the ordinary stockholders

Per Irish Legislation Annual Report and ACCOUNTS.........ccccveeeeveervesiieerneenn, 484 784 786
Adjustments

EXCEPLIONAL 10SSES. ..e.vvevviveeie ettt ettt e e 372 (228) (45)
AdMINIStration EXPENSES. .....c..viuiieiiiriiriere sttt 6 - -
BV Lo ] TSP P PP PR PP URPRTPRPRPRN (132) 80 16
Per Annual Report on FOrm 20-F...........ooiiiiiiiieee e 730 636 757

Consolidated total assets

Per Irish Legislation Annual Report and ACCOUNTS..........ccevvevvevieiieeiveernennn 88,837 80,250 67,807
Adjustments

OBNEE @STBLS. ..ttt ettt - (526) (89)
Per Annual Report on FOrm 20-F..........ccooiiiiiiiiee e 88,837 79,724 67,718

Consolidated total liabilities and ordinary stockholders’ equity

Per Irish Legislation Annual Report and ACCOUNTS.........ccvvvvevverieeieerieerienns 88,837 80,250 67,807
Adjustments

Other lADITIES. .......eiiiiieeree s (20) (273) 2
Accruals and deferred income.... (11) - -
Deferred taXation...........cveirerrereeeee s 11 (43) (33)
Ordinary stockholders’ equity............cc.cc..... 20 (210) (58)
Per Annual Report on Form 20-F.........cccoooiiiiiiiiiii e 88,837 79,724 67,718
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ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance. This Statement explains how the Company has
applied the Principles set out in “The Combined Code: Principles of Good Governance and Code of Best Practice” (the “Code”), adopted
by the Irish Stock Exchange and the London Stock Exchange, and reports on compliance with its Provisions.

The Directors
The Board

The importance of the Company being headed by an effective Board to lead and control the Company and the Group is fully
recognized. To that end, there is a comprehensive range of matters specifically reserved for decision by the Board; at a high level
this includes:

(i) determining the Company’s strategic objectives and policies;

(i) appointing the Chairman and Group Chief Executive;

(iii) monitoring progress towards achievement of the Company’s objectives and compliance with its policies;

(iv) approving annual operating and capital budgets, major acquisitions and disposals, and risk management policies.

A scheduled Board meeting is held each month, except August. Additional meetings are held as required. The Directors are
provided in advance of each Board meeting with relevant documentation and information to enable them to discharge their duties.
Any additional information requested by Directors is readily provided.

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. There is a procedure in place to enable
Directors to take independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.

At December 31, 2001, the Board comprised 10 Non-Executive Directors and 3 Executive Directors. All Directors bring
independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, performance, resources, and standards of conduct. All Non-Executive
Directors are considered to be independent of Management and free from any business or other relationship that could materially
interfere with the exercize of their independent judgement. In these circumstances, it is not considered necessary to identify one
senior Non-Executive Director to whom concerns can be conveyed, as suggested by the Code. Shareholders who wish to raise
issues are free to contact any of the Non-Executive Directors.

The role of the Chairman is separate from the role of the Group Chief Executive, with clearly defined responsibilities
attaching to each.

It is the policy of the Board that a significant majority of the Directors (i.e. up to two-thirds) should be Non-Executive.
Accordingly, Non-Executive Directors are appointed so as to maintain an appropriate balance and to ensure a sufficiently wide and
relevant mix of backgrounds, skills and experience to provide strong and effective leadership and control for the Group.

The names of the Directors, and their biographical notes, appear on pages 50 and 51.

Non-Executive Directors appointed since 1990 are appointed for an initial period of six years, which may be extended for a
further period of three years. Following co-option, Directors must retire at the next Annual General Meeting and may go before
the shareholders for re-election.

Not more than one-third of the Directors are required by the Articles of Association to retire from office at each Annual
General Meeting. This means that, in effect, Directors are re-elected every three years. The Code recommends that all Directors
should submit themselves for re-election at regular intervals and at least every three years. As the Articles’ provision in this regard
could lead, in certain circumstances, to an interval of four years between a Director’s appointment and re-appointment, an
amendment to the Articles will be proposed at the 2002 Annual General Meeting, to bring the relevant provision fully into line
with the Code’s recommendation.

There is an induction process for new Directors. Its content varies as between Executive and Non-Executive Directors; in respect
of the latter, the induction is designed to familiarize Non-Executive Directors with the Group and its operations, and comprises
principally a program of meetings with the Heads of Divisions and the senior management of businesses and support functions,
and briefings on the Company?’s strategic and operational plans. All Directors on appointment are furnished with a booklet
entitled “Responsibilities, Functions and Operations of the Board and Code of Conduct for Directors™.

Board Committees

The Board is assisted in the discharge of its duties by Board Committees, whose purpose is to consider, in greater depth than
is practicable at Board Meetings, matters for which the full Board retains responsibility. The composition of Board Committees is
reviewed annually by the Board. A description of these Committees, each of which operates under terms of reference or guidelines
approved by the Board, and their membership is given below. The minutes of all meetings of Board Committees are circulated to
all Directors, for information, with their Board papers and are formally noted by the Board. This provides an opportunity for
Directors to seek additional information or to comment and express views on issues being addressed at Committee level.
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Audit Committee

Members: Mr Adrian Burke, Chairman (from June 1, 2001), Mr Don Godson, Chairman (to May 31, 2001), Mr Derek A Higgs (from June
1, 2001), Mr Michael J Sullivan (from November 1, 2001), Mr Dermot Gleeson.

The Audit Committee holds five/six scheduled meetings each year. The auditors are invited to attend these meetings, along with
the Group Chief Executive, the Group Director, Finance, Risk and Enterprise Networks and eBusiness, the Chief Risk Officer and
the Group Internal Auditor. The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s annual and interim accounts; the scope of the audit and the
findings, conclusions and recommendations of the auditors; the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the auditors; and
the effectiveness of internal controls. The Committee is responsible for ensuring the cost-effectiveness of the audit and for confirming
the independence of the auditors and the Group Internal Auditor, each of whom it meets separately at least once each year, in
confidential session, in the absence of Management. Both the auditors and the Group Internal Auditor have unrestricted access to the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

A written report is submitted annually to the Board showing the issues considered by the Committee.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Members: Mr Lochlann Quinn, Chairman, Mr Adrian Burke (to May 31, 2001), Mr Derek A Higgs (from June 1, 2001), Mr John B McGuckian.
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee meets five/six times each year. The Committee is responsible for
recommending candidates to the Board for appointment as Directors. Its remit also includes, inter alia, recommending to the Board
appropriate remuneration policies, and determining, under advice to the Board, the specific remuneration packages of the
Executive Directors.

Social Affairs Committee
Members: Ms Carol Moffett, Chairman, Mr Michael Buckley (to May 31, 2001), Mr Padraic M Fallon, Mr Don Godson (from June 1, 2001).
The Social Affairs Committee met on seven occasions in 2001. Its role, as defined in guidelines approved by the Board, is to
assist the Company in discharging its social responsibilities. This includes developing corporate-giving and sponsorship policies and
reviewing responses to a range of social responsibility issues.

Directors’ Remuneration
The Report on Directors’ Remuneration and Interests appears on pages 51 to 57.

Relations with Shareholders

The Company recognizes the importance of communicating with its shareholders. To that end, the Company circulates each
year, along with the statutory Report and Accounts, a short-form, user-friendly booklet explaining features of the Company’s
performance in the previous year. This focuses on how the profit was utilized, profit and dividend growth over the previous five
years, the need for strong capital resource; running cost; risk management, and other issues. As a further step in enhancing the
communication process, interim trading statements are issued to the Stock Exchanges twice yearly.

The Company also uses its internet website (www.aibgroup.com) to communicate with investors. The Investor Relations
home page is updated with the Company’s Stock Exchange releases and formal presentations to analysts and investors, as they are
made. The site also contains the Company’s most recent Annual and Interim Reports, together with the Annual Report on Form
20-F when filed with the US Securities and Exchange Commission. In August 2001, shareholders were invited to consent to the
use of electronic communication, as facilitated by the Electronic Commerce Act 2000, and further invitations to do so will be sent
to shareholders during 2002.

All shareholders are encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) and to participate in the proceedings. It is
practice to give shareholders an update on the Group’s performance, and developments of interest, by way of video presentation.
Separate resolutions are proposed on each substantially separate issue. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is available to answer
questions at the AGM. The proportion of proxy votes lodged for and against each resolution is indicated; this demonstrates what
the voting position would be if all the votes cast, including the votes cast by shareholders not in attendance at the AGM, were
taken into account.

It is usual for all Directors to attend the AGM and to be available to meet shareholders, both before and after the Meeting. A
Shareholders’ Help Desk facility is available to shareholders attending.

In accordance with company law, the Notice of the AGM and related papers are required to be sent to shareholders not less
than 21 days before the Meeting. The Code suggests that these papers should be sent to shareholders “at least 20 working days
before the meeting”. In respect of the 2002 AGM, the Notice and related papers will be dispatched 26 calendar days and 17
working days before the Meeting.

The Company holds regular meetings with its principal institutional shareholders and with financial analysts and brokers.
These meetings involve the Group Chief Executive, the Group Director, Finance, Risk and Enterprise Networks and eBusiness,
the Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Investor Relations, and are governed by prescribed procedures to ensure that price-
sensitive information is not divulged.
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Accountability and Audit

Accounts and Directors’ Responsibilities

The Accounts and other information presented in this Report and Accounts are consistent with the Code Principle requiring
the presentation of “a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position and prospects”. The Statement concerning
the responsibilities of the Directors in relation to the Accounts appears on page 173.

Going Concern

The Accounts continue to be prepared on a going concern basis, as the Directors are satisfied that the Company and the Group
as a whole have the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. In forming this view, the Directors have reviewed
the Group’s budget for 2002.

Internal Control

The Directors acknowledge that the Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness. Guidance (“Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code™) has been issued by the Irish Stock Exchange and
the London Stock Exchange to assist Directors in complying with the Code’s requirements in respect of internal control. That Guidance
states that systems of internal control are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Guidance provides that, in applying the Code, the Board should disclose the process it has applied to deal with material
internal control aspects of any significant problems disclosed in the annual report and accounts. On February 6, 2002, the Company
announced that, following the uncovering of suspected fraudulent activities, it was undertaking a full investigation into foreign exchange
trading operations at the Baltimore Headquarters of its US subsidiary, Allfirst (see Note 51 to the Accounts). On February 7, 2002, the
Company announced that the Board had approved comprehensive terms of reference for that investigation, which was charged with
ascertaining the facts concerning the foreign exchange activities in question; describing the policies and controls which applied to
those operations during the period in which these activities took place; reporting on the manner in which such policies and controls
operated (or may have failed to operate) in relation to these activities; and making recommendations on any improvements which
appear necessary or desirable to the policies and controls. The Board appointed Mr Eugene A Ludwig, Managing Partner, Promontory
Financial Group, and a former Comptroller of the US Currency, to report on these matters to the Board. The Board also appointed
Mr Edward D Herlihy and his firm, Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen and Katz, to report to the Board and provide legal advice on the basis of
the investigation. Their findings, and the Board’s decisions in the light of these findings, are set out on pages 27 and 28 of this report.

The Group’s system of internal control includes:

(i) a clearly defined management structure, with defined lines of authority and accountability;

(ii) a comprehensive annual budgeting and financial reporting system, which incorporates clearly defined and
communicated common accounting policies and financial control procedures, including those relating to authorization
limits; capital expenditure and investment procedures; physical and computer security; and business continuity planning;

(iii) the Audit Committee, which receives reports on various aspects of control, reviews the Group’s statutory Accounts and
other published financial statements and information, and ensures that no restrictions are placed on the scope of the
statutory audit or on the independence of the internal audit function. The Audit Committee reports to the Board on
these matters, compliance with relevant laws and regulations, and related matters;

(iv) appropriate policies and procedures relating to capital management, asset and liability management (including interest
rate, exchange rate risk and liquidity management), credit risk management, and operational risk management;

(v) regular review by the Board of overall strategy, business plans, variances against operating and capital budgets and other
performance data;

(vi) an internal audit function.

The above-mentioned Guidance provides that the Board should summarize the process it (where applicable, through its committees)
has applied in reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control. The Group’s structure and on-going processes for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant credit, market and operational risks faced by the Group are described in pages 66 to 75.

That structure and those processes, which include comprehensive half-yearly reports to the Audit Committee and Board, have been
in place for the year under review and up to the date of the approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. Those processes are
regularly reviewed by the Board, and accord with the above-mentioned Guidance.

The Code provides that the Directors should, at least annually, conduct a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal control and should report to the shareholders that they have done so. The Directors confirm that, with the assistance of reports
from the Audit Committee and Management, they have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control for the
year ended December 31, 2001.

Compliance Statement
Except as indicated above, the Company has complied throughout the year ended December 31, 2001 with the Provisions of the Code.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
IN RELATION TO THE ACCOUNTS

The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the statement of auditors’ responsibilities set out within
their audit report, is made with a view to distinguishing for shareholders the respective responsibilities of the directors and of the
auditors in relation to the accounts.

The directors are required by the Companies Acts to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss for the financial year.

Following discussions with the auditors, the directors consider that in preparing the accounts on pages 87 to 169, which have
been prepared on a going concern basis, the Company and the Group have used appropriate accounting policies, consistently
applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all accounting standards which they consider
applicable have been followed (subject to any explanations and any material departures disclosed in the notes to the accounts).

The directors have responsibility for taking all reasonable steps to secure that the Company causes to be kept proper books of
account, whether in the form of documents or otherwise, that correctly record and explain the transactions of the Company, that
will at any time enable the financial position of the Company to be readily and properly audited, and that will enable the directors
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Companies Acts.

The directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Company and the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors, having prepared the accounts, have requested the auditors to take whatever steps and undertake whatever
inspections they consider to be appropriate for the purpose of enabling them to give their audit report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
To the Members and Board of Directors of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. and its subsidiaries as of December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999 and the related consolidated profit and loss account, cash flows and total recognized gains and losses for each of the
three years ended December 31, 2001 as set out on pages 87 to 169, all expressed in euros. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.\We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Ireland, except for the
following matter. As described in the Accounting Policies on page 87 in order to comply with the requirements of the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission, prior years have been restated to reflect the exceptional foreign exchange dealing losses in the years
the losses occurred. Net income has been reduced by €148 million and €29 million for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999,
respectively. Under generally accepted accounting principles in Ireland prior years are restated for an error only if the error is a
fundamental error as explained in Financial Reporting Standard No 3 “Reporting Financial Performance”. As the losses in respect of
prior years are not considered to be fundamental in respect of those years, the financial statements may not be restated under generally
accepted accounting principles in Ireland.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the restatement described in the previous paragraph, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c. at December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Ireland.

As discussed in the Accounting Policies on pages 87 and 88 the Company changed its method of accounting for Retirement Benefits
in 2001.

Accounting principles used to prepare these financial statements vary in certain material respects from accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The application of the latter, after the restatement referred to in Note 52, would have affected the
determination of consolidated net income expressed in euros for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 and the
determination of consolidated ordinary stockholders’ equity and statements of consolidated total assets and consolidated total liabilities and
ordinary stockholders’ equity also expressed in euros at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 to the extent summarized in note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants
Dublin, Ireland.

April 30, 2002
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant, Allied Irish Banks, p.l.c., certifies that it

meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and has duly caused this annual report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 7th day of May, 2002.

ALLIED IRISH BANKS, p.l.c.
(Registrant)

By: GARY KENNEDY
Name: Gary Kennedy
Title: Group Director, Finance,
Risk, Enterprise Networks
& eBusiness
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